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Cecabank, S.A. and its subsidiaries  
 

 
This version of our report is a free translation of the original, which was prepared in Spanish. All possible 
care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, 

in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our 
report takes precedence over this translation. 

 

Independent auditor’s report on the consolidated 
annual accounts 

 
To the shareholders of Cecabank, S.A.: 

 
Report on the consolidated annual accounts 

 
Opinion 

 

 

We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of Cecabank, S.A. (the Parent company) and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021,  the income 
statement, statement of other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, cash flow 
statement and related notes, all consolidated, for the year then ended. 

 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects, 
the equity and financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, as well as its financial 
performance and cash flows, all consolidated, for the year then ended, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS-EU) and other 
provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in Spain. 

 

Basis for opinion 
 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated annual accounts section of our report. 

 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those relating 
to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated annual accounts in Spain, in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services 
other than those relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen 
that, in accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary 
independence such that it has been compromised. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is enough and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

 

Key audit matters 
 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters 
Third party securities depository and 
custody 

 

As is described in Note 1, the Group is a 
wholesale back specialising in securities 
services and one of its main businesses is 
securities depository and custody services. 

 
The Group's memorandum accounts at 31 
December 2021 record financial 
instruments deposited by third parties with 
a value of 295,221 million euros held as a 
part of the depository and custody services 
provided to various financial institutions, as 
is described in Notes 14 and 27.3. 

 
During 2021 the Group received fees 
totaling 172,748 thousand euros, as 
described in Note 31, in exchange for the 
deposit and custody services mentioned 
above and, therefore, it is the most relevant 
business in terms of revenue for the Group. 

 
We consider this business to be a key audit 
matter due to its relevance to the financial 
statements taken as a whole, as well as the 
materiality of the revenues received in that 
respect. 

Our work has focused on the analysis, assessment 
and verification of internal control, as well as the 
performance of detailed tests, 

 
In the internal control area, we have focused on the 
design and operation of the depository and custody 
business controls, primarily the verification of 
reconciliations of securities and assets on deposit 
and held in custody on behalf of third parties, as well 
as the fees accrued for performing this activity. 

 
We have also performed detailed tests consisting 
of: 

 
• Obtaining and analyzing a sample of the 

contractual documentation governing the 
depository and custody services rendered by 
the Group to its customers and we checked 
that the documents coincide with the 
accounting entries. 

 
• Recalculation of all depository fees and 

a sample of custody fees received in 
2021. 

 
• Third-party confirmations for a sample of the 

fees accrued during the year for the 
depository operations. 

 
• Verification of the reconciliations of 

securities carried out by Group management, 
as well as an analysis of the items in 
reconciliation at 31 December 2021. 

 
• External confirmation of all the counterparty 

items on deposit and held in custody at 31 
December 2021. 

 
• Verification of the proper recognition of 

the disclosures of the balances set out in 
the Group's consolidated financial 
statements at 31 December 2021. 

 
• Third party confirmation procedures for a 

sample of client securities as at 31 
December 2021. 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters 
  

As a result of the aforementioned procedures, we did 
not detect any significant weaknesses in this respect. 

Measurement of financial derivatives 
 

The Group maintains investments in 
diverse types of financial instruments in the 
amount of 4,791 million euros (asset) and 
1,089 million euros (liability). At the year-
end these balances represent 28% of total 
assets and 7% of total liabilities in the 
balance sheet in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
These financial instruments are classified 
as Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3. Note 21 
indicates that the fair value of financial 
instruments is determined as follows: 

 
• Level 1: listed price on 

active markets. 
 

• Level 2: using measurement 
techniques in which significant 
inputs are based on directly or 
indirectly observable market 
data. 

 
• Level 3: using measurement 

techniques in which some 
significant inputs are not based 
on observable market data. 

 
Moreover, the measurement of financial 
instruments is one of the most significant 
estimates made by the group´s  
management and various measurement 
techniques and methods are used, as is 
explained in Notes 2.2, 2.9 and 21 of the 
accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
We therefore consider the classification 
and measurement of financial instruments 
to be a key audit matter due to the 
importance they have within the financial 
statements and the high degree of 
professional judgement that is required. 

 
 

We have obtained an understanding of 
management’s estimation process in collaboration 
with our financial instrument measurement 
experts. 

 
In the internal control area, we have focused on an 
assessment of the design and operation of controls 
over the following processes: 

 
• Calculation methods applied by 

management, verifying that they are in 
line with applicable accounting 
standards. 

 
• Regulatory and operational compliance 

by the internal models approved by 
management. 

 
• Reliability of the sources of the data used 

in the calculations and the adequacy of 
the models taking into account the 
circumstances. 

 
We have also performed detailed tasks consisting 
of: 

 
• Verification that the measurement 

process method applied by management 
is in line with applicable accounting 
regulations, market practices and the 
specific expectations of the sector. 

 
• Verification of the classification of 

financial instruments by level, based on 
observable prices in active markets. 

 
• Comparison and re-execution of the 

measurement carried out by Group 
management based on classifications of 
the various financial instrument portfolio 
samples. 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters 
  

• Comparison and re-execution of the 
effectiveness test for a sample selection 
of files of accounting hedges. 
 

• Re-running back-tests for a sample of 
financial instruments. 

 
• Verification of the proper recognition of 

the disclosures of the balances set out in 
the Group’s financial statements at 31 
December 2021. 

 
When performing the aforementioned tests, no 
differences were identified beyond a reasonable 
range. 

Matters associated with computer systems 
 

The Group uses complex computer 
systems in its operations, both for 
operations and calculating, processing, 
recording, archiving, preparing and 
presenting its financial and accounting 
information. Accordingly, adequate control 
over them and the protocol for accessing 
applications and databases is essential to 
guarantee the correct processing of the 
financial information. 

 
Within this context, knowledge of, 
evaluating and verifying general controls 
relating to financial reporting systems, 
including access to applications and 
databases, constitute a key area of our 
work. 

 
We have considered the effectiveness of 
the general internal control framework for 
information systems relating to the process 
of accounting for transactions and closing 
the accounts to be a key matter with 
respect to performing certain audit 
procedures based on internal controls. 

 

The main audit procedures performed on the 
information systems considered relevant to the 
financial reporting process are described below. In 
order to carry out this work, we have had the 
collaboration of specialists in systems and process 
audits:  

 
 

Testing of IT general controls (ITGCs), 
focusing on the following areas: access to 
programs and data, program changes and 
IT operations of the main platforms 
containing information that may have a 
material impact on the consolidated 
annual accounts.  

• Verification of the existence of tools for 
the management and control of 
automatic processes and the monitoring 
and management of incidents. 

 
• Understanding of key business processes 

and the identification of automatic 
controls existing in the application that 
support and validate them. 

 
• Understanding and verifying the 

accounting close process, as well as the 
selective tests of the extraction and 
filtering of entries within the financial 
reporting systems 
attending to audit risk criteria. 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters 
  

As a result of our procedures, we did not detect any 
material weaknesses that could significantly affect 
the financial information included in the 
accompanying consolidated annual accounts. 

 
 

Other information: Consolidated management report 
 

 

Other information comprises only the consolidated management report for the 2021 financial year, 
the formulation of which is the responsibility of the Parent company’s directors and does not form 
an integral part of the consolidated annual accounts. 

 
Our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts does not cover the consolidated management 
report. Our responsibility regarding the consolidated management report, in accordance with 
legislation governing the audit practice, is to: 

 
a) Verify only that the consolidated statement of non-financial information has been provided in the 

manner required by applicable legislation and, if not, we are obliged to disclose that fact. 
 

b) Evaluate and report on the consistency between the rest of the information included in the 
consolidated management report and the consolidated annual accounts as a result of our 
knowledge of the Group obtained during the audit of the aforementioned financial statements, 
as well as to evaluate and report on whether the content and presentation of this part of the 
consolidated management report is in accordance with applicable regulations. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that material misstatements exist, we are required to 
report that fact. 

 
On the basis of the work performed, as described above, we have verified that the information 
mentioned in section a) above has been provided in the manner required by applicable legislation and 
that the rest of the information contained in the consolidated management report is consistent with that 
contained in the consolidated annual accounts for the 2021 financial year, and its content and 
presentation are in accordance with applicable regulations. 

 

Responsibility of the directors and the audit commission for the consolidated annual accounts 
 

 

The Parent company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying 
consolidated annual accounts, such that they fairly present the consolidated equity, financial 
position and financial performance of the Group, in accordance with IFRS-EU and other provisions of 
the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in Spain, and for such internal control as 
the aforementioned determine necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated annual accounts 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the consolidated annual accounts, the Parent company’s directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the aforementioned 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

 
The Parent company’s audit commission is responsible for overseeing the process of preparation 
and presentation of the consolidated annual accounts. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated annual accounts 
 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated annual accounts 
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as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated annual accounts. 

 
As part of an audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated annual accounts, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Parent company’s directors. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent company’s directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor´s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated annual accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated annual 
accounts, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated annual accounts 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
• Obtain enough and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
annual accounts. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Parent company’s audit commission regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
We also provide the Parent company’s audit commission with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements, including those relating to independence, and we communicate 
with the aforementioned those matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 
From the matters communicated with the Parent company’s audit commission, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of 
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
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We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter. 

 
 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

 
Report to the audit commission of the Parent company  

 
The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to the audit 
commission of the Parent company dated 18 February 2022. 

 
Appointment period  

 
The General Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting held on 20 March 2018 appointed us as auditors of the Group 
for a period of 3 years, as from the year ended 31 December 2019. 

 
Services provided  

 
Services provided to the Group for services other than the audit of the accounts are disclosed in note 36 
to the consolidated annual accounts. 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242) 

 

 

 

Amagoia Delgado Rodríguez (22009) 18 

February 2022 
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Translation of a report originally issued in Spanish based on our work performed in accordance with the audit regulations in force in 
Spain. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails. 

Cecabank, S.A. and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group 

Consolidated Balance Sheets At 31 December 2021  
 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 

Assets 2021 2020 
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits (Note 7) 8,679,756 5,350,092 

Financial assets held for trading (Note 8.1) 1,414,378 1,857,991 

Derivatives 781,544 961,056 

Equity instruments 292,528 146,992 

Debt securities 340,306 749,943 

Memorandum item: loanedor advanced as collateral with right to sell or pledge 170,867 90,560 

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss (Note 8.2) 28,584 28,791 

Equity instruments 4,550 6,451 

Debt securities 23,924 21,720 

Loans and advances 110 620 

Memorandum item: loanedor advanced as collateral with right to sell or pledge - 488 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (Note 8.3) - - 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 9) 3,238,947 2,462,912 

Equity instruments 3,002 2,638 

Debt securities 3,235,945 2,460,274 

Loans and advances - - 

Memorandum item: lent or delivered as guarantee with a right of sale or pledged 2,132,610 1,381,955 

Financial Assets at amortised cost (Note 10) 3,199,697 3,887,827 

Debt securities 109,595 299,012 

Loans and advances 3,090,102 3,588,815 

Central banks 16,174  

Credit institutions 2,094,199 2,497,154 

Customers 979,729 1,091,661 

Memorandum item: lent or delivered as guarantee with a right of sale or pledged 479,295 1,042,859 

Derivatives - hedge accounting (Note 11) 10,137 694 

Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk hedge of interest rate risk - - 

Investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates - - 

Joint Ventures - - 

Associates  - 

Tangible assets (Note 13) 51,168 51,993 

Property, plant and equipment 41,871 45,171 

For own use 41,871 45,171 

Investment property 9,297 6,822 

Of which: assigned in operating lease - - 

Memorandum item: acquired in finance lease 1,673 2,177 

Intangible assets (Note 14) 446,662 491,692 

Goodwill - - 

Other intangible assets 446,662 491,692 

Tax assets (Note 20) 66,765 76,154 

Current tax assets 229 2,216 

Deferred tax assets 66,536 73,938 

Other assets (Note 15.1) 60,368 58,919 

Remainder of other assets 60,368 58,919 

Non-current assets and disposable groups of items classified as held for sale (Note 12) 3,075 3,032 

Total Assets 17,199,537 14,270,097 
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Translation of a report originally issued in Spanish based on our work performed in accordance with the audit regulations in force in 
Spain. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails. 

Cecabank, S.A. and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group 

Consolidated Balance Sheets At 31 December 2021 
 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 

Liabilities And Equity 2021 2020 
Financial liabilities held for trading (Note 8.1) 1,085,136  1,293,973 

Derivatives 805,612  1,088,340 

Short positions 279,524  205,633 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (Note 8.3) - - 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Note 15) 14,727,683 11,639,754 

Deposits 14,591,226  11,404,081 

Central Banks -  464,729 

Credit Institutions 2,267,645  1,571,405 

Customers 12,323,581  9,367,947 

Other financial liabilities 136,457  235,673 

Derivatives - hedge accounting (Note 11) 4,105  16,473 

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk - - 

Liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts - - 

Provisions (Note 17) 86,763  80,900 

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations -  - 

Other long-term employee benefits 45,426 29,051 

Pending legal issues and tax litigations 4,213  7,621 

Commitments and guarantees given 262  288 

Other provisions 36,862  43,940 

Tax liabilities 18,531  19,935 

Current liabilities 6,686  4,075 

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 20) 11,845  15,860 

Other liabilities (Note 15.2) 65,728  56,762 

Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale -  - 

Total Liabilities 15,987,946  13,107,797 

Shareholders’ equity 1,201,621  1,137,476 

Share capital 112,257 112,257 

Paid up capital (Note 19) 112,257 112,257 

Share premium (Note 19) 615,493 615,493 

Retained earnings 389,924  340,558 

Other reserves (Note 19) 14,889  14,796 

Profit attributable to parent company 69,058  54,372 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 9,970  24,415 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 11,163  11,218 

Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pensions plans (Note 18) 9,656  9,894 

Changes of fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,507  1,324 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (1,193) 13,197 

Changes of fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 18) (1,193) 13,197 

Non-controlling shareholdings - Other items -  409 

Total Equity 1,211,591  1,162,300 

Total Liabilities And Equity 17,199,537  14,270,097 

Memorandum Item   

Commitments from loans granted (Note 27.1) 561,871  570,499 

Financial guarantees granted (Note 27.2) -  - 

Other obligations granted (Note 27.3 and 27.4) 71,431  1,060,366 
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Cecabank, S.A. and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group 

Consolidated Income Statement For The Years Ended 
31 December 2021 
 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 

 2021 2020 
Interest income (Note 28) 111,336  100,463 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 27,897  31,334 

Financial assets at amortised cost 9,763  10,791 

Other interest income 73,676  58,338 

Interest expenses (Note 29) (104,970) (85,835) 
Net Interest Income 6,366  14,628 
Dividend income (Note 30) 4,066  3,667 

Fee and commission income (Note 31) 222,429  162,330 

Fee and commission expenses (Note 32) (33,090) (25,696) 

Gains or losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
net (Note 33) 34,588  24,126 

Financial assets at amortised cost 3  3 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 34,585  24,123 

Other financial assets and liabilities (6,018) (14,725) 

Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trade, net (Note 33) (6,018) (14,725) 

Gain or losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss, net (Note 33) (1,043) (3,141) 

Other financial assets and liabilities  (1,043)  (3,141) 

Gains or losses from hedge accounting, net (Note 33) 206  (1,199) 

Exchange differences, net 38,746  43,219 

Other operating income (Note 34) 51,068  52,391 

Other operating expenses (Note 37) (11,638) (9,135) 

Gross Income 305,680  246,465 
Administrative expenses (144,026) (117,438) 

Staff costs (Note 35) (71,736) (50,243) 

Other administrative expenses (Note 36) (72,290) (67,195) 

Amortisation (Note 39) (82,468) (57,488) 

Provisions or reversal of provisions (Note 17) 9,786 8,636 

Impairment or reversal of impairment and gains or losses due to changes in cash flows of financial 
assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss or net gains or losses (-) due to changes (Notes 22 and 38) 4,580 (5,771) 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (416)  (3,146) 

Financial Assets at amortised cost 4,996 (2,625) 

Impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates - - 
Impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss of non-financial assets - - 
Tangible assets (Note 13) - - 
Intangible assets (Note 14) - - 
Others - - 
Gains or losses on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments, net (Note 13) 5  (10) 
Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss -  - 
Profit or loss from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued 
operations (Note 12) 

43  - 

Profit Or Loss Before Tax From Continuing Operations 93,600  74,394 
Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from continuing operations (Note 20.2) (24,542) (20,017) 

Profit Or Loss After Tax From Continuing Operations 69,058  54,377 
Profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations -  - 
Profit For The Year 69,058  54,377 
Attributable to minority interests (controlling interests) -  5 

Attributable to the owners of the dominant 69,058  54,372 
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Translation of a report originally issued in Spanish based on our work performed in accordance with the audit regulations in force in 
Spain. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails. 

Cecabank, S.A. and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group 

Consolidated Statements Of Changes In Equity For The 
Years Ended 31 December 2021 
 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 

a) Consolidated Statements Of Recognised Income And Expense 
 
 2021 2020 
Profit For The Year 69,058  54,377 

Other Comprehensive Income (14,445) 5,366 

Items That Will Not Be Reclassified To Profit Or Loss (55) (1,798) 

Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension plans (Note 35) and (Note 20.4) (340) 3,743 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale -  - 

Changes of fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (Notes 7 and 20.4) 262  (6,312) 

Tax on gains related to the items that will not be reclassified (Note 20.4) 23  771 

Items That May Be Reclassified To Profit Or Loss (14,390) 7,164 

Foreign currency translation -  - 

Translation gains or losses taken to equity -  - 

Cash flow hedges -  - 

Valuation gains or losses taken to equity -  - 

Transferred to profit or loss -  - 

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 20.4) (20,557) 10,234 

Valuation gains or losses taken to equity 14,028  31,864 

Transferred to profit or loss (Notes 7 and 20.4) (35,585) (21,630) 

Tax on gains related to the items that may be reclassified in profit or loss (Note 20.4) 6,167  (3,070) 

Total Comprehensive Income For The Year 54,613  59,743 

Attributable to non-controlling interests -  5 
Attributable to parent company shareholders 54,613  59,738 
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Cecabank, S.A. and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group 

Consolidated Statements Of Changes In Equity For The Years Ended  
31 December 2021 
 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 

b) Consolidated Statements Of Changes In Total Equity 
Shareholders' Equity 

 
Share capital 

(Note 19) 

Share 
premium 
(Note 19) 

Retained 
earnings 

Other reserves 
(Note 19) 

(-)Treasury 
shares 

Profit for the 
year (Note 4) 

(-) Interim 
dividends 

Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

(Note 18) 

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total equity 

Opening balance (before restatement) at 1 January 2020 112,257 615,493 310,450 5,592 - 45,023 - 19,049 406 1,108,270 

Effects of corrections of errors - - - - - - - - - - 

Effects of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - 

Opening balance at 1 January 2020 112,257 615,493 310,450 5,592 - 45,023 - 19,049 406 1,108,270 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - -  54,372 - 5,366 5 59,743 

Other changes in equity - - 30,108 9,204 - (45,023) - - (2) (5,713) 

Dividends (or remuneration of members) - - (14,911) - - - - - - (14,911) 

Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - - 

Transfers among components of equity - - 45,023 6,081 - (45,023) - - - 6,081 

Other increase or decrease in equity - - (4) 3,123 - - -  (2) 3,117 

Closing balance at 31 December 2020 112,257 615,493 340,558 14,796 - 54,372 - 24,415 409 1,162,300 

Effects of corrections of errors - - - - - - - - - - 

Effects of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - 

Opening balance at 1 January 2021 112,257 615,493 340,558 14,796 - 54,372 - 24,415 409 1,162,300 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - -  - - 69,058  - (14,445) -  54,613  

Other changes in equity - - 49,366  93 - (54,372) - -  (409) (5,.322) 

Capital reduction - - (31) - - -  - -  (409) (440)  

Dividends (or remuneration of members) - - (4,844) - - -  - -  -  (4,844) 

Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - - -  - - -  - -  -  -  

Transfers among components of equity - - 54,372  - - (54,372) - -  -  -  

Other increase or decrease in equity - - (131) 93 - -  - -  -  (38) 

Closing balance at 31 December 2021 112,257 615,493 389,924  14,889 - 69,058  - 9,970  -  1,211,591  
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Translation of a report originally issued in Spanish based on our work performed in accordance with the audit regulations in force in 
Spain. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails. 

Cecabank, S.A. and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group 

Consolidated Statements Of Cash Flows For The Years 
Ended 31 December 2021 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros) 
 2021 2020 
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 3,371,124  3,448,276 

Profit for the year 69,058  54,377 

Adjustments made to obtain the cash flows from operating activities 109,819  90,150 

Amortisation 82,468  57,488 

Other adjustments 27,351  32,662 

Net (increase)/decrease in operating assets (341,295) (842,535) 

Financial assets held for trading (448,606) 893 

Non trading financial Assets mandatory measured at fair value through profit and loss 984  (7,245) 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss -  - 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 814,919  362,833 

Financial assets at amortised cost (688,145) (1,186,210) 

Other operating assets (20,447) (12,806) 

Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities- 2,861,418  2,471,461 

Financial liabilities held for trading (208,837) 82,227 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 3,087,929  2,427,326 

Other operating liabilities (17,674) (38,092) 

Income tax recovered/(paid) (10,466) (10,247) 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities (36,616) (352,966) 

Payments: 36,616  (352,966) 

Tangible assets 3,303  (3,179) 

Intangible assets 33,313  (349,787) 

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates -  - 

Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale -  - 

Proceeds: -  - 

Tangible assets -  - 

Intangible assets -  - 

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates -  - 

Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale -  - 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities (4,844) (14,911) 

Payments: (4,844) (14,911) 

Dividends (4,844) (14,911) 

Subordinated liabilities -  - 

Redemption of own equity instruments -  - 

Acquisition of own equity instruments -  - 

Proceeds: -  - 

Effect Of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes -  - 

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash And Cash Equivalents 3,329,664  3,080,399 

Cash And Cash Equivalents At Beginning Of Year 5,350,092  2,269,693 

Cash And Cash Equivalents At End Of Year 8,679,756  5,350,092 

Memorandum Item -  - 

Components Of Cash And Cash Equivalents At End Of Year -  - 

Cash 179,338  122,057 

Cash balances at central banks 8,388,867  5,071,475 

Other demand deposits 111,551  156,560 

Less: Bank overdrafts refundable on demand -  - 



La parte de imagen con el identificador de relación rId1 no se encontró en el archivo.
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Translation of a report originally issued in Spanish based on our work performed in accordance with the audit regulations in force in 
Spain. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails. 

Cecabank, S.A. and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year Ended 31 
December 2021 

1. Introduction, basis of presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements and other 
information 

1.1. Introduction 
Cecabank, S.A. (the "Bank" or the "Entity") is a 
financial institution established on 17 October 2012 
by virtue of a public document executed by the 
Notary Mr. Manuel Richi Alberti. The Bank has been 
recorded in the Commercial Registry since 12 
November 2012 and the Bank of Spain Register of 
financial institutions with code number 2000. 

As from the entry into force of the Single 
Supervisory Mechanism (“SSM”) on 4 November 
2014, the European Central Bank (“ECB”) assumed 
responsibility for supervising European credit 
institutions, one of which is the Bank. The SSM is a 
new banking supervision system that includes the 
ECB and the national supervisors (the Bank of Spain 
in this case). The ECB is empowered to determine 
and monitor the application of the supervision 
criteria by the bank, in close cooperation with the 
Bank of Spain. Therefore, the Bank of Spain is 
responsible for supervising the Bank directly, while 
the ECB supervises it indirectly since it has ultimate 
responsibility for ensuring that the SSM works 
correctly. 

The Bank's headquarters is located in Madrid, at 
Calle Alcalá, 27. The Bank’s bylaws are available 
either at this address or on its website 
(www.cecabank.es), together with other relevant 
legal information. 

The Confederación Española de Cajas de Ahorros 
(“CECA”) holds 89% of the bank’s share capital, as 
a result of the Confederacion’s spin-off of all its 
assets and liabilities to Cecabank, S.A., except for 
certain assets and liabilities relating to its 
community project fund. The Bank was thus 

created in that year and it subrogated to all the 
rights and obligations held by CECA until then. 

The Bank is therefore part of the group, of which 
the Confederación Española de Cajas de Ahorros is 
the parent, together with its associates that are 
also shareholders of the Bank and with which it 
carries out significant transaction volumes. 

Cecabank, S.A. specialises in securities services, 
including acting as a depository entity for 
investment funds and pension plans, the custody of 
securities and other financial assets, as well as the 
execution and settlement of transactions involving 
those assets. 

The Bank bylaws set out the activities that it may 
engage in and establish its corporate purpose: 

a. The performance of all type of activities, 
transactions and services inherent to the 
Banking business in general or directly or 
indirectly related to that business, when 
permitted by current legislation, including 
investment and auxiliary services and those 
related with insurance brokering. 

b. The rendering of technological, 
administrative or assessment services to 
Public Administrations or to any other public 
or private entity; and 

c. The acquisition, possession and disposal of 
any real estate instrument. 

The Cecabank Group (the “Group” or the 
“Cecabank Group”) consisted of Cecabank, S.A. as 
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the parent and Trionis (subsidiary) at 31 December 
2021 and 2020. 

Appendix I hereto includes certain relevant 
financial information on this company at 31 
December 2021 and 2020. Also, note 3 contains the 
Bank's condensed financial statements for 2021, 
which include comparative information for 2020. 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group did not 
have any investments in associates or jointly 
controlled entities. 

Cecabank S.A. offers international coverage for its 
customers, payment in the payment business, 
through two levers: its foreign network and its 
network of correspondent banks. 

The foreign network, with operating offices at 31 
December in Lisbon and a representation office in 
Frankfurt and London, carries out the following 
functions: 

 Support for the entity’s strategic plan and its 
key businesses: Securities Services, Treasury 
and Payments. 

 Knowledge of the market and local support. 

 Expertise in the processing of trans-frontier 
payment orders relating to FX. 

 Collaboration with different international 
pension payment processors and data 
management for more than 210 international 
mutual societies for benefits, pensions, 
compensation and supplementary payments. 

 Significant institutional representation before 
European organisations. 

 Foreign trade promotion services (market 
information, selection of intermediaries, 
commercial reports and claims, business 
centre, collections, legal counsel, tax 
representation and VAT recovery, trade 
missions, creation of branch offices and 
subsidiaries, trade show visits, etc.) 

On 19 May 2020, the Board of Directors of 
Cecabank, S.A. resolved to close the London 
Branch and open a representative office of 
Cecabank in the United Kingdom, with liquidation 
taking effect on 31 December 2020. On 1 January 
2021, the London representative office was opened 
once the relevant authorisations had been 
received. 

In addition, on 19 May 2020, the Board of Directors 
of Cecabank, S.A. also agreed to close and 
liquidate the Paris representative office. This 
closure took effect on 7 August 2020. 

1.2. Basis of presentation of the financial statements 
The Group's consolidated financial statements for 
the year 2021 were authorized for issue by its 
directors at the Board of Directors meeting held on 
17 February 2021. The Group´s financial 
statements for 2020 were prepared by the Board of 
Directors at a meeting held on 23 March 2021. The 
Bank's financial statements for 2021 have yet to be 
approved by shareholders at a General Meeting. 
However, the Bank's Board of Directors believes 
that they will be approved without any significant 
change being made. 

Taking into consideration the eleventh final 
provision of Law 62/2003, of December 30, on 
fiscal, administrative and social measures with 
respect to the legislative accounting framework 
applicable to the preparation of consolidated 
annual accounts which has been applied by the 
Entity’s Directors,  the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements are presented in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted by the European Union at 31 December 
2021 (“EU-IFRSs”), taking into account Bank of 
Spain Circular 4/2017, of 27 November, applicable 
to credit institutions, on public and confidential 
financial reporting rules and formats, as well as 
successive modifications (“Circular 4/2017”). Bank 
of Spain Circular 4/2017 implements and adapts 
for the Spanish credit institution sector the 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
approved by the European Union. 

The Group's consolidated financial statements for 
2021 have been prepared taking into account all 
the principles, accounting standards and 
measurement criteria of mandatory application, so 
that they present fairly the equity and financial 
position of the Group as of 31 December 2021 and 
the results of its operations and cash flows in the 
financial year then ended, in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework to which 
reference has been made in the previous paragraph 
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and, in particular, with the principles and 
accounting criteria contained therein. 

The consolidated financial statements were 
prepared from the accounting records kept by the 
Bank and by the other Group entities. However, 
since the accounting policies and measurement 
bases used in preparing the Group's consolidated 
financial statements for 2021 may differ from those 
used by certain Group entities, the required 

adjustments and reclassifications are made on 
consolidation to unify such policies and bases and 
to make them compliant with the EU-IFRSs used by 
the Group in the preparation of its consolidated 
financial statements. 

The accounting principles and policies described in 
Note 2 were applied in the preparation of all the 
Group consolidated financial statements. 

1.3. Responsibility for the information and use of estimates 
The information in these financial statements is 
the responsibility of the Bank's Directors. 

In the preparation of the Group's financial 
statements for 2021 estimates were made by its 
Directors in order to quantify certain of the assets, 
liabilities, income, expenses and obligations 
reported herein. These estimates relate basically 
to the following: 

 Impairment losses on certain assets (see Notes 
2.9, 2.13, 2.14 and 2.16). 

 Assumptions used in the actuarial calculation 
of the post-employment benefit liabilities and 
obligations and other non-current obligations 
to employees (see Note 2.11 “Staff costs”). 

 Calculation of the provisions, if any, to be 
recognised to cover certain risks arising from 
the Bank’s activity (see Notes 2.10 “Financial 
guarantees and provisions recorded” and 2.15 
“Provisions and contingent liabilities”). 

 The useful life of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets (see Notes 
2.13 “Property, plant and equipment” and 
2.14 “Intangible assets”). 

 The fair value of certain unlisted financial 
instruments (see Note 2.2.3 “Fair value and 
amortised cost of financial instruments”). 

 - The assumptions used in the estimates of the 
probability of recovery of the deferred tax 
assets recognised by the Bank (see Note 2.12 
“Income Tax”). 

In relation to COVID-19, the Bank's management 
has assessed the potential implications on the 
methodology and assumptions used in the 
aforementioned estimates and concluded that, 
given the nature of these estimates, they have not 
been significantly affected and, therefore, there 
has been no material impact on their quantification 
for the financial years 2021 and 2020. 

1.4. Information relating to 2020 
The Board of Directors of the Group presents, for comparative purposes with each of the figures disclosed in 
these consolidated annual accounts, the figures for the financial year 2020. 

1.5. Agency agreements 
Neither at 2021 nor 2020 year-end nor at any other time during those years did the Group have any agency 
agreements in force, as defined in Article 21 of Royal Decree 84/2015, of 13 February, implementing Law 
10/2014, of 26 June, on the regulation, supervision and capital adequacy of credit institutions.  
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1.6. Investments in the share capital of credit institutions 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Group did not hold any ownership interests of 5% or more in the share 
capital or voting rights of any Spanish or foreign credit institutions. 

1.7. Environmental impact 
In view of the business activities carried on by the 
Group, it does not have a significant impact on the 
environment.  

However, Cecabank is committed to the 
responsible and sustainable management of 
material resources, promoting efficiency in 
consumption and the impact on the social and 

environmental environment, both in its activity 
and in its sphere of influence. 

Therefore, it was not necessary to recognise any 
provision in this connection the Group's 
consolidated financial statements for 2021 and 
2020 and they do not contain any disclosures on 
environmental issues. 

1.8. Capital management objectives, policies and processes 
On 2 February 2016, Bank of Spain Circular 2/2016, 
was published for credit institutions and concerns 
supervision and solvency. This Circular covers the 
Spanish adaptation of Directive 2013/36/EU and 
Regulation (EU) 575/2013, which are applicable to 
the Group and which was amended by Bank of Spain 
Circular 5/2021 of 22 November. 

EU Regulation (EU) 575/2013 laid down uniform 
rules that must be complied with by entities in 
relation to: 1) own funds requirements relating to 
elements of credit risk, market risk, operational 
risk and settlement risk; 2) requirements limiting 
large exposures; 3) liquidity risk coverage relating 
to entirely quantifiable, uniform and standardised 
elements of liquidity risk, after the Commission 
delegated act has entered into force; 4) the setting 
of the leverage ratio; and 5) public disclosure 
requirements. 

The aforementioned EU Regulation introduces a 
review of the concept and of the components of 
the regulatory own funds required of entities. 
These consist of two elements: Tier 1 capital and 
Tier 2 capital. In turn, Tier 1 capital comprises 
Common Equity Tier 1 and Additional Tier 1 
capital. Therefore, Tier 1 capital consists of 
instruments that are able to absorb losses when the 
entity is a going concern, while the elements of 
Tier 2 capital will absorb losses primarily when the 
entity is not viable. 

Institutions must generally satisfy the following 
own funds requirements at all times: 

i) A Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 4.5% 
(CET 1). 

ii) A Tier 1 capital ratio (Common Equity plus 
Additional Tier 1) of 6%. 

iii) A total capital ratio of 8%. 

In addition to these requirements, pursuant to the 
aforementioned legislation the Group must comply 
with the following capital requirements: 

 Maintain a capital preservation buffer of 2.5% 
consisting of ordinary tier 1 capital. 

 Maintain an anti-cyclical capital buffer that 
may total up to 2.5% of ordinary tier 1 capital. 
Since 2016, the level that this buffer must 
attain has been set on a quarterly basis by 
Spanish authorities based on macroeconomic 
variables when excessive credit growth that 
may be a source of systemic risk has been 
observed. Since its effective implementation 
on 1 January 

 2016 the Bank of Spain has maintained the 
capital buffer at 0% for credit exposures 
located in Spain. 

 The Bank has not been designated as a 
systemic entity and no capital buffer has 
therefore been established. 



  

A N N U A L  A C C O U N T S  |  C O N S O L I D A T E D  A C C O U N T S  2 0 2 1       2 3  

In addition to the above requirements, Law 
10/2014 of 26 June 2014 on the regulation, 
supervision and solvency of credit institutions 
establishes powers for the Bank of Spain to require 
institutions to maintain capital levels higher than 
those indicated above. In this regard, on 18 
December 2020, the Bank of Spain notified 
Cecabank, S.A. that it complied with the 
requirements of article 92.1 of Regulation (EU) No 
575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the 
Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements 
for credit institutions and investment firms, setting 
the Entity a requirement to maintain an overall 
consolidated and individual capital ratio of no less 
than 9.73% (TSCR ratio) (10.23% in its 
communication for the 2019 financial year), with 
the Entity and its Group also being subject to the 
total capital requirements (OCR) as defined in 
section 1.2 of the EBA/GL/2014/13 Guidelines 
which include, in addition to the TSCR ratio, the 
combined buffer requirement as defined in article 
43 et seq. of Law 10/2014 and its implementing 
regulations. 

This requirement is required as of 1 January 2022. 
At 31 December 2021, as well as during the 
financial year 2021, the consolidated and 
individual capital level of the Entity and its Group 
were above the requirement for that year. 

The strategic capital management objectives set 
by Group management are as follows: 

 To comply, at all times with the applicable 
regulations on minimum capital requirements. 

 To seek maximum capital management 
efficiency so that, together with other 
profitability and risk variables, the use of 
capital is considered to be a key variable in any 
analysis related to the Group’s investment 
decisions. 

In order to meet these objectives, the Group has in 
place a series of capital management policies and 
processes, the main cornerstones of which are as 
follows: 

 In the Group’s strategic and operational 
planning, and in the analysis and follow-up of 
the operations of the Group to which it 
belongs, the impact of decisions on the 
Group’s eligible capital and the use-
profitability-risk relationship is considered to 
be a key decision-making factor. 

 As part of its organisational structure the 
Group has monitoring and control units which 
at all times analyses the level of compliance 
with the applicable regulations on capital, 
with alerts in place to guarantee compliance 
with the applicable regulations. 

On 20 May 2019, the new regulatory package was 
adopted, which is articulated through Regulation 
2019/876 (hereinafter CRR II) and Directive 
2019/878 (hereinafter CRD V). As a general rule, 
CRR II will enter into force as of 28 June 2021, with 
the exception of certain provisions that will enter 
into force over a period of time that began on 1 
January 2019 and will end on 28 June 2023. 

These provisions include the entry into force on 27 
June 2019 of the main changes in the areas of own 
funds, capital deductions, standardised credit risk 
and IRB and authorisations. CRD V entered into 
force on 27 June 2019 but is not yet applicable, as 
Member States have until 28 December 2020 to 
transpose it into national law. CRD V includes 
significant changes such as the regulation of Pillar 
2G ('guidance'). 

The Group’s management of its capital, as far as 
conceptual definitions are concerned, is in keeping 
with Regulation (EU) No 575/2013. With a view to 
ensuring that the aforementioned objectives are 
met, the Group performs integrated management 
of these risks, in accordance with the policies and 
processes indicated above. 

In this regard, on December 17, 2021, the Bank of 
Spain informed Cecabank, SA that it complied with 
the requirements of article 92.1 of Regulation (EU) 
No. 575/2013, of the European Parliament and of 
the Council, of June 26 of 2013, on the prudential 
requirements of credit institutions and investment 
firms, establishing a requirement for the Entity to 
maintain a global consolidated and individual 
capital ratio of not less than 10.19% (TSCR ratio) (a 
9. 73% in its communication for the 2021 financial 
year), with the Entity and its Group also being 
subject to the total capital requirements (OCR) as 
defined in section 1.2 of the EBA/GL/2014/13 
Guidelines, which include, in addition to the TSCR 
ratio, the requirement for combined mattresses, 
as defined in article 43 and following of Law 
10/2014 and its implementing regulations.  

This requirement is required from January 1, 2022. 
As of December 31, 2021, as well as during fiscal 
year 2021, the level of consolidated and individual 
capital of the Entity and its Group, were above the 
requirement demanded for said fiscal year. 
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The Group's Common Equity Tier 1 capital and its 
CET 1 plus Additional Tier 1 capital amounted to 
EUR 743,373 thousand at 31 December 2021, in 
both cases (31 December 2020: EUR 644,600 
thousand), representing a Tier 1 capital adequacy 
ratio and a total capital ratio of 30.09%, at 31 

December 2021 (31 December 2020: 26.61%), 
above the minimum requirements. 

Common Equity Tier 1 capital includes mainly share 
capital, share premium and the Group's reserves 
net of deductions (intangible assets) and the 
results of the year not distributable. 

1.9. Minimum reserve ratio 
Throughout 2021 and 2020, the Bank, only entity in 
the Group subject to this requirement, met the 
minimum reserve ratio required by applicable 
legislation. 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Group’s cash 
balance with Bank of Spain for these purposes 

amounted to EUR 8,388,867 and 5,071,475 
thousand respectively (see Note 7). This ratio is 
calculated on the basis of the daily ending balance 
held by the Group in this account during the 
required period. 

1.10. Deposit guarantee fund 

a) Deposit guarantee fund 

The Group participates in the Deposit Guarantee 
Fund (“DGF”). The annual contribution to be made 
to this Fund, established by Royal Decree-Law 
16/2011, of 14 October, creating the DGF, as 
amended by Final Provision Ten of Law 11/2015, of 
18 June, on the recovery and resolution of credit 
institutions and investment services firms (in force 
since 20 June 2015), is determined by the Managing 
Committee of the DGF and is calculated based on 
the amount of each entity's guaranteed deposits 
and its risk profile. 

The purpose of the DGF is to guarantee deposits at 
credit institutions up to the limit envisaged in the 
aforementioned Royal Decree-Law. In order to 
achieve its objectives, the DGF is funded by the 
aforementioned annual contributions, the 
extraordinary levies the Fund makes on member 
entities and by the funds obtained in the securities 
markets, loans and any other debt transactions. 

Taking the foregoing into account, in order to 
reinforce the equity of the DGF, Royal Decree-Law 
6/2013, of 22 March, on protection of holders of 
certain savings and investment products and other 
financial measures established an extraordinary 
levy equal to 3 per mil of the institutions' deposits 
at 31 December 2012. This extraordinary levy was 
paid in two tranches: 

i) Two-fifths to be paid within 20 business days 
from 31 December 2013. The Group paid this 
contribution, which amounted to EUR 7 
thousand, in the first few days of January 
2014. 

ii) Three-fifths to be paid within seven years in 
accordance with the payment schedule 
established by the Managing Committee of the 
DGF. In this regard, based on the contribution 
schedule approved by the Managing Committee 
of the DGF, the Group paid one-seventh of this 
second tranche on 30 September 2014, and on 
17 December 2014 the Managing Committee 
approved payment of the remainder of the 
second tranche in two disbursements on 30 
June 2015 and 2016 (which were settled on 
those dates). 

In addition, the FGD Management Committee, at 
its meeting of 30 November 2021, pursuant to the 
provisions of article 6 of Royal Decree-Law 16/2011 
of 14 October, which created the FGD, and article 
3 of Royal Decree 2606/1996 of 20 December, on 
deposit guarantee funds for credit institutions, set 
the annual contributions of the institutions 
attached to the FGD for 2021 in the following 
terms: 

a. The total annual contribution of all the 
institutions adhered to the deposit guarantee 
compartment of the DGF was set at 1.7/1,000 
of the calculation base, made up of the 
guaranteed money deposits as indicated in 
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section 2.a) of article 3 of Royal Decree 
2606/1996 existing at 30 December 2020, with 
the contribution of each institution being 
calculated according to the amount of the 
guaranteed deposits and its risk profile. 

b. The annual contribution of the institutions 
adhering to the FGD's deposit guarantee 
compartment was set at 2/1,000 of the 
calculation base, made up of 5% of the 
amount of the guaranteed securities as 
indicated in section 2.b) of Article 3 of Royal 
Decree 2606/1996 existing at 31 December 
2021. 

The expense incurred for the contributions 
accruing to the DGF during 2021 amounted to EUR 
230 thousand (2020: EUR 169 thousand), which 
were recognised under “Other Operating 
Expenses” in the accompanying income statement 
(see Note 37 “Other operating expenses”). 

b) Single Resolution Fund 

In March 2014, the European Parliament and the 
Council reached a political agreement for the 
creation of the second pillar of the Banking Union, 
the Single Resolution Mechanism (“SRM”). The SRM's 
main purpose is to ensure an orderly resolution of 
failing banks in the future with minimal costs to 
taxpayers and to the real economy. The SRM's scope 
of activity is identical to that of the SSM, i.e., a 
central authority, the Single Resolution Board 
(“SRB”), is ultimately responsible for deciding 
whether to initiate the resolution of a bank, while 
the operational decision is implemented in 
cooperation with the national resolution authorities. 
The SRB commenced its work as an independent EU 
agency on 1 January 2015. 

The purpose of the rules governing banking union is 
to ensure that bank resolutions will be financed 
first of all by the banks and their shareholders and, 
if necessary, partly by the bank's creditors. 
However, another source of funding will also be 
available to which recourse can be had if the 
contributions of the shareholders and of the bank's 
creditors are not sufficient. This is the Single 
Resolution Fund (“SRF”), which is administered by 

the SRB. The legislation requires banks to make the 
contributions to the SRF over eight years. 

In this regard, on 1 January 2016, Regulation (EU) 
No 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the 
Council, of 15 July 2014, came into force. Under 
this Regulation the SRB replaces the national 
resolution authorities with respect to the 
management of financing arrangements for the 
resolution mechanisms for credit institutions and 
certain investment firms within the framework of 
the SRM. As a result, the SRB is now responsible for 
administering the SRF and for calculating the ex-
ante contributions of institutions within its scope 
of application. 

The SRB calculates the contributions to be paid by 
each institution in accordance with the information 
sent to each institution in an official form for the 
calculation of the ex-ante contribution. The 
amount was the result of applying the calculation 
methodology specified in Commission Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2015/63, of 21 October 2014, 
based on the uniform conditions of application 
indicated in Council Implementing Regulation (EU) 
2015/81, of 19 December 2014. 

The target level for all the contributions has been 
set at one-eighth of 1.05% of the quarterly average 
of covered deposits in the eurozone in 2015, 
resulting in a Europe-wide contribution target for 
the Fund of EUR 7,008 million in 2016. Article 69 of 
Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 establishes that the 
available financial means of the Fund (at least 1% 
of the amount of covered deposits) must be 
reached within eight years from 1 January 2016. 

Article 8.1 of Council Implementing Regulation 
(EU) 2015/81 stipulates that 60% of the 
contributions shall be calculated on a national basis 
and the remaining 40% on a basis common to all 
participating member States. 

The expense incurred by the Group in relation to 
the contribution made to the SRF in 2021 totalled 
EUR 6,950 thousand (2020: EUR 4,426 thousand) 
and is recognised under “Other Operating 
Expenses” in the accompanying income statement 
(see Note 37 “Other operating expenses”). 

1.11. Changes in accounting policies 
There have been no changes in accounting policies during 2021. The changes that have occurred in relation to 
the new regulations that apply to the Group are described in section 1.12 below. 
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1.12. Main regulatory changes during the period from 1 
January to 31 December 2021 

1.12.1. New Bank of Spain Circulars 

Following is a summary of the main Bank of Spain 
Circulars issued in 2021: 

Bank of Spain Circular 6/2021 of 22 December 
amending Circular 4/2017 of 27 November to credit 
institutions on public and confidential financial 
reporting standards and model financial 
statements and Circular 4/2019 of 26 November to 
financial credit institutions on public and 
confidential financial reporting standards and 
model financial statements. 

The main objective of this Circular is to update 
Circular 4/2017, of 27 November, to credit 
institutions, on public and confidential financial 
reporting standards and financial statements. 
Specifically, it incorporates into Circular 4/2017 
changes to International Accounting Standard No. 
39 and International Financial Reporting Standards 
4, 7, 9 and 16. It also updates the models and 
instructions for the preparation of the confidential 
financial statements known as FINREP. 

Bank of Spain Circular 5/2021, of December 22, 
which modifies Circular 2/2016, of February 2, to 
credit institutions, on supervision and solvency, 
which completes the adaptation of the Spanish 
legal system to Directive 2013/36/EU and 
Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013. 

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2021, of November 25, to 
credit institutions and other supervised entities, on 
models of reserved statements in matters of 
market conduct, transparency and customer 
protection, and on the registration of claims (BOE 
of December 1, 2021). 

The aforementioned Circular establishes the 
information that the supervised entities have to 
prepare in terms of conduct, in development –
among others– of the authorization contained in 
the eighth additional provision of Royal Decree 
84/2015, of February 13, which develops Law 
10/2014, of June 26, on the organization, 
supervision and solvency of credit institutions, 
pursuant to which the Bank of Spain is empowered 
to require natural or legal persons subject to its 
supervision, with the form and frequency to be 
determined, the statements and the information 
that it considers necessary to comply with the 

function of supervising the standards of conduct, 
transparency and protection of the required 
clients. Specifically, the models of reserved 
statements are determined, for which their 
content and the frequency with which they must 
be sent to the Bank of Spain are defined. Likewise, 
it establishes the need for entities to have a 
register of claims available to the Bank of Spain 
with predefined content. 

Bank of Spain Circular 3/2021, of May 13, which 
modifies Circular 5/2012 with regard to the 
definition of the reference interest rate based on 
the Euro short-term rate (€STR), of June 27, to 
credit institutions and payment service providers, 
on transparency of banking services and 
responsibility in granting loans (BOE of May 17, 
2021). 

The Circular includes the modification that is 
proposed to be introduced in the definition of the 
€STR index provided for in the sixth section of 
annex 8 of the aforementioned Circular 5/2012, of 
June 27, after the publication of the BCE/2021/10 
Guideline, where the procedures for determining 
and the rules for disseminating the compound 
average rates based on the €STR are included. 

Bank of Spain Circular 2/2021, of January 28, which 
modifies Circular 8/2015, of December 18, of the 
Bank of Spain, to the entities and branches 
attached to the Deposit Guarantee Fund of Credit 
Institutions, on information to determine the bases 
for calculating contributions to the Deposit 
Guarantee Fund for Credit Institutions (BOE of 
February 2, 2021). 

This circular meets the principles of necessity, 
effectiveness, and legal certainty required by 
article 129.1 of Law 39/2015, of October 1, on the 
common administrative procedure of Public 
Administrations (hereinafter, "Law 39/2015") , 
since it responds to the need to undertake the 
changes that ensure the correct fulfillment of the 
obligations contained in Circular 8/2015 by the 
entities and branches attached to the FGD and, 
therefore, the fulfillment, by the Bank of Spain of 
the control and supervision function aimed at 
ensuring the proper functioning of the Deposit 
Guarantee Fund.  
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Bank of Spain Circular 1/2021, of January 28, which 
modifies Circular 1/2013, of May 24, on the Risk 
Information Center, and Circular 5/2012, of June 
27, to credit institutions and payment service 

providers, on transparency of banking services and 
responsibility in granting loans (BOE of January 30, 
2021). 

1.12.2. Amendments to and adoption of new International Financial 
Reporting Standards and interpretations issued 

The accounting polices used in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 are the same as those 
applied in the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2020, except for 
the standards and interpretations that have 
entered into force for use in the European Union, 
applicable to the years beginning on or after 1 
January 2021, which are as follows: 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - 
“Definition of Material (or relative 
importance)”: 

These amendments clarify the definition of 
"material" by introducing, in addition to omitted or 
inaccurate items that may influence users' 
decisions, the concept of "obscure" information. 
These amendments make IFRS more consistent, 
however are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the preparation of financial statements. 

The entry into force of this standard on 1 January 
2020 has not had a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 9 (Amendment), IFRS 7 
(Amendment) and IAS 39 (Amendment) 
"Interest rate benchmark reform": 

These amendments provide certain exemptions in 
relation to interest rate reform benchmark (IBOR). 
The exemptions relate to hedge accounting and 
have the effect that IBOR reform should generally 
not cause hedge accounting to cease. However, 
any hedge ineffectiveness should continue to be 
recorded in the income statement. 

The entry into force of this standard on 1 January 
2020 has not had a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 3 (Amendment) "Definition of a 
business": 

These amendments will help to determine whether 
it is an acquisition of a business or a group of 
assets. The amended definition emphasises that 
the product of a business is to provide goods and 
services to customers, whereas the previous 
definition focused on providing returns in the form 
of dividends, lower costs or other economic 
benefits to investors and others. In addition to 
changing the wording of the definition, additional 
guidance has been provided. To be considered a 
business, an acquisition would have to include an 
input and a process that together contribute 
significantly to the ability to create products. The 
new guidance provides a framework for assessing 
when both elements are present (even for early 
stage businesses that have not generated outputs). 
To be a non-output business, it will now be 
necessary to have an organised workforce. 

These amendments will apply to business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on 
or after the beginning of the first annual reporting 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and to 
acquisitions of assets occurring on or after the 
beginning of that period. 

The entry into force of this standard on 1 January 
2020 has not had a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to the references to the 
Conceptual Framework in IFRS: 

The IASB has issued a revised conceptual 
framework to be used in the development of 
accounting standards. Although no changes are 
made to any existing accounting standards, entities 
that rely on the Conceptual Framework to 
determine their accounting policies for 
transactions, events or conditions that are not 
under the scope of the issued accounting standards 
will have to apply the revised Conceptual 
Framework from 1 January 2020. 
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The entry into force of this standard on 1 January 
2020 has not had a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.  

IFRS 16 (Amendment) "COVID-19 
related rent reductions": 

The IASB has published an amendment to IFRS 16 
"Leases" that provides an optional practical 
expedient for lessees in assessing whether a COVID-
19 related rental concession is a lease 
modification. Lessees may choose to account for 
such lease concessions in the same way as they 

would if they were not lease modifications. In many 
cases, this will result in accounting for the 
concession as variable lease payments in the 
period(s) in which the event or condition that 
triggers the reduced payment occurs. The 
amendment does not provide the same facility for 
lessors, who have to apply the current 
requirements of IFRS 16 and consider whether or 
not there has been a modification of the relevant 
lease. 

The entry into force of this standard on 1 January 
2020 has not had a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

At the date of preparation of these financial statements, the following are the most significant standards and 
interpretations that had been issued by the IASB but had not yet become effective, either because their 
effective date is subsequent to the date of the consolidated financial statements or because they have not yet 
been adopted by the European Union: 

New regulations, modifications and interpretations 

Approved for use in the European Union 

IFRS 4 (Amendment) "Extension 
of the temporary exemption from 
the application of IFRS 9" 

In accordance with the postponement of the effective date of IFRS 17 
"Insurance contracts", the amendment changes the expiration date for 
the temporary exemption in IFRS 4 "Insurance contracts" regarding the 
application of IFRS 9 " Financial Instruments”, requiring entities to apply 
IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, instead 
of January 1, 2021.  
It is not expected that the entry into force of this standard have a 
significant impact on the consolidated annual accounts in future years. 

January 1, 2021 

IFRS 16 (Amendment) “Rent 
reductions related to COVID-19 
beyond June 30, 2021” 

The IASB has extended the application period of the practical option of 
IFRS 16 “Leases” for one year to help leases account for rental 
concessions related to COVID-19. Consequently, this practical option 
applies to rental concessions that occur as a direct consequence of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are met: 
 the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for 

the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the 
consideration immediately prior to the change 

 any reduction in lease payments affects only payments due through 
June 30, 2022 

 there is no material change in other terms and conditions of the 
lease. 

For the purposes of IFRS-EU, companies must apply the aforementioned 
amendments as of April 1, 2021 for years beginning on or after January 
1, 2021 at the latest. The entry into force of this standard is not 
expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements in future years. 

January 1, 2021 

IFRS 9 (Amendment), IAS 39 
(Amendment), IFRS 7 
(Amendment), IFRS 4 
(Amendment) and IFRS 16 
(Amendment) “Reform of 
reference interest rates: Phase 
2”: 

The IASB has undertaken a two-stage project to consider what 
exemptions, if any, to provide for the purposes of interest rate 
benchmark reform (“IBORs”). The Phase 1 amendments, issued in 
September 2019, provided temporary exemptions from the application 
of specific hedge accounting requirements to relationships affected by 
uncertainties arising as a result of IBOR reform ("the Phase 1 
exemptions 1"). The Phase 2 amendments address issues arising from 
the implementation of the reforms, including the replacement of a 
reference rate with an alternative one.  
The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in future 
years. 

January 1, 2021 
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New regulations, modifications and interpretations 

Annual Improvements to IFRS. 
Cycle 2018 – 2020 

The amendments affect IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41 and apply to 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The main 
amendments refer to: 
 IFRS 1 "First Time Adoption of IFRS": IFRS 1 allows an exemption if 

a subsidiary adopts IFRS at a later date than its parent company. 
This amendment allows entities that have taken this exemption to 
also measure the accumulated conversion differences using the 
amounts accounted for by the parent, based on the date of 
transition of the latter to IFRS. 

 IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments": The amendment addresses what 
costs should be included in the 10% test for derecognition of 
financial liabilities. Costs or fees may be paid to third parties or to 
the lender. Under the amendment, costs or fees paid to third 
parties will not be included in the 10% test. 

 IAS 41 "Agriculture": This amendment eliminates the requirement 
to exclude cash flows for taxes when measuring fair value according 
to IAS 41. 

The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements in future years. 

 

Not yet approved for use in the European Union  

IFRS 10 (Amendment) and IAS 28 
(Amendment) “Sale or 
contribution of assets between 
an investor and its associates or 
joint ventures”: 

These amendments clarify the accounting treatment of sales and 
contributions of assets between an investor and its associates and joint 
ventures, which will depend on whether the non-monetary assets sold 
or contributed to an associate or joint venture constitute a "business". 
The investor will recognize the full gain or loss when the non-monetary 
assets constitute a "business". If the assets do not meet the definition 
of a business, the investor recognizes the gain or loss to the extent of 
the interests of other investors. The modifications will only apply when 
an investor sells or contributes assets to its associate or joint venture.  
The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements in future years. 

A broader review that 
may result in the 
simplification of the 
accounting for these 
transactions and other 
aspects of the 
accounting for 
associates and joint 
ventures. 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts. Replaces IFRS 4, collects the principles of registration, valuation, 
presentation and breakdown of insurance contracts with the aim that 
the entity provides relevant and reliable information that allows users 
of financial information to determine the effect that insurance 
contracts have in the financial statements, although the fundamental 
principles of the same do not change.  
The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements in future years. 

The European Union 
adopted IFRS 17 as 
amended in November 
2021 and it becomes 
effective on January 1, 
2023. 

IFRS 17 (Amendment) “Initial 
application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 
9 – Comparative information” 

The IASB has published an amendment to IFRS 17 that introduces limited 
scope modifications to the transition requirements of IFRS 17 “Insurance 
Contracts” and does not affect any other requirement of IFRS 17. IFRS 
17 and IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” have different transition 
requirements. For some insurers, these differences may cause specific 
accounting asymmetries between the financial assets and the liabilities 
for insurance contracts in the comparative information that they 
present in their financial statements when they apply IFRS 17 and IFRS 
9 for the first time. The amendment will help insurers avoid these 
asymmetries and thus improve the usefulness of comparative 
information for investors. 

This modification is 
pending adoption by 
the European Union and 
is effective for fiscal 
years beginning on or 
after January 1, 2023. 

IAS 1 (Amendments) 
“Classification of liabilities as 
current or non-current”: 

These amendments clarify that liabilities are classified as current or 
non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the 
reporting period. The classification is not affected by the entity's 
expectations or events subsequent to the year-end date (for example, 
receipt of a waiver or breach of covenant). The amendment also 
clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to the "settlement" of a 
liability. The effective date of these amendments is January 1, 2022, 
although early adoption is permitted.  
The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements in future years. 

In July 2020 there was 
a modification to 
change the date of 
entry into force of the 
modification to January 
1, 2023. Said 
modifications are 
pending approval by 
the European Union. 

IAS 1 (Amendment) “Breakdown 
of accounting policies” 

IAS 1 has been amended to improve disclosures of accounting policies so 
that they provide more useful information to investors and other 
primary users of financial statements.  
The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements in future years. 

The effective date of 
these modifications is 
January 1, 2023 and 
they are pending 
approval by the 
European Union. 

IAS 8 (Amendment) "Definition 
of accounting estimates" 

IAS 8 has been amended to help distinguish between changes in 
accounting estimate and changes in accounting policy. 

The effective date of 
these modifications is 
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New regulations, modifications and interpretations 

The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements in future years. 

January 1, 2023 and 
they are pending 
approval by the 
European Union. 

IAS 12 (Amendment) "Deferred 
tax related to assets and 
liabilities arising from a single 
transaction" 

In certain circumstances under IAS 12, companies are exempt from 
recognizing deferred taxes when they recognize assets or liabilities for 
the first time. Previously there was some uncertainty as to whether 
the exemption applied to transactions such as leases and 
decommissioning obligations, transactions for which both an asset and 
a liability are recognized on initial recognition. The amendment 
clarifies that the exemption does not apply and that, therefore, there 
is an obligation to recognize deferred taxes on said transactions. 

The amendment enters 
into force for fiscal 
years beginning on or 
after January 2, 2023, 
although its early 
application is 
permitted. This 
modification is pending 
approval by the 
European Union. 

IAS 16 (Amendment) "Property, 
plant and equipment - Income 
obtained before intended use": 

It is prohibited to deduct from the cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment any income obtained from the sale of items produced 
while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. Revenue 
from the sale of such samples, along with production costs, is now 
recognized in income. The amendment also clarifies that an entity is 
testing whether the asset is working properly when it assesses the 
physical and technical performance of the asset. The financial 
performance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment 
The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in future 
years. 

The effective date of 
these modifications is 
January 1, 2022. Said 
modification is pending 
approval by the 
European Union. 

IAS 37 (Amendment) "Onerous 
contracts - Cost of fulfilling a 
contract" 

The amendment explains that the direct cost of fulfilling a contract 
comprises the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an 
allocation of other costs that are directly related to fulfilling the 
contracts. It also clarifies that before making a separate provision for 
an onerous contract, the entity will recognize any impairment loss 
that has occurred on the assets used to fulfill the contract, rather than 
on the assets dedicated to that contract. 
The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in future 
years. 

The effective date of 
these modifications is 
January 1, 2022. The 
modification is pending 
approval by the 
European Union. 

IFRS 3 (Amendment) "Reference 
to the Conceptual Framework 

IFRS 3 has been updated to refer to the 2018 Conceptual Framework 
for determining what constitutes an asset or a liability in a business 
combination (previously it referred to the 2001 CM). In addition, a new 
exception has been added in IFRS 3 for liabilities and contingent 
liabilities. 
The entry into force of this standard is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in future 
years. 

The effective date of 
these modifications is 
January 1, 2022. The 
modification is pending 
approval by the 
European Union. 
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2. Accounting policies and measurement bases 

The accounting policies and measurement bases applied in preparing the Group's consolidated financial 
statements for the financial year 2021 were as follows: 

2.1. Consolidation principles 

2.1.1. Subsidiaries 
“Subsidiaries” are defined as entities over which 
the Group has the capacity to exercise control; 
control is, in general but not exclusively, presumed 
to exist when the Entity owns directly or indirectly 
half or more of the voting rights of the investee or, 
even if this percentage is lower or zero, when there 
are other circumstances or agreements that give 
the Entity control. 

As provided for in IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial 
Statements”, an entity controls an investee when 
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. 

Annex I of this consolidated report provides 
relevant information on these companies. 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are 
consolidated with those of the Group using the full 
consolidation method as defined in IFRS 10. 
Consequently, the following methods, inter alia, 
were applied in the consolidation process: 

1. All material balances and transactions between 
the consolidated companies, and any material 
gains or losses on intra-Group transactions not 

realised vis-à-vis third parties, were eliminated 
on consolidation. 

2. The value of minority interests in equity and 
income of subsidiaries is presented in the 
"Minority Interests" caption on the liability side 
of the consolidated balance sheet and in the 
"Attributable to Minority Interest" caption in 
the loss account and consolidated earnings, 
respectively, if any. 

3. The variation recorded from the date of 
acquisition in the net assets of the consolidated 
subsidiaries, which is not attributable to results 
for the year or to changes in their measurement 
adjustments, is included under "Other 
Reserves" in the consolidated balance sheet. 

4. The consolidation of the results generated by 
the subsidiaries acquired in a fiscal year is 
carried out taking into account only those 
corresponding to the period between the date 
of acquisition and the close of that year. At the 
same time, the consolidation of the results 
generated by the subsidiaries disposed of in the 
year is carried out taking into account only 
those relating to the period between the 
beginning of the year and the date of disposal. 

2.1.2. Joint ventures 
“Joint ventures” are deemed to be ventures that 
are not subsidiaries but which are jointly controlled 
by two or more unrelated entities. This is 
evidenced by contractual arrangements whereby 
two or more entities (“venturers”) acquire 
interests in entities (“jointly controlled entities”) 
or undertake operations or hold assets so that 
strategic financial and operating decisions 
affecting the joint venture require the unanimous 
consent of the venturers. 

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using 
the equity method as defined by IAS 28. 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group does not 
have, and has not had during those years, any 
interests in joint ventures. 
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2.1.3. Associated Entities 
Associates are companies over which the Group has 
the capacity to exercise significant influence, but 
not control or joint control. Frequently, this ability 
is evidenced by a participation (direct or indirect) 
of 20% or more of the voting rights of the investee. 

However, investments in associates that qualify for 
classification as non-current assets held for sale are 
presented and, where appropriate, recognised 

under "Non-current assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale" in the consolidated 
balance sheet and are measured in accordance 
with the criteria applicable to these assets (see 
Note 2.16). 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group does not 
have, and has not had during those years, any 
classified investments in associates. 

2.2. Financial instruments - Initial recognition, derecognition, 
definitions of fair value and amortised cost and classification 
categories and measurement of financial assets and 
liabilities 

2.2.1. Initial recognition of financial instruments 
Financial instruments are initially recognised in the 
balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to 
the contract originating them in accordance with 
the terms and conditions thereof. Specifically, 
debt instruments, such as loans and cash deposits, 
are recognised from the date on which the legal 
right to receive or the legal obligation to pay cash 
arises. Derivative financial instruments are 
generally recognised from the trade date. 

A regulated purchase or sale of financial assets, 
defined as one in which the parties' reciprocal 
obligations must be discharged within a time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the 

marketplace and that may not be settled net, such 
as stock market and forward currency purchase and 
sale contracts, is recognised on the date from 
which the rewards, risks, rights and duties 
attaching to all owners are for the purchaser, 
which, depending on the type of financial asset 
purchased or sold, may be the trade date or the 
settlement or delivery date. In particular, 
transactions performed in the spot currency 
market are recognised on the settlement date; 
equity instruments traded in Spanish secondary 
securities markets are recognised on the trade date 
and debt instruments traded in these markets are 
recognised on the settlement date. 

2.2.2. Derecognition of financial instruments 
A financial asset is derecognised when: 

 The contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the financial asset expire; or 

 The financial asset is transferred and 
substantially all its risks and rewards are 
transferred or, although these are not 

substantially transferred or retained, control 
over the financial asset is transferred (see 
Note 2.8). 

Also, a financial liability is derecognised when the 
obligations it generates have been extinguished or 
when it is purchased by the Group, with the 
intention either to re-sell it or to cancel it. 

2.2.3. Fair value and amortised cost of financial instruments 
The fair value of a financial instrument on a given 
date is considered to be the amount for which it 
could be bought or sold on that date by two 
knowledgeable parties in an arm's length 
transaction.  The most objective and common 
reference for the fair value of a financial 
instrument is the price that would be paid for it on 

an organised, transparent and deep market 
(“quoted price” or “market price”). 

If there is no market price for a given financial 
instrument, its fair value is estimated on the basis 
of the price established in recent transactions 
involving similar instruments and, in the absence 
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thereof, of measurement techniques commonly 
used by the financial community, taking into 
account the specific features of the instrument to 
be measured and, particularly, the various types 
of risk associated with it. 

Specifically, the fair value of financial derivatives 
included in the portfolios of financial assets or 
liabilities held for trading which are traded in 
organised, transparent and deep markets is 
deemed to be their daily quoted price and if, for 
exceptional reasons, the quoted price at a given 
date cannot be determined, these financial 
derivatives are measured using methods similar to 
those used to measure OTC derivatives. 

The fair value of OTC derivatives or derivatives 
traded in thin or scantly transparent organised 
markets is taken to be the sum of the future cash 
flows arising from the instrument, discounted to 
present value at the date of measurement 
(“present value” or “theoretical close”) using 
measurement techniques recognised by the 
financial markets: “net present value” (NPV), 
option pricing models, etc. 

Amortised cost is understood to be the acquisition 
cost of a financial asset or liability plus or minus, 
as appropriate, the principal and interest 
repayments and the cumulative amortisation 
(taken to the income statement), calculated using 
the effective interest method, of the difference 
between the initial cost and the maturity amount 

of such financial instruments. In the case of 
financial assets, amortised cost furthermore 
includes any reductions for impairment or 
uncollectibility. 

The Group has contracted at 31 December 2021 and 
2020 various reverse repurchase loan operations 
(see Note 10), for which it must return the 
securities making up the collateral to the former 
owner at expiration. At 31 December 2021 and 
2020 the fair value of the securities received as 
collateral in these repo transactions does not differ 
significantly from the carrying amount of these 
operations. 

The effective interest rate is the discount rate that 
exactly matches the initial amount of a financial 
instrument to the present value of all its estimated 
cash flows of all kinds during its remaining life, 
disregarding future losses from credit risk. For 
fixed rate financial instruments, the effective 
interest rate coincides with the contractual 
interest rate established on the acquisition or 
arrangement date adjusted, where applicable, for 
the fees, premiums, discounts and transaction 
costs that must be included in the calculation of 
the effective interest rate. In the case of floating 
rate financial instruments, the effective interest 
rate is determined using a method similar to that 
for fixed rate transactions and is recalculated on 
each contractual interest reset date, taking into 
account any changes in the future cash flows. 

2.2.4. Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities 
Pursuant to IFRS 9, the classification and 
measurement of the financial assets is performed 
according to the business model considered by the 
Group for the management and the features of the 
contractual flows, as defined below: 

a) The business model for the management 
of financial assets is the mechanism in 
which the Group jointly manages the 
groups of financial assets to generate 
cash flows. This model may consist in 
holding onto these financial assets so to 
receive their contractual cash flows, for 
the sale of these assets or a combination 
of both objectives. 

b) The characteristics of the contractual 
cash flows of financial assets can be those 
whose contractual terms and conditions 
provide, on determined dates, cash flows 

and consist only of payments of principal 
and interest on the outstanding principal, 
commonly known as “Solely Payments of 
Principal and Interest (SPPI)”, or those 
who do not comply such characteristic. 

a. Business models 
There are three types of business models, which 
are based on the treatment of cash flows for 
financial instruments: 

 Amortised cost - collection of contractual cash 
flows: consists of holding assets for the 
purpose of collecting contractual cash flows 
(interests) during the term of the instrument. 

 Mixed - collection of contractual cash flows 
and the disposal of financial assets: this mixed 
business model combines the objective of 
holding assets to collect contractual cash flows 
and the disposal of these assets. 
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 Trade - sale of financial assets: the business 
model consists of purchasing and disposal of 
assets. The Group makes its decisions based on 
the fair value of the assets and manages these 
in order to obtain their fair value. 

b. SPPI Test 
The purpose of the SPPI test is to determine 
whether or not, in accordance with the contractual 
characteristics of the instrument, cash flows are 
representative of only the repayment of the 
principal and interest, essentially understood as 
being the compensation for the time value of 
money and the credit risk of the debtor. 

The main function of the test is to differentiate 
which products covered by the “collection of 
contractual cash flows” and “collection of 
contractual cash flows and the disposal of financial 
assets” business models can be measured at 
amortised cost and at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, respectively, or, on the 
contrary, that must be measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Debt instruments that are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, as 
well as equity instruments, are not subject to this 
analysis. 

Specifically, financial assets based on its business 
model and the SPPI test can be classified as: 

 Financial assets at amortised cost: when the 
instrument is managed in order to generate 
cash flows in the form of contractual 
collections during the life of the instrument 
while passing the SPPI test. 

 Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income: when the instrument 
is managed to generate cash flows, i) in the 
form of contractual collections during the life 
of the instrument and ii) through their sale 
while passing the SPPI test. Moreover, it will 
be recorded in this portfolio those equity 
instruments that the Group voluntary and 
irrevocably designated from the beginning. 

 Financial assets held at fair value through 
profit or loss: when the instrument is managed 
to generate cash flows through their sale or 
when it does not pass the SPPI test based on 
the business models of the previous sections. 
There are two categories for these assets: 

 Financial assets held for trading: This 
subcategory includes instruments that have 

any of the following characteristics: i) they are 
held for the purpose of converting them into 
cash in the short term; ii) they are part of a 
group of financial instruments identified and 
jointly managed and there is evidence of 
recent actions to achieve short-term profit 
taking and iii) they are derivative instruments 
that do not meet the definition of a financial 
guarantee agreement nor have they been 
classified as hedging instruments. 

 Non-traded financial assets designated at fair 
value through profit or loss: This subcategory 
includes the rest of financial assets. 

The Group may decide at the time of initial 
recognition, and irrevocably, to include any equity 
instruments that cannot be classified as held for 
trading in the “Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income” portfolio. 
This option will be carried out on an instrument by 
instrument basis. Also, during the initial 
recognition, and irrevocably, the Group may 
choose to designate any financial asset as fair value 
through profit or loss, and by doing so eliminates 
or significantly reduces any inconsistency in the 
measurement or recognition (accounting 
asymmetry) that would otherwise arise, for the 
measurement of assets or liabilities, or the 
recognition of their gains and losses, on different 
bases. 

Regardless of the frequency and importance of 
sales, certain types of sales are not incompatible 
with the category held to receive contractual cash 
flows: such as sales due to a reduction in credit 
quality, sales close to the expiration of operations, 
so that any changes to market prices would not 
have a significant effect on the cash flows of the 
financial asset, sales in response to a change in the 
regulatory or taxation rules, sales in response to an 
internal restructuring or significant business 
combination, derivative sales during the execution 
of a liquidity crisis plan when the  crisis event is 
not reasonably expected. 

The Group has defined the business models and has 
segmented its financial instrument portfolio for the 
purposes of performing the SPPI test, making a 
distinction between: i) families of instruments that 
group together fully homogeneous products 
(“umbrella families”) in such a way that, while 
testing a sample of portfolio products, a conclusion 
could be drawn whether or not  other products of 
the same family pass the test and ii) products, due 
to their nature, requiring an individual analysis 
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(“case by case”) that the Group has to make for all 
the SPPI tests. 

Nevertheless, financial instruments that should be 
considered as non-current assets and disposal 
groups classified as held for sale are recognised in 
the financial statements as explained in section of 
this Note. 

As for the classification of financial liabilities, they 
are included for the purpose of measurement in 
some of the following three portfolios: 

 Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss: this category includes financial 
liabilities designated as such from initial 
recognition, the fair value of which may be 
determined reliably, and which meet the same 
conditions than for the financial assets at fair 

value with changes in profit or loss previously 
described. 

 Financial liabilities held for trading: include 
those that have been issued with an intention 
to repurchase them in the near term or that 
form part of a portfolio of identified financial 
instruments that are managed together and for 
which there is evidence of a recent pattern of 
short-term profit taking; short positions arising 
from sales of temporary purchased assets 
under non-optional repurchase agreements or 
borrowed securities, and derivatives other 
than as hedging instruments. 

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost: this 
category includes all financial instruments 
except for those qualified for being included in 
the other portfolios. 

2.2.5. Modifications – Ibor Reform 
Benchmark reform  
During the past year, the public and private sectors 
have worked in coordination on the reform of the 
financial market interest rate reference indices 
and in the transition towards new alternative 
indices. In this regard, the FSB has called on 
financial and non-financial sector entities in all 
jurisdictions to continue their efforts to make 
wider use of risk-free rates in order to reduce 
reliance on IBORs (such as LIBOR, EURIBOR and 
TIBOR), and in particular to eliminate the 
remaining dependencies on the London Interbank 
Offered Rate (LIBOR), for which it published a 
roadmap outlining a calendar of actions for 
financial and non-financial entities that guarantee 
an orderly transition. 

In Europe, the Commission proposed to amend EU 
rules on financial benchmarks. The purpose of the 
amendments is to create a framework that allows 
the application, at the request of the European 
Commission, of a legal replacement rate when a 
benchmark index of systemic importance such as 
LIBOR or others ceases to be published or loses 
representativeness. This will reduce legal 
uncertainty in relation to existing contracts that do 
not contain suitable proxies and will avoid risks to 
financial stability.  

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 – 
Amendments - Reform Ibor Phase I 
The Ibor Reform (Phase 1) refers to the 
amendments issued by the IASB to IFRS 9, IAS 39 
and IFRS 7 in order to prevent some accounting 

hedges from having to be discontinued in the 
period prior to the reform of the reference types 
actually take place. The Group applies IAS 39 for 
hedge accounting. 

In some cases and/or jurisdictions, there may be 
uncertainty about the future of some references or 
their impact on the contracts held by the entity, 
which directly causes uncertainty about the term 
or the amounts of the cash flows of the hedged 
instrument or of the instrument of coverage. Due 
to such uncertainties, some entities may be forced 
to discontinue hedge accounting, or may not be 
able to designate new hedging relationships. 

For this reason, the amendments include several 
temporary simplifications in the requirements for 
the application of hedge accounting that apply to 
all hedging relationships that are affected by the 
uncertainty derived from the Reform. A hedging 
relationship is affected by the reform if it 
generates uncertainty about the term or the 
amount of the cash flows of the hedged financial 
instrument or the hedging instrument referenced 
to the specific benchmark. The simplifications 
refer to the requirements on highly probable future 
transactions in cash flow hedges, on prospective 
and retrospective effectiveness (exemption from 
compliance with the 80%-125% effectiveness ratio), 
and on the need to identify the component risk 
separately. 

Since the purpose of the amendment is to provide 
temporary exceptions to the application of certain 
specific hedge accounting requirements, these 
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exceptions should end once the uncertainty is 
resolved or the hedge ceases to exist. 

As of December 31, 2021, the Group considers that, 
in general, there is no uncertainty about the 
Euribor, since it has been replaced by the hybrid 
Euribor with a methodology that meets the 
standards required by the different international 
organizations. In the case of the rest of the indices 
in which there are accounting hedges, except for 
the USD Libor whose application is scheduled until 
June 2023, there is no uncertainty. 

IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 AND IFRS 
16 –Amendments - Reform Ibor Phase II 
On August 27, 2020, the IASB issued the second 
phase of the Ibor reform, which involves the 
introduction of amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 
7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, to ensure that the financial 
statements accurately reflect the best possible 
way the economic effects of the Ibor reform. The 
amendments focus on the accounting for financial 
instruments, once a new benchmark has been 
introduced. 

The amendments introduce the practical 
simplification of accounting for changes in the cash 
flows of financial instruments directly caused by 
the Ibor reform, and if they take place in a context 
of "economic equivalence", by updating the 
effective interest rate of the instrument. Similarly, 
a practical simplification will be applied to IFRS 16 
"Leases" for lessees, when accounting for 
modifications in the lease contracts that derive 
from the reform of the Ibor. 

Additionally, it introduces a series of exemptions 
to the hedging requirements so as not to have to 
interrupt certain hedging relationships. However, 
similar to the phase 1 amendments, the phase 2 
amendments do not contemplate exceptions to the 
valuation requirements applicable to hedged items 
and hedging instruments in accordance with IFRS 9 
or IAS Thus, a Once the new reference index has 
been implemented, the hedged items and hedging 
instruments must be valued in accordance with the 
new index, and the possible ineffectiveness that 
may exist in the hedge will be recognized in results. 
On the other hand, a series of breakdowns to be 
made are introduced. 

The Ibor transition is considered a complex 
initiative, which affects Cecabank in different lines 
of business, products, systems and processes. The 
main risks to which the entity is exposed due to the 
transition are; (1) risk of litigation related to the 

products and services offered; (2) legal risks arising 
from changes in the documentation required for 
existing operations; (3) financial and accounting 
risks, derived from market risk models and from 
the valuation, hedging, cancellation and 
recognition of the financial instruments 
associated with the reference indices; (4) price 
risk, derived from how changes in indices may 
impact the pricing mechanisms of certain 
instruments; (5) operational risks, as the reform 
may require changes to information systems, 
business reporting infrastructure, operational 
processes and controls, and (6) conduct risks 
arising from the potential impact of 
communications with clients during the period 
transition, which could result in customer 
complaints, regulatory penalties or reputational 
impact. 

For this reason, the Group has established a 
transition project providing it with a robust 
governance structure, with representation from 
the senior management of the affected areas. 

The transition project has taken into account the 
different approaches and periods of transition to 
the new RFRs (risk-free rates) when evaluating the 
economic, operational, legal, financial, 
reputational or compliance risks associated with 
the transition, as well as to define the lines of 
action in order to mitigate them. A relevant aspect 
of said transition is its impact on the contracts of 
financial instruments referenced to Libor and 
EONIA rates with maturities after 2021. 

In this regard, in the case of the EONIA, a large part 
of the contracts will be modified automatically on 
January 3, 2022. Likewise, for some contracts the 
novation of the collateral with maturity after 2021 
has been renegotiated, at the initiative of 
Cecabank in some cases and at the initiative of the 
counterpart in others, to adapt them in a 
homogeneous way to operations against cameras.  

Cecabank already has new clauses that incorporate 
the €STR as a substitute index, as well as clauses 
to incorporate this index as the main one in new 
contracts. In the case of Libor, Cecabank has 
identified the stock of contracts maturing after 
2021 and is working on the implementation of 
tools/systems that allow the stock to be migrated 
to solutions, such as those proposed by ISDA. 

Cecabank has certain financial assets and liabilities 
whose contracts are referenced to Ibor rates, 
especially the Euribor, as it is used, among others, 
for loans, deposits, as well as the underlying in 
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derivative financial instruments. In addition, said 
reference index is used as the underlying in 
financial instruments derived from the trading 
book, as well as for the treatment of collaterals. In 

the case of Libor, the USD is the most relevant 
currency both for loans and debt instruments in the 
banking book and for the trading book. Other Libor 
currencies have a much lower specific weight. 

As of December 31, 2021, Cecabank's exposure to financial assets and liabilities maturing after the transition 
dates of these Ibors to their corresponding RFRs is presented below:  

Product 
Pruchase  
date 

Expiration 
date Currency 

Nominal  
Amount 

Cecabank  
pays 

Cecabank  
receives 

IRS 29/01/2020 31/07/2029 USD 10.000.000 1,5627 Libor USD 3M 

IRS 29/01/2020 31/07/2029 USD 10.000.000 Libor USD 3M 1,567 

Of the derivative instruments, 50% of the exposure is either settled by Clearing Houses (mainly LCH or EUREX) 
or is operational with counterparties currently adhered to the ISDA protocol. 

2.3. Reclassification between financial instrument portfolios 
These occur only and exclusively when there is a change in the business model that manages financial assets, 
in accordance with the regulations in force. This reclassification is done prospectively on the date of 
reclassification, without it being appropriate to state any gains, losses or interests previously recognised again. 
Generally, the business model is not changed very often. 

2.4. Hedge accounting and mitigation of risk 
The Group uses financial derivatives as part of its 
strategy to reduce its exposure to interest rate. When 
these transactions meet the requirements stipulated 
in IAS 39, they qualify for hedge accounting. 

When the Group designates a transaction as a 
hedge it does so upon initial recognition of it, 
documenting it appropriately. The hedge 
accounting documentation includes identification 
of the hedged item(s) and the hedging 
instrument(s), the nature of the risk to be hedged 
and the criteria or methods used by the Group to 
assess the effectiveness of the hedge over its entire 
life, taking into account the risk to be hedged. 

The Group only applies hedge accounting for hedges 
that are considered highly effective over their entire 
lives. A hedge is considered to be highly effective if, 
during its expected life, the changes in fair value or 
cash flows of the hedged item that are attributable 
to the risk hedged in the hedging of the financial 
instrument(s) are almost fully offset by changes in the 
fair value or cash flows, as appropriate, of the 
hedging instrument(s). 

To measure the effectiveness of hedges defined as 
such, the Group analyses whether, from the 

beginning to the end of the term defined for the 
hedge, the Group can expect, prospectively, that 
the changes in fair value or cash flows of the 
hedged item that are attributable to the hedged 
risk will be almost fully offset by changes in the fair 
value or cash flows, as appropriate, of the hedging 
instrument and, retrospectively, that the actual 
results of the hedge are within a range of 80% to 
125% of the results of the hedged item. 

The hedging operations carried out by the Group 
are classified in the fair value hedge category.  
These cover exposure to changes in the fair value 
of financial assets and liabilities or firm 
commitments not yet recognized, or an identified 
portion of such assets, liabilities or commitments, 
attributable to a particular risk and whenever they 
affect to the consolidated income statement. 

In relation to the financial instruments designated 
as hedged items and hedge accounting in fair value 
hedges such as those made by the Group, the 
differences produced in fair value, both in the 
hedged items and in the hedged items (in this case, 
those associated with the risk covered) are 
recognised directly under "Gains or losses arising 
from the accounting of hedges, net" in the 
consolidated income statement (Note 33). 
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The Group discontinues hedge accounting when the 
hedging instrument expires or is sold, when the 
hedge no longer meets the requirements for hedge 
accounting or the designation as a hedge is revoked. 

When, as explained in the preceding paragraph, 
hedge accounting is discontinued for a fair value 
hedge, in the case of hedged items carried at 
amortized cost, the value adjustments made as a 

result of the hedge accounting described above are 
recognized in the consolidated income statement 
through maturity of the hedged items, using the 
effective interest rate recalculated as at the date 
of discontinuation of hedge accounting. 

Note 11 details the nature of the main positions 
hedged by the Group and the financial hedging 
instruments used. 

2.5. Foreign currency transactions 

2.5.1. Functional currency 

The functional and reporting currency of the Group 
is the euro. Therefore, all balances and 
transactions denominated in currencies other than 
the euro are deemed to be denominated in 
“foreign currency”. 

The detail, by currency and item, of the equivalent 
value in thousand euros of the main asset and 
liability balances denominated in foreign 
currencies in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 
December 2021 and 2020, taking into account the 
nature of the items involved and the most 
significant currencies in which they are 
denominated, is as follows: 

Equivalent Value in Thousand euro (*) 
 2021 2020 
Nature of Foreign Currency Balances: Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 
Amount in US Dollars-     
Cash 76,078 - 59,341 - 
Financial assets and liabilities held for trading 162 175 5,413 573 
Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 85,805 - 131,883 - 

Demand deposits and financial assets at amortised cost 561,340 - 411,206 - 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 3,745,143 - 2,234,401 
Derivatives - hedge accounting - - - 4,816 
Other assets and liabilities 3 7 224 25 
 723,388 3,745,325 608,067 2,239,815 
Balances in Japanese yen-     
Cash 1,019 - 724 - 
Demand deposits and financial assets at amortised cost 52,092 - 58,569 - 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 473,385 - 272,207 
Other assets and liabilities - - - - 
 53,111 473,385 59,293 272,207 
Balances in pounds sterling-     
Cash 40,860 - 25,389 - 
Financial assets/liabilities held for trading 11,127 - - - 
Demand deposit and financial assets at amortised cost 126,268 - 69,908 - 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 207,147 - 203,036 
Other assets and liabilities 23 - 304 - 
 178,278 207,147 95,601 203,036 
Balances in Swiss francs-       
Cash 3,876 - 3,308 - 
Demand deposit and financial assets at amortised cost 5,642 - 35,616 - 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 64,387 - 37,209 
Other assets and liabilities - 1 - 36 
 9,518 64,388 38,924 37,245 
Balances in Norwegian krone-     
Cash 1,556 - 784 - 
Demand deposit and financial assets at amortised cost 3,037 - 1,719 - 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 7,147 - 5,509 
 4,593 7,147 2,503 5,509 
Balances in Swedish krone-       
Cash 1,883 - 1,013 - 
Demand deposit and financial assets at amortised cost 2,327 - 1,652 - 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 15,460 - 8,471 
Other assets and liabilities - - 19 - 
 4,210 15,460 2,684 8,471 
Balances in other currencies-       
Cash 11,670 - 9,098 - 
Demand deposits and loans and receivables 49,407 - 23,890 - 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 29,435 - 55,865 
Other assets and liabilities - 2 11 1 
 61,077 29,437 32,999 55,866 
Total foreign currency balances 1,034,175 4,542,289 840,071 2,822,149 



  

A N N U A L  A C C O U N T S  |  C O N S O L I D A T E D  A C C O U N T S  2 0 2 1       3 9  

(*) Equivalent value calculated by applying the exchange rates at 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively. 

In addition to the currency positions recognised in 
the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 
2021 and 2020 shown in the preceding table, the 
Group recognised various currency derivatives and 
forward foreign currency contracts which are used 

to manage the exchange rate risk to which it is 
exposed and which should be considered together 
with the consolidated balance sheets positions for 
a correct understanding of the Group’s exposure to 
such risks (see Note 23). 

2.5.2. Translation of foreign currency balances 

Translation of foreign currency to the functional 
currency: foreign currency transactions performed 
by Group companies are initially recognised in the 
financial statements at the equivalent value in 
their functional currencies, translated using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date. 
Subsequently, the following rules are applied: 

 Monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
at the closing rate, which is taken to be the 
average spot exchange rate at the date of the 
financial statements. 

 Non-monetary items measured at historical 
cost are translated to the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at the date of 
acquisition. 

 Non-monetary items measured at fair value 
are translated to the functional currency at 
the exchange rate at the date when the fair 
value was determined. 

 Incomes and expenses are translated at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the transaction 
date. 

2.5.3. Exchange rates 

The exchange rates used by the Group in translating the foreign currency balances to euros for the purpose of 
preparing the consolidated financial statements, taking into account the methods mentioned above, were 
those published by the European Central Bank. 

2.5.4. Recognition of exchange differences 

The exchange differences arising on the translation 
of foreign currency balances, in accordance with 
the aforementioned methods, to the Group 's 
functional currency are generally recognised at 
their net amount under “Exchange Differences, 
Net” in the consolidated income statement, except 
for exchange differences arising on financial 
instruments designated at fair value through profit 
or loss, which are recognised, without 
distinguishing them from other changes in the 
instruments' fair value, under “Gains or Losses on 
Financial Assets and Liabilities Recognised at fair 

value through Profit or loss, Net” in the 
consolidated income statement, according to the 
category in which the instruments are classified. 

However, exchange differences arising on non-
monetary items measured at fair value through 
equity are recognised, where appropriate, in 
equity under “Accumulated Other Comprehensive 
Income – Items that May Be Reclassified to Profit or 
Loss” in the consolidated balance sheet until they 
are realised. Exchange differences recognised in 
the Group's equity are taken to the consolidated 
income statement when realised. 

2.6. Recognition of income and expenses 
The most significant accounting criteria used by the Group to recognise its income and expenses are 
summarised as follows: 
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2.6.1. Interest income, interest expense, dividends and similar items 

Interest income, interest expense and similar items are generally recognised on an accrual basis using the 
effective interest method. Dividends received from other companies, are recognised as income when the 
Group’s right to receive them arises. 

2.6.2. Commissions, fees and similar items 

Fee and commission income and expenses that are 
not to be included in the calculation of the effective 
interest rate of transactions and/or are not included 
in the acquisition cost of financial assets or liabilities 
other than those classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised in the income statement 
using criteria that vary according to their nature. 
The main criteria are as follows: 

 The ones relating to the acquisition of 
financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value through profit or loss are 

recognised in the income statement when 
collected or paid. 

 Those arising from transactions or services 
that are performed over a period of time such 
as fee and commission income for securities 
depository services are recognised in the 
income statement over the life of these 
transactions or services. 

 Those relating to a single act are recognised 
in the income statement when the single act 
is carried out. 

2.6.3. Non-finance income and expenses 

These are recognised for accounting purposes on an accrual basis. 

2.7. Offsetting 
Asset and liability balances are offset, i.e. reported 
in the balance sheet at their net amount, when, 
and only when, they arise from transactions in for 
which the Group currently has a legally  
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts 
and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

In this regard, the presentation required by the 
applicable legislation in these consolidated 
financial statements in respect of the financial 
assets subject to measurement adjustments for 
decline in value or impairment, i.e. net of these 
adjustments, is not deemed to be “offsetting”. 

2.8. Transfers and derecognition of financial assets and 
liabilities 
The accounting treatment of transfers of financial 
assets depends on the extent to which the risks and 
rewards associated with the transferred assets are 
transferred to third parties: 

 If the Group transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the transferred assets to 
third parties -unconditional sale of financial 
assets, sale of financial assets with a 
repurchase agreement at its fair value at the 
repurchase date, sale of financial assets with 
a purchased call option or written put option 
that is deeply out of the money, 

securitization of assets in which the 
transferor does not retain a subordinated 
debt or grant any credit enhancement to new 
holders and other similar cases, the 
transferred financial asset is derecognized 
and any rights or obligations retained or 
created in the transfer are recognized 
simultaneously. 

 It is considered that the Group substantially 
transfers the risks and benefits if the risks 
and rewards transferred represent the 
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majority of the total risks and rewards of the 
transferred assets. 

 If the Group retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards associated with the transferred 
financial asset -sale of financial assets under 
an agreement to repurchase them at a fixed 
price or at the sale price plus interest, a 
securities lending agreement in which the 
borrower undertakes to return the same or 
similar assets, securitization of financial 
assets in which a subordinated debt or 
another type of credit enhancement is 
retained that absorbs substantially all the 
credit losses on the securitized assets, and 
other similar cases-, the transferred financial 
asset is not derecognized and continues to be 
measured by the same criteria as those used 
before the transfer. However, the following 
items are recognized, without offsetting: 

• An associated financial liability, for an 
amount equal to the consideration 
received; this liability is subsequently 
measured at amortized cost, or, if the 
aforementioned requirements for 
classification of other financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss are met, at fair value, in 
accordance with the aforementioned 
criteria for this type of financial 
liability (see Note 2.2.4). 

• The income from the transferred 
financial asset not derecognized and 
any expense incurred on the new 
financial liability. 

 If the Group neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards 
associated with the transferred financial asset 
-sale of financial assets with a purchased call 
option or written put option that is not deeply 
in or out of the money, securitization of 

financial assets in which the transferor retains 
a subordinated debt or another type of credit 
enhancement for a portion of the transferred 
asset, and other similar cases- the following 
distinction is made: 

• If the transferor does not retain control, 
the transferred financial asset is 
derecognized and any right or 
obligation retained or created in the 
transfer is recognized. 

• If the transferor retains control, it 
continues to recognize the transferred 
financial asset in the consolidated 
balance sheet for an amount equal to its 
exposure to changes in value and 
recognizes a financial liability 
associated with the transferred 
financial asset. The net carrying 
amount of the transferred asset and the 
associated liability is the amortized cost 
of the rights and obligations retained, if 
the transferred asset is measured at 
amortized cost, or the fair value of the 
rights and obligations retained, if the 
transferred asset is measured at fair 
value. 

Accordingly, financial assets are only derecognized 
when the cash flows they generate have been 
extinguished or when substantially all the 
significant inherent risks and rewards have been 
transferred to third parties. 

Notes 27.2 and 27.4 contain a summary of the main 
circumstances of the principal transfers of assets 
outstanding at 2021 and 2020 year-end which did 
not lead to the derecognition of the related assets 
(securities lending transactions and repurchase 
agreements under non-optional repurchase 
agreements). 

2.9. Impairment of financial assets 
A financial asset is considered to be impaired -and 
therefore its carrying amount is adjusted to reflect 
the effect of impairment- when there is objective 
evidence that events have occurred which: 

 In the case of debt instruments (loans and 
debt securities), give rise to an adverse 
impact on the future cash flows that were 
estimated at the transaction date. 

 In the case of equity instruments, mean that 
their carrying amount may not be fully 
recovered. 

As a general rule, the carrying amount of impaired 
financial instruments is adjusted with a charge to 
the consolidated income statement for the period 
in which the impairment becomes evident. Except 
for financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, which accounting will be 
recognised against “other comprehensive income”. 
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The reversal, if any, of previously recognised 
impairment losses is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement for the period in which the 
impairment is reversed or reduced to 
“accumulated other comprehensive income”. 

When the recovery of any recognised amount is 
considered unlikely, the amount is written off 
(“written-off asset”), without prejudice to any 
actions that the Group may initiate to seek 

collection until their contractual rights are 
extinguished due to expiry of the statute-of-
limitations period, forgiveness or any other cause. 

The criteria applied by the Group to determine 
possible impairment losses in each of the various 
financial instrument categories and the method 
used to recognise such impairment losses are as 
follows: 

2.9.1. Debt instruments carried at amortised cost 

The amount of an impairment loss incurred on a debt 
instrument carried at amortised cost is equal to the 
positive difference between its carrying amount and 
the all the cash flows at the effective original interest 
rate. The market value of quoted debt instruments is 
deemed to be a reliable estimate of the present value 
of their future cash flows. 

The expected credit losses will be the weighted 
average of the credit losses, using as weights the 
respective risks of default events. The following 
distinction will be taken into account: i) Expected 
credit losses in the life of the operation: these are 
the expected credit losses resulting from all 
possible events of default during the entire 
expected life of the operation. ii) Expected credit 
losses in twelve months: they are the part of the 
credit losses expected during the life of the 
operation that corresponds to the expected credit 
losses resulting from the events of default that may 
occur in the operation in the following twelve from 
the reference date. 

The hedging amount for impairment shall be 
calculated according to whether or not there has 
been a significant increase in the credit risk since 
initial recognition and whether or not default has 
occurred. Accordingly, impairment hedging shall 
be equal to: 

 The expected twelve-month credit losses 
when the risk of default has not significantly 
increased since initial recognition. 

 The lifetime expected credit losses if the risk 
of default has significantly increased since 
initial recognition. 

 Expected credit losses when default has 
occurred. 

Financial instruments are grouped into three 
categories based on the impairment method 
applied, in accordance with the following structure: 

 Stage 1 – Normal risk: those transactions the 
credit risk of which has not significantly 
increased since initial recognition. 
Impairment hedging shall be equal to the 
twelve-month expected credit losses. 
Interest revenue shall be calculated applying 
the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the transaction. 

 Stage 2 – Normal risk under special 
surveillance: those transactions the credit 
risk of which has significantly increased since 
initial recognition, but without default. 
Impairment hedging shall be equal to the 
lifetime expected credit losses of the 
transaction. Interest revenue shall be 
calculated applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of the 
transaction. 

 Stage 3 – Non-performing: credit-impaired 
transactions, i.e. there has been default. 
Hedging shall be equal to the expected credit 
losses. Interest revenue shall be calculated by 
applying the effective interest rate at 
amortised cost (i.e. adjusted for an 
impairment allowance) of the financial 
instrument. 

The measurement of whether or not there has been 
any significant increase in credit risk must be based 
on reasonable and supportable information that is 
available free of charge or disproportionate effort, 
which shall indicate the credit risk increases since 
initial recognition and must reflect historical, 
actual and forward-looking information. 
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The definitions established to measure the 
significant credit risk are in keeping with the 
following criteria: 

 Adverse changes in the financial situation, such 
as a significant increase in debt levels, as well 
as significant increases in debt service ratios. 

 Significant falls in turnover or, in recurring 
cash flows. 

 Significant narrowing of operating margins. 

 Significant changes in the cost of credit risk, 
due to changes in this risk subsequent to 
initial recognition. 

 A real or expected reduction of the internal 
or external credit rating of the operation or 
of the owner thereof. 

 Adverse changes in the economy, in market 
conditions or worsening of the operation 
owner’s financing terms. 

 Business slowdown or unfavourable trends in 
the owner's operations, which may cause a 
significant change in their ability to meet 
their payment obligations. 

 For operations with real guarantee, significant 
worsening of the relationship between the risk 
amount and the value of the guarantee. 

 Significant increases in the credit risk of 
other operations of the same owner. 

In any case, Stage 2 is considered with respect to 
instruments in which any of the following 
circumstances occur: 

 Defaults of over 30 days. 

 Financial instruments that are subject to 
special surveillance by the risk units because 
they show negative signs in their credit 
quality, although there is no objective 
evidence of impairment. 

 Refinances or restructuring operations that 
do not show impairment evidence. 

Method to calculate expected losses 

The measurement process for possible impairment 
losses for these instruments that involve the risk of 
insolvency for obligors (credit risk) is done: 

 Individually, for all debt instruments 
classified as doubtful risks and which are 
significant by exceeding a certain threshold 
or for which specific information from the 
borrower that allows carrying out its 
evaluation is available. 

 Collectively, for operations classified as 
normal risk, by applying the alternative 
solutions contained in Appendix 9 to Circular 
4/2017, calculated on the bases of the 
parameters established by Bank of Spain 
based on sector information and its accrued 
experience. 

The amount for impairment losses, estimated in 
accordance with the criteria set forth above, are 
registered in the headings “Impairment losses or 
reversals on financial assets not at fair value 
through profit or loss – Financial assets at 
amortised cost”. 

2.9.2. Debt instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 

The amount of the impairment losses on debt 
instruments included in the portfolio of financial 
assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income is determined on the basis of the criteria 
described in section 2.9.1 above for debt 
instruments carried at amortised cost, and is 
recognised in “Other Comprehensive Income - 
Items that May Be Reclassified to Profit or Loss –  

Fair Value Changes of Debt Instruments Measured 
at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive 
Income”. 

The amount of any impairment losses on equity 
instruments included in the portfolio of financial 
assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income is the positive difference between their 
acquisition cost and their fair value less any 
impairment loss previously recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. Any impairment 
losses must be recognised under “Other 
Comprehensive Income - Items that Will not Be 
Reclassified to Profit or Loss - Fair Value Changes 
of Equity Instruments Measured at Fair Value 
through Other Comprehensive Income”. 
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2.10. Financial guarantees and provisions for financial 
guarantees 
“Financial guarantees” are contracts whereby an 
entity undertakes to pay specific amounts on 
behalf of a third party if the latter fails to do so, 
irrespective of the form in which the obligation is 
instrumented: guarantee, financial guarantee, 
irrevocable documentary credit issued or 
confirmed by the Group, etc. 

In accordance with EU-IFRS, financial guarantee 
contracts provided by the Group are treated as 
financial instruments. 

Upon initial recognition, the Group recognises 
financial guarantees provided on the liability side 
of the consolidated balance sheet at fair value plus 
directly attributable transaction costs, which 
generally equals the amount of the premium 
received plus, where applicable, the present value 
of the fee and commission income, the present 
value of the fee and commission income receivable 
on these contracts over their term, with a 
balancing entry, on the asset side of the 
consolidated balance sheet, for the amount of fees 
and similar income collected at the inception of 
the transactions and receivables for the present 
value of the fees and commissions receivable. 
Subsequent to their initial recording, these 
contracts are valued on the liabilities side of the 
consolidated balance sheet at the higher of the 
following two amounts: 

 The amount determined in accordance with IAS 
37. In this regard, financial guarantees, 

regardless of their holder, instrumentation or 
other circumstances, are analysed periodically in 
order to determine the credit risk to which they 
are exposed and, where appropriate, to estimate 
the need to recognise a provision for them, 
which is determined by applying criteria similar 
to those established for quantifying impairment 
losses on debt instruments measured at 
amortised cost as explained in Note 2.9. above. 

 The amount initially recognised for these 
instruments, less the amortisation of this 
amount which, in accordance with IFRS 15, is 
taken to the consolidated income statement on 
a straight-line basis over the term of these 
contracts. 

Provisions made for these transactions are 
recorded under "Provisions - Commitments and 
guarantees given" on the liability side of the 
consolidated balance sheet (see Note 17). These 
provisions are recognised and reversed with a 
balancing entry under "Provisions or reversal of 
provisions" in the consolidated income statement. 

In case of, as indicated above, a provision is 
required for these financial guarantees, the 
unearned commissions associated with these 
transactions, which are recognised under "Financial 
liabilities at amortised cost - Other financial 
liabilities" on the liability side of the consolidated 
balance sheet, are reclassified to the related 
provision. 

2.11. Staff costs 

2.11.1. Short-term remuneration 

Short-term employee remuneration consists of 
monetary and non-monetary remuneration such as 
wages, salaries and social security contributions 
earned in the year and paid or payable to 
employees in the twelve months following the end 
of the reporting period. 

Short-term employee remuneration is generally 
recognised as staff costs in the income statement 
for the period in which the employees have 

rendered their services. It is measured at the 
undiscounted amount payable for the services 
received, and it is recognised while the employees 
render their services at the Group, as an accrued 
expense after deducting any amounts already paid. 
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2.11.2. Post-employment obligations 

Under the Collective Agreement currently in force 
and some labour intern agreement, the Group is 
required to supplement the social security benefits 
accruing to its employees or their beneficiary right 
holders in the event of retirement, window(er)hood 
and death of its serving employees. 

 The Group’s post-employment obligations to 
its employees are deemed to be "defined 
contribution plans" when it makes pre-
determined contributions to a separate 
entity and will have no legal or effective 
obligation to make further contributions if 
the separate entity cannot pay the employee 
benefits relating to the service rendered in 
the current and prior periods. 

 Post-employment obligations that do not 
meet the aforementioned conditions are 
classified as “defined benefit plans”. 

To cover its pension commitments to employees, 
the Group promoted a pension plan called the 
Cecabank Employees' Pension Plan, under the 
Pension Plans and Funds Act and its implementing 
legislation. 

The Management Company of the "Cecabank 
Employees' Pension Plan" is Caser Pensiones, Entidad 
Gestora de Fondos de Pensiones, S.A. This pension 
plan is attached to the Cecabank Employees' Pension 
Fund AD, Pension Fund and to the Cecabank 
Employees' Pension Fund PD, Pension Fund. 

The Cecabank Employees Pension Plan includes 
three sub-plans: 

 Sub-plan 1 is a defined benefit plan for all its 
contingencies and includes all beneficiaries 
under the defined benefit scheme who were 
born before 1 January 2019. All benefits are 
insured with an external insurance company 
whose policyholder is the Control Committee 
of the Cecabank Employees' Pension Plan. 

 In 2010, the Control Committee of the CECA 
Employees' Pension Plan, pursuant to the 
obligations previously acquired, resolved to 
take out an insurance policy to cover the 
supplementary vested pension income 
payable to the beneficiaries of the pension 
plan of defined benefit. The policy is in line 
with the benefits payable to the group of 

beneficiaries of the pension plan in order to 
ensure these obligations are met. 

 Sub-plan 2 is a defined contribution plan for 
the retirement contingency and includes 
employees who joined CECA after 30 May 
1986 and up to 11 November 2012, as well as 
employees who joined Cecabank, S.A. after 
12 November 2012. This subplan also includes 
participants who joined CECA prior to 30 May 
1986 and who, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Labour Agreement of 27 
January 2010, voluntarily opted to remain in 
Subplan 2. 

 This subplan is a defined benefit plan for the 
contingencies of death and disability of 
active employees. These defined benefits are 
covered by an insurance policy taken out by 
the Cecabank Employees' Pension Plan 
Control Committee. 

 Finally, subplan 3 covers all employees who 
joined CECA before 29 May 1986 and who, not 
being entitled to take advantage of the early 
retirement plan established in the collective 
labour agreement for specific matters dated 
2 April 2001, voluntarily and irreversibly 
requested to be included in the plan. 

 This subplan is a defined contribution plan 
for the contingency of retirement and a 
defined benefit plan for the contingencies of 
death and disability of active personnel. 
These defined benefits are insured through 
an insurance policy taken out by the Control 
Committee of the Cecabank Employees' 
Pension Plan. 

In 2019, the Group and all labour representatives 
reached a labour agreement that led to significant 
changes in the regulation of the Cecabank 
Employees' Pension Plan. Following the signing of 
this labour agreement, the system of death and 
disability benefits was changed, which are no 
longer linked to the pension recognised by the 
Social Security and are now linked to the salary of 
each participant. 

Likewise, subplan 1 was closed to the group of 
pensioners existing at 31 December 2018, and 
active members remaining in defined benefit 
subplan 1 were transferred to subplan 3. 
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Finally, as regards the contributions for the defined 
contribution retirement contingency, these are 
improved, at least until 2025 for subplan 2, thanks 
to a labour agreement signed on 6 August 2021. 

In addition, the Group has taken out various 
insurance policies suitable for externalising 
pension commitments, whether or not 
supplementary to the Cecabank Employees' 
Pension Plan. 

The accompanying Note 35 "Administrative expenses 
- Personnel expenses" provides additional 
information on these commitments, relating to 
reconciliations, sensitivities and other information 
required by the regulations applicable to the Group. 

As at 31 December 2021, the total amount of the 
Group's accrued unearned pension commitments 
and accrued pension commitments amounted to 
EUR 150,975 thousand (31 December 2020: EUR 
170,341 thousand), which are hedged with the 
external pension fund whose fair value as at 31 
December 2021 amounts to EUR 156,698 thousand 
(31 December 2020: EUR 176,222 thousand), and the 
Group has therefore recognised EUR 5,723 thousand 
and EUR 5,881 thousand, respectively, under "Other 
assets - Rest of Other assets" in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 
and 2020 (see Notes 14.1 "Other assets" and 35 
"Administrative expenses - Staff costs"). 

Recognition of defined benefit post-
employment obligations 

The accounting treatment of the defined benefit 
obligations is as follows: 

a. The legal obligations assumed by the Group 
are taken into consideration according to the 
formal terms and conditions of the plans. 

b. The present value of the legal obligations is 
calculated at the reporting date by a qualified 
actuary, together with the fair value 
estimates of the plan assets. 

c. The fair value of the plan assets, which, 
pursuant to the requirements established in 
the applicable legislation, meet this 
definition at the reporting date, is deducted 
from the present value of the obligations. 

d. If the figure obtained in c) above is positive, 
it is recognised as a provision for defined 
benefit pension funds. 

e. If the figure obtained in c) above is negative, 
it is recognised as "Other assets-Rest of other 
assets". The Group measures, where 
appropriate, the recognised asset at the lower 
of the following two values: 

i. The figure obtained in c) above, in 
absolute terms. 

ii. The present value of the cash flows 
available to the Group, in the form of 
plan redemptions or reductions in future 
contributions to the plan. 

f. Any changes in the recognised provision are 
recognised when they occur in line with d) 
above (or, where appropriate, the asset 
according to c) above) as follows: 

i. In the consolidated income statement: 
the cost of the services rendered by the 
employees, those referring to both the 
year in question and prior years not 
recognised in those years, the net 
interest on the provision, and the gain or 
loss arising upon settlement. When 
these amounts are to form part of the 
cost of an asset pursuant to applicable 
legislation, these amounts are 
recognised additionally as “other 
operating income”. 

ii. In the statement of changes in equity: 
the new measurements of the provision 
as a result of the actuarial gains and 
losses, of the return on any plan assets 
not included in the net interest on the 
provision, and changes in the present 
value of the asset as a result of the 
changes in the present of the cash flows 
available to the entity, which are not 
included in the net interest on the 
provision. The amounts recognised in 
the statement of changes in equity 
should not be reclassified to the income 
statement in a future year. 

As regards the preceding paragraph, it should be 
noted that due to application of the regulatory 
changes in the legislation applicable to the Group 
contained in Bank of Spain Circular 5/2013, since 
2013, the actuarial gains and losses arising on the 
measurement of the defined benefit pension 
obligations have been recognised by the Group in 
the period in which they arise with a charge or 
credit, as applicable, to “Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income – Items that Will Not Be 
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Reclassified to Profit or Loss” in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets. 

The defined contribution obligations are generally 
recognised at the amount of the contributions 
made by the Group in the year in exchange for the 
services rendered by employees in the same period 
and are recognised as an expense for the year. In 
2021 the portion of the accrued expense for the 
contributions to the external pension fund relating 
to defined contribution obligations amounted to 
EUR 161 thousand (2020: EUR 631 thousand), and 
this amount was recognised under “Administrative 
Expenses - Staff Costs” in the consolidated income 
statement (see Note 35). 

There are no active recipients of the defined benefits 
at the end of 2021 since they were moved to defined 
contributions (Subplan 3) on 1 January 2020. 

Furthermore, contributions to the pension plan in 
excess of the current legal and tax ceilings are 
covered by two insurance policies taken out with 
Caja de Seguros Reunidos, Compañía de Seguros y 
Reaseguros, S.A. (“Caser”) and no premium 
accrued or was paid in 2021 and 2020. 

Additionally, the premiums on these policies and 
on other insurance policies covering pension 
obligations and other obligations to employees 
totalled EUR 129 thousand in 2020 (2020: EUR 176 
thousand), and this amount was recognised under 
“Administrative Expenses - Staff Costs” in the 
consolidated income statement (see Note 35). 

2.11.3. Other long-term benefits 

2.11.3.1. Early retirements 

Through several agreements entered into in 
previous years by the Group and CECA (to which the 
bank was subrogated by virtue of the spin-off of 
Bank’s activity as indicated in Note 1.1 above) and 
the Workplace Trade Union Branch and the 
representatives of the Works Council, various pre-
retirement offers were made to the employees. 
The following paragraphs contain a summary of the 
main features of these agreements: 

Pre-retirement agreements in 2012 

25 June 2012, an agreement was entered into 
between the entity, the Workplace Trade Union 
Branch and the representatives of the Works 
Council, under which a Pre-Retirement Plan was 
established for all employees who at 31 December 
2012 were at least 53 years of age and had been in 
the entity's employ for at least ten years. The 
general registration period for employees wishing 
to participate in this plan ended on 20 July 2012. 
This agreement also includes other measures such 
as termination benefits for the group of employees 
not included in the pre-retirement plans 
mentioned above (for which the deadline for 
participating was 30 September 2012), unpaid 
leave and reduced working hours (the deadline for 
participating was 30 October 2012). 
Commitments under this plan are expected to end 
on 31 December 2022. 

Pre-retirement agreements in 2013 

On 29 October 2013, another agreement was 
entered into between the Group, the Workplace 
Trade Union Branch and the representatives of the 
Works Council, to extend the agreement entered 
into on 25 June 2012 for a maximum of 129 
employees who at 31 December 2013 were at least 
50 years of age and had been in the entity's employ 
for at least ten years. The general registration 
period for employees wishing to participate in this 
plan ended on 12 November 2013. 54 employees 
availed themselves of this offer. The pre-
retirements are taking effect between 1 December 
2013 and 31 March 2014. The period of pre-
retirement begins on the date of termination of the 
employment contract and ends on the date on 
which the employee reaches 63 years of age, with 
a limit of nine years from the pre-retirement date, 
whichever occurs first. 

The amount receivable by the employee during 
pre-retirement is equal to 75% of his/her annual 
gross fixed remuneration while in employment, 
with a maximum annual benefit limit of EUR 
150,000 and a minimum annual limit of EUR 27,119. 
At the discretion of the pre-retired employee, this 
benefit may be received either in a single lump sum 
payment or in 14 monthly payments up until the 
age established in the Agreement. In addition, 
regardless of the chosen form of payment, the 
employees who avail themselves of this offer are 
entitled to receive a gross incentive of EUR 16,000 
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in a single payment. Also, any employees who 
would have been paid a 25-year service bonus had 
they remained in the entity's employ until 31 March 
2014 continue to be entitled to receive this bonus. 

For the participants of pension sub-plans two and 
three integrated in ‘Cecabank employees Pensions 
plan, the Group will continue to make 
contributions to the employee pension plan and 
the policies provided for in the insurance protocol 
relating to this plan, where appropriate, solely for 
retirement cover. The amount of this contribution 
will be the same as that made in the year 
immediately prior to the pre-retirement and will 
be made until the employee reaches 63 years of 
age, with a limit of nine years from the pre-
retirement date, whichever occurs first. In 
particular, the participants of sub-plan three will 
continue to be entitled to the contributions 
provided for in the Caser policy, for past service, 
until the age of 65. In the case of the employees 
who are participants in defined benefit sub- plan 
one, for retirement cover, the Group will continue 
to make the contributions required to maintain 
coverage of the retirement benefit established by 
the Group until the date on which pre- retirement 
benefits cease to be paid, and the benefits 
received in the twelve months prior to 
retirement. Alternatively, participants in sub-plan 
one who take pre-retirement pursuant to the pre- 
retirement plan may transfer their consolidated 
rights in the plan at the pre-retirement date to 
sub- plan three and convert the benefit regime 
into a defined contribution regime. For these 
participants, contributions are not payable to the 
Caser policy provided for in the insurance protocol 
of the group's Employees’ Pension Plan. 

Social Security Special Agreement payments are 
payable by the employees, although the Group will 
pay these amounts into the employees' salary until 
they meet the established age requirements and 
limits. The Special Agreement will be entered into 
at the employees' maximum contribution rate on the 
date immediately preceding the retirement date, 
with a maximum limit of the contribution base that 
would have been applicable to the employees had 
they remained in the bank's employ. 

Pre-retirement agreements in 2015 

On 18 December 2015, the Board of Directors of the 
Cecabank approved a formal pre-retirement plan 
for certain employees of the bank who met certain 
requirements, and this fact was communicated to 
all the employees on 23 December 2015 by the 
Works Council. 

his plan was formalised in a collective agreement 
signed in 2016 between the bank, the Workplace 
Trade Union Branch and the representatives of the 
Works Council, using as a basis the pre-retirement 
plan of 29 October 2013, which established a three-
year period (2016-2018) for pre-retirements to 
take place. Employees aged 56 or over prior to 31 
December 2018 with at least ten years' service at 
the date of departure from the group can avail 
themselves of the plan. 

The amount receivable by the employee during 
pre-retirement is equal to 75% of his/her annual 
gross fixed remuneration while in employment, 
with a maximum annual benefit limit of EUR 
150,000 and a minimum annual limit of EUR 27,119. 
At the discretion of the pre-retired employee, this 
benefit may be received either in a single lump sum 
payment or in 14 monthly payments up until the 
age established in the Agreement. 

With regard to the accounting criteria applied to 
these aforementioned pre-retirement obligations, 
it should be noted that they are the same as those 
explained in Note 2.11.2 for the defined benefit 
post-employment obligations, except for the fact 
that the actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
directly in the Group's consolidated income 
statement in the year in which they are disclosed. 

The obligations in respect of future salaries, future 
social security costs and study aids relating to early 
retirees corresponding to commitments given in 
the preceding paragraphs as well as the obligations 
for future contributions to the Pension Plan (all of 
which were considered as defined benefit 
obligations) were covered by an internal provision 
amounting to EUR 45,426 thousand (EUR 29,051 
thousand at 31 December 2020), which was 
recognised under “Provisions - Other long-term 
employee benefits” in the consolidated balance 
sheet (see Notes 16 and 35) and related to early 
retirement obligations incurred as a result of the 
aforementioned Agreement dated 7 April 2011, 25 
June 2012, 29 October 2013 and 18 December 
2015. At 31 December 2021 and 2020 this provision 
covered the full amount of the Group's early 
retirement obligations at those dates. 

Note 35 to these notes to the financial statements 
includes additional information relating to these 
obligations. 
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2.11.3.2. Death and disability 

The commitments assumed by the Group for death or disability of current employees for the period they 
remain active are included in the benefits covered by the Cecabank Employee Pension Plan, in accordance 
with its rules and they are fully covered by a policy obtained by the Control Committee of the Pension Plan 
from an insurance company. 

2.11.3.3. Long-service bonuses 

The Group has undertaken to pay a bonus to employees reaching 25 years of service at the Group. 

The amount paid in this connection at 2021 year-end was approximately EUR 14 thousand (2020 year- end: 
EUR 30 thousand) and is recognised under “Administrative Expenses - Staff Costs” in the accompanying 
consolidated income statement. 

2.11.4. Termination benefits 

Any termination benefits are recognised as a staff 
cost only when the Entity is demonstrably 
committed to terminating the employment 
relationship with an employee or group of 
employees. 

The termination benefit expense charged to profit 
or loss in 2021, amounting to EUR 26,426 thousand, 
is recognised under “Administrative Expenses - 
Staff Costs” in the consolidated income statement 
(see Note 35). At 31 December 2020, EUR 2,812 
thousand expenses were recognised in this 
connection. 

On August 6, 2021, the Group and the majority of 
the Bank's labor representation reached an 
agreement on collective dismissal by means of 
which Cecabank could terminate up to a total of 80 
employment contracts. 

Mentioned labor agreement contemplated 
voluntary adherence to the collective dismissal 
process, establishing the prevalence of greater 
seniority as a criterion for admission to the process 
in the event of over-demand. 

In accordance with the membership requests 
made, the Group will extinguish 85 jobs through a 
system of early retirement in which the Bank 
assumes the payment of severance pay, as well as 
the cost of the special agreement with social 
security up to 63 years of age or a maximum of 7 
years duration. 

In turn, the Group will make a contribution to the 
employment pension plan and a retirement 
premium at the time the early retirement period 
ends, as long as the member has not been a 
recipient of the non-contributory unemployment 
subsidy. 

The allocation made by the Group in 2021 to meet 
these commitments has amounted to a total of 
24,763 thousand euros. 

Also, the Group has agreements with some of its 
executives and/or directors to pay them certain 
benefits in the event that they are terminated 
without just cause. The amount of the benefit, 
which in any case would not have a material effect 
on the Group, would be charged to the 
consolidated income statement when the decision 
to terminate the employment of the executive or 
director was made. 

Under current legislation, the Group is required to 
pay termination benefits to employees terminated 
under certain conditions. Therefore, termination 
benefits that can be reasonably quantified are 
recognised as an expense in the year in which the 
decision to terminate the employment relationship 
is taken. 
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2.11.5. Loans to employees 

Pursuant to the Collective Bargaining Agreement in 
force and the additional agreements entered into 
with the Group's employees in 2021, employees 
may apply to the Bank for mortgage loans, for 
which a mortgage guarantee is required, for 
periods of up to 40 years and at a variable interest 
rate which shall remain fixed during each half-year 
and which may not be extended beyond the 
applicant's 70th birthday. 

Employees, in accordance with the applicable 
sectoral Collective Bargaining Agreement and 
collective agreements negotiated with the Group 
in implementation thereof, may request Social 
Advances, in specific cases, apply for interest free 
advances and other “welfare” loans or loans for the 

expansion of their residence, with a repayment 
period of 10 and 15 years, respectively, at the 12-
month Euribor interest rate. 

In the event of exceptional circumstances requiring 
an employee of the Group to apply for a type of 
loan that does not fully or partially comply with the 
regulations stipulated in the industry collective 
labour agreement, or its implementing regulations, 
the employee may apply for the loan indicating the 
exceptional circumstances. 

These loans are recognised at amortised cost under 
“Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and 
Advances to Customers” in the consolidated 
balance sheet. 

2.12. Income tax 
The income tax expense is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement, except when it 
results from a transaction recognised directly in 
the equity, in which case the income tax is also 
recognised in the Group’s equity. 

The current income tax expense is calculated as 
the tax payable with respect to the taxable profit 
for the year, adjusted by the amount of the 
changes in the year in the assets and liabilities 
(deferred taxes) recognised as a result of 
temporary differences and tax credit and tax loss 
carry forwards (see Note 20). 

The Group considers that there is a temporary 
difference when there is a difference between the 
carrying amount of an asset or liability and its tax 
base expected to reverse in the future. The tax 
base of an asset or liability is the amount attributed 
to that asset or liability for tax purposes. A taxable 
temporary difference is one that will generate a 
future obligation for the Group to make a payment 
to the related tax authorities. A deductible 
temporary difference is one that will generate a 
right for the Group to a refund or a reduction in its 
tax charge in the future. 

Tax credit and tax loss carry forwards are amounts 
that, after performance of the activity or 
obtainment of the profit or loss giving entitlement 
to them, are not used for tax purposes in the 
related tax return until the conditions for doing so 

established in the tax regulations are met and the 
Group considers it probable that they will be used 
in future periods. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are the taxes that 
are expected to be recoverable from or payable to 
the related tax authorities within 12 months from 
the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are the taxes that are expected to be 
recoverable from or payable to the related tax 
authorities in over 12 months from the balance 
sheet date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences. However, deferred 
tax liabilities arising from the initial recognition of 
goodwill are not recognised. 

The Group only recognises deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences and 
from tax credit and for tax loss carryforwards when 
the following conditions are met: 

 If it is considered probable that the Group will 
obtain sufficient future taxable profit against 
which the deferred tax assets can be utilised; 
or they are deferred tax assets that the Group 
might in the future have the right to convert 
into credits receivable from the tax authorities 
pursuant to Article 130 of Spanish Income Tax 
Law 27/2014, of 27 November (called 
“monetizable tax assets”); and 
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 In the case of any deferred tax assets arising 
from tax loss carryforwards, the tax losses 
result from identifiable causes which are 
unlikely to recur. 

No deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised 
if they arise from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability, not arising from a business combination 
and that at the time of recognition affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit. 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised 
are reassessed at each balance sheet date in order 
to ascertain whether they still exist, and the 

appropriate adjustments are made on the basis of 
the findings of the analyses performed. 

The Group files consolidated tax returns pursuant 
to Chapter VI of Title VII of Spanish Income Tax Law 
27/2014, of 27 November, as part of tax group 
0508/12, the parent of which is CECA. For each 
entity that files consolidated tax returns, the 
Group Confederación Española de Cajas de Ahorro 
recognises the income tax expense that the entity 
would have had to pay if it had filed an individual 
tax return, adjusted for the tax losses generated 
by each entity from which other Group entities 
benefit, taking into consideration the consolidated 
tax adjustments to be made. 

2.13. Property, plant and equipment 

2.13.1. Property, plant and equipment for own use 

Property, plant and equipment for own use includes 
the assets that are held by the Group for present or 
future administrative purposes other than those of 
community projects, or for the production or supply 
of goods and services and which are expected to be 
used for more than one year. Property, plant and 
equipment for own use is stated in the consolidated 
balance sheet at cost less: 

 The related accumulated depreciation, and 

 Any estimated impairment losses (net carrying 
amount higher than recoverable amount). 

Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line 
method on the basis of the acquisition cost of the 
assets less their residual value. The land on which 
the buildings and other structures stand has an 
indefinite life and, therefore, is not depreciated. 

The annual provisions of tangible asset 
depreciation charge is recognised under 
“Amortisation” in the consolidated income 
statement and is calculated basically using the 
following depreciation rates (based on the average 
years of estimated useful life of the various assets): 

 Annual Rate 

Property 2% to 4% 

Furniture and office equipment 10% to 15% 

Computer hardware 15% to 25% 

Fixtures 8% to 12% 

Transport equipment 16% 

The Group assesses at the reporting date whether 
there is any internal or external indication that an 
asset may be impaired (i.e. its carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount). If this is the case, 
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount and future depreciation 
charges are adjusted in proportion to the revised 
carrying amount and to the new remaining useful 
life (if the useful life must be re-estimated). When 
necessary, the carrying amount of property, plant 
and equipment for own use is reduced with a 
charge to “Impairment or Reversal of Impairment 
on Non-Financial Assets” in the consolidated 
income statement. 

Similarly, if there is an indication of a recovery in 
the value of a previously impaired tangible asset, 
the Group recognises the reversal of the 
impairment loss recognised in prior periods with 
the related credit to “Impairment or Reversal of 
Impairment on Non-Financial Assets” in the 
consolidated income statement and adjusts the 
future depreciation charges accordingly. In no 
circumstances may the reversal of an impairment 
loss on an asset raise its carrying amount above 
that which it would have if no impairment losses 
had been recognised in prior years. 

The estimated useful lives of the items of property, 
plant and equipment for own use are reviewed at 
least once a year with a view to detecting 
significant changes therein. If changes are 
detected, the useful lives of the assets are 
adjusted by correcting the depreciation charge to 
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be recognised in the consolidated income 
statement in future years on the basis of the new 
useful lives. 

Upkeep and maintenance expenses relating to 
property, plant and equipment for own use are 
recognised as an expense under “Administrative 
Expenses – Other General Administrative Expenses” 
in the consolidated income statement in the year 
in which they are incurred. 

Assets for own use that are no longer intended for 
such use and for which there is a sale plan by the 
Management, which is estimated to be carried out 
within a maximum period of one year, are 
classified as non-current assets held for sale and 
are valued according to the criteria indicated in 
Note 2.16. 

2.13.2. Investment property 

“Property, plant and equipment - Investment 
Property” in the consolidated balance sheet 
reflects the net values of the land, buildings and 
other structures held either to earn rentals or for 
capital appreciation. 

The criteria used to recognise the acquisition cost 
of investment property, to calculate its 
depreciation and its estimated useful life and to 
recognise any impairment losses thereon are 
consistent with those described in relation to 
property, plant and equipment for own use (see 
Note 2.13.1). 

2.14. Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary 
assets without physical substance which arise as a 
result of a legal transaction or which are developed 
internally by the Group. Only intangible assets 
whose cost can be estimated reasonably 
objectively and from which the Group considers it 
probable that future economic benefits will be 
generated are recognised. 

Intangible assets are recognised initially at 
acquisition or production cost and are subsequently 
measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. 

2021 financial year, the Group implemented a new 
methodology for valuing the intangible assets 
generated by the acquired depository businesses. 
This model adds new rates to update the expected 
future flows of the deposit business and compares 
the results obtained with the book value in order 
to identify possible impairments. As a result of 
this exercise, the Bank has not identified the need 
to record any provision for these businesses. 

The annual intangible asset amortisation charge is 
recognised under “Amortisation Charge” in the 
consolidated income statement. 

2.14.1. Other intangible assets 

Intangible assets other than goodwill are 
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at 
acquisition or production cost, less the related 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

"Intangible Assets - Other Intangible Assets" 
includes, primarily, the acquisition cost, net of 
accumulated amortisation and when applicable 
impairment. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives, which range from three to 
ten years for computer software, depending on the 
asset concerned. 

For their part, the management rights of the 
depository business recognised as intangible assets 
are amortised over the term of the contracts in 
which they are acquired, using the straight-line 
method or a diminishing balance method, 
depending on the estimated revenue associated 
with these contracts over time. 

The Group assesses at the reporting date whether 
there is any internal or external indication that an 
intangible asset may be impaired (i.e. its carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount). If this is 
the case, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount and future 
amortisation charges are adjusted in proportion to 
the revised carrying amount and to the new 
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remaining useful life (if the useful life has to be re-
estimated). This reduction of the carrying amount 
of intangible assets is recognised, if necessary, 
with a charge to “Impairment or Reversal of 
Impairment on Non-Financial Assets” in the 
consolidated income statement. The criteria used 

to recognise the impairment losses on these assets 
and, where applicable, the reversal of impairment 
losses recognised in prior years are similar to those 
used for property, plant and equipment for own use 
(see Note 2.13.1). 

2.15. Provisions and contingent liabilities 
The Group’s financial statements include all the 
material provisions, if any, required to cover 
certain risks to which the Group is exposed as a 
result of its business activity and which are certain 
as to  their nature but uncertain as to their amount 
and/or timing. Contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the financial statements, but rather 
are disclosed, if there. 

Provisions, which are quantified on the basis of the 
best information available on the consequences of 
the event giving rise to them and are reviewed its 

case and adjusted at the end of each year, are used 
to cater for the specific obligations for which they 
were originally recognised. Provisions are fully or 
partially reversed when such obligations cease to 
exist or are reduced. 

The provisions considered necessary pursuant to 
the foregoing criteria and their eventual reversal, 
should the reasons for their recognition disappear, 
are recognised with a charge or credit, 
respectively, to “Provisions or reversal of 
provisions” in the consolidated income statement. 

2.15.1. Litigation and/ or claims in process 

At the end of 2021 certain litigation and claims were in process against the Group arising from the ordinary 
course of its operations. The Group's legal advisers and directors consider that the outcome of the litigation 
and claims will not have a material effect on the financial statements for the years in which they are settled. 

2.16. Non-current assets and Disposal Groups Classified as 
Held for Sale 
“Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Disposal 
Groups Classified as Held for Sale” in the 
consolidated balance sheet includes the carrying 
amount of items - individual items, disposal groups 
or items forming part of a business unit earmarked 
for disposal (“discontinued operations”) - which, 
because of their nature, are estimated to have a 
realisation or recovery period exceeding one year, 
but are earmarked for disposal by the Group and 
whose sale in their present condition is highly 
probable to be completed within one year from the 
date of the financial statements. 

Investments in associates or joint ventures that 
meet the requirements set forth in the foregoing 
paragraph are also considered to be non-current 
assets held for sale. 

Therefore, the carrying amount of these items -
which can be of a financial nature or otherwise- 
will foreseeably, be recovered through the 

proceeds from their disposal rather than from 
continuing use. 

Specifically, property or other non-current assets 
received by the Group as total or partial settlement 
of its debtors' payment obligations to it are deemed 
to be non-current assets held for sale, unless the 
Group has decided use them and classify them as 
investment property (see Note 2.13.2). 

In general, non-current assets held for sale and 
disposal groups classified as held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
calculated as at the classification date and their 
fair value less net estimated costs to sell. Tangible 
and intangible assets that are depreciable and 
amortisable by nature are not depreciated or 
amortised during the time they remain classified in 
this category. 
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If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their 
fair value less costs to sell, the Group adjusts the 
carrying amount of the assets by the amount of the 
excess with a charge to “Gains/(Losses) on Non- 
Current Assets Held for Sale not Classified as 
Discontinued Operations” in the consolidated 
income statement. If the fair value of such assets 
subsequently increases, the Group reverses the 
losses previously recognised and increases the 
carrying amount of the assets without exceeding 
the carrying amount prior to the impairment, with 
a credit to “Gains/(Losses) on Non-Current Assets 
Held for Sale not Classified as Discontinued 
Operations” in the consolidated income statement. 

The gains or losses arising on the sale of non-
current assets held for sale are presented under 
“Profit or Loss from Non-Current Assets and 
Disposal Groups Classified as Held for Sale Not 
Qualifying as Discontinued Operations” in the 
consolidated income statement. 

Despite the foregoing, financial assets, assets 
arising from remuneration to employees and any 
deferred tax assets that are part of a disposal group 
or of a discontinued operation are not measured as 
described in the preceding paragraphs, but rather 
in accordance with the accounting policies and 
rules applicable to these items, which were 
explained in previous sections of Note 2. 

2.17. Consolidated cash flow statements 
The following terms are used in the consolidated 
cash flow statements with the meanings specified: 

 Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and 
cash equivalents, which are short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 Operating activities: the principal revenue-
producing activities of credit institutions and 
other activities that are not investing or 
financing activities. Operating activities also 
include interest paid on any financing 
received, even if this financing is considered 
to be financing activity. Activities performed 
with the various financial instrument 
categories detailed in Note 2.2.4 above are 
classified, for the purpose of this statement, 
as operating activities. 

 Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or 
disposal by other means of long-term assets 

and other investments not included in cash 
and cash equivalents, such as Property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets, 
investments, non-current assets held for sale 
and associated liabilities, equity instruments 
classified as financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income which 
are strategic investments if any. 

 Financing activities: includes the cash flows 
from activities that result in changes in the 
size and composition of the equity and 
liabilities that are not operating activities. 

For cash flow statement preparation purposes, the 
balance of “Cash, Cash Balances at Central Banks 
and other demand deposits” on the asset side of 
the consolidated balance sheet, disregarding any 
impairment losses, was considered to be “cash and 
cash equivalents”. 

2.18. Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
The consolidated statement of changes in equity 
presented in these financial statements shows the 
consolidated total changes therein in equity during 
the year. This information is disclosed to turn in 

two statements: the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income and the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity. The following 
explains the main features of the information 
contained in both parts of the statement: 

2.18.1. Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense 

The consolidated statement of recognised income 
and expense presents the income and expenses 
generated by the Group as a result of its business 

activity in the year, and a distinction is made 
between the income and expenses recognised in 
the consolidated income statement for the year 
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and the other income and expenses recognised, in 
accordance with current regulations, directly in 
equity, making a distinction among the latter, in 
turn, between items that may be reclassified to the 
income statement, pursuant to applicable 
legislation, and those that may not. 

Accordingly, this statement presents: 

a. Profit for the year. 

b. The net amount of income and expense 
recognised that will not be reclassified into 
income. 

c. The net amount of income and expenses 
recognised that can be reclassified into income. 

d. The total of income and expense recognised, 
calculated as the sum of (a+b+c). 

Changes in income and expenses recognised in 
equity as items that can be reclassified to income 
are broken down as follows: 

a. Measurement gains or losses taken to equity: 
includes the amount of the income, net of the 
expenses incurred in the year, recognised 
directly in equity. The amounts recognised in 
equity in the year remain under this item, even 
if in the same year they are transferred to the 

consolidated income statement or to the initial 
carrying amount of assets or liabilities or are 
reclassified to another line item. 

b. Amounts transferred to the income statement: 
includes the amount of the restatement gains 
and losses previously recognised in equity, 
albeit in the same year, which are recognised 
in the consolidated income statement. 

c. Amount transferred to the initial carrying 
amount of hedged items: includes the amount 
of the restatement gains and losses previously 
recognised in equity, albeit in the same year, 
which are recognised in the initial carrying 
amount of the assets or liabilities as a result of 
cash flow hedges. 

d. Other reclassifications: includes the amount of 
the transfers made in the year between 
measurement adjustment items in accordance 
with current regulations. 

The amounts of these items are presented gross, 
and the corresponding income tax is included in a 
separate line item both at the end of the items that 
may be reclassified to profit or loss and at the end 
of those that will not. 

 

2.18.2. Consolidated statement of changes in total equity 

The consolidated statement of changes in total 
equity presents all the changes in equity, including 
those arising from changes in accounting policies 
and from the correction of errors. Accordingly, this 
statement presents a reconciliation of the carrying 
amount at the beginning and end of the year of all 
the equity items, and the changes in the year are 
grouped together on the basis of their nature into 
the following items: 

a. Effects of corrections of errors and changes in 
accounting policies: this category includes the 
adjustments to equity arising as a result of the 
retrospective restatement of the financial 
statements, making a distinction between the 
adjustments that relate to changes in 
accounting policies and those relating to 
corrections of errors. 

b. Total comprehensive income for the year: this 
category includes the amount of the line item 

with the same name in the statement of 
recognised income and expense relating to the 
same date. 

c. Other changes in equity: includes the changes 
recognised directly in equity relating to 
increases and reductions in capital or other 
equity instruments (including the expenses 
incurred in such transactions), the distribution 
of dividends or shareholder remuneration, the 
reclassification of financial instruments from 
equity to liabilities or vice-versa, transfers 
among equity items which, due to their nature, 
were not included in other line items, 
increases or decreases in equity resulting from 
business combinations, share-based payments, 
and any other increase or decrease in equity 
that cannot be included in the aforementioned 
categories. 

 



  

A N N U A L  A C C O U N T S  |  C O N S O L I D A T E D  A C C O U N T S  2 0 2 1       5 6  

3. Cecabank, S.A. 

Cecabank is the parent of the Group. Its separate 
financial statements are prepared by applying the 
accounting principles and rules included in Bank 
of Spain Circular 4/2017, of 27 November, to 
credit institutions, on public and confidential 
financial reporting rules and formats and 
subsequent amendments. 

The financial statements of the Bank, the head of 
the group for 2021 and 2020, for informative 
purpose, are as follows: 

Balances  
(thousand euros): 
Assets 2021 2020 
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 8,678,793 5,348,908 
Financial assets held for trading 1,414,378 1,857,991 
Derivatives 781,544 961,056 
Equity instruments 292,528 146,992 
Debt securities 340,306 749,943 
Memorandum item: loanedor advanced as collateral with right to sell or pledge 170,867 90,560 
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 28,584  28,791 
Equity instruments 4,550 6,451 
Debt securities 23,924 21,720 
Loans and advances 110 620 
Memorandum item: loanedor advanced as collateral with right to sell or pledge - 488 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - - 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,238,947 2,462,912 
Equity instruments 3,002 2,638 
Debt securities 3,235,945 2,460,274 
Loans and advances - - 
Memorandum item: lent or delivered as guarantee with a right of sale or pledged 2,132,610 1,381,955 
Financial Assets at amortised cost 3,198,576 3,886,709 
Debt securities 109,595 299,012 
Loans and advances 3,088,981 3,587,697 
Central banks 16,174 - 
Credit institutions 2,094,199 2,497,154 
Customers 978,608 1,090,543 
Memorandum item: lent or delivered as guarantee with a right of sale or pledged 479,295 1,042,859 
Derivatives - hedge accouting 10,137 694 
Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk hedge of interest rate risk - - 
Investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 312 312 
Subsidiaries 312 312 
Joint Ventures - - 
Associates - - 
Tangible assets 51,157 51,962 
Property, plant and equipment 41,860 45,140 
For own use 41,860 45,140 
Investment property 9,297 6,822 
Of which: assigned in operating lease - - 
Memorandum item: acquired in finance lease 1,673 2,177 
Intangible assets 446,601 491,594 
Goodwill - - 
Other intangible assets 446,601 491,594 
Tax assets 66,765 76,154 
Current tax assets 229 2,216 
Deferred tax assets 66,536 73,938 
Other assets 60,349 58,729 
Remainder of other assets 60,349 58,729 
Non-current assets and disposable groups of items classified as held for sale 3,075 3,032 
Total Assets 17,197,674 14,267,788 
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Liabilities And Equity 2021 2020 
Financial liabilities held for trading 1,085,136   1,293,973 

Derivatives 805,612  1,088,340 

Short positions 279,524  205,633 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss -  - 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 14,726,825  11,639,413 

Deposits 14,591,300  11,404,436 

Central Banks -  464,729 

Credit Institutions 2,267,645  1,571,405 

Customers 12,323,655  9,368,302 

Other financial liabilities 135,525  234,977 

Derivatives - hedge accounting 4,105  16,473 

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk -  - 

Liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts - - 

Provisions 86,763  80,900 

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations - - 

Other remuneration to long-term employees’ obligations 45,426  29,051 

Pending legal issues and tax litigations 4,213  7,621 

Commitments and guarantees given 262  288 

Other provisions 36,862  43,940 

Tax liabilities 18,531  19,935 

Current liabilities 6,686  4,075 

Deferred tax liabilities 11,845  15,860 

Other liabilities 65,596  56,397 

Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale - - 

Total Liabilities 15,986,956  13,107,091 
 
 

Liabilities And Equity 2021 2020 
Shareholders’ equity 1,200,748  1,136,282 

Share capital 112,257  112,257 

Paid up capital 112,257  112,257 

Share premium 615,493  615,493 

Retained earnings 388,891  339,382 

Other reserves 14,889  14,796 

Profit for the year 69,218  54,354 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 9,970  24,415 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 11,163  11,218 

Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pensions plans 9,656  9,894 

Changes of fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,507  1,324 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (1,193) 13,197 

Changes of fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (1,193) 13,197 

Total Equity 1,210,718  1,160,697 

Total Liabilities And Equity 17,197,674  14,267,788 

Memorandum Item   

Commitments from loans granted 561,871  570,499 

Financial guarantees granted - - 

Other obligations granted 71,431  1,060,366 
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Income Statements (thousand euros): 
 
 2021 2020 
Interest income 111,336  100,465 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 27,897  31,334 

Financial assets at amortised cost 9,763  10,793 

Other interest income 73,676  58,338 

Interest expenses (104,962) (85,832) 

Net Interest Income 6,374  14,633 

Dividend income 4,066  3,667 

Fee and commission income 223,457  163,432 

Fee and commission expenses (33,090) (25,696) 

Gains or losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 34,588  24,126 

Financial assets at amortised cost 3  3 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - (689) 

Other financial assets and liabilities 34,585  24,812 

Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trade, net (6,018) (14,725) 

Gain or losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss, net (1,043) (3,141) 

Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net -  - 

Gains or losses from hedge accounting, net 206  (1,199) 

Exchange differences, net 38,746  43,219 

Other operating income 45,410  46,769 

Other operating expenses (7,404) (5,153) 

Gross Income 305,292  245,932 

Administrative expenses (143,559)  (117,050) 

Staff costs (71,427)  (49,942) 

Other administrative expenses (72,132)  (67,108) 

Amortisation (82,411) (57,367) 

Provisions and reversal of provisions 9,786  8,636 

Impairment or reversal of impairment and gains or losses due to changes in cash flows of financial assets not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss or net gains or losses (-) due to changes 4,580   (5,770) 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (416) (3,146) 

Financial Assets at amortised cost 4,996  (2,624) 

Impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates - - 

Impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss of non-financial assets - - 

Tangible assets - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Others - - 

Gains or losses on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments, net 5  (10) 

Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss - - 

Profit or loss from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued 
operations 43  - 

Profit Or Loss Before Tax From Continuing Operations 93,736  74,371 

Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from continuing operations (24,518) (20,017) 

Profit Or Loss After Tax From Continuing Operations 69,218  54,354 

Profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations - - 

Profit For The Year 69,218  54,354 
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Statements of recognised income and expense (thousand euros): 
 
 2021 2020 
Profit for the year 69,218  54,354 

Other comprehensive income (14,445) 5,366 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (55) (1,798) 

Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit pension plans (340) 3,743 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - - 

Changes of fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 262  (6,312) 

Tax on gains related to the items that will not be reclassified 23  771 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (14,390) 7,164 

Foreign currency translation - - 

Translation gains or losses taken to equity - - 

Cash flow hedges - - 

Valuation gains or losses taken to equity - - 

Transferred to profit or loss - - 

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (20,557) 10,234 

Valuation gains or losses taken to equity 14,028  31,864 

Transferred to profit or loss (34,585) (21,630) 

Tax on gains related to the items that may be reclassified in profit or loss 6,167  (3,070) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 54,773  59,720 

 
 
Statement of changes in equity (Thousand euros): 
 

Shareholders' Equity 
 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium  

Retained 
earnings 

Other 
reserves  

(-) 
Treasury 

shares 

Profit for 
the year 
(Note 3) 

(-) 
Interim 

dividends 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income  

Total 
equity 

Opening balance (before restatement) at 1 
January 2020 - - - - - - - - - 

Effects of corrections of errors - - - - - - - - - 

Effects of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - 

Opening balance at 1 January 2020 112,257 615,493 309,108  5,592 - 45,185  - 19,049  1,106,684  

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 54,354  - 5,336  59,720  

Other changes in equity - - 30,274  9,204 - (45,185) - - (5,707) 

Dividends (or remuneration of members) - - (14,911) - - - -   (14,911) 

Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - 

Transfers among components of equity - - 45,185  6,081 - (45,185) - - 6,081 

Other increase or decrease in equity - - - 3,123 - - -   3,123 

Closing balance at 31 December 2020 112,257 615,493 339,382  14,796 - 54,354  - 24,415  1,160,697  

Effects of corrections of errors - - - - - - - - - 

Effects of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - 

Opening balance at 1 January 2021 112,257 615,493 339,382  14,796 - 54,354  - 24,415  1,160,697  

Total comprehensive income for the year  - -  -  - -  69,218  -  (14,445) 54,773  

Other changes in equity - - 49,509  93 - (54,354) - - (4,752) 

Dividends (or remuneration of members) - - (4,844) - - - -   (4,844) 

Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - - - - - - - - - 

Transfers among components of equity - - 54,354  - - (54,354) - - - 

Other increase or decrease in equity - - (1) 93 - - -   92  

Closing balance at 31 December 2021 112,257 615,493 388,891  14,889 - 69,218  - 9,970  1,210,718  
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Statement of cash flows (Thousand euros): 
 
 2021 2020 
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 3,371,345 3,448,678 

Profit for the year 69,218 54,354 

Adjustments made to obtain the cash flows from operating activities 110,286 90,035 

Amortisation 82,411 57,367 

Other adjustments 27,875 32,668 

Net (increase)/decrease in operating assets (341,126) (842,779) 

Financial assets held for trading (448,606) 893 

Non trading financial Assets mandatory measured at fair value through profit and loss 984 (7,245) 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - - 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 814,919 362,833 

Financial assets at amortised cost (688,148) (1,186,343) 

Other operating assets (20,275) (12,917) 

Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities- 2,861,158 2,471,756 

Financial liabilities held for trading (208,837) 82,227 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 3,087,412 2,427,649 

Other operating liabilities (17,417) (38,120) 

Income tax recovered/(paid) (10,443) (10,247) 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities (36,616) (352,966) 

Payments: 36,616 (352,966) 

Tangible assets 3,303 (3,179) 

Intangible assets 33,313 (349,787) 

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates - - 

Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale - - 

Proceeds: - - 

Tangible assets - - 

Intangible assets - - 

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates - - 

Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale - - 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities (4,844) (14,911) 

Payments: (4,844) (14,911) 

Dividends (4,844) (14,911) 

Subordinated liabilities - - 

Redemption of own equity instruments - - 

Acquisition of own equity instruments - - 

Proceeds: - - 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes - - 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,329,885 3,080,801 

Cash And Cash Equivalents At Beginning Of Year 5,348,908 2,268,107 

Cash And Cash Equivalents At End Of Year 8,678,793 5,348,908 

Memorandum Item    

Components Of Cash And Cash Equivalents At End Of Year   

Cash 179,338 122,057 

Cash balances at central banks 8,388,867 5,071,475 

Other demand deposits 110,588 155,376 

Less: Bank overdrafts refundable on demand - - 
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4. Distribution of the Bank's profit 

The proposal for the distribution of the parent´s 
company net profit for 2021, which the Board of 
Directors will propose to the General Shareholders' 
Meeting for approval, is as follows (the balances for 
2020 are presented exclusively for comparative 
purposes): 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Voluntary Reserve 55,074 49,510 

Dividends 14,144 4,844 

Net profit for the year 69,218 54,354 

As a consequence of the economic impacts 
generated by Covid-19, and with the aim of 
preserving the regulatory capital of credit 
institutions, the European Central Bank issued a 
recommendation on 27 March 2020 urging 
European banks to refrain, at least until 1 October 
2020, from distributing dividends or entering into 
irrevocable commitments to distribute dividends 
for the financial years 2019 and 2020, as well as 
from share buybacks to remunerate shareholders; 
this recommendation was updated on 27 July 2020, 
extending this limitation until 1 January 2021. On 
15 December 2020, the European Central Bank 
again amended its recommendation, urging banks 
to be very prudent in deciding on the amounts of 
dividends or share buybacks to remunerate 
shareholders until 30 September 2021, thus limiting 

investor remuneration to the following two 
options: a maximum of 20 basis points of the 
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) ratio or 15% of the 
result of the 2020 financial year. 

After analysing both options, the Bank found that 
the lower of the two options was the one with a 
maximum Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) ratio of 20 
basis points. 

For the financial year 2021, the European Central 
Bank announced the adoption of recommendation 
ECB/2021/31 repealing recommendation 
ECB/2020/62 with effect from 30 September 2021, 
whereby the ECB indicates that it will assess the 
capital, dividend distribution and share buyback 
plans of each institution in the context of its 
regular supervisory process, removing the 
remaining restrictions on dividends and buyback 
programs contained in recommendation 
ECB/2020/62. 

Therefore, on 25 January 2022, the Board of 
Directors proposed the distribution of a dividend of 
Euros 14,144 thousand subject to the approval of 
Cecabank's General Shareholders' Meeting. In 
addition, on 23 March 2021, Cecabank's General 
Shareholders' Meeting approved the distribution of 
a dividend of EUR 4,844 thousand from the profit 
generated in 2020, based on the recommendation 
dated 27 March 2020 regarding the distribution of 
dividends due to the impact of Covid-19. 

5. Information by business segments 

Cecabank, S.A.’s wholesale business, which is carried on in Spain, represents substantially all the Group's 
activities, of which the retail business accounts for less than 1%. 

Below is a breakdown of the main revenues for 2021 and 2020 of customers external to the Group broken down 
by geographical areas in which they have their origin: 

2021:    Thousand euro 

 
Spain 

Rest of 
Europe 

Rest of the 
World Total 

Interest income (Note 28) 111,336 - - 111,336 

Commission income (Note 31) 222,429 - - 222,429 

Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities (net) (Note 33) 27,733 - - 27,733 

Other operating income (Note 34) 45,410 5,658 - 51,068 
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2020:    Thousand euro 

 
Spain 

Rest of 
Europe 

Rest of the 
World Total 

Interest income (Note 28) 100,463 - - 100,463 

Commission income (Note 31) 162,330 - - 162,330 

Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities (net) (Note 33) 5,061 - - 5,061 

Other operating income (Note 34) 46,769 5,622 - 52,391 

Note 26 contains information on geographical distribution, by counterparty, of the Group's main activities. 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020 and in those years, the Group did not have any single customer which 
individually accounted for 10% or more of its revenue. 

6. Remuneration of directors and senior executives 

6.1. Remuneration of the Board of Directors 
The members of the Bank's Board of Directors 
receive an attendance fee for attending meetings 
of the Board and its support committees, the detail 
of which for 2021 and 2020 is shown in the following 
table: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Azuaga Moreno, Manuel 22,8 24,8 

Carbó Valverde, Santiago 60,0 60,0 

García Lurueña, Francisco Javier 26,9 33,1 

Iglesias Ruiz, Víctor Manuel 31,0 33,1 

Méndez Álvarez-Cedrón, José María 22,8 24,8 

Motellón García, Carmen 55,8 57,9 

Pano Riera, Javier 31,0 24,8 

Ruano Mochales, Jesús 29,0 41,4 

Salaverría Monfort, Julia 53,8 47,6 

Sarro Álvarez, María del Mar 62,0 55,9 

 395,1 403,4 

The aforementioned attendance fees for 2021 
relating to the participation of an executive of  
Bankia, S.A. on the Board of Directors of Cecabank, 
S.A. and its support committees, which are paid 
directly to that entity, in this case to CaixaBank, 
S.A. as a result of the merger between the two 
entities, amounted to EUR 6 thousand  (2020: EUR 
27 thousand). 

Note 40 details the Group’s other balances with its 
directors and persons related to them. 

6.2. Remuneration of senior executives and of members of 
the Board of Directors 
For the purposes of the preparation of these 
financial statements, the Bank's senior executives 
were considered to be the members of the 
Management Committee, which comprised 8 
members at 31 December 2021 and 2020 (although 
its composition has changed during the year 2021). 

The remuneration earned by the senior executives 
and the members of the Board of Directors in their 
capacity as executives of the Bank totalled EUR 

2,136 thousand in 2021, of which EUR 2,017 
thousand related to short-term remuneration for 
2021, including the amount that will be paid by 
Phantom Shares (see note 35) and EUR 119 
thousand related to post-employment benefits 
(EUR 2,141 thousand in 2020, of which EUR 1,993 
thousand related to short-term remuneration and 
EUR 148 thousand to post-employment benefits). 
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The amount of the consolidated pension rights for 
senior management and the members of the Board 
of Directors in their capacity as Bank executives at 
31 December 2021 totals EUR 3,104 thousand (EUR 
2,966 thousand at 31 December 2020). 

The Group has taken out accident insurance for 
directors and third-party liability insurance for 
directors and senior executives under the 

customary terms and conditions for these insurance 
policies. The premium for 2021 amounted to EUR 
269 thousand (2020: EUR 252 thousand). 

Note 40 to these financial statements provides 
disclosures of the amounts of the demand deposits 
held with the Group by senior executives and Board 
members and of the loans granted to them by the 
Group. 

6.3. Transparency obligations 
Article 229 of the Consolidated Spanish Limited 
Liability Companies Law establishes that the 
directors must disclose any direct or indirect 
conflict they might have with the interests of the 
company in which they discharge their duties as 
directors. 

During financial year 2021, there were three 
occasions on which certain directors of Cecabank, 
S.A. abstained from participating in the 
deliberation and/or voting on a matter. The 

breakdown of the three occasions is as follows: on 
two occasions resolutions were adopted on the 
formalisation of financial transactions and on 
another occasion a resolution was adopted to 
review the remuneration of the executive director. 

During 2020, the Bank's directors, as defined in the 
Capital Companies Act, notified the Board of 
Directors of five situations of direct or indirect 
conflict that they or persons related to them might 
have with the Bank's interests. 

7. Cash, Cash Balances at Central Banks and other 
demand deposits 

The breakdown of the balance of “Cash, Cash 
Balances at Central Banks and other demand 
deposits” in the balance sheets at 31 December 
2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Cash in euro 42,396 22,400 

Cash in foreign currency (Note 2.5) 136,942 99,657 

Cash balances at central banks (Note 1.10) (*) 8,388,867 5,071,475 

Other sight deposits in euro 111,563 156,329 

Of which: in foreign currency 100,792 137,519 

Of which: in Euros 10,771 18,810 

Other sight deposits (Note 22.7) 175 640 

Valuation adjustments -   

Impairment losses (Note 22.4.2 and 22.8) (188) (409) 

 8,679,756 5,350,092 

(*) This balance corresponds entirely to the balance in cash at the 
Bank of Spain. 

At 31 December 2021, doubtful positions with 
correspondents were classified under this heading. 
Impairment losses also include EUR 79 thousand of 
individually assessed impairment losses, EUR 30 
thousand collectively assessed impairment losses 
and EUR 79 thousand in country risk allowances. 
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8. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 

8.1. Financial instruments held for trading-assets and 
liabilities 

8.1.1. Financial assets and liabilities held for trading - Breakdown 

Following is a detail of the balances of “Financial Assets/Liabilities Held for Trading” in the balance sheets at 
31 December 2021 and 2020: 

Thousand euro 

 Debtor balances Creditor balances 
 2021 2020 2021 2020 

Debt securities 340,306 749,943 - - 

Government securities 223,183 148,633 - - 

Treasury Bills - - - - 

Other public entities 10,026 10,293 - - 

Non-resident public administrations 14,217 6,776 - - 

Spanish credit institutions 42,981 150,127 - - 

Private sector (Spain) 26,699 146,568 - - 

Private sector (rest of the world) 23,201 287,546 - - 

Doubtful assets - - - - 

Equity instruments 292,528 146,992 - - 

Shares listed on the Spanish Market 291,240 145,535 - - 

Shares listed on markets in the rest of the world 1,288 1,457 - - 

Derivatives held for trading- 781,544 961,056 805,612 1,088,340 

Derivatives traded on organized markets 332 - - - 

Derivatives not traded on organisedmarkets 781,212 961,056 805,612 1,088,340 

Short securities positions - - 279,524 205,633 

 1,414,378 1,857,991 1,085,136 1,293,973 

Note 22 provides information on the credit risk 
assumed by the Group in relation to the financial 
assets, other than equity instruments, included in 
this category. In addition, notes 23 and 24 include 
information on the market and liquidity risks, 
respectively, associated with the financial 
instruments included in this category. 

Note 21 provides information on the fair value of 
the financial instruments included in this category. 
Note 26 includes information on the concentration 
of risk relating to the financial assets held for 
trading. Note 25 shows information on the 
exposure to interest rate risk. 

 

8.1.2. Trading derivatives (assets and liabilities) 

Following is a breakdown, by type of risk, of the fair value of the trading derivatives arranged by the Group 
and of their notional amount (on the basis of which the future payments and collections on these derivatives 
are calculated) at 31 December 2021 and 2020: 
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      Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
 Fair Value Fair Value 
 Asset  

balances 
Liability 

balances 
Notional  
amount 

Asset  
balances 

Liability 
balances 

Notional  
amount 

Interest rate risk 698,146 729,187 18,114,028 929,847 968,241 20,385,128 

Foreign currency risk 79,188 68,066 7,529,624 31,004 116,121 5,262,020 

Share price risk 1,962 5,757 322,650 - - 147,569 

Credit risk 2,248 2,602 130,000 205 3,978 120,000 

 781,544 805,612 26,096,302 981,563 1,088,340 25,914,717 

The notional amount of the contracts entered into does not reflect the actual risk assumed by the Group for 
these contracts, since the net position in these financial instruments is the result of offsetting and/or 
combining them and of offsetting and/or combining them with other asset or liability positions. 

8.1.3. Financial liabilities held for trading - Short positions 

The detail, by type of transaction, of the balance 
of this item in the balance sheets at 31 December 
2021 and 2020, is as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Classification:   

For securities lending- - - 

Equity instruments - - 

Overdrafts on disposals-repurchase agreement   

Debt securities 279,524 205,633 

 279,524 205,633 

“Short Positions - Short Sales – Equity Instruments” 
and “Short positions - Overdrafts on disposals- 
repurchase agreement - Debt securities” in the 
foregoing table includes the fair value of the 
Group’s debt instruments purchased under 
repurchase agreements and, therefore, under non-
optional resale as such not recognised on the asset 
side of the balance sheet, which have been sold 
and will be repurchased by the Group before 
maturity of the repurchase agreement in which 
they are used as collateral, in order for the Group 
to return them to his owner at the maturity date. 

8.2. Non trading financial asset mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss 
The detail, by nature, of the financial assets 
included in “Non trading financial asset 
mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss” in 
the balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 
is as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Equity instruments 4,550 6,451 

Shares listed in organised markets - 1,576 

Shares listed in rest of the world markets - - 

Unquoted shares 4,550 4,875 

Debt securities 23,924 21,720 

  Private sector (Spain) 13,937 - 

Private sector (rest of the world) 9,987 21,720 

Loans and advances 110 620 

 28,584 28,791 

Note 22 includes information on the Group’s 
exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2021 and 
2020 associated with these financial instruments 
other than equity instruments. 

Note 21 includes information on the fair value of 
these financial instruments at 31 December 2021 
and 2020. Note 25 includes information about the 
exposure to interest rates. 

Note 24 contains information on the liquidity risk 
associated with the financial instruments owned by 
the Group at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 

Note 26 includes information on the concentration 
risk relating to these financial instruments at 31 
December 2021 and 2020. 
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8.3. Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 there are no assets or liabilities in this heading. 

9. Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

Following is a detail of the balances of “Financial 
assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income” in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 
December 2021 and 2020: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Debt securities   

Securities - Spanish Public 
Administrations 1,716,039 1,017,434 

Treasury Bills 1,495,750 501,073 

Government debt 220,289 516,361 

Non-resident public institutions 852,526 969,276 

Spanish credit institutions 250,801 124,903 

Credit institutions not residing in Spain 10,125 - 

Private sector (Spain) 164,765 158,133 

Private sector (rest of the world) 248,636 151,498 

 3,242,892 2,421,244 

Measurement adjustments-   

Accrued interest 6,553  13,252 

Results due to measurement and other (9,272) 29,591 

Impairment losses (Notes 22.8 and 38) (4,228) (3,813) 

 (6,947) 39,030 

 3,235,945 2,460,274 

Equity instruments-   

Shares not traded on organised markets 10,816 17,992 

 10,816 17,992 

Measurement adjustments-   
Results due to measurement and other 2,288 2,043 

Impairment losses (Notes 22.8 and 38) (10,101) (17,397) 

 (7,814) (15,354) 

 3,002 2,638 

 3,238,947 2,462,912 

Note 21 contains certain information on the fair 
value of the financial instruments included in this 
category. 

Note 22 includes information on the credit risk to 
which the debt instruments included in this 
financial instrument category are subject. 

Note 23 shows certain information on the market 
risk to which the Group is exposed in relation to 
these financial assets. Note 25 discloses certain 
information on interest rate risk. 

Note 26 shows information on the concentration 
risk associated with these financial assets. 

In 2020, the Group sold its stake in Caser Seguros 
S.A. for 18,572 thousand euro, thus recognising a 
derecognition of 5,420 thousand euro under 
financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income - equity instruments, as 
well as the corresponding net gain in reserves of 
9,206 thousand euro (Note 18.3). 
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10. Financial assets at amortised cost 

Following is a detail of the financial assets included 
in “Loans and Receivables” in the consolidated 
balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

 Thousand euro 

Debt instruments- 2021 2020 
Debt securities issued by Spanish Public 
Administrations - - 

Debt securities issued by entities other than 
Spanish Public Administrations 108,427 302,241 

Doubtful assets - - 

 108,427 302,241 

Measurement adjustments-   
Impairment losses (Notes 22.8 and 38) (291) (4,648) 

Accrued interest 1,459 1,419 

 1,168 (3,229) 

 109,595 299,012 

   

Loans and advances to central banks   

  Non-loan advances  16,180 - 

Valuation adjustments - - - 

  Impairment losses   -  - 

  Accrued interest (6) - 

 (6) - 

 16,174 - 

Loans and prepayments to credit 
institutions-   

Reverse repurchase agreements 1,089,469 1,521,350 

Other term loans 64,345 45,187 

Advances different from loans 941,127 931,315 

Non-performing assets 25 25 

 2,094,966 2,497,877 

Measurement adjustments-   

Impairment losses (Notes 22.8 and 38) (25) (25) 

Accrued interest (742) (698) 

 (767) (723) 

 2,094,199 2,497,154 

Loans and prepayments to customers-   

On demand 4,391 5,493 

Credit card debt 620 572 

Trade receivables 1,666 1,638 

Reverse repurchase agreements 1,086 309,138 

Other term loans 228,736 630,253 

Advances different from loans 725,565 134,056 

Non-performing assets 407 429 

 962,471 1,081,579 

Measurement adjustments-   

Impairment losses (204) (513) 

Acquisition Premium 14,734 8,303 

Accrued interest 2,728 2,292 

 17,258 10,082 

 979,729 1,091,661 

 3,199,697 3,887,827 

“Financial Assets at Amortised Cost - Loans and 
Advances to Customers” includes mortgage loans to 
customers with a carrying amount of EUR 41,505 
thousand at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 
EUR 41,313 thousand). 

In Note 21 there is information about the fair value 
of included in this category of financial assets at 31 
December 2021 and 2020. Note 22 includes 
information about the credit risk in this category of 
financial assets at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 

Note 24 contains information on the liquidity risk 
associated with the Group’s financial instruments. 

Note 26 includes information on the concentration 
risk associated with the financial assets included in 
this category at 31 December 2021 and 2020. Note 
25 includes information on the interest rate risk. 

In addition, the Group applies the following 
average interest rates for loans (both mortgage and 
non- mortgage) for the years ending 2021 and 2020: 

 2021 2020 
Average interest 
rates: 

  

Energy efficiency Annual Euribor - 

Agreement mortgage Annual Euribor with 
maximum limit +5.25% 

and minimum 0.50% 

Annual Euribor 
with maximum 

limit +5.25% and 
minimum 0.50% 

Free disposal 
mortgage 

Euribor anual + 0,40% Euribor anual + 
0,40% 

Free consumption 
disposal 

Euribor anual + 2% Euribor anual + 2% 

Extension house Annual Euribor Annual Euribor 

Social Annual Euribor Annual Euribor 
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11. Hedging derivatives 

The Group has entered into financial derivatives 
transactions with various counterparties of 
recognised creditworthiness which are considered 
fair value and cash flow hedges of certain balance 
sheet positions against fluctuations in market 
interest rates and also to comply with the 
requirements of the applicable regulation. 

The Group’s hedged consolidated balance sheet 
positions relate to fixed-rate debt instruments 
(guaranteed issues, government bonds and treasury 
bills). These securities are issued by the Spanish 
government, Spanish private sector financial 
institutions and other resident sectors. 

Given that the positions giving rise to the risk are 
long-term transactions tied to a fixed interest rate, 
the main aim of the hedge is to change the returns 
of the hedged items from fixed to floating and, 
accordingly, their performance to changes in 
market interest rates. To this end, the Group uses 
OTC interest rate derivatives (basically swaps such 
as call money swaps). 

The Group uses call money swaps to hedge each 
group of debt instruments, which are grouped on 
the basis of their sensitivity to changes in interest 
rates, and documents the related efficiency 
analyses of the hedges to verify that, at inception 
and throughout the life of these hedges, the Bank 
can expect, prospectively, that the changes in fair 

value of the hedged items attributable to the 
hedged risk will be almost fully offset by changes 
in the fair value of the hedging instruments and, 
retrospectively, that the actual results of the 
hedge are within a range of 80% to 125% of the 
results of the hedged item. The aforementioned 
hedges are highly effective. 

Following is a detail, by instrument, of the fair 
value of the hedging instruments in fair value 
hedges: 

Thousand euro 
 2021 2020 
 Asset 

balances 
Liability 
balances 

Asset 
balances 

Liability 
balances 

Hedged instrument     

Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income 

10,137 4,105 694 16,473 

 10,137 4,105 694 16,473 

Gains/losses on hedging instruments and hedged 
items are recognised under “Gains/Losses on 
Financial Assets and Liabilities (Net)” in the income 
statement of the Group (see Note 33). 

The Note 21 discloses information on the fair value 
of these hedging derivatives at 31 December 2021 
and 2020. Note 22 includes certain information on 
the credit risk associated with these derivatives at 
31 December 2021 and 2020. 

12. Non-current assets and disposal groups classified 
as held for sale 

The breakdown of the balance of “Non-Current 
Assets Held and Disposal Groups Classified as Held 
for Sale” in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Real properties 3,075 3,002 

Equity instruments - - 

 3,075 3,002 

The changes in 2021 and 2020 in the items included 
in this heading in the consolidated balance sheets, 
and the related impairment losses, were as 
follows:  
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 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Cost:   

Balances at 1 January 4,943 4,913 

Additions - 30 

Disposals - - 

Transfers - - 

Balances at 31 December 4,943 4,943 

Impairment losses:   

Balances at 1 January (1,911) (1,911) 

Additions 43 - 

Disposals - - 

Transfers - - 

Balances at 31 December (1,868) (1,911) 

Net Balances at 31 December 3,075 3,032 

Properties 

The Group continues to actively manage the items 
included in this heading and those that were 
initially recorded more than one year ago 
(consisting entirely of properties) in order to 
proceed with their sale in the short-term. Although 
the real estate market situation in Spain makes it 
difficult to dispose of these assets, the Group’s 
management of them is intended to procure their 
sale in the short-term and it has reasonable 
expectations in this respect. Accordingly, since all 
of the other requirements established in Circular 
4/2017 are met, they continue to be classified and 
measured as non-current assets held for sale. 

13. Property, plant and equipment 

The changes in 2021 and 2020 in “Property, plant and equipment” in the consolidated balance sheets were  
as follow: 

     Thousand euro 

 Property, Plant and Equipment for Own Use 

 Land and  
Buildings 

Furniture, Fixtures 
and Vehicles 

IT Equipment and 
Related Fixtures 

Investment 
Property Total 

Cost:      

Balance at 1 January 2020 64,373 24,045 16,221 10,905 115,544 

Additions 7 764 2,415 - 3,186 

Disposals - (98) (176) - (274) 

Transfers - - - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 64,380 24,711 18,460 10,905 118,456 

Additions - 1,409 1,894 - 3,303 

Disposals - (60) (1) - (61) 

Transfers (3,218) - (1,286) 4,504 - 

Balance at 31 December 2021 61,162 26,060 19,067 15,409 121,698 

Accumulated depreciation:      

Balance at 1 January 2020 (25,894) (21,137) (11,945) (3,900) (62,876) 

Charge for the year (Note 39) (1,162) (773) (1,731) (183) (3,849) 

Disposals - 86 176 - 262 

Transfers - - - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 (27,056) (21,824) (13,500) (4,083) (66,463) 

Charge for the year (Note 39) (1,328) (738) (1,874) (185) (4,125) 

Disposals - 57 1 - 58 

Transfers 1,470 - 374 (1,844) - 

Balance at 31 December 2021 (26,914) (22,505) (14,999) (6,112) (70,530) 

Property, plant and equipment, net:      

Net balance at 31 December 2020 37,324 2,887 4,960 6,822 51,993 

Net balance at 31 December 2021 34,248 3,555 4,068 9,297 51,168 
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, property, plant and 
equipment for own use totalling (gross) 
approximately EUR 31,073 and 28,878 thousand 
had been depreciated in full. The Group insures 
property, plant and equipment for own use through 
insurance policies. 

Either at 31 December 2021 or at 31 December 
2020, the Property, plant and equipment owned by 
the Group were not impaired or there were no 
changes in this connection in those years. 

In 2021 the rental income earned from investment 
property owned by the Group amounted to EUR 
1,535 thousand (2020: EUR 1,298 thousand) (see 
Note 34). 

In 2021 and 2020, the losses on disposals arising 
under “Property, Plant and Equipment – For Own 
Use” totalled EUR 3 thousand, recognised under 
“Gains or Losses on Derecognition of Non-Financial 
Assets and Investments, Net” in the consolidated 
income statement for 2021 (2020: income of EUR 
10 thousand). 

While the Bank is exposed to changes in residual 
value at the end of existing leases, the Bank 

generally enters into new operating leases and 
therefore will not immediately experience any 
reduction in residual value at the end of these 
leases. Expectations about future residual values 
are reflected in the fair value of the properties. 

The minimum lease payments receivable on 
investment property leases are as follows: 

 Thousands of Euros 

2021 2020 

Less than a year 1,535 1,298 

Between one and five years 5,917 5,807 

More than five years 6,670 6,477 

Right of use: 

The Group holds rights of use by lease mainly on 
offices in the foreign network for the conduct of its 
business abroad, as well as, to a lesser extent, for 
equipment for information processing. As at 31 
December 2021 and 2020, the leasehold rights of 
use amount to EUR 1,673 thousand and EUR 2,177 
thousand, respectively. 

14. Intangible assets 

14.1. Other intangible assets 
The balance of this heading includes basically 
rights arising from the acquisition of certain 
depository businesses and custody of third party 
securities relating to collective investment 
undertakings and pension funds, as well as, to a 
lesser extent, computer software developed by the 
Group, which is amortised as indicated in Note 2.14 
above. The detail of “Other Intangible Assets” in 
the consolidated balance sheets as at 31 December 
2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Intangible assets with finite 
useful life 698,089 667,011 

Of which for acquired depository 
business 695,692 662,379 

Of which by computer 
applications 2,397 4,632 

Accumulated amortisation (251,427) (175,319) 

Of which for acquired depository 
business (249,291) (171,185) 

Of which by computer 
applications (2,136) (4,134) 

Total net 446,662 491,692 

At 31 December 2021, the balance of fully 
amortized intangible assets (computer 
applications) and in use was 3,533 thousand euros 
(3,422 thousand euros at 2020). 
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The changes in 2021 and 2020 in the consolidated 
balance sheets were as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

Cost:  
Balance at 1 January 2020 339,430 

Additions and transfers 349,787 

Disposals (22,206) 

Balance at 31 December 2020 667,011 

Additions and transfers 33,313 

Disposals and other movements (2,235) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 698,089 

Accumulated amortisation:  

Balance at 1 January 2020 (143,886) 

Charge for the year (Note 39) (53,639) 

Disposals and other movements 22,206 

Balance at 31 December 2020 (175,319) 

Charge for the year (Note 39) (78,343) 

Disposals and other movements 2,235 

Balance at 31 December 2021 (251,427) 

Intangible assets, net:  

Net balance at 31 December 2020 491,692 

Net balance at 31 December 2021 446,662 

The additions in 2021 and 2020 in the foregoing 
table relate mainly to the capitalisation of the cost 
of the new depository contracts that arose 
following the renewal of the rights and obligations 
resulting from businesses acquired in prior years for 
the management of depository and custody 
services for securities entrusted by third parties, as 
well as to the variable payments made as a result 
of the achievement of certain contractual 
objectives and to the inclusion in the cost of 
guaranteed amounts originating from those 
businesses. Parallel to this capitalisation, in 2021 
and 2020 the Group derecognised the amortisation 
and impairment losses associated with the 
contracts that were renewed or derecognised, 
which had been amortised in full. 

In August 2021, the Entity reached a mediation 
agreement with Dunas Capital España, S.L. by 
which Cecabank was appointed Depository Entity 
for investment funds, SICAVs, venture capital 
entities and pension funds that were deposited 
with Dunas Capital España, S.L. The provision of 
the depositary service will begin to be provided to 
Dunas Capital España, S.L. in the month of 
February 2022. 

On November 2021, Cecabank has begun to provide 
the deposit service to Fineco, S.A. because it has 
been acquired by Kutxabank, S.A. Therefore, 
Cecabank has been designated as the Depositary 
Entity of the collective investment institutions, 
mutual funds pensions, Voluntary Social Welfare 
Entities (EPSV) that were deposited in Fineco, S.A.  

On June 2021, Cecabank began to provide the 
depositary service to Bankoa, S.A. due to the fact 
that it had been acquired by Abanca Corporación 
Bancaria, SA Therefore, Cecabank has been 
designated as the Depositary Entity of collective 
investment institutions, pension funds, Voluntary 
Social Welfare Entities (EPSV) and venture capital 
entities that were deposited in Bankoa, S.A.  

On 29 May 2020, the Entity reached a mediation 
agreement with Bankia S.A., whereby Cecabank 
was appointed depositary for investment funds, 
SICAVs and pension funds deposited with Bankia, 
S.A. The depositary service began to be provided 
to Bankia S.A. in December 2020. 

At the time of each accounting closing, the Group 
determines whether or not there are any 
indications that the net value of its intangible 
assets (deposit and custody contracts) exceeds 
their recoverable value. If so, the carrying amount 
of the asset concerned is reduced to the 
recoverable value and future amortisation charges 
are adjusted in proportion to the adjusted carrying 
amount and the new remaining useful life, if a new 
estimate is required. The criteria for recognising 
the impairment of these assets and, if appropriate, 
any recovery of impairment losses recognised in 
prior years, are based on actual and projected 
equity, revenue, cost and variable payment 
figures, as well as the fixed price paid by 
Cecabank: 

 The actual amount on deposit at the closing 
in December of the year being analysed and 
then the equity figures are taken into 
consideration based on the revenue 
estimated in the business plan for each 
transaction. 

 Revenue is obtained from the business plan, 
which includes the accumulated amount of 
depository fees effectively collected by 
Cecabank in the year being analysed and 
reflecting the expected income based on the 
business plan. 

 Variable payments relate to the amounts 
paid to customers in accordance with the 
revenue effectively obtained each year and 
the projections indicate the maximum 
amounts payable in the event that the 
business plan revenue projections are met, as 
is stipulated in the contracts. 

 The net present value is calculated based on 
the consideration of different rates to update 
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the expected future cash flows of the 
depository business. At the end of this fiscal 
year, the values or intervals used by the 
entity are those resulting from the 
calculation of the following rates: ROE of the 
entity at the end of December, the Capital 
Asset Pricing Model, the Price Earnings Ratio, 

the Price to Book Value, as well as their 
averages and the averages without extremes. 
From these, the entity proceeds to estimate 
the vaporization of each of the depository 
businesses, comparing the results with the 
book value.  

15. Other assets and liabilities 

15.1. Other assets 
The breakdown of the balance of “Other Assets” 
and “Other Liabilities” in the consolidated balance 
sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Other assets-   

Prepayments-   

Fees and commissions receivable 18,701 14,099 

Non-accrued expenses 2,449 1,845 

Other prepayments 1,183 1,138 

Other assets-   

Transactions in transit 24,510 30,583 
Nets Assets Post-Employment plans (Notes 
2.11.2 and 35) 5,723 5,881 

Other 7,802 5,373 

 60,368 58,919 

“Other assets - Prepayments and Accrued Income – 
Fees and Commissions Receivable” in the 
preceding table includes the accrued commissions 
receivable by the Group in relation to various 
services provided, basically in relation to the 
payment methods business and the custody 
business for collective investment undertakings 
and pension funds. 

“Other - Other Assets - Transactions in Transit” and 
“Other liabilities – Transactions in Transit” mainly 
include temporary balances which relate basically 
to securities underwriting transactions and other 
unsettled OTC transactions. 

15.2. Other liabilities 
The composition of the balance in the consolidated 
balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as 
follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Accrued expenses and deferred income-   
Fees and commissions payable 2,076 1,943 

Accrued expenses 35,128 33,815 

Accrued revenues 478 784 

Other liabilities-   

Transactions in transit 19,978 16,223 

Other 8,068 3,997 

 65,728 56,762 

The balance of the heading "Accruals - Accrued 
expenses " of "Other liabilities" in the foregoing 
table includes, among other items, as of December 
31, 2021, balances amounting to EUR 13,271 
thousand (EUR 13,081 thousand at 31 December 
2020) that originate in variable remuneration paid 
by the outstanding staff. 

“Other Liabilities - Transactions in Transit” in the 
above table relates mainly to temporary balances 
consisting basically of share subscription 
transactions and other transactions performed on 
organised markets pending settlement. 
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16. Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

16.1. Breakdown 
The detail of the items composing this heading in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 
2020 is as follows: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Deposits-   

Central Banks -  464,604 

Credit institutions 2,268,731  1,572,145 

Customer deposits 12,326,015  9,369,694 

 14,594,746  11,406,443 

Measurement adjustments (3,520) (2,362) 

 14,591,226  11,404,081 

Other financial liabilities 136,457  235,673 

 14,727,683  11,639,754 

Note 21 provides information on the fair value of these financial liabilities. 

16.2. Financial liabilities at amortised cost - Deposits – 
Central Banks 
The breakdown, by geographical area of residence of the counterparty and type of instrument, of the balances 
of this item in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
By geographical location:   

Spain -  464,729 

 -  464,729 

By type of instrument:   

Time deposits   

Time deposits -  464,604 

 -  464,604 

Measurement adjustments -  125 

 -  464,729 

On 15 March 2021, the deposits that the Bank of Spain held with Cecabank matured, and they were not renewed 
during 2021. 

16.3. Financial liabilities at amortised cost - Deposits – 
Credit institutions 
The breakdown, by geographical area of residence of the counterparty and type of instrument, of the balances 
of this item in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:  



  

A N N U A L  A C C O U N T S  |  C O N S O L I D A T E D  A C C O U N T S  2 0 2 1       7 4  

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
By geographical location:   

Spain 1,066,075 1,104,906 

Other EMU countries 1,089,535 374,161 

Rest of the world 112,035 92,338 

 2,267,645 1,571,405 

By type of instrument:   

Demand deposits and other-   

Other accounts 743,267 734,046 

Time deposits- -  

Time deposits 551,458 501,285 

Repurchase agreements 974,006 336,814 

 2,268,731 1,572,145 

Measurement adjustments (1,086) (740) 

 2,267,645 1,571,405 

16.4. Financial liabilities at amortised cost -  
Customer deposits 
The breakdown, by geographical area of residence of the counterparty, type of instrument and type of 
Counterparty, of the balances of this item in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 
are as follows: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 

By geographical location:   

Spain 12,110,531 9,158,997 

Other EMU countries 182,835 169,208 

Rest of the world 30,215 40,097 

 12,323,581 9,368,302 

By counterparty:   

Resident public sector 247,196 311,549 

Non-resident public sector - - 

Other resident sectors 11,865,726 8,849,156 

Other non-resident sectors 213,093 209,344 

 12,326,015 9,370,049 

Measurement adjustments (2,434) (1,747) 

 12,323,581 9,368,302 

By type of instrument:   

Current accounts 10,361,836 7,512,294 

Other demand deposits - - 

Fixed-term deposits 947,965 603,972 

Repurchase agreements 1,013,780 1,253,783 

 12,323,581 9,370,049 

Measurement adjustments - (1,747) 

 12,323,581 9,368,302 
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16.5. Financial liabilities at amortised cost - Other financial 
liabilities 
The breakdown of the balance of this item in the 
consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 
and 2020 is as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Payment obligations 3,981 20,388 

Liabilities associated with rights-of-use assets 1,804 2,265 

Collateral received 12,310 1,420 

Tax collection accounts  - 

Special accounts 23,427 26,115 

Other 94,935 185,485 

 136,457 235,673 

These items arise from operations carried out by 
certain credit institutions through the Bank. They 
are of a transitional nature and are settled on the 
first is this day following the date of origination. 

The balance account “Other items” in the 
preceding table essentially records balances 
totalling EUR 38,756 thousand in repayments of 
loans granted to public administrations at 31 
December 2021 (EUR 145,156 thousand at 31 
December 2020). The most significant amount 
after repayments of loans granted to Public 
Administrations amounts to EUR 6,366 thousand 
items due to credit institutions (EUR 16,454 
thousand at 31 December 2020). 

The balance of "liabilities associated with right-of-
use assets" (see Note 13) includes an amount of EUR 
1,804 thousand and an amount of EUR 2,265 
thousand in respect of future lease payments 
during the mandatory periods of the contracts in 
force at 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

17. Provisions 

The changes in the balances of these items in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 
were as follows: 

    Thousand euro 

 Other long-term 
employee 

remuneration 
(Note 35) 

Commitments and 
guarantees granted 

(Notes 2.10, 22 
 and 27.1) 

Procedural issues 
and tax litigation 

proceedings 
(Note 20.1) 

Other 
provisions 

Balances at 1 January 2020 41,656 303 9,011 50,878 

Net addition/ (reversal) charged/ (credited) to income (422) (15) (1,353) (6,832) 

Other net movements (12,183) - (37) (106) 

Balances at 31 December 2020 29,051 288 7,621 43,940 

Net addition/ (reversal) charged/ (credited) to income 24,432 (26) (2,375) (7,054) 

Other net movements (8,057) - (1,033) (24) 

Balances at 31 December 2021 45,426 262 4,213 36,862 

On August 6, 2021, an agreement was reached with 
the workers' representatives for the execution of 
an employment regulation file. The estimated 
global impact associated with said agreement, 
recorded as a provision charged to results, which 
amounts to 24,763 thousand euros, and basically 
includes the cost associated with the voluntary 
employment regulation file affecting 85 
employees, as well as  other modifications of 
conditions of the current labor framework, 

especially those that affect social commitments 
(see note 35). 

“Other Changes, Net” under “Other Long-Term 
Employee Benefits” in 2021 consists mainly of the 
benefits paid to participants in the defined benefit 
plans totalling EUR 9,268 thousand (2020: EUR 
13,039 thousand) (see Note 35). This item also 
includes EUR 1,277 thousand (2020: 462 thousand) 
reclassified from the heading “Other liabilities” to 
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this heading since it related to commitments 
acquired with Cecabank personnel that no longer 
work at the bank. 

At year-end 2021, the difference between the 
actuarial value of the defined benefit obligations 
and the fair value of the assets assigned to the 
defined benefit plans in the amount of Euros 5,722 
thousand is recognised on the asset side of the 
balance sheet. Actuarial gains or (-) losses on 
defined benefit pension plans (Note 18.2). In 
addition, as a result of the global financial situation 
produced by Covid-19, the Bank's management has 
concluded that the best estimate of the impact of 
Covid-19 amounts to 962 thousand euro, which has 
been recorded under the heading "Other 
provisions". In 2021, there was no change in the 
provision, and the initial figure remained stable. 

The heading “Litigation” includes provisions that 
have been recognised to cover potential litigation 
deriving from the Group’s business activity. 
“Other Provisions” at 31 December 2021 and 2020 
includes basically the amount recorded, based on 
an internal model developed by the bank, to cater 
for the operational risk to which the directors 
consider the Group to be exposed as a result of 
the provision of custody and depository services 
for securities entrusted by third parties, as well 
as the provisions recognised in relation to 
operations involving  certain interest rate 
derivatives. 

In accordance with the control environment and 
the operational risk management systems in place, 
Cecabank calculates its capital requirements for 
operational risk using the  standardised approach 
as the estimation methodology, and this Control 
Framework ensures compliance with the 
requirements established for this purpose in 
Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on 
prudential requirements for credit institutions and 
investment firms. The Operational Risk Unit has 
developed an internal qualitative assessment 
model. Risks and mitigation control points are 
systematically assessed to derive the residual 
operational risk in the various activities, products 
and services, using qualitative techniques. Residual 

risk is understood to be that part of the risk not 
covered by the entity's internal control structure or 
insurance contracted with third parties, i.e. that 
part of the risk which, with a certain probability, 
may have a negative impact. In addition, the 
assessments are periodically checked on the basis 
of the results of the controls carried out by the 
second and third level control units. 

In addition, apart from the qualitative assessment, 
the Group has a Loss Database, which functions as 
a repository of operational loss events, classified 
by organisational areas and types of risk, and 
whose objective is to identify the source of the loss 
in order to establish mitigating measures to 
prevent it from occurring. 

Moreover, there is a series of risk indicators to 
provide the risk profile, both individually and 
grouped in baskets by risk type. 

The main assumptions and variables used in the 
new model are as follows: 

 International assets held in custody by 
delegation in a third party: 139,745,000 
thousand euros at 30 April 2021. 

 K-ASA factor: 0.04%. 

 Loss component (LC), product of the average 
operating loss over the last 10 years 
multiplied by 15, resulting in an LC of 1.04 at 
31 December 2021 (2020: 0.89). 

Based on the aforementioned methodology, 
Cecabank has recorded an amount of EUR 34,577 
thousand as a provision for operational risk at 31 
December 2021. 

In addition, the internal control and operational 
risk management regularly performs sensitivity 
analyses and stress tests on the model for 
calculating the provision for this item, as a result 
of which no additional provisioning needs have 
been identified, even in the most restrictive 
scenario, to those established at 31 December 
2021. 
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18. Other accumulated net income 

18.1. Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Changes 
of fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 
This item in the balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 includes the amount, net accumulated of the 
related tax effect, of changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (see Note 9) which, as stated in Note 2.2, should be recognised in the Group's equity; 
these changes are recognised in the income statements when the assets which gave rise to them are sold or 
when these assets become impaired. The accompanying statements of recognised income and expense show 
the changes in 2021 and 2020 in this item in the balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020.  

18.2. Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss – 
Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit pension 
obligations 
This heading in the balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 included the net cumulative amount, 
adjusted for the related tax effect, of the actuarial gains and losses arising from the measurement of the 
provision for defined benefit pension obligations (see Notes 2.11.2 and 35). The accompanying statement of 
changes of equity shows the changes in 2021 and 2020 in this item in the balance sheets at 31 December 2021 
and 2020. 

18.3. Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - 
Changes of fair value of debt instruments measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income 
This heading in the balance sheets as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 includes the net accumulated amount, 
adjusted by the related tax effect, of changes in the fair value of equity instruments classified as financial 
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income since their acquisition (see Note 9), which, 
as indicated in Note 2.2, should be classified in the Group's equity. These changes are recognised under “Other 
Reserves” when the assets which gave rise to the changes are sold. The accompanying statement of changes 
in equity reflects the changes that took place in this heading of the consolidated balance sheets as at 31 
December 2021 and 2020.  
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19. Share Capital, Share Premium and Minority 

19.1. Share capital 
The Bank was incorporated effective 1 January 
2012 (see Note 1.1) with an initial share capital of 
EUR 100,000,000, represented by 100,000,000 
registered shares with a par value of 1 euro each, 
and its single shareholder at the time of 
incorporation was CECA. 

Subsequently, on 13 November 2012, under the 
spin-off process conducted by CECA in favour of the 
Bank (see Note 1.1), a capital increase amounting 
to EUR 78,932,117.60 was carried out by issuing 
12,256,540 new shares with the same voting and 
economic rights and with the same par value of 1 
euro and a share premium of EUR 5.44 per share. 
These shares were fully subscribed and paid by the 
previous owners of the non-voting equity units that 
were part of the equity of CECA, following 
acceptance of CECA's offer to repurchase the non-
voting equity units and CECA's waiver of its pre-
emptive subscription right on shares of the Bank. 
CECA thus retained an 89% ownership interest in 
the Bank's share capital. 

In this regard, at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the 
Bank's share capital consisted of 112,256,540 fully 
subscribed and paid registered shares of EUR 1 par 
value each, all with the same dividend and voting 
rights. At 31 December 2021 and 2020, 89% of the 

Bank's share capital was held by Confederación 
Española de Cajas de Ahorros. The remaining 11% 
is owned by the entities that were holders of the 
non-voting equity units of CECA and accepted the 
repurchase offer mentioned above. 

The Bank carried out a significant volume of 
transactions with its controlling shareholder, the 
Group of which it forms part (see Note 40) and with 
other shareholders. 

The Bank's shares are not listed on official stock 
markets. Except for CECA's 89% ownership interest 
in the Bank's share capital, no entity owns more 
than 10% of the Bank. There are no rights on 
founder's shares, “rights” bonds, convertible 
debentures or similar securities or rights issued by 
the Bank or the Group. There are no payments 
payable on the Bank's shares, amounts authorised 
by the General Meeting for carrying out capital 
increases, or capital increases in progress. During 
the 2021 and 2020 years there were no increases in 
the number of shares issued by the Bank. 

On November 15, 2021, the exit of the capital of 
the four shareholders who held the remaining 
21.38% of the capital of the company Trionis SCRL 
became effective, with Cecabank SA holding a 
100% stake in the investee. 

19.2. Retained earnings and Other reserves 
An analysis of the balances of these captions in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 
is as follows: 

19.2.1 Retained earnings 

This heading records the net amount of 
accumulated consolidated profit/(loss) recognized 
in prior years through the income statement that is 
pending distribution, or that will be taken to equity 
during the distribution of profits. 

Legal Reserve 

The Spanish Companies Act stipulates that 
companies that obtain profits during a year must 

apply at least 10% to the creation of the legal 
reserve. Appropriations must be made until the 
legal reserve reaches 20% of paid up share capital. 
The legal reserve can be used to increase capital 
provided that the remaining reserve balance does 
not fall below 10% of the increased share capital 
amount. Other than to increase capital, the legal 
reserve may only be used to offset losses provided 
that no other reserves are available. The legal 
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reserve is fully funded at 31 December 2021 and 
2020 with a balance of 22,451 thousand euros. 

Capitalisation reserve 

By virtue of Article 25 of Law 27/2014 (27 
November), on Corporate Income Tax, at 31 
December 2020 the Bank maintains a reserve that 
is restricted during 5 years after its allocation in 

2016 and totals 21,123 thousand euros (19,224 
thousand euros at 31 December 2020). 

Voluntary reserves 

These reserves are freely available to the Bank 
since there is no legal or bylaw restriction on their 
use. The balance at 31 December 2021 amounts to 
346,317 thousand euros (297,707 thousand euros at 
31 December 2020). 

19.2.2 Other reserves 

This heading includes the amount of reserves not 
recognized under other headings, such as the 
amounts originating from permanent adjustments 
made directly in equity as a result of the expenses 
incurred on the issue or reduction of its own equity 
instruments, disposals of its own equity 
instruments and the retroactive restatement of the 

financial statements due to errors and changes in 
accounting criteria, net of any tax effect. At 31 
December 2021 these reserves mainly record the 
net capital gain generated by the sale of the Bank's 
stake in Caser Seguros,S.A. under financial assets 
at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(see Note 7). 

19.3 Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing 
the net earnings by the weighted average number 
of outstanding shares for the year, excluding the 
average number of treasury shares held during  
the year. 

The dilution result per share is due to dividing net 
earnings by the weighted average number of 
outstanding shares during the year, adjusting for 
the dilution effect, which is deemed to be the 
existence of convertible debt and stock options. 
The Bank has not issued instruments with a 
potential dilution effect at 31 December 2021 and 
31 December 2020. 

The earnings per share at 31 December 2021 and 
31 December 2020 are set out below according to 
IAS 33: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Profit/(loss) for the year 69,058 54,377 

Weighted average number of shares 112,256,540 112,256,540 

Basic earnings per share 0.00061518 0.000484399 

Profit/(loss) for the year 69,058 54,377 

Corrections to results due to issues of 
convertibles/options - - 

Adjusted profit/(loss) 69,058 54,377 

Weighted average number of shares 112,256,540 112,256,540 

Diluted earnings per share 0.00061518 0.000484399 

20. Tax matters 

The Bank is part of the Tax Consolidation Group number 508/12 established on 1 January 2012, parented by 
the Confederación Española de Cajas de Ahorros. 

The companies in the Group files its tax returns, according to the tax legislation. 
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20.1. Years open for review by the tax authorities 
As of 31 December 2021, the returns filed by the 
Group for the last four financial years since the end 
of the voluntary filing period for corporate income 
tax and other taxes are subject to inspection by the 
tax authorities. 

Without prejudice to the foregoing, it should be 
noted that Royal Decree 463/2020, of 14 March, 
suspended from 14 March the computation of 
prescription and expiry periods for any actions and 

rights provided for in the tax regulations, with 
effect from 4 June 2020, by virtue of Royal Decree 
537/2020, of 22 May. 

Due to the different interpretations which may be 
given to certain tax rules applicable to the Group's 
operations for the years not yet audited, the 
Directors of the Bank consider that the impact of 
such possible different interpretations would not 
be material to the figures recorded in these annual 
accounts. 

20.2. Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from 
continuing operation 
The detail of “Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from continuing operation” in the consolidated 
income statements for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 Expenses/(Revenues) 
 2021 2020 
Income tax expense for the year (Note 20.3) 26,056 20,505 

Prior years’ and other adjustments (1,514) (488) 

 24,542 20,017 

20.3. Reconciliation of accounting profit to taxable profit 
The reconciliation of the income tax expense recognised for 2021 and 2020 to the consolidated accounting 
profit before tax multiplied by the tax rate applicable to the Bank, and the income tax charge recognised 
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Accounting profit before tax 93,601 74,394 

Tax rate 30% 30% 

 28,080 22,318 

Permanent differences:   

Increases 126 451 

Decreases (2,150) (2,264) 

Total 26,056 20,505 

(Tax credits)/(Tax relief) - - 

Income tax expense for the year (Note 20.2) 26,056 20,505 

Temporary differences effect:   

Increases 6,199 3,858 

Decreases (11,665) (10,984) 

Tax with holdings and prepayments (12,363) (10,066) 

Limitation of 25% of the taxable base Group after integration of DTAs (4,371) (3,287) 

Income tax charge for the year 3,896 26 
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The current income tax charge shown in the above 
table is recognised under “Tax Liabilities - Current 
Tax Liabilities” in the balance sheet attached at 31 
December 2021 and under the heading “Tax Assets 
-Current Tax Assets” for the year 2020. 

Transitional Provision Thirty-Nine of Law 27/2014 
(27 November) relating to the inclusion of 
accounting adjustments in the tax base due to the 
first application of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 
(27 November) by credit institutions, on public and 
reserved financial information standards and 
model financial statements, stipulates that 
“charges and credits to reserve accounts that are 
considered to be expenses or income, respectively, 
since they have tax effects in accordance with the 
provisions of this Law, as a result of the first 
application of the Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 (27 

November) by credit institutions, on public and 
reserved financial information standards and 
model financial statements, will be included 
equally in  the tax base for each of the first three 
tax periods commencing on or after 1 January 
2018, and including those items will not result in 
the application of the provisions of Article 130 of 
this Law.” 

The final paragraph of that Law stipulates that 
mention must be made in the notes to the financial 
statements for the years covering those tax periods 
of the amounts included in the tax base and those 
that have yet to be included. 

For these purposes, the amounts included in the 
Bank’s tax base in the financial years 2018 to 2020 
amount to a total of EUR 1,043 thousand and there 
are not amounts to be included. 

20.4. Tax recognised in equity 
In addition to the income tax recognised in the consolidated income statement, in 2021 and 2020 the Group 
recognised the following deferred amounts of income tax in equity during those periods: 

 Thousand euro 

 Increase/Decrease in Equity 
 2021 2020 

Tax effect of actuarial gains and losses on pension plans to defined benefit 102 (1,123) 

Tax effect of unrealised gains or losses on equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (79) 1,892 

Tax effect of unrealised gains or losses on debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 6,167 (3,070) 

 6,190 (2,299) 

 

20.5. Deferred taxes 
Pursuant to tax legislation in force, in 2021 and 
2020 certain temporary differences arose that 
must be taken into account when quantifying the 
related income tax expense. The deferred taxes 
recognised in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 were as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Deferred tax assets arising from:   

Additions and contributions to pension provisions 
and funds and other long-term obligations to 
employees 

9,901 6,873 

Additions to provisions 11,342 13,701 

Impairment losses 38,126 48,430 

Beneficios anticipados de ajustes por valoración 2,181 - 

Other 4,986 4,934 

 66,536 73,938 

EUR 20,602 thousands of the total deferred tax 
assets recognised at 31 December 2021 (31 
December 2020: EUR 25,238 thousand) relate to 
assets that meet the conditions of Article 130 of 
Spanish Income Tax Law 27/2014, of 27 November, 
to give rise to a possible right to convert them into 
credits receivable from the tax authorities. 

The Group expects to recover non-monetizable 
deferred assets over the coming 10 years, in 
accordance with the projections made in Group’s 
budgets and projections of the future. 

Besides, as at 31 December 2021 the Group has 
reassessed the ability to generate future taxable 
profits in relation to the recoverability of the 
deferred tax assets recognised and concluded that 
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there is no impact to be recognised in the financial 
statements. 

Although the estimates have been made on the 
basis of the best information available at the end 
of 2021 and 2020, future events, if any, may make 
it necessary to change these estimates, upwards or 
downwards, in future years, which would be done 
in accordance with the applicable regulations, on a 
prospective basis. 

Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Deferred tax liabilities arising from:   

Restatement of property 7,813 7,873 

Additions and contributions to pension 
provisions and funds and to provisions for 
other long-term obligations to employees 

1,717 1,764 

Other 2,315 6,223 

 11,845 15,860 

20.6. Restatement of assets 
The Group has not availed itself of the process for restating the tax value of certain properties as defined by 
Law 16/2012, of 27 December, adopting various tax measures aimed at consolidating public finances and 
boosting economic activity, which enables entities to restate certain assets on their balance sheets, provided 
certain requirements are met. 

21. Fair value 

21.1. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
The fair value of the Group's financial instruments 
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is broken down, by 
class of financial asset and liability into the 
following levels: 

 TIER 1: financial instruments whose fair value is 
determined by reference to their quoted price in 
active markets. 

 TIER 2: financial instruments whose fair value is 
estimated by reference to quoted prices in 
organised markets for similar instruments or 
using other measurement techniques in which all 
the significant inputs are based on directly or 
indirectly observable market data. 

 TIER 3: instruments whose fair value is estimated 
using measurement techniques in which certain 
significant inputs are not based on observable 
market data. 

The most objective reference for the fair value of 
a financial instrument is the price that would be 
paid for it on an active, transparent and deep 
market (quoted price or market price). If there is 
no market price for a given financial instrument, 
its fair value is estimated on the basis of the price 
established in recent transactions involving similar 

instruments and of commonly used measurement 
techniques. 

The methodology used to calculate fair value for 
each class of financial assets and liabilities is as 
follows: 

 Trading derivatives and hedging derivatives: 

• Financial derivatives traded in organised, 
transparent and deep markets: fair value is 
deemed to be their daily quoted price. 

• OTC derivatives or derivatives traded in 
scantly deep or transparent organised 
markets: fair value is taken to be the sum 
of the future cash flows arising from the 
instrument, discounted to present value at 
the date of measurement (“present value” 
or “theoretical close”) using measurement 
techniques accepted in the financial 
markets: “net present value” (NPV), option 
pricing models, etc. 

 Debt instruments: 

• Quoted debt instruments: their fair value is 
generally determined on the basis of price 
quotations on official markets, at the Bank 
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of Spain Book-Entry Trading Central Office, 
on the Spanish AIAF fixed-income market, 
etc., or by applying prices obtained from 
information service providers, mainly 
Bloomberg and Reuters, which construct 
their quotes on the basis of prices reported 
by contributors. 

• Unquoted debt instruments: their fair value 
is determined theoretically on the basis of 
discounted future cash flows and by using, 
for the specific instrument concerned, the 
corresponding measurement model 
recognised by the financial markets. 

 Equity instruments: 

• Quoted equity instruments: their fair value 
was determined taking into account their 
price quotations on official markets. 

• Unquoted equity instruments: their fair 
value was determined taking into 
consideration valuations performed by 
independent experts, including intern 
control over their measurement, or directly 
using intern valuations. In both cases, there 
has been used: 

 Discounted cash flows. 

 Multiples of comparable listed 
companies. 

 Adjusted Net Asset Value (NAV). 

 Loans and prepayments to customers: 

• The Group considered the fair value of 
these financial assets to be the same as 
their carrying amount, since, as a result of 
their maturity and interest rate features 
and the early repayment clause of most 
transactions, there are no material 
differences between the two values. 

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost: 

• The Group considered the fair value of 
these financial liabilities to be the same as 
their carrying amount, since, as a result of 
their maturity and interest rate features, 
there are no material differences between 
the two values. 

For the purposes of Tiers 2 and 3, the prices were 
obtained using standard quantitative models fed 
by market data, which are either directly 
observable or can be calibrated or calculated 
using observable data. The most widely used 
models are the Shifted lognormal, Libor Market 
and Hull-White models for derivates over interest 
rates, the Black Scholes model for derivates over 
equities and foreign currency, and the Jarrow- 
Turnbull, Black adapted to credit and LHP models 
for credit products; the most common directly 
observable data are the interest rate, exchange 
rate and certain implied volatilities, and 
correlations. 
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The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments at 31 December 2021 and 2020, broken down as indicated above, is as follows: 

Financial assets and liabilities – fair value at 31 December 2021- 

 
 

Fair value  
hierarchy 

Changes in fair 
value for the period 

Accumulated change in  
fair value before taxes 

 Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 Tier 2 Tier 3 Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 

Assets         

Financial assets held for trading 623,192 774,466 16,720 (173,808) (6,035) 37,924  764,493  16,720 

Derivatives 332 764,492 16,720 (173,809) (6,035) 332  764,492  16,720 

Equity instruments 292,528 - - -  -  6,312  -  - 

Debt securities 330,332 9,974 - 1  -  31,280  1  - 

Financial assets not held-for-trading mandatorily classified at fair value through profit or loss 9,987 18,597 - (1,175) -  (51) (1,184) - 

Equity instruments - 4,550 - (325) -  -  (390) - 

Debt securities 9,987 13,937 - (40) -  (51) 109  - 

Loans and prepayments - 110 - (810) -  -  (903) - 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - - -  -  -  -  - 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,101,451 137,496 - -  -  (9,362) 2,377  - 

Equity instruments - 3,002 - -  -  -  2,228  - 

Debt securities 3,101,451 134,494 - -  -  (9,362) 89  - 

Derivatives - Hedge accounting - 10,137 - 11,434  -  -  10,137  - 

Liabilities         

Financial liabilities held for trading 279,757 788,703 16,676 276,946  6,002  (823) 788,703  16,676 

Derivatives 233 788,703 16,676 276,946  6,002  233  788,703  16,676 

Short positions 279,524 - - -  -  (1,056) -  - 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss - - - -  -  -  -  - 

Derivatives - Hedge accounting - 4,105 - (654) -  -  4,105  - 
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Financial assets and liabilities – fair value at 31 December 2020- 
 

 air value  
hierarchy 

Changes in fair value 
for the period 

Accumulated change in fair value 
before taxes 

 Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 Tier 2 Tier 3 Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 

Assets         

Financial assets held for trading 861,209 974,027 22,755 (9,256) (10,909) 44,356 939,483 22,755 

Derivatives - 938,301 22,755 (9,566) (10,909) - 938,301 22,755 

Equity instruments 146,992 - - - - (1,418) - - 

Debt securities 714,217 35,726 - 310 - 45,774 1,182 - 

Financial assets not held-for-trading mandatorily classified at fair value through profit or loss 1,576 27,215 - (2,889) - (367) 23 - 

Equity instruments 1,576 4,875 - (2,535) - (367) (65) - 

Debt securities - 21,720 - (261) - - 181 - 

Loans and prepayments - 620 - (93) - - (93) - 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - - - - - - - 

Loans and prepayments - - - - - - - - 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 2,338,244 124,668 - - - 29,033 2,600 - 

Equity instruments - 2,638 - - - - 2,043 - 

Debt securities 2,338,244 122,030 - - - 29,033 557 - 

Derivatives - Hedge accounting - 694 - (540) - - 694 - 

LIABILITIES         

Financial liabilities held for trading 205,646 1,065,649 22,678 (78,058) 10,874 (2,954) 1,065,649 22,678 

Derivatives 13 1,065,649 22,678 (78,058) 10,874 13 1,065,649 22,678 

Short positions 205,633 - - - - (2,967) - - 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss - - - - - - - - 

Derivatives - Hedge accounting - 16,473 - (9,310) - - 16,473 - 
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For the purposes of the criteria explained in the 
foregoing paragraphs, an input is considered to be 
significant if it is important in determining the fair 
value in its entirety. 

The level of the aforementioned fair value 
hierarchy (tiers 1, 2 or 3) within which the 
measurement of each of the Bank's financial 
instruments is categorised is determined on the 

basis of the lowest level input that is significant 
to the estimate of its fair value. 

During 2020 there were no significant transfers 
from tier 2 to tier 3 and no relevant changes in 
the valuation of unlisted equity instruments have 
occurred. During 2019, certain securitisation 
swaps whose underlying assets were referenced to 
the IRPH were transferred from tier 2 to tier 3. 

The breakdown of the securities portfolio with respect to debt securities is also included: At 31 December 2021: 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Acquisition 
price 

Latent capital losses 

Latent 
capital 
gains € 

Accumulated 
Impairment 

Memorandum: 
Repo 

Agreement Total 

Accumulated 
losses in fair 
value due to 
credit risk 

Accumulated 
losses in fair 
value not due 
to credit risk 

Debt securities       - 

Financial assets held for trading 340,306 340,306 - -  - -  170,867 

  Financial assets not held-for-trading 
mandatorily classified at fair value through 
profit or loss 

23,926 23,926 - -  - -  - 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

3,235,945 3,249,445 - (15,710) 6,438 (4,228) 2,132,610 

Financial assets at amortised cost 109,595 109,886 - -  - (291) 42,638 

Total 3,709,770 3,723,561 - (15,710) 6,438 (4,519) 2,346,115 

Of which: Spanish Public 1,954,003 1,955,699 - (2,422) 756 -  1,425,475 

Financial assets held for trading 233,209 233,209 - -  - -  162,635 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 1,720,824 1,722,490 - (2,422) 756 -  1,262,840 

Of which: Public 
administrations not residing in Spain 947,201 954,690 - (7,935) 446 -  710,841 

      Financial assets held for trading 14,217 14,217 - -  - -  - 

      Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 874,786 855,275 - (7,935) 446 -  668,203 

Financial assets at amortised cost 85,198 85,198 - -  - -  42,638 

At 31 December 2020: 

 

Carrying 
amount 

Acquisition 
price 

Latent capital losses 

Latent 
capital 
gains € 

Accumulated 
Impairment 

Memorandum: 
Repo 
Agreement Total 

Accumulated 
losses in fair 
value due to 
credit risk 

Accumulated 
losses in fair 
value not due 
to credit risk 

Debt securities - - - -  - -  - 

Financial assets held for trading 749.943 749.943 - -  - -  81.008 

  Financial assets not held-for-trading 
mandatorily classified at fair value through 
profit or loss 

21.720 21.720 - -  - -  - 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

2.460.274 2.434.497 - (616) 30.206 (3.813) 1.381.955 

Financial assets at amortised cost 299.012 303.660 - -  - (4.648) 199.615 

Total 3.530.949 3.509.820 - (616) 30.206 (8.461) 1.662.578 

Of which: Spanish Public 1.198.612 1.197.495 - (25) 1.142 -  827.687 

Financial assets held for trading 158.925 158.925 - -  - -  81.008 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

1.039.687 1.038.570 - (25) 1.142 -  746.679 

Of which: Public administrations not residing in Spain 1.276.385 1.259.414 - -  16.971 -  824.112 

      Financial assets held for trading 6.777 6.777 - -  - -  - 

      Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

989.114 972.143 - -  16.971 -  624.497 

Financial assets at amortised cost 280.494 280.494 - -  - -  199.615 
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21.2. Fair value of Property, plant and equipment 
The only Property, plant and equipment (own-use 
properties and property investments) held by the 
Group whose fair value differs from their carrying 
amount are the properties owned by it. At 31 
December 2021, the carrying amount of these 
properties amounted to EUR 45,428 thousand (31 
December 2020: EUR 45,428 thousand) and their 

estimated fair value at that date was EUR 63,640 
and 63,640 thousand at 31 December 2021 and 
2020, respectively. 

The aforementioned fair value was estimated by 
Instituto de Valoraciones, S.A. using generally 
accepted measurement techniques. 

22. Exposure to credit risk associated with financial 
instruments 

22.1. Credit risk management objectives, policies and 
processes 
Credit risk is defined as the risk that affects, or 
might affect, results or capital as a result of non-
compliance by a borrower with its contractual 
obligations, or of the borrower failing to act as 
agreed. 

The Group has established certain procedures for 
the correct management of credit risk, the main 
features of which are as follows: 

Credit risk analysis 

At the Group, the process of assessing the credit 
quality of counterparties is closely linked with the 
assignment of limits. Thus, the Group assigns 
internal ratings to the various potential 
counterparties. This internal rating, together with 
the external agencies’ ratings, contributes to the 
establishment of the maximum risk to be assumed 
with each entity. It also constitutes the basis for 
the acceptance and monitoring of risk. 

The rating is the result of an analysis of various 
quantitative and qualitative factors which are 
assessed independently and receive a specific 
weighting for the calculating of the final rating. 
The final rating results from an independent 
assessment performed by the Group’s analysts, 
which brings together the perception of the credit 
quality of the entities with which the Group 
wishes to transact business. 

Credit risk monitoring and 
control 

Credit risk is monitored through active portfolio 
management. The main aim is to detect, 

sufficiently in advance, any counterparties whose 
creditworthiness might be deteriorating. 
Systematic monitoring allows the whole of the 
portfolio to be classified into standard risk 
counterparties and counterparties under special 
surveillance. 

As in risk analysis, ratings constitute another 
element for the risk monitoring process together 
with other variables including the country and 
type of business, among others. 

In addition, as part of the monitoring of the credit 
risk and the adequacy of the contractual 
documentation supporting these operations is 
actively managed and monitored in conjunction 
with the Legal Department. 

The control process comprises all the activities 
relating to the permanent checking of compliance 
with the established credit, counterparty and 
settlement risk limits, the management and 
reporting of overruns and the maintenance and 
update of parameterisations of products, 
customers, countries, economic groups, ratings, 
contractual offsetting agreements and financial 
guarantees in the control tools. 
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Risk limit structure 

The Group’s general credit risk limit structure is 
divided into two major groups. On one hand, there 
are the limits individually assigned to a 
counterparty. There are also a series of limits 
associated with certain activities, as country risk 
limits and operating limits for private-sector 
fixed-income securities and equity securities, 
among others. 

Credit Risk Measurement 
Methodology 

Cecabank calculates credit risk exposure by 
applying the standardised approach provided in 
current regulations. Also, for products subject to 
counterparty risk, the Entity values the position 
at the market prices of the various transactions, 
to which it adds certain add-ons which, applied to 
the notional amounts, include in the 
measurement the potential risk of each 
transaction until maturity. 

The management tools provide real-time 
information on the utilisation of credit risk limits 
for each counterparty and economic group, thus 
facilitating the ongoing monitoring of any change 
and/or overrun of these limits. 

In accordance with current legislation, the 
existence of guarantees and collateral reduces 
the credit risk of transactions for which they are 
provided. 

Concentration risk 

Regarding credit risk, concentration risk is an 
essential management tool. It is constantly 
monitoring the extent of its credit risk 

concentration under various salient 
classifications: countries, ratings, sectors, 
economic groups, guaranties, etc. 

The Group uses conservative risk criteria for the 
management of concentration risk which enable it 
to manage the available limits sufficiently 
comfortably with respect to the legally 
established concentration limits. 

According to the regulations in force, as at 31 
December 2021 the Group holds positions with 
two counterparties with which the large 
exposures threshold is exceeded. As at 31 
December 2020, the Group also held positions 
with two counterparties with which it exceeded 
the large exposures threshold. 

At 31 December 2021, with regard to distribution 
by country, the largest exposure was located in 
Spain (84%), followed by the other European Union 
countries (13%) rising the exposure in the other 
countries of the world to 3%. At 31 December 
2020, the distribution by country was 74%, 21%, 
and 5% respectively. 

In Note 26 information on the risk of geographical 
concentration of the Group as of December 31, 
2021 and 2020 is presented. 

Regarding the high level of industry 
concentration, it is due to the Group’s focus and 
the conducting of many activities, operations and 
services within the banking business in general, or 
indirectly related to it. Also, the risks in the 
financial services industry account for more than 
74% of the total risk exposure at 31 December 
2021 (excluding government exposure), although 
when evaluating this level of industry 
concentration, it should be taken into account 
that this exposure is to a highly regulated and 
supervised segment. 

22.2. Maximum credit risk exposure level 
The maximum level of credit risk exposure 
assumed by the Group at 31 December 2021 and 
2020 for each class and category of financial 
instrument is indicated in each of the notes to the 
various portfolios in the balance sheet included in 
these notes to the financial statements. 

Contingent liabilities are presented at the 
maximum amount guaranteed by the Group. In 

general, it is considered that most of these 
balances will expire without any actual financing 
obligation arising for the Bank. The collateral on 
these transactions must also be taken into 
account (see Note 22.3 below). The balances of 
contingent liabilities are presented at the 
maximum amounts available by counterparties. 
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22.3. Collateral received and other credit enhancements 
The general policy with regard to the 
arrangement of transactions involving financial 
derivative products, repos, sell/buy backs and 
securities lending is to enter into contractual 
netting agreements drafted by national or 
international associations. These agreements 
enable the transactions performed thereunder to 
be terminated and settled early in the event of 
default by the counterparty in such a way that the 
parties can only claim the net balance resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions. 

Derivative financial instruments are arranged 
using ISDA Master Agreements, which are subject 
to the laws of England and Wales or the State of 
New York, or the Framework Agreement for 
Financial Transactions (CMOF) which is subject to 
Spanish law, depending on the counterparty. 
Financial guarantee agreements, namely the 
Credit Support Annex for ISDA Master Agreements 

and Appendix III for CMOFs, are entered into to 
hedge derivative financial instruments exceeding 
certain risk levels. 

Standard Global Master Repurchase Agreements 
(GMRA) are entered into for repo and sell/buy 
back transactions, while standard European 
Master Agreement (EMA) or Global Master 
Securities Lending Agreements (GMSLA) are used 
for securities lending transactions. The clauses of 
these types of contractual netting agreements 
include regulations on the financial guarantees or 
spreads on the transactions. 

Details of the item “Loans and prepayments” are 
set out below, indicating the maximum amount of 
the real or personal guarantee that may be taken 
into consideration for each of the exposures at 31 
December 2021 and 2020: 

31 December 2021: 

Maximum amount of real or personal guarantees that  
may be considered 

 Loans secured  
by property 

Other loans with real 
guarantees 

 

 
Residential  
properties 

Commercial 
properties 

Cash (debt 
instruments 

issued) Other 

Financial 
guarantees 

granted 

Loans and prepayments 40,855 - - 1,120,371 50,010 

Of which: Other financial companies 307 - - - - 

Of which: Non-financial companies - - - 13,570 - 

Of which: Households 40,855 - - - 10 

Of which: Home acquisition loans 40,639 - - - 6 

Of which: consumer credit - - - - 1 

31 December 2020: 

Maximum amount of real or personal guarantees that  
may be considered 

 Loans secured  
by property 

Other loans with real 
guarantees 

 

 
Residential  
properties 

Commercial 
properties 

Cash (debt 
instruments 

issued) Other 

Financial 
guarantees 

granted 

Loans and prepayments 40,808 - - 1,847,909 25 

Of which: Other financial companies - - - 305,888 - 

Of which: Non-financial companies - - - - - 

Of which: Households 40,808 - - - 25 

Of which: Home acquisition loans 40,808 - - - 8 

Of which: consumer credit - - - - 4 
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22.4. Credit quality of unimpaired, non-past-due financial 
assets 

22.4.1. Analysis of credit risk exposure by credit rating 

At 31 December 2021, 82.1% of the exposure had 
been rated by a credit rating agency recognised 
by the Bank of Spain (80.4% at 31 December 2020). 
The distribution, by rating, of the rated exposure 
is as follows: 

Tier Rating (*) Percentage 
  2021 2020 
1 AAA-AA 2.8% 4.5% 
2 A 46.4% 40.1% 
3 BBB 42.2% 43.8% 
4 BB 7.9% 10.8% 
5 B 0.7% 0.8% 
6 CCC and below - - 
  100% 100% 

(*) The exposures were classified taking the most conservative 
of the ratings granted by the two rating agencies used to 
manage the Bank’s risk: Moody’s and S&P. 

This distribution of rated exposure excludes 
positions in government debt securities and 
guaranteed debt, debt of regional administrations 
and other public organisms, and that 
corresponding to central counterparties, all of 
which are exempt for the purposes of the limits to 
the great risks. 

22.4.2. Classification of credit risk exposure by counterparty 

Following is a detail, by counterparty, of the maximum credit risk exposure (excluding impairment losses 
and other measurement adjustments recognised) in connection with financial assets not past-due or 
impaired at 31 December 2021 and 2020: 
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31 December 2021: 
 
 Gross carrying amount  Accumulated 

negative changes in 
impairment due to 
credit risk deriving 

from 
doubtful exposures 

 

Total 
Of which: held for 

trading 
Of which: financial assets 
susceptible to impairment 

Of which: 
restructured or 
refinanced debt 

Of which: 
doubtful 

Accumulated 
impairment 

(including stage 1) 

Derivatives 791,682 781,545 10,137 - - -  -  

Of which: credit institutions 501,114 490,977 10,137 - - -  -  

Of which: other financial companies 279,775 279,775 - - - -  -  

Equity instruments 300,077 292,528 3,000 - - -  -  

Of which: credit institutions 30,387 25,837 - - - -  -  

Of which: other financial companies 3,926 2,560 1,366 - - -  -  

Of which: other non-financial companies 265,765 264,131 1,634 - - -  -  

Cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits (Note 7) 8,499,641 - 8,499,641 - 175 (188) -  

Debt securities (Notes 8 and 9) 3,723,561 340,308 3,359,333 - - (4,519) -  

Central banks 87,425 - 87,425 - - -  -  

Public administrations 2,910,390 247,426 2,662,965 - - -  -  

Credit institutions 217,340 42,982 174,359 - - -  -  

Other financial companies 132,678 4,976 113,765 - - (735) -  

Non-financial companies 375,728 44,924 320,819 - - (3,784)   

Loans and prepayments 3,090,307 - 3,089,294 1,329 1,445 (313) (903) 

Central banks (Note 7) 16,174 - 16,174 - - -  -  

Public administrations 649,715 - 649,715 - - -  -  

Credit institutions (Note 7 and 9) 2,094,223 - 2,094,223 - 25 (25) -  

Other financial companies 279,387 - 279,387 - - (94) -  

Non-financial companies 4,588 - 3,575 1,013 1,013 (11) (903) 

Of which: small and medium sized companies 2,657 - 1,644 1,013 1,013 (10) (903) 

Households 46,220 - 46,220 316 407 (183) -  

Of which: loans secured by residential properties 41,564 - 41,564 277 345 (59) -   

Of which: consumer loans 2,489 - 2,489 - 18 (51) -  
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31 December 2020: 
 

 Gross carrying amount Accumulated 
negative changes in 
impairment due to 

credit risk  
deriving from 

doubtful exposures 

 

Total 
Of which: held for 

trading 
Of which: financial assets 
susceptible to impairment 

Of which: 
restructured or 
refinanced debt 

Of which: 
 doubtful 

Accumulated 
impairment (including 

stage 1) 

Derivatives 961,751 961,056 694 - - - - 

Of which: credit institutions 603,557 602,862 694 - - - - 

Of which: other financial companies 357,380 357,380 - - - - - 

Equity instruments 156,080 146,992 2,638 - - - - 

Of which: credit institutions 37,437 31,998 - - - - - 

Of which: other financial companies 4,094 3,137 957 - - - - 

Of which: other non-financial companies 114,550 111,857 1,681 - - - - 

Debt securities (Notes 8 and 9) 3,539,411 749,943 2,767,749 - - (8,460) - 

Central banks - - - - - - - 

Public administrations 2,474,997 165,701 2,309,296 - - - - 

Credit institutions 279,852 150,127 129,725 - - - - 

Other financial companies 234,892 103,132 110,041 - - (5,082) - 

Non-financial companies 549,670 330,983 218,687 - - (3,378) - 

Loans and prepayments 8,816,108 - 8,815,488 342 1,094 (942) - 

Central banks (Note 7) 5,071,475 - 5,071,475 - - - - 

Public administrations 511,602 - 511,602 - - - - 

Credit institutions (Notes 7 and 9) 2,652,963 - 2,652,963 - 665 (434) - 

Other financial companies 531,864 - 531,864 - - (306) - 

Non-financial companies 2,079 - 1,459 - - (4) - 

Of which: small and medium sized companies 1,168 - 548 - - (4) - 

Households 46,125 - 46,125 342 429 (198) - 

Of which: loans secured by residential properties 41,386 - 41,386 298 366 (72) - 

Of which: consumer loans 2,537 - 2,537 - 14 (47) - 
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22.5. Information on non-performing loans ratios 
In view of the activities carried on by the Group and the risk profile assumed by it, its non- performing loans 
ratios, measured as non-performing assets as a percentage of total credit risk, is 0.01% at 31 December 2021 
and 2020. 

22.6. Financial assets renegotiated in the year 
At 31 December 2021, the Group had five refinanced transactions with employees, motivated by the non-
payment of installments of loans they had granted with the entity. The gross carrying amount of these 
transactions at 31 December 2021 was EUR 316 thousand (2020: EUR 342 thousand) and with a specific hedge 
of EUR 78 thousand in 2021 (2020: EUR 96 thousand). 

22.7. Impaired assets 
Following is a detail, by method used to calculate impairment losses (non-performing assets), of the financial 
assets at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

At 31 December 2021: 
 
   Thousand euro 

 
Assets with no significant 

increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition 

(stage 1) 

Assets with a significant 
increase in credit risk 

since initial recognition, 
but with no credit 

impairment (stage 2) 
Assets with credit 

impairment 
 

≤ 30 
days 

> 30days 
≤ 90 
days 

> 90 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

> 30 days 
≤ 90 
days 

> 90 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

> 30days 
≤ 90 
days 

> 90 
days 

Total Debt Instruments 602 - - - - - - - 69 

Debt securities - - - - - - - - - 

Central banks - - - - - - - - - 

Public administrations - - - - - - - - - 

Credit institutions - - - - - - - - - 

Other financial companies - - - - - - - - - 

Non-financial companies - - - - - - - - - 

Loans and prepayments 602 - - - - - - - 69 

Central banks - - - - - - - - - 

Public administrations - - - - - - - - - 

Credit institutions - - - - - - - - - 

Other financial companies 601 - - - - - - - - 

Non-financial companies - - - - - - - - - 

Households 1 - - - - - - - 69 

Loans and prepayments for products, real guarantees 
and subordinated items 

- - - - - - - - - 

Sight and with brief notice periods (current account) 602 - - - - - - - - 

Credit card debt - - - - - - - - - 

Trade receivables - - - - - - - - - 

Finance leases - - - - - - - - - 

Reverse repo loans - - - - - - - - - 

Other term loans - - - - - - - - 69 

Prepayments other than loans - - - - - - - - - 

Of which: loans secured by property - - - - - - - - 69 

Of which: other loans with real guarantees - - - - - - - - - 

Of which: home acquisition loans - - - - - - - - 69 

Of which: project financing loans - - - - - - - - - 
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At 31 December 2020: 
 

 

Thousand euro 

Assets with no 
significant increase 
in credit risk since 
initial recognition 

(stage 1) 

Assets with a 
significant increase in 
credit risk since initial 
recognition, but with 
no credit impairment 

(stage 2) 
Assets with credit 

impairment 
≤ 30 
días  

> 30 días 
≤ 90 días  

> 90 
días  

≤ 30 
días  

> 30 días 
≤ 90 días  > 90 días  

≤ 30 
días  

> 30 días  
≤ 90 días  

> 90  
días  

TOTAL DEBT INSTRUMENTS  - - - 5 74 - 1 - 69 

  Debt securities  - - - - - - - - - 

    Central banks  - - - - - - - - - 

    Public administrations  - - - - - - - - - 

    Credit institutions  - - - - - - - - - 

    Other financial companies  - - - - - - - - - 

    Non-financial companies  - - - - - - - - - 

  Loans and prepayments  - - - 5 74 - 1 - 69 

    Central banks  - - - - - - - - - 

    Public administrations  - - - - - - - - - 

    Credit institutions  - - - - - - - - - 

    Other financial companies  - - - - - - - - - 

    Non-financial companies  - - - - - - - - - 

    Households  - - - 5 74 - 1 - 69 

Loans and prepayments for products, real guarantees and 
subordinated items  - - - - - - - - - 

  Sight and with brief notice periods (current account) - - - - - - 1 - - 

  Credit card debt  - - - - - - - - - 

  Trade receivables  - - - - - - - - - 

  Finance leases  - - - - - - - - - 

  Reverse repo loans - - - - - - - - - 

  Other term loans - - - 5 74 - - - 69 

  Prepayments other than loans  - - - - - - - - - 

  Of which: loans secured by property s  - - - - 74 - - - 69 

  Of which: other loans with real guarantees  - - - - - - - - - 

  Of which: home acquisition loans  - - - - 74 - - - 69 

  Of which: project financing loans  - - - - - - - - - 

 
In connection with the information provided in the 
foregoing tables, it should be noted that financial 
assets classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss which might be impaired due to credit risk 
were not included, since when such assets are 
measured at fair value, any impairment losses are 
recognised as an adjustment to fair value in the 
Bank’s financial statements. 

Details of impaired financial assets (doubtful) and 
not doubtful are presented below based on their 
maturity dates.
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At 31 December 2021 
  Gross carrying amount/ nominal amount 
 Not doubtful Doubtful 

At 31 December 2021 TOTAL Total not doubtful 

Not due or 
outstanding 

≤ 30 days 

Outstanding 
> 30 days 
≤90 days Total   doubtful 

Improbable 
payment 

not    due or 
outstanding ≤ 

90 days 

Outstanding 
> 1 year ≤ 
2 years 

Outstanding 
> 2 years ≤ 
5 years 

Outstanding 
> 5 years ≤ 
7 years 

Of 
which: 
unpaid 

Of which: 
impaired 

 
Real 

guarantees 
received on 

non- doubtful 
exposures 

guarantees 
received on 

doubtful 
exposures 

Debt Instruments At Amortised Cost 11,698,821 11,698,215 11,698,215 11,696,463 606 462 3 39 102 607 562 1,160,920 307 
Cash balances at central banks and other  8,499,642 8,499,467 8,499,467 8,499,467 175 175 - - - 175 175 - - 
Debt securities  109,886 109,886 109,886 108,134 - - - - - - - - - 
Public administrations  85,199 85,199 85,199 85,199 - - - - - - - - - 
Other financial companies  24,687 24,687 24,687 22,935 - - - - - - - - - 
Loans and prepayments  3,089,293 3,088,862 3,088,862 3,088,862 431 287 3 39 102 432 387 1,160,920 307 
Central banks - 16,174 16,174 16,174 16,174 - - - - - - - - - 
Public administrations  649,715 649,715 649,715 649,715 - - - - - - - - - 
Credit institutions  2,094,224 2,094,199 2,094,199 2,094,199 25 - - - 25 25 25 1,106,801 - 
Other financial companies  279,387 279,387 279,387 279,387 - - - - - - - 13,570 - 
Non-financial companies  3,574 3,574 3,574 3,574 - - - - - - - - - 
Of which: small and medium sized companies  1,644 1,644 1,644 1,644 - - - - - - - - - 
Households  46,219 45,813 45,813 45,813 406 287 3 39 77 407 362 40,549 307 
Of which: loans secured by residential  41,565 41,219 41,219 41,219 346 277 - - 69 345 345 40,549 307 
Of which: consumer loans  2,488 2,470 2,470 2,470 18 9 - - 9 18 12 - - 
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 

3,249,446 3,249,446 3,249,446 3,239,380 - - - - - - - - - 

Debt securities 3,249,446 3,249,446 3,249,446 3,239,380 - - - - - - - - - 
Central banks - 87,425 87,425 87,425 87,425 - - - - - - - - - 
Public administrations  2,577,765 2,577,765 2,577,765 2,577,765 - - - - - - - - - 
Credit institutions 174,359 174,359 174,359 174,359 - - - - - - - - - 
Other financial companies 89,078 89,078 89,078 89,078 - - - - - - - - - 
Non-financial companies 320,819 320,819 320,819 310,753 - - - - - - - - - 
Non-traded debt instruments mandatorily measured at fair 
value through profit or loss or designated at fair value 
through profit or loss 

24,937 23,924 23,924 - 1,013 1,013 - - - 1,013 - - - 

Debt securities 23,924 23,924 23,924 - - - - - - - - - - 
Other financial companies 13,937 13,937 13,937 - - - - - - - - - - 
Loans and prepayments 9,987 9,987 9,987 - - - - - - - - - - 
    Non-financial companies 1,013 - - - 1,013 1,013 - - - 1,013 - - - 

Debt securities other than held for trading 14,973,204 14,971,585 14,971,585 14,935,843 1,619 1,475 3 39 102 1,620 562 1,160,920 307 
Off-balance sheet exposures 633,303 633,303 - 633,303 - - - - - - - 18,944 - 
Loan commitments granted 561,871 561,871 - 561,871 - - - - - - - - - 
Public administrations 471,000 471,000 - 471,000 - - - - - - - - - 
Other financial companies 16,318 16,318 - 16,318 - - - - - - - - - 
Non-financial companies 71,344 71,344 - 71,344 - - - - - - - - - 
Households 3,209 3,209 - 3,209 - - - - - - - - - 
Other commitments granted 71,431 71,431 - 71,431 - - - - - - - 18,944 - 
Public administrations - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Credit institutions 68,679 68,679 - 68,679 - - - - - - - 18,944 - 
Other financial companies 113 113 - 113 - - - - - - - - - 
Non-financial companies 2,564 2,564 - 2,564 - - - - - - - - - 
Households 75 75 - 75 - - - - - - - - - 
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At 31 December 2020 
 
  Gross carrying amount/ nominal amount 
 Not doubtful Doubtful 

At 31 December 2021 TOTAL 
Total not 
doubtful 

Not due or 
outstanding 

≤ 30 days 

Outstanding> 
30 days ≤90 
days Total doubtful 

Improbable 
payment not due 
or outstanding ≤ 
90 days 

Outstanding 
> 1 year ≤ 2 

years 

Outstanding 
> 2 years ≤ 5 
years 

Outstanding 
> 5 years ≤ 7 
years  

Of 
which: 
unpaid 

Of 
which: 

impaired 

Real 
guarantees 

received on 
non- doubtful 

exposures 

guarantees 
received on 

doubtful 
exposures 

Debt Instruments At Amortised Cost 9,119,151 9,118,057 9,117,983 74          1,094 990 2 77 25 1,094 1,094 1,888,404 314 
Cash balances at central banks and other  5,227,260 5,226,620 5,226,620 - 640 640 - - - 640 640 - - 
Debt securities  303,661 303,661 303,661 - - - - - - - - - - 
Public administrations  280,494 280,494 280,494 - - - - - - - - - - 
Other financial companies  23,167 23,167 23,167 - - - - - - - - - - 
Loans and prepayments  3,588,230 3,587,776 3,587,702 74 454 350 2 77 25 454 454 1,888,404 314 
Central banks - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Public administrations  511,602 511,602 511,602 - - - - - - - - - - 
Credit institutions  2,497,179 2,497,154 2,497,154 - 25 - - - 25 25 25 1,542,021 - 
Other financial companies  531,864 531,864 531,864 - - - - - - - - 305,888 - 
Non-financial companies  1,460 1,460 1,460 - - - - - - - - - - 
Of which: small and medium sized companies  547 547 547 - - - - - - - - - - 
Households  46,125 45,696 45,622 74 429 350 2 77 - 429 429 40,495 314 
Of which: loans secured by residential  41,387 41,020 40,946 74 367 298 - 69 - 366 366 40,495 314 
Of which: consumer loans  2,537 2,523 2,523 - 14 3 2 9 - 14 14 - - 
Debt Instruments At Fair Value Through Other  
Comprehensive Income 2,464,087 2,464,087 2,464,087 - - - - - - - - - - 

Debt securities 2,464,087 2,464,087 2,464,087 - - - - - - - - - - 
Central banks - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Public administrations  2,028,801 2,028,801 2,028,801 - - - - - - - - - - 
Credit institutions 129,726 129,726 129,726 - - - - - - - - - - 
Other financial companies 86,873 86,873 86,873 - - - - - - - - - - 
Non-financial companies 218,687 218,687 218,687 - - - - - - - - - - 
Non-Traded Debt Instruments Mandatorily Measured At Fair 
Value Through Profit Or Loss Or Designated At Fair Value 
Through Profit Or Loss 

22,340 22,340 22,340 - - - - - - - - - - 

Debt securities 21,720 21,720 21,720 - - - - - - - -   - 
Other financial companies 21,720 21,720 21,720 - - - - - - - - - - 
Loans and prepayments 620 620 620 - - - - - - - - - - 
    Non-financial companies 620 620 620 - - - - - - - - - - 
Debt Securities Other Than Held For Trading 11,605,578 11,604,484 11,604,410 74 1,094 990 2 77 25 1,094 1,094 1,888,404 314 
Off-Balance Sheet Exposures 1,630,865 1,630,864 1,630,864 - - - - - - - - 25,857 - 
Loan commitments granted 570,499 570,499 570,499 - - - - - - - - - - 
Public administrations 464,940 464,940 464,940 - - - - - - - - - - 
Other financial companies 16,051 16,051 16,051 - - - - - - - - - - 
Non-financial companies 86,869 86,869 86,869 - - - - - - - - - - 
Households 2,639 2,639 2,639 - - - - - - - - - - 
Other commitments granted 1,060,366 1,060,365 1,060,365 - - - - - - - - 25,857 - 
Public administrations - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Credit institutions 1,057,271 1,057,271 1,057,271 - - - - - - - - 25,857 - 
Other financial companies 430 430 430 - - - - - - - - - - 
Non-financial companies 2,564 2,564 2,564 - - - - - - - - - - 
Households 100 100 100 - - - - - - - - - - 
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The transactions considered to be impaired (doubtful assets) by the Group at 31 December 2021 that are classified into 
the categories of “Loans and prepayment to credit institutions” and “Loans and prepayments to customers” total EUR 
606 thousand (EUR 1,094 thousand at 31 December 2020). 

22.8. Changes in, and distribution of, impairment losses 
Following are the changes in the impairment losses due to credit risk recognised by the Group in 2021 and 
2020. Excluding value adjustments for overnight deposits in Note 5: 

At 31 December 2021: 

 

Opening 
balance 

Origination 
and 

acquisition 
increases 

Decreases 
due to 

derecognition 
of accounts 

Changes 
to the 

variance 
in credit 

risk 

Changes due 
to 

modifications 
without 

derecognition 
(net) 

Decrease 
in the value 
adjustment 

account 
for written-

off write-
offs 

Other 
adjustments 

Closing 
balance 

Total adjustment for debt 
instruments (8,996) (1,240) 945 149 4,513 - (202) (4,831) 

Adjustments for financial assets 
without an increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition 

(1,759) (1,240) 943 90 (115) - - (2,081) 

Debt securities (Note 8) (1,364) (1,199) 750 33 (115) - - (1,895) 

Loans and prepayments (Note 9) (395) (41) 192 57 - - - (187) 

Of which: measurement adjustments 
jointly calculated (1,759) (1,240) 943 90 (115) - - (2,081) 

Of which: measurement 
adjustments individually calculated - - - - - - - - 

Adjustments due to debt 
instruments with a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, but without credit 
impairment (stage 2) 

(7,099) - - 42 4,628 - (196) (2,625) 

Debt securities (Notes 7 and 8) (7,098) - - 42 4,627 - (196) (2,625) 

Loans and prepayments (Note 8) (1) - - - 1 - - - 

Of which: measurement adjustments 
jointly calculated (1) - - - 1 - - - 

Of which: measurement adjustments 
individually 
calculated 

(7,098) - - 42 4,627 - (196) (2,625) 

Adjustments due to debt 
instruments with credit impairment 
(stage 3) 

(95) - 2 13 - - - (80) 

Debt securities - - - - - - - - 

Loans and prepayments (Note 8) (95) - 2 13 - - - (80) 

Of which: measurement adjustments 
jointly calculated (70) - 2 13 - - - (55) 

Of which: measurement 
adjustments individually calculated (25) - - - - - - (25) 

 

Phase 2 debt securities include impairment losses on financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income as well as at amortised cost. 

Phase 3 includes allowances for loans and advances to credit institutions and the portion of impairment 
losses on loans and advances to customers of doubtful assets. 
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At 31 December 2021: 

Gross carrying amount/ nominal amount 

 Transfers between 
stage 1 and stage 2 

Transfers between 
stage 2 and stage 3 

Transfers between 
stage 1 and stage 3 

 To stage 2 
from 

stage 1 

To stage 1 
from 

stage 2 

To stage 3 
from 

stage 2 

To stage 2 
from 

stage 3 

To stage 3 
from 

stage 1 

To stage 1 
from 

stage 3 
Total debt instruments - 23,002 - - 1,013 2 

Debt securities - 22,935 - - - - 

Central banks - - - - - - 

Public administrations - - - - - - 

Credit institutions - - - - - - 

Other financial companies - 22,935 - - - - 

Non-financial companies - - - - - - 

Loans and prepayments - 67 - - 1,013 2 

Central banks - - - - - - 

Public administrations - - - - - - 

Credit institutions - - - - - - 

Other financial companies - - - - - - 

Non-financial companies - - - - 1,013 - 

Households - 67 - - - 2 

Commitments and financial guarantees granted - - - - - - 

 
At 31 December 2020: 

 

Opening balance 
Changes to the 

variance in credit 
risk 

Other adjustments Closing balance 

Total adjustment for debt instruments (4,139) (2,549) 135 (8,996) 

Adjustments for financial assets without an 
increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition 

(1,609) (147) - (1,759) 

Debt securities (Note 7) (1,400) 36 - (1,364) 

Loans and prepayments (Note 8) (209) (183) - (395) 

Of which: measurement adjustments jointly 
calculated (1,609) (147) - (1,759) 

Of which: measurement adjustments 
individually calculated - - -  

Adjustments due to debt instruments with 
a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, but without credit 
impairment (stage 2) 

(2,412) (2,376) 135 (7,099) 

Debt securities (Notes 7 and 8) (2,408) (2,376) - (7,098) 

Loans and prepayments (Note 8) (4) - - (1) 

Of which: measurement adjustments jointly 
calculated (4) - - (1) 

Of which: measurement adjustments 
individually calculated (2,408) (2,376) 135 (7,098) 

Adjustments due to debt instruments with 
credit impairment (stage 3) (118) (26) - (138) 

Debt securities - - -  
Loans and prepayments (Note 8) (118) (26) - (138) 

Of which: measurement adjustments jointly 
calculated (86) (33) - (113) 

Of which: measurement adjustments 
individually calculated (32) 7 - (25) 
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At 31 December 2020: 

Gross carrying amount/ nominal amount 

 Transfers between 
stage 1 and stage 2 

Transfers between 
stage 2 and stage 3 

Transfers between 
stage 1 and stage 3 

 To stage 2 
from 

stage 1 

To stage 1 
from 

stage 2 

To stage 3 
from 

stage 2 

To stage 2 
from 

stage 3 

To stage 3 
from 

stage 1 

To stage 1 
from 

stage 3 

Total debt instruments 10,070 190 - - 50 19 

Debt securities - - - - - - 

Central banks - - - - - - 

Public administrations - - - - - - 

Credit institutions - - - - - - 

Other financial companies - - - - - - 

Non-financial companies - - - - - - 

Loans and prepayments 10,070 190 - - 50 19 

Central banks - - - - - - 

Public administrations - - - - - - 

Credit institutions - - - - - - 

Other financial companies - - - - - - 

Non-financial companies 9,990 - - - - - 

Households 80 190 - - 50 19 

Commitments and financial guarantees granted - - - - - - 

22.9. Past-due but not impaired assets 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Group had not recognised any material past-due but not impaired assets 
in its financial statements. 

22.10. Write-off of impaired financial assets 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Group did not have any material financial assets that, pursuant to the 
criteria set forth in Note 2, had been written off due to credit risk, and there were no significant changes 
in this connection during those years. 

22.11. Exposure to real estate risk 
The only operations granted by the Group at 31 December 2021 and 2020 concerning real state exposure are 
those loans intended to be used for housing acquisition, which are granted to its employees. Following is a 
detail of the latter: 

At 31 December 2021: 

Carrying amount 
 

Gross carrying 
amount 

Carrying amount   

Central0 
 banks 

Public 
administrations 

Credit 
institutions 

Other 
financial 

companies 
Non- financial 

companies 
 

Households 
Loans And Prepayments 11,589,949 8,405,041 649,715 2,204,785 279,293 3,674 46,036 

Real guarantees - - - - - - - 
Of which: loans 
secured by property 41,564 - - - - - 41,505 

Of which: other loans with 
real guarantees  1,140,449 - - 1,126,855 13,590 - - 
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At 31 December 2020: 

Carrying amount 
 

Gross carrying 
amount 

Carrying amount   

Central banks 
Public 

administrations 
Credit 

institutions 
Other financial 

companies 
Non- financial 

companies Households 
LOANS AND 
PREPAYMENTS 8,816,109 5,071,475 511,602 2,652,529 531,558 2,075 45,927 

Real guarantees - - - - - - - 
Of which: loans secured by 
property 41,386 - - - - - 41,313 

Of which: other loans with 
real guarantees  1,874,281 - - 1,565,181 308,933 - - 

Following is the breakdown of credit with mortgage guarantee to households for house purchase, according 
to the percentage represented by the total risk over the amount of the last available measurement (loan to 
value) included in this balance sheets heading as of 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

At 31 December 2021: 
 

   Carrying amount 

 

Assets without a significant 
increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition (phase 1) 

Assets with a significant 
increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, but no 

credit deterioration  
(phase 2) 

Credit impaired assets 
(phase 3) 

 ≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

Real guarantees - - - - - - - - - 

Other term loans - - - - - - - - 69 

Of which: loans secured by property - - - - - - - - 69 

Of which: other loans with real guarantees - - - - - - - - 69 

At 31 December 2020: 

Carrying amount 

 

Assets without a significant 
increase in credit risk since 
initialrecognition (phase 1) 

Assets with a significant 
increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, but no 

credit deterioration  
(phase 2) 

Credit impaired assets 
(phase 3) 

 
 

 
≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

≤ 30 
days 

Real guarantees - - - - - - - - - 

Other term loans - - - 5 74 - - - 69 

Of which: loans secured by property - - - - 74 - - - 69 

Of which: other loans with real guarantees - - - - 74 - - - 69 
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22.12. Other disclosures on credit risk 
The amount of accrued, past-due uncollected 
receivables on impaired financial assets was not 
material at 31 December 2021 and 2020 or in the 
years then ended. 

In 2021 and 2020 no guarantees associated with 
financial assets owned by the Group were 
executed in order to guarantee the collection 
thereof. 

23. Exposure to market risk 

Market risk is defined as the risk that affects 
results or capital as a result of adverse changes in 
the prices of bonds, securities and commodities 
and in the exchange rates of transactions 
recognised in the trading book. This risk arises in 
market making and trading activities and the 
taking of positions in bonds, securities, foreign 
currencies, commodities and derivatives (on 
bonds, securities, currencies and commodities). 

This risk includes foreign currency risk, which is 
defined as the actual or potential risk that affects 
results or capital as a result of adverse changes in 
exchange rates in the banking book. 

The exposure direct to market risk arises from 
several financial factors affecting market prices. 
These factors include mainly, but not only, the 
following: 

Interest rates risk 

Interest rate risk is the exposure to market fluctuations due to changes in the general level of interest rates. 

Currency risk 

The currency risk to which the Group is exposed arises from its FX activities in the international capital 
markets. 

Variable income 

Represents the risk of incurring losses as a result 
of a change in stock prices. 

Value at Risk (“VaR”) provides an integrated 
measure of market risk and encompasses the basic 
elements thereof: interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk, equity risk and the risk of volatility 
of the foregoing factors. 

The distribution of the VaR of the trading book by 
desk at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Money and currency markets 654 283 

Forex products 142 319 

Debt table 60 44 

Variable income table 231 286 

Derivatives products 110 220 

Credit table 157 319 

Banknotes 13 36 
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For the operation in certain types of complex 
exotic options, for which risk management and 
measurement is very complicated, the general 
policy is to eliminate this portfolio risk by 
contracting back to back operations (mirror) in 
the market. 

The Board of Directors establishes global limits as 
part of the establishment of the risk tolerance 
framework. The limit structure is based on the 
VaR methodology mentioned above and on the 
values of maximum real loss authorised with 
different time horizons. 

24. Liqui dity risk 

Liquidity risk is defined as: 

 The uncertainty regarding the availability, at 
reasonable prices, of funds to enable the 
Group to meet its commitments when 
recourse to external financing is difficult for a 
particular period of time. 

 The maintenance or generation of levels of 
liquidity required to finance future business 
growth. 

In other words, this risk reflects the probability of 
incurring losses or having to reject new business 
or growth in current business as a result of being 
unable to meet commitments normally when they 
fall due or being unable to finance additional 
needs at market rates. In order to mitigate this 
risk, the Group periodically monitors its liquidity 
conditions and assesses any action that may be 
required. Furthermore, the Group has planned 
measures to enable it to restore the Group's 
overall financial equilibrium in the event of a 
possible shortfall in liquidity. 

Liquidity risk management consists of ensuring the 
availability at all times of the instruments and 
processes that will enable the Group to meet its 
payment commitments on a timely basis, in such 
a manner that it will have the resources required 
to maintain sufficient liquidity levels to meet its 
payments without significantly compromising the 
Group's results, and maintain the mechanisms 
which will enable it to meet those payment 
commitments if various possible scenarios should 
arise. 

Generally speaking, the Group has traditionally 
had various means of raising liquidity, including 
that of attracting customer deposits, the use of 
various cash facilities made available by official 
agencies, and the obtainment of liquidity through 
the interbank market. 

The liquidity gap is the profile of maturities and 
settlements by risk type (assets  and liabilities 
classified by residual maturity plus the interest 
flows arising from all the balance sheet 
aggregates) and shows the mismatch structure in 
the balance sheet in terms of cash inflows and 
outflows. 

The Group also monitors the available liquid 
assets in order to identify possible sources of 
liquidity to be used in the event of a liquidity 
contingency. 

The Board of Directors, as part of its oversight 
function, establishes a framework of liquidity risk 
limits geared towards ensuring that the Bank 
complies comfortably with regulatory 
requirements vis-à-vis its liquidity position, and 
that it continues to perform transactions on the 
markets and conduct its business activity in such 
a way as to ensure the sufficient diversification of 
its sources of funds. These limits are set on the 
basis of a series of liquidity ratios whose purpose 
is to assess and measure the Group's on-balance-
sheet liquidity. 

Stress tests are also carried out, combining 
various scenarios involving restricted access to 
capital markets, a mass withdrawal of demand 
deposits, the drawdown of contingent liquidity 
commitments, and other external market 
conditions. 

In addition, a series of liquidity-crisis early-
warning and intensity indicators are monitored on 
a daily basis and a detailed, permanently updated 
inventory is kept of the on-balance-sheet assets 
that are readily convertible into cash. 
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25. Interest rate risk 

Structural on-balance-sheet interest rate risk can 
be defined as the exposure of an entity's financial 
and economic position to adverse changes in 
interest rates, resulting from timing mismatches 
between the maturity and repricing dates of 
global balance sheet items. This risk is a 
quintessential element of the banking business 
and can have a major effect on the financial 
margin and the economic value of equity. 
Consequently, a risk management capable of 
maintaining interest rate risk at prudent levels is 
indispensable in order to safeguard and bolster 
the Group's position (see Notes 2.4 and 11). 

The Group's business and management efforts 
focus on achieving a stable, recurring earnings 
structure and are geared towards preserving the 
economic value of equity, with a view to 
guaranteeing the orderly growth of the Group in 
the long term. 

To attain the objectives described above the 
Group has created an on-balance-sheet structural 
risk limit structure to guarantee that risk exposure 
levels are within the tolerance level set by senior 
management. The Board of Directors defines the 
general framework for the management of the 
balance sheet and approves the risk limits based 
on its risk tolerance. Structural risks are managed 
at short, medium- and long-term using limits that 
are approved by the Board itself and monitored on 
a monthly basis. 

Thus, certain limits are set in terms of sensitivity 
to changes in market interest rates. These 
changes affect both net interest income and 
economic value. 

Senior management is actively involved in on-
balance-sheet risk management through the 
Asset-Liability Committee (ALCO). This 
committee is responsible for taking the action 
required to correct any possible on-balance-sheet 
risk imbalances. 

In order to measure, analyse and control the 
structural risk management of the balance sheet, 
an analysis is carried out to measure the excess or 
defect of the volume of sensitive assets against 
the sensitive liability, such as unmatched volume 
(and therefore not covered) and subject to 
possible variations in interest rates. In this way, 
exposure to risk is identified by studying the 
concentration of masses with risk of repricing for 
temporarily significant periods. 

Similarly, in order to include a dynamic analysis 
of the balance sheet with respect to various 
interest rate scenarios, it performs simulations of 
the performance of the net interest margin over a 
time horizon of one year. This enables it to 
analyse the effect of changes due to fluctuations 
in interest rates based on the repricing gaps of the 
various balance sheet items. 

To complete these sensitivity measures, a 
methodology which is similar to Market VaR is 
applied to allow the economic value of the capital 
at risk to be calculated for a one-month time 
horizon with a confidence level of 99%, taking into 
account all the risk factors which affect the 
balance sheet. 
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26. Risk concentration 

26.1 Risk concentration by activity and geographical area 
Following is a detail, by geographical area of counterparty residence and type and category of financial 
instrument, of the distribution of the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets at 31 December 2021 
and 2020 (including measurement adjustments): 

Risk Concentration by activity and geographical area. Total activity 
(book value): 

31 December 2021: 

Thousand euro 

 Total Spain Rest of the European Union America Rest of the world 
Central banks and credit institutions 11,481,884 10,166,265 954,700 150,156 210,763 

Public institutions 3,559,480 2,562,266 986,087 - 11,127 

Central administration 2,794,209 1,796,995 986,087 - 11,127 

Other public administrations 765,271 765,271 - - - 

Other financial institutions 695,973 535,213 90,569 10,125 60,066 

Non-financial companies and individual 
businesses 647,934 458,430 125,268 53,156 11,080 

Construction and real estate 
development (including land) - - - - - 

Execution of civil works - - - - - 

Other purposes 647,934 458,430 125,268 53,156 11,080 

- Large companies 637,587 448,832 125,238 53,156 10,361 

- SME's and self-employed 10,347 9,598 30 - 719 

Other homes 46,111 45,584 1 - 526 

Homes 42,939 42,413 - - 526 

Consumption 2,438 2,437 1 - - 

Other purposes 734 734 - - - 

Total 16,431,382 13,767,758 2,156,625 213,437 293,562 

31 December 2020: 

Thousand euro 

 Total Spain Rest of the European Union America Rest of the world 
Central banks and credit institutions 8,713,910 7,029,101 1,246,764 98,249 339,796 

Public institutions 2,986,624 1,710,216 1,276,408 - - 

Central administration 2,313,165 1,036,757 1,276,408 - - 

Other public administrations 673,459 673,459 - - - 

Other financial institutions 1,124,025 866,166 162,423 21,143 74,293 

Non-financial companies and individual 
businesses 666,292 385,643 213,610 24,790 42,249 

Construction and real estate 
development (including land) - - - - - 

Execution of civil works - - - - - 

Other purposes 666,292 385,643 213,610 24,790 42,249 

- Large companies 649,732 381,922 200,797 24,790 42,223 

- SME's and self-employed 16,560 3,721 12,813 - 26 

Other homes 46,027 45,915 2 - 110 

Homes 43,211 43,101 - - 110 

Consumption 2,489 2,487 2 - - 

Other purposes 327 327 - - - 

Total 13,536,878 10,037,041 2,899,207 144,182 456,448 
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Risk Concentration by activity and geographical area. Total activity 
(book value): 

31 December 2021: 

 

Thousand euro 

Total 

Autonomous communities 
 

Andalucía Aragón Asturias Baleares Canarias Cantabria 
Castilla La 

Mancha 
Castilla 

León Cataluña 
Credit Institutions 10,166,265 512,526 11,174 - 1,824 - 683,813 - - - 

Public Administrations 2,562,266 71,783 101,640 43,172 114,550 - - 99,137 29,936 26,777 

· Central Administration 1,796,995 - - - - - - - - - 

· Other 765,271 71,783 101,640 43,172 114,550 - - 99,137 29,936 26,777 

Other Credit Institutions 535,213 24,445 - - 1,498 - - - 11,619 1,485 

Non- financial societies 
and individual 
entrepreneurs 

458,430 - - - 246 - 11,004 1,081 - 101,397 

Construction and property 
development - - - - - - - - - - 

· Construction of Civil 
Works - - - - - - - - - - 

· Other purposes 458,430 - - - 246 - 11,004 1,081 - 101,397 

- Large companies 448,832 - - - 246 - 11,004 - - 100,844 

- SMEs and Individual 
entrepreneurs 

9,598 - - - - - - 1,081 - 553 

Rest of households 45,584 4 - 1 - - - 1,121 - 1 

· Houses 42,413 - - - - - - 1,064 - - 

· Consumption 2,437 4 - - - - - 57 - - 

· Other purposes 734 - - 1 - - - - - 1 

Total 13,767,758 608,758 112,814 43,173 118,118 - 694,817 101,339 41,555 129,660 
 
 

Thousand euro 

 Autonomous communities 

 Extremadura Galicia Madrid Murcia Navarra 
Com. 

Valenciana País Vasco La Rioja 
Ceuta y 
Melilla 

Credit Institutions 46 81,199 8,536,260 - - 303,090 36,333 - - 

Public Administrations 116,111 - 30,211 19,880 - 62,497 - 49,577 - 

· Central Administration - - - - - - - - - 

· Other 116,111 - 30,211 19,880 - 62,497 - 49,577 - 

Other Credit Institutions - 15,844 480,223 - - - 99 - - 

Non- financial societies and 
individual entrepreneurs - 45,293 266,474 - 6 38 32,837 54 - 

· Construction and property 
development - - - - - - - - - 

· Construction of Civil Works - - - - - - - - - 

· Other purposes - 45,293 266,474 - 6 38 32,837 54 - 

- Large companies - 45,293 263,600 - 6 - 27,839 - - 

- SMEs and Individual 
entrepreneurs - - 2,874 - - 38 4,998 54 - 

Rest of households - 1 44,452 - - 4 - - - 

· Houses - - 41,349 - - - - - - 

· Consumption - 1 2,371 - - 4 - - - 

· Other purposes - - 732 - - - - - - 

Total 116,157 142,337 9,357,620 19,880 6 365,629 69,269 49,631 - 
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31 December 2020: 
 

 

Thousand euro 

Total 

Autonomous communities 
 

Andalucía Aragón Asturias Baleares Canarias Cantabria 
Castilla La 

Mancha 
Castilla 

León Cataluña 
Credit Institutions 7,029,101 109,417 478 - 3,249 - 557,990 - - - 

Public Administrations 1,710,216 71,124 84,041 88,637 29,740 - - 86,219 60,087 - 

· Central Administration 1,036,757 - - - - - - - - - 

· Other 673,459 71,124 84,041 88,637 29,740 - - 86,219 60,087 - 

Other Credit Institutions 866,166 3,964 - - 2,802 - - - 16,025 2,747 

Non- financial societies 
and individual 
entrepreneurs 

385,643 - - 700 350 - 11,497 - - 52,368 

· Construction and 
property development - - - - - - - - - - 

· Construction of Civil 
Works - - - - - - - - - - 

· Other purposes 385,643 - - 700 350 -- 11,497 - - 52,368 

- Large companies 381,922 - - 700 350 - 11,497 - - 52,229 

- SMEs and Individual 
entrepreneurs 

3,721 - - - - - - - - 139 

Rest of households 45,915 - - 1 - - - 500 169 1 

· Houses 43,101 - - - - - - 482 169 - 

· Consumption 2,487 - -- - - - - 18 - - 

· Other purposes 327 - - 1 - - - - - 1 

Total 10,037,041 184,505 84,519 89,338 36,141 - 569,487 86,719 76,281 55,116 

 
Thousand euro 

 Autonomous communities 
 

Extremadura Galicia Madrid Murcia Navarra 
Com. 

Valenciana País Vasco La Rioja 
Ceuta y 
Melilla 

Credit Institutions 18 115,096 5,851,463 - - 289,746 101,644 - - 

Public Administrations 102,463 - 196 - - 93,488 - 57,465 - 

· Central Administration - - - - - -- - - - 

· Other 102,463 - 196 - - 93,488 - 57,465 - 

Other Credit Institutions - 18,641 821,987 - - - - - - 

Non- financial societies and 
individual entrepreneurs - 19,010 271,308 - 936 38 29,382 54 - 

· Construction and property 
development - - - - - - - - - 

· Construction of Civil Works - - - - - - - - - 

· Other purposes - 19,010 271,308 - 936 38 29,382 54 - 

- Large companies - 19,010 267,818 - 936 - 29,382 - - 

- SMEs and Individual 
entrepreneurs - - 3,490 - - 38  54 - 

Rest of households - - 45,240 - - 4 - - - 

· Houses - - 42,450 - - - - - - 

· Consumption - - 2,465 - - 4 - - - 

· Other purposes - - 325 - - - - - - 

Total 102,481 152,747 6,990,194 - 936 383,276 131,026 57,519 - 
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26.2. Concentration of equity instruments 
Following is a detail, by type of market listing, if any, and issuer, of the equity instruments held by the 
Group at 31 December 2021 and 2020. Details of financial instruments classified according to the market on 
which they are listed are provided in Notes 8, 9 and 12, respectively. 

31 December 2021: 

      Thousand euro 

Financial assets 
held for trading 

(Note 8.1) 

Non-trading financial 
assets mandatorily at 

fair value through 
profit or loss (Note 

8.2) 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

other comprehensive 
income (Note 9) 

Non-current 
assets and 

disposable groups 
of items classified 

as held for sale 
(Note 12) Total 

Depending on the type of issuer      

Spanish financial institutions 25,837 4,550 - - 30,387 

Other Spanish companies 265,403 - 2,572 - 267,975 

Other foreign companies 1,288 - 430 - 1,718 

 292,528 4,550 3,002 - 300,080 

31 December 2020: 
      Thousand euro 

Financial 
assets held 
for trading 
(Note 8.1) 

Non-trading financial 
assets mandatorily at 

fair value through 
profit or loss (Note 

8.2) 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

other comprehensive 
income (Note 9) 

Non-current 
assets and 

disposable groups 
of items classified 

as held for sale 
(Note 12) Total 

Depending on the type of issuer      

Spanish financial 
institutions 31,998 5,439 - - 37,437 

Other Spanish companies 113,537 1,012 2,392 - 116,941 

Other foreign companies 1,457 - 246 - 1,703 

 146,992 6,451 2,638 - 156,081 

27. Other significant disclosures 

27.1  Commitments and Contingent liabilities 
“Financial Guarantees Provided” are defined as 
the amounts that would be payable by the Group 
on behalf of third parties as a result of the 
commitments assumed by the Group in the course 
of its ordinary business, if the parties who are 
originally liable to pay fail to do so. 

Also, contingent commitments are possible 
obligations for the Group that arise from past 
events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more future events not wholly within the 
control of the Group and that may give rise to the 
recognition of financial assets. 

The breakdown of the balance of Memorandum 
Items in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:  
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 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Loan commitments granted   

Public administrations 471,000 464,940 

Other financial companies 16,318 16,051 

Non-financial companies 71,344 86,869 

Households 3,209 2,639 

 561,871 570,499 

Financial guarantees granted   

Credit institutions - - 

 - - 

Other commitments granted   

Credit institutions 68,679 1,057,271 

Public entities - - 

Other financial companies 113 430 

Non-financial companies 2,564 2,564 

Households 75 101 

 71,431 1,060,366 

 633,302 1,630,865 

 
A significant portion of these guarantees will 
expire without any payment obligation 
materialising for the Group and, therefore, the 
aggregate balance of these commitments cannot 
be considered as an actual future need for 
financing or liquidity to be provided by the Group 
to third parties. 

The heading "Other commitments granted" mainly 
includes commitments for the purchase of 

simultaneous and deposits lent in the amount of 
EUR 981,305 thousand as at 31 December 2020. 

Furthermore, financial guarantees and surety in 
the amount of EUR 39,169 thousand are also 
recorded at 31 December 2021 (EUR 70,573 at 31 
December 2020). 

Fee and commission income received in 
connection with these guarantees granted is 
recognised under "Fee and commission income" in 
the consolidated income statement on an accruals 
basis (see Note 31). 

The provisions made to cater for the financial 
guarantees provided, which were calculated using 
criteria similar to those applied in the calculation 
of the impairment of financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, of which amounted to EUR 262 
thousand at 31 December 2021 (31 December 
2020: EUR 288 thousand), were recognised under 
“Provisions - Provisions for Contingent Liabilities 
and Commitments” in the consolidated balance 
sheet (see Note 17). 

Note 22 contains disclosures relating to the credit 
risk assumed by the Group in connection with such 
financial guarantees provided and contingent 
commitments made. 

27.2. Assets delivered as security 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, assets owned by the Group had been provided as security for transactions 
performed by it, as well as for various liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed by the Group. The 
nominal amount, of the financial assets delivered as security for these liabilities, contingent liabilities and 
similar items at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was as follows: 

Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Spanish Public Debt classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 78,300 75,000 

Other Assets classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 223,000 10,000 

Spanish Public Debt classified as financial Assets Held for Trading - - 

Issued securities by other public organisms classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 140,723 53,300 

Issued securities by other public organisms classified as financial Assets Held for Trading - - 

Issued Public Debt by no resident public administrations classified as financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 55,000 435,144 

Issued Public Debt by no resident public administrations classified as financial Assets Held for Trading 37,901 74,000 

 534,924 647,444 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had 
securities with a face value of EUR 109,460 and 
126,250 thousand respectively as security for the 
performance of the Group’s obligations relating to 

transactions with the clearing and settlement 
services. 

In addition, at 31 December 2021, the Group had 
entered into repurchase agreements for securities 
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in its portfolio and reverse repurchase agreements 
for a total amount of EUR 2,784,445 thousand (31 
December 2020: EUR 2,518,039 thousand). 
“Memorandum Item: Loaned or Advanced as 
Collateral”, which is shown in each of the Bank’s 
financial asset categories in the balance sheets at 
31 December 2021 and 2020, includes the amount 

of financial assets transferred, lent out or 
delivered as security in which the assignee is 
entitled, contractually or by custom, to retransfer 
them or pledge them as security, such as 
securities lending transactions or sales of financial 
assets under an agreement to repurchase them at 
a fixed price or at the sale price plus interest. 

27.3. Transactions on account of third parties 
The breakdown of the most significant 
transactions on account of third parties at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Financial instruments granted to 
third parties-   

Debt instruments 130,426,771 82,792,033 

Equity instruments 164,793,952 100,993,020 

 295,220,723 183,785,053 

Other financial assets 44,390,907 18,549,398 

 339,611,630 202,334,451 

Conditional bills and other securities 
received 109,470 108,403 

Borrowed securities (Note 28.4) 168,612 122,388 

 44,795,766,550 202,565,242 

“Financial Instruments Entrusted by Third 
Parties” in the foregoing table includes mainly the 
debt securities and equity instruments held by the 
Group under the contracts in force for third-party 
security depository and custody services. 

27.4. Financial assets lent and borrowed 
Pursuant to current legislation, the securities 
received by the Group in securities lending 
transactions are not recognised in the 
consolidated balance sheet unless the Group sells 
these securities in short sales transactions, in 
which case they are recognised as financial 
liabilities under “Financial Liabilities Held For 
Trading - Short Positions” on the liability side of 
the consolidated balance sheet. 

Similarly, securities lending transactions in which 
the Group lends securities to third parties are not 
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet. The 
securities lent can be securities previously lent to 
the Group or securities owned by it, and in the 
latter case these are not derecognised. 

Deposits provided or received as security or 
guarantee for the securities received or lent by 
the Group, respectively, are accounted for as a 
financial asset or a financial liability, 

respectively, and the interest associated 
therewith is recognised as interest and similar 
income or as interest expense and similar charges, 
respectively, in the consolidated income 
statement, by applying the corresponding 
effective interest rate. 

Following is a detail of the fair value of the 
financial assets borrowed by the Group at 31 
December 2021 and 2020: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 

Equity instruments - - 

Debt instruments 249,730 263,265 

 249,730 263,265 
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Following is a detail of the fair value of the 
financial assets borrowed and lent by the Group in 
securities lending transactions at 31 December 
2021 and 2020: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Securities borrowed by the Bank-   

Debt instruments issued by Public sector – 
Spain (Note 27.3) 168,612 122,388 

 168,612 122,388 

27.5. The Group’s Customer Care Service 
Set forth below is a summary of the complaints and claims received by the Group’s Customer Care Service 
in 2021 and 2020. Certain claims submitted to the Service were not admitted for consideration in 2021 and 
2020 because they were claims that affected entities other than the Group: 

 2021 2020 

Number of complaints and claims received 1 2 

Number of complaints and claims not admitted for processing 1 2 

Number of complaints and claims admitted for processing - - 

Number of complaints and claims resolved - - 

Number of resolutions in favour of claimants - - 

Number of resolutions against claimants - - 

Amount of the indemnity for favourable resolutions (euro) - - 

Number of pending complaints and claims - - 

28. Interest income 

The breakdown of the most important interest income earned by the Group in 2021 and 2020, by type of 
instrument giving rise to it, is as follows: 

Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Financial assets held for trading 9,987 9,925 
Non trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 300 319 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - - 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 27,897 31,334 
Financial assets at amortised cost 9,763 10,793 
Derivatives – hedge accounting, interest rate risk 12,012 13,577 
Interest income on financial liabilities 50,866 34,189 
Other assets 511 326 

 111,336 100,463 

“Interest Income on Financial Liabilities” in the table above includes the income arising in 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, from the Group's on-consolidated balance-sheet financial liabilities that bore negative interest 
rates. 
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29. Interest expense 

The detail of the balance of “Interest Expense” in the consolidated income statement for 2021 and 2020, 
by type of instrument giving rise to them, is as follows: 

Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Financial liabilities held for trading 6,174 5,998 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1,791 7,603 

Derivatives – hedge accounting, interest rate risk 14,923 15,922 

Interest Expense on financial assets / other liabilities 81,783 55,344 

Interest cost of pension funds (Note 35) 299 968 

 104,970 85,835 

“Interest Expense on Financial Assets / other liabilities” in the table above includes the expenses arising in 
2021 and 2020 from the Group's on consolidated balance-sheet financial assets that bore negative interest 
rates. 

30. Income from dividends 

Below is a breakdown of this caption in the consolidated income statement for 2021 and 2020: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Financial assets held for trading 3,611 3,394 

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss 327 136 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 128 137 

 4,066 3,667 

31. Commission income 

Following is a detail of the commission income earned in 2021 and 2020, classified on the basis of the main 
items giving rise thereto: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Commissions arising from contingent liabilities (Note 27.1) 185 265 

Commissions for contingent commitments 1,001 1,936 

Commissions arising from collection and payment services 26,054 23,563 

Commissions arising from securities services 185,102 127,653 

Commissions arising from foreign exchange and foreign banknotes 167 168 

Other commissions 9,920 8,745 

 222,429 162,330 
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The balance of “Fees and Commissions Arising from Securities Services” in the foregoing table includes, 
inter alia, EUR 172,748 thousand earned in 2021 (2020: EUR 118,512 thousand) relating to the depository 
and custody services in connection with securities of third parties deposited at the Group. 

32. Commission expenses 

Following is a detail of the commission expenses incurred in 2021 and 2020, classified on the basis of the 
main items giving rise thereto: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Commissions assigned to other entities and correspondents 8,975 7,478 

Commission expenses on securities transactions 24,115 18,218 

 33,090 25,696 

33. Net gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities 

The breakdown of the balance of “Gains/Losses on Financial Assets and Liabilities” in the consolidated 
income statement for the exercise 2021 and 2020, by type of financial instrument giving rise to them, is as 
follows: 

Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Net gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading (6,018) (14,725) 

Gains (losses) on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss, net (1,043) (3,141) 

Net gains/losses from unsubscribe financial assets and liabilities not valued at fair value through profit or loss, net- 34,588  24,126  

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 34,585  24,123  

Financial assets at amortised cost 3  3  

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - -  

Net gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss -  - 

Net gains/losses resulting from hedge accounting 206  (1,199)  

 27,733  5,061 

Note 5 includes information on the breakdown by geographic area in which these "Gains/Losses on Financial 
Assets and Liabilities, net" originate.  
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34. Other operating income 

The breakdown of the balance of “Other 
Operating Income” in the consolidated income 
statement for exercise 2021 and 2020 is as 
follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Rental income (Note 13) 1,535 1,298 

Income from expenses charged 8,403 3,984 

Other income 41,131 47,109 

 51,068 52,391 

The balance of “Other income” in the foregoing 
table includes the dues collected from the 
services given to the Confederación Española de 
Cajas de Ahorros, which amounts in 2021 EUR 
11,392 thousand (12,687 thousand in 2020) (see 
Note 40). This item also records the income from 
the different services that Cecabank provide to its 
customers (Kondor, e-banking, Business 
Inteligence, among others). 

35. Administrative expenses – Staff Costs 

The detail of “Administrative Expenses – Staff 
Costs” in the consolidated income statement for 
2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Wages and salaries 37,110 38,566 

Social security costs 7,253 7,326 

Insurance premiums (Note 2.11.2) 132 176 

Termination Benefits (Note 2.11.4) 26,423 2,812 

Contributions to defined contribution plans 
(Note 2.11.2) 50 473 

Normal cost for the year of defined benefit 
obligations - - 

Training expenses 330 318 

Other staff costs 438 572 

 71,736 50,243 

As a result of the obligations imposed by Spanish 
law on the regulation and supervision of credit 
institutions and its enabling regulations, and by 
the EBA guidelines on sound remuneration 
policies, the Group pays a portion of the annual 
variable remuneration of certain employee groups 
through non-monetary instruments linked to the 
Group’s value. 

The number of the aforementioned equity 
instruments to be granted to certain members of 
the identified staff will be conditional on: (i) the 
annual variable remuneration granted to them; 
and (ii) the change in the Group's measurement 
from the instruments’ grant date. Once the 
amount of the annual variable remuneration has 
been determined for each member of the 

identified staff, 50% thereof will be granted in 
Phantom shares. 

These instruments will be settled once any 
retention and deferral periods have elapsed, in 
accordance with the policy for each member of 
the identified staff. Following the retention 
period, the Phantom shares will be settled in cash 
on each of the settlement dates based on the 
Group's value at each of these dates. The 
measurement method used to measure the 
Entity's value for the purpose of the variable 
remuneration to be paid through instruments 
must be based on the equity at 31 December of 
each year (considering as such the sum of capital, 
reserves and the portion of profit for the year 
attributable to reserves). 

The settlement schedule for the Phantom shares 
will be the schedule applicable under the policy in 
force at the time for each member of the identified 
staff, on completion of each of the deferral and 
retention periods applicable in each case. 

Additionally as of 30 September 2020, CECA and 
the trade unions reached an agreement on the 
text of the collective bargaining agreement for 
savings banks and financial institutions for the 
years 2019 to 2023, whose main novelty lies in the 
area of remuneration for active and passive staff; 
the agreement associates wage increases to a 
fixed percentage plus additional payments that 
can reach up to 0.5% of basic salary, instead of 
being indexed to the CPI as was the case in 
previous agreements. 
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In 2021 and 2020, the average number of employees at the Group, by level, was as follows: 

Professional 
levels 

2021 2020 
Men Women Total Men Woman Total 

1 - LEV.I 5 3 8 4 - 4 
1 - LEV.II 3 2 5 5 3 8 
1 - LEV.III 18 12 30 17 8 25 
1 - LEV.IV 29 12 41 30 16 46 
1 - LEV.V 31 30 61 31 25 56 
1 - LEV.VI 53 46 99 64 56 120 
1 - LEV.VII 27 40 67 28 43 71 
1 - LEV.VIII 26 55 81 27 55 82 
1 - LEV.IX 9 14 23 9 18 27 
1 - LEV.X 7 5 12 8 6 14 
1 - LEV.XI 3 4 7 2 4 6 
1 - LEV.XII 10 10 20 1 2 3 
1 - LEV.XIII - - - 1 1 2 
2 - LEV.I 1 - 1 1 - 1 
2 - LEV.II 2 - 2 3 - 3 
2 – NIV.IV 1 - 1 - - - 
OTHER 4 2 6 5 2 7 
 229 235 464 236 239 475 

 
At the end of 2021, the Group had two contracted 
employees with a disability greater than or equal 
to 33%, although at the end of 2020 there was one. 
The commitments assumed in terms of disabled 
personnel are complemented through alternative 
measures duly authorized by the Community of 
Madrid. 

At 31 December 2021, the total number of 
employees was 463 (2020: 477), of whom 228 were 

men (2020: 235) and 235 women (2020: 242), 
representing 49% and 51%, respectively (49% and 
51% respectively, at 31 December 2020). 

With respect to defined benefit post-employment 
obligations and long-term pre-retirement 
obligations (pre-retirements) to current and 
former employees of the Bank described in Note 
2.11 above, a detail of these obligations is presented 
below, making a distinction between those that are 
arranged, in full or in part, in pension funds and 
insurance policies, and those that are not arranged 
through this type of instrument and where the 
associated obligation is covered by the recognition 
of provisions by the Bank: 

At 31 December 2021: 
       Thousand euro 

 Post-employment benefits Long-term pre-retirement obligations  
 

Value of the 
obligation (I) 

Value of the 
plan assets 

(II) 

 
Total  

(III = I –
II) (**) 

Value of the 
obligation (IV) 

Value of the 
plan assets 

(V) 
Total  

(VI = IV – V)(*) 

 
Total (III + 

VI) 
Instrumented in external pension plans and/or 
insurance policies 150,975 156,698 (5,723) - - - (5,723) 

Not instrumented in pension plans or insurance 
policies - - -  45,426 - 45,426 45,426  

Total at 31 December 2021 150,975 156,698 (5,723) 45,426 - 45,426 39,703  

(*) This amount is recognised under “Provisions – Other Long-Term Employee Benefits” on the liability side of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021 
(see Note 17). 
(**) This amount is recognised under “Other Assets – Other” in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021 (see Note 15.1). 

At 31 December 2020: 

       Thousand euro 

 Post-employment benefits Long-term pre-retirement obligations  
 

Value of the 
obligation (I) 

Value of the 
plan assets 

(II) 

Total  
(III = I –II) 

(**) 
Value of the 

obligation (IV) 

Value of the 
plan 

assets(V) 
Total (VI = 

IV – V)(*) 
Total  

(III + VI) 
Instrumented in external pension plans and/or 
insurance policies 170,341 176,222 (5,881) - - - (5,881) 

Not instrumented in pension plans or 
insurance policies - - - 29,051 - 29,051 29,051 

Total at 31 December 2020 170,341 176,222 (5,881) 29,051 - 29,051 23,170 

(*) This amount is recognised under “Provisions – Other Long-Term Employee Benefits” on the liability side of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020 
(see Note 17). 
(**) This amount is recognised under “Other Assets – Other” in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020 (see Note 15.1). 
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As can be seen in the table above, a significant 
proportion of the Bank's pension and other long- 
term obligations are arranged through external 
pension plans or are covered by insurance policies 
and, therefore, in the coming years, the 
settlement of these obligations is not expected to 
have a material effect on the Bank's future cash 
flows. However, the following sections include a 
sensitivity analysis of the impact that a change in 
certain variables included in the measurement 
would have on the amounts presented in these 
financial statements. It should be noted that the 
average duration of the pension commitments set 
out in the preceding tables at 31 December 2021 

was 10.67 years for retired employees and there 
are no active employees at the end of 2021 (at 31 
December 2020, 10.97 years for serving 
employees and there are no active employees at 
the end of 2020). 

Following is the reconciliation of the beginning 
and ending balances in 2021 and 2020 of the 
present value of the defined benefit post-
employment obligations and long-term pre-
retirement obligations, showing separately the 
plan assets, the present value of these obligations 
and the items triggering the changes in these 
items in these years: 

Year 2021: 
 
       Thousand euro 

 Post-employment  
benefits 

Long-term pre- retirement 
obligations 

 

 
Value of the 
obligation (I) 

Value of the plan 
assets (II) 

Total (III = I 
– II) 

Value of the 
obligation (IV) 

Value of 
the plan 

assets (V) 
Total (VI 
= IV – V) Total (III + VI) 

1. Amount at 1 January 2021 170,341  176,222  (5,881) 29,051  - 29,051  23,170  

2. Current service cost -  -  -  26,044  - 26,044  26,044  

3. Expected return on plan assets -  480  (480) -  - -  (480) 

4. Interest cost 299  -  299  (64) - (64) 235  

5. Contributions made by the participants 
of the plan -  -  -  -  - -  -  

6. Contributions made by the Bank -  -  -  -  - -  -  

7. Effect of the recalculation on the 
measurement of the net obligations: (10,511) (10,850) 339  (335)  - (335) 4  

7.1 Actuarial gains and losses arising as a 
result of changes in the demographic 
assumptions 

(1,246) (1,547) -  -  - -  -  

7.2 Actuarial gains and losses arising as a 
result of changes in the financial 
assumptions 

(9,265) (9,303) -  -  - -  -  

7.3 Effect of the change in return on plan 
assets -  -  -  -  - -  -  

8. Benefits paid (9,154) (9,154) -  (9,270) - (9,270) (9,270) 

9. Past service cost -  -  -  -  - -  -  

10. Business combinations -  -  -  -  - -  -  

11. Plan reductions -  -  -  -  - -  -  

12. Plan settlements -  -  -  -  - -  -  

13. Limits on the recognition of net 
assets for exceeding the maximum 
available economic benefits 

-  -  -  -  - -  -  

14. Early retirement commitments in 
Exercise -  -  -  -  - -  -  

15. Other movements -  -  -  -  - -  -  

Amount at 31 December 2021 150,975  156,698  (5,723) 45,426  - 45,426  39,703  
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Year 2020: 
 
       Thousand euro 

 Post-employment benefits Long-term pre- retirement obligations  
 

Value of the 
obligation (I) 

Value of 
the plan 

assets (II) 
Total (III = I– 

II) 
Value of the 

obligation (IV) 

Value of 
the plan 

assets (V) 
Total  

(VI= IV – V) 
Total (III + 

VI) 

1. Amount at 1 January 2020 177,731 180,004 (2,273) 41,656 - 41,656 39,383 

2. Current service cost - - - 863 - 863 863 

3. Expected return on plan Assets - 834 (834) - - - (834) 

4. Interest cost 968  968 (7) - (7) 961 

5. Contributions made by the participants of 
the plan -  - - - - - 

6. Contributions made by the Bank -  - - - - - 

7. Effect of the recalculation on the 
measurement of the net obligations: 1,456 5,198 (3,742) (422) - (422) (4,164) 

7.1 Actuarial gains and losses arising as a result 
of changes in the demographic assumptions 1,018 440 578 - - - 578 

7.2 Actuarial gains and losses arising as a 
result of changes in the financial assumptions 438 4,758 (4,320) - - - (4,320) 

7.3 Effect of the change in return on plan 
assets - - - - - - - 

8. Benefits paid (9,814) (9,814) - (13,039) - (13,039) (13,039) 

9. Past service cost - - - - - - - 

10. Business combinations - - - - - - - 

11. Plan reductions - - - - - - - 

12. Plan settlements - - - - - - - 

13. Limits on the recognition of net assets for 
exceeding the maximum available economic 
benefits 

- - - - - - - 

14. Early retirement commitments in Exercise - - - - - - - 

15. Other movements - - - - - - - 

Amount at 31 December 2020 170,341 176,222 (5,881) 29,051 - 29,051 23,170 

In addition, the Group recognized the net amount 
of the expected return on plan assets and the 
interest cost of the value of the obligation, which 
amounted to EUR 299 thousand in 2021, under 
"Interest Expenses” in the income statement 
(having recognized EUR 968 thousand in the same 
connection under "Interest Expenses" in the 
income statement for 2020) (see Note 29). 

Moreover, the Bank recognized a charge of EUR 452 
thousand under "Provisions or reversal of provisions" 
in the consolidated income statement for 2020 for 
the provisions and recoveries of provisions for 
pensions and similar obligations (see Note 17). 

In the 2021 financial year, the Group has not 
recorded any provision under the heading 
"Provisions or reversal of provisions" in the profit 
and loss account; In the 2020 financial year, this 
amount amounted to 452 thousand euros as 
allocations to the fund for other long-term 
employee benefits. 

Additionally, on August 6, 2021, the entity 
reached an agreement to approve an employment 

regulation file, making an allocation whose 
balance as of December 31, 2021 amounted to 
24,763 thousand euros, which represents the cost 
of said agreement (see note 16). 

During 2021 and 2020, the Bank recognised the net 
amount, adjusted for the related tax effect, of 
the actuarial gains and losses arising from the 
valuation of the provision for defined benefit 
pension obligations amounting to EUR 238 and EUR 
2,619 thousand under "Other comprehensive 
income. Items not to be reclassified to profit or 
loss. Actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit 
pension plans" in the Bank's equity (see Notes 
2.11.2 and 18.2). The movement in this equity 
item is presented in the accompanying statement 
of changes in equity. 

The assumptions used in the actuarial calculations 
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 of the defined-
benefit pension obligation and the assets used to 
cover them, included in the foregoing table, were 
as follows: 
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Pension obligations at 31 
December 2021 and 2020: 

The assumptions applied, both for the 
quantification of the obligations and for the 
quantification of the fair value of the related 
assets, are as follows: 

 Pension reversal rate used for the valuation of 
obligations: 1.50% 

 Rate of revaluation of pensions used for the 
valuation of assets: 1.20% 

 The discount rate: 0.61% 

The interest rate applied to obtain the present 
value of the accounting obligation is the market 
rate according to the financial duration of the 
flows of the commitments (10.67 years), and 
according to the corresponding Iboxx rate curve 
as of December 31, 2021 to corporate bonds with 
a high credit rating (AA). 

The interest rate applied to obtain the fair value of 
the affected assets coincides with the interest rate 
used to obtain the current value of the obligation. 

 Expected rate of return on the accounting 
asset for the assets used to cover the 
obligations covered by the Plan is 0.18%. 

Other long-term obligations at 31 
December 2021 and 2020: 

The hypotheses applied to determine the current 
value of the obligations for salary costs, 
contributions, future contributions, specific 
incentive and study aid and that apply to labor 
agreements for the years 2012, 2013, 2016, 
compensation plan for termination as well as to 
the agreement of the ERE for the year 2021, are 
the following: 

 Type of update: (0.11%) for all plans except for 
the ERE plan which is (0.0058%). 

 Market rate according to the financial duration 
of the commitment flows for this group 
together with the groups of early retirees (1.88 
years) (3.57 years for the ERE plan) and 
according to the corresponding Iboxx rate 
curve as of December 13, 2021 to corporate 
bonds with a high credit rating (AA). 

 Salary growth rate: 0% for all plans. 

 Growth rate of contributions in the 2012, 2013, 
2016 plans: (1.85%). 

 Disability applies to Cessation, 2016 and ERE 
plans and is divided for all in the same way. 
Between the ages of 15 and 44 years the 
percentage is 0.05%, from 45 to 54 years of age 
0.10% and from 55 years of age (inclusive) the 
percentage is 0.25%. 

 Growth rate of contribution bases: 2.5% except 
for the ERE plan set at 0%. 

 Growth rate of study aid: 2.5% except for the 
ERE plan set at 0%. 

Post-employment benefits 

A 50 basis point upward/downward shift in the 
discount rate used at 31 December 2021 would 
give rise to a EUR 7,844 thousand reduction and a 
EUR 8,579 thousand increase, respectively, in the 
value of the obligations (at 31 December 2020: 
EUR 8,965 and EUR 9,793 thousand, respectively). 

A 50 basis point upward/downward shift in the 
pension discount rate at 31 December 2021 would 
give rise to a EUR 7,459 thousand reduction and a 
EUR 8,147 thousand increase, respectively, in the 
value of the obligations (At 31 December 2020: 
EUR 8,735 and EUR 9,532 thousand, respectively). 

Long-term pre-retirement 
obligations 

A 50 basis point upward/downward shift in the 
discount rate used would give rise to a EUR 637 
thousand reduction and a EUR 653 thousand 
increase, respectively at 31 December 2021 (At 31 
December 2020: EUR 299 and EUR 306 thousand, 
respectively). 

With regard to the sensitivity analysis described 
above, it should be noted that, for the other 
actuarial assumptions used in the measurement of 
the obligations at 31 December 2020, changes 
that might significantly affect the value of the 
obligations in the future are not considered likely 
to occur. 
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The breakdown of the assets allocated to the 
coverage of the defined benefit pension 
commitments and the Bank’s other long-term 
commitments at 31 December 2021 and 2020 

shown in the previous tables is shown below, 
taking into account the nature of the same: 
 

Thousand euro 
 2021 2020 
 Pension 

obligations 
Other long- 

term obligations Total 
Pension 

obligations 
Other long- 

term obligations Total 
Pension fund 10,650 - 10,650 7,532 - 7,532 

Insurance policies taken out with CASER 146,048 - 146,048 168,690 - 168,690 

Total 156,698 - 156,698 176,222 - 176,222 

The pension fund referred to in the above table is 
the Cecabank Employees' Pension plan (“Plan de 
Pensiones de los Empleados de Cecabank”), which 
forms part of the pension fund for the employees 
of the Spanish Confederation of Savings Banks. 
The latter comprises the defined contribution and 
defined benefit obligations to CECA´s current and 
former employees which were transferred to the 
Bank in year 2012 (see Note 2.11). The detail, by 
principal asset category and related fair value, of 
this fund's assets at 31 December 2021 and 2020, 
is as follows: 

 2021 2020 
Quoted Spanish government debt 9.76% 17.81% 

Quoted private fixed-income 
securities 

53.92% 58.38% 

Quoted equity securities 15.21% 14.38% 

Cash and bank balances 21.11% 9.43% 

Other assets (1) 0.00% 0.00% 

 100% 100% 

(1) The fund's assets do not include properties or items of property plant 
and equipment. The assets classified under this item are private equity funds. 

With regard to the assets of the pension fund 
included in the above table, it should be noted 
that at 31 December 2021 and 2020 there were no 
financial assets relating to assets issued by the 
Bank. 

There are no active recipients of the defined 
benefits at the end of 2021 since they were moved 
to defined contributions (Subplan 3) on 1 January 
2020. 

36. Administrative expenses - Other general 
administrative expenses 

The detail of this heading in the consolidated income statements for 2021 and 2020 is as follows:
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  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Property, fixtures and supplies 2,067 1,855 

IT equipment 14,535 17,931 

Communications 2,322 2,746 

Advertising and publicity 347 351 

Technical reports 2,808 2,227 

Surveillance and cash courier services 3,374 3,821 

Insurance and self-insurance premiums 760 727 

Outsourced administrative services 32,196 25,781 

Levies and taxes 6,522 4,796 

Entertainment and travel expenses 190 302 

Association membership fees 1,595 1,553 

External personnel 1,653 1,023 

Subscriptions and publications 3,102 3,160 

Other administrative expenses 820 922 

 72,290 67,195 

The balance under “Technical reports” records 
the 2021 and 2020 fees for the services rendered 
by the Group’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Auditores, S.L., as follows: 

 Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Audit services 315 312 

Other attest services 33 39 

Total audit and related services 348 351 

Tax counselling services - - 

Other services - - 

 - - 

Total professional services 348 351 

The services commissioned by the Group meet the 
independence requirements of the Spanish Audit 
Law and its enabling regulations and did not 
involve the performance of any work that is 
incompatible with the audit function. 

Information on deferred payments to suppliers. 
Additional Provision Three. “Disclosure 
obligation” provided for in Law 15/2010, of 5 July 

Relating to the information to be included in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements 
regarding deferrals of payments to suppliers in 
commercial transactions  calculated on the basis 
of the Resolution dated 29 January 2016 by the 
Audit and Accounting Institute, details of the 
average payment period for the Group’s suppliers 
in 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 Days Days 
Average period of payment to suppliers 46.5 44.5 

Ratio of transaction settled 46.8 45.1 
Ratio of transaction not yet settled 18.0 24.5 

Thousand euro 
Total payments made 90,854 87,140 

Total payments outstanding 1,118 2,388 

It should be noted that although under Law 
3/2004, of 29 December, the maximum period for 
payment to suppliers is 60 days, Law 11/2013, of 
26 July, established a maximum payment period 
of 30 days, extendable by agreement between the 
parties to a maximum of 60 days. 

37. Other operating expenses 

The breakdown of the balance of “Other 
Operating Expenses” in the consolidated income 
statement for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Contribution to the Deposit Guarantee Fund 
(Note 1.10 a) 230 169 

Contribution to the Single Resolution Fund 
(Note 1.10 b) 6,950 4,426 

Other Concepts 4,458 4,540 

 11,638 9,135 

Other operating expenses - Other items mainly 
include expenses related to the Bank's securities 
operations. 

Contributions to the Deposit Guarantee Fund and 
the Single Resolution Fund amounted to EUR 7,180 
thousand at 31 December 2021 and EUR 4,595 
thousand at 31 December 2020 (see note 1.11). 

The balance under “Other items” in 2021 and 2020 
includes the eliminations that arise due to the 
effect of the consolidation of Cecabank, S.A. and 
Trionis S.C.L., the amount of which in 2021 is 
4,234 thousand (3,982 thousand euros in 2020). 
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38. Impairment or reversal of impairment of financial 
assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss 

The breakdown of the balance in the consolidated 
income statement for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

Thousand euro 

Net (Additions)/ Reversals (Charged) 
/ Credited to Income 

 2021 2020 
Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

  

Debts instruments (Note 22.8) 416 3,146 

Equity instruments - - 

 416 3,146 

Financial assets at amortised cost (Note 22.8) (4,996) 2,625 

 (4,996) 2,624 

 (4,580) 5,771 

In relation to the item of financial assets at 
amortised cost, the main movement is due to an 
increase in the provisioning of some securities up 
to an amount of 4,472 thousand euros, the 
remaining movement being caused by the 
movements made by the Bank when making 
provisions and reversals of provisions in relation 
to the generic provision or the country risk fund. 

39. Amortisation 

The detail of “Amortisation” in the consolidated income statement for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

  Thousand euro 

 2021 2020 
Depreciation of Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 4,125 3,849 

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) 78,344 53,639 

 82,468 57,488 

40. Related party transactions 

Agreement for the Provision of Services between 
the Confederación Española de Cajas de Ahorros 
(CECA) and Cecabank, S.A. 

As part of the process to create Cecabank, S.A. 
and the spin-off carried out by CECA in favour of 
this entity in 2012 (see Note 1.1), the "Internal 
protocol of relations between Confederación 
Española de Cajas de Ahorros and Cecabank, S.A." 
was established. This protocol identified the 
services provided by Cecabank to CECA and 
established the general criteria for intra-group 
transactions and services. 

As a result of CECA losing its status as a credit 
institution in 2014, as described in Note 1.1, on 

19 December 2014 a new “Agreement for the 
Provision of Services between the Confederación 
Española de Cajas de Ahorros (CECA) and 
Cecabank, S.A.” was signed. This agreement 
redefines the services that Cecabank, S.A. renders 
to CECA in accordance with its new status. 

Once CECA ceased to be a credit institution the 
process for CECA to join the Association of Savings 
Banks for Labor Relations (ACARL) was started. A 
public document “Overall Assignment of ACARL 
Assets and Liabilities to CECA” was executed on 
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30 September 2016 and the latter began to 
perform the duties falling to ACARL with respect 
to the negotiation of the Collective Bargaining 
Agreement for Savings Banks, among others. 

Cecabank has made organisational modifications 
that recommend a review of the identity of the 
Departments and specific areas that have been 
rendering services to CECA by virtue of the 
aforementioned Agreement, and this has led the 
Parties to sign an adaptation of the Appendixes to 
the  Service Agreement that reflects the updated 
services that Cecabank renders to CECA. This 
agreement was signed on 9 May 2019 but took 
retroactive effect as from 1 January 2019. 

The services that are rendered by Cecabank, S.A. 
to CECA after this agreement was signed are listed 
below: 

Rendering of association services: 

 Regarding regulatory and interest 
representation matters 

 Regarding financial and economic matters 

 Regarding cooperation matters 

 Regarding communication matters 

 Regarding Community Projects Fund matters 

 Regarding customer service matters 

 Regarding financial education matters 

 Regarding institutional relationship matters 

 Regarding knowledge management matters 

 Regarding technological matters 

 Regarding quality matters 

 Regarding CSR matters 

 Regarding regulatory compliance matters 

Rendering of support services: 

 Regarding legal, tax and governing body 
support matters 

 Regarding financial planning matters 

 Regarding internal audit matters 

 Regarding computer security matters 

 Regarding operating risk and control matters 

 Regarding resource matters 

 Regarding protocol matters 

 Regarding technological matters 

 Regarding external network support matters 

Income received by the Bank for these services, 
which amounted to EUR 11,392 and 12,687 
thousand in 2021 and 2020 respectively, are 
recognised under "Other operating income" in the 
accompanying consolidated income statements 
for 2021 and 2020 (see Note 34). 

Furthermore, on 22 October 2020, an additional 
agreement was signed between CECA and 
Cecabank, S.A., which was previously approved by 
the Boards of Directors of CECA on 13 October 
2020 and of Cecabank on 20 October 2020, 
whereby they agreed to provide additional 
services during 2020 related to the COVID-19 
health crisis. The amount of these services during 
2020 amounts to EUR 1,295 thousand (see Note 
34). 

Similarly, interest on the at sight account the 
CECA with the Bank is included under “Interest 
income” totalling EUR 150 thousand at 31 
December 2021 (EUR 170 thousand at December 
2020). The amount of these sight accounts, 
excluding accruals and deferred income, 
amounted to EUR 23,257 and 28,858 thousand at 
31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

The amount of the fees received by the Bank 
accrued by the CECA amounted to EUR 5 thousand 
at December 31, 2021 (31 December 2020: EUR 5 
thousand). 

The amount that, as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020, the staff of Senior Management and the 
members of the Board of Directors of the Bank, 
and the entities or persons related to them, 
maintain in the sight accounts amounts to 957 and 
1,085 thousand euros respectively. These 
balances have not accrued interest in the 2021 
financial year, while the "Interest expense" 
caption in the profit and loss account for the 2020 
financial year includes an amount of 1 thousand 
euros. Likewise, the debt contracted for loans 
amounts to 628 and 620 thousand euros, 
respectively. These amounts have accrued in the 
years 2021 and 2020, 2 thousand euros during each 
year, recorded under the heading "Interest 
income" of the profit and loss account for the 
year. In the 2021 financial year, no balance has 
been recorded for other commitments granted, 
amounting to 5 thousand euros at the end of the 
2020 financial year. 
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41. Events after the balance sheet date 

After 31 December 2021 and up to 17 February 2022, the date on which these consolidated financial 
statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Entity, no significant events have 
occurred that should be included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements in order for them 
to present fairly the Entity's equity, financial position, results of operations, changes in equity and cash 
flows. 

42. Explanation added for translation to English 

These financial statements are presented on the basis of the Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017. Certain 
accounting practices applied by the Bank that conform with the Circular may not conform with other 
generally accepted accounting principles. 
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Appendix I – Subsidiaries included in the Group 

At 31 December 2021: 

         Thousand euro 

   Proportion of ownership  
Interest (%) 

Entity data at 31  
December 2021(*) 

 
Location Line of business Direct Indirect Total Assets Liabilities Equity 

Profit for the 
year 

Trionis, 
S.C.R.L. 

Brussels Development and 
maintenance of the 
international payment 
services operative 

100% - 100% 2,841 1,651 1,190 (160) 

 
(*) The company's financial statements at 31 December 2021 have not yet been approved by their shareholders at the respective Annual General Meetings. 

At 31 December 2020: 

         Thousand euro 

   Proportion of ownership 
Interest (%) 

Entity data at 31  
December 2020 

 
Location Line of business Direct Indirect Total Assets Liabilities Equity 

Profit for the 
year 

Trionis, 
S.C.R.L. 

Brussels Development and 
maintenance of the 

international payment 
services 

operative 

78.62 - 78.62 3,554 1,633 1,921 23 
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Appendix II – Information for compliance with Article 
87 of Law 10/2014, of 26 June, on the regulation, 
supervision and capital adequacy of credit institutions. 

Annual Banking Report 
This information is published in compliance with 
the provisions of Article 87 of Law 10/2014, of 26 
June, on the regulation, supervision and capital 
adequacy of credit institutions which,  in turn, 
transposes Article 89 of Directive 2013/36/EU of 
the European Parliament and of the Council, of 26 
June 2013, on access to the activity of credit 
institutions and the prudential supervision of 
credit institutions and investment firms, 
amending Directive 2002/87/EC and repealing 
Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC. 

Pursuant to the aforementioned legislation, credit 
institutions will be obliged to publish the 
following information on a consolidated basis 
relating to the end of the latest reporting period: 

 Name(s), nature of activities and geographical 
location: 

Cecabank, S.A. (“the Bank” or “the Entity”) is a 
bank that was incorporated by public deed 
executed in Madrid on 17 October 2012. The Entity 
has been registered at the Mercantile Registry 
since 12 November 2012 and in the Bank of Spain's 
Register of Credit Institutions under code 2000. 
Cecabank, S.A. forms part of the Cecabank Group. 
Its registered office is at calle Alcalá no. 27, 
Madrid. The Bank's company object is: 

a. The performance of all manner of activities, 
operations and services inherent to the 
banking business in general or directly or 
indirectly related thereto which it is 
authorised to carry on by current legislation, 
including the provision of investment and 
ancillary services and the performance of 
insurance brokerage activities. 

b. The provision of technological, 
administrative and advisory services to 
public authorities, as well as to any other 
public or private-sector entity; and 

c. The acquisition, holding, use and disposal of 
all types of marketable securities. 

The Cecabank Group carries on its activity in 
Spain. However, it has a branch in Lisbon 
(Portugal), two representative offices in Frankfurt 

(Germany) and London (United Kingdom) and a 
subsidiary in Belgium. 

The Cecabank Group is composed, in addition to 
the Parent, Cecabank, S.A. of Trionis S.C.R.L., 
incorporated in 1990, set in Brussels (Belgium) 
whose company object is the development and 
maintenance of the international payment 
services operative. 

 Turnover: 
Turnover at the Cecabank Group is defined as 
gross income, which amounted to EUR 305,680 
thousand in 2021 and EUR 246,465 thousand in 
2020. 

 Number of employees on a full-time equivalent 
basis: 

At 31 December 2021, the Cecabank Group had 
463 full-time employees (a further five had 
reduced working hours and four worked part-
time). At 31 December 2020, the Group had 477 
full-time employees (a further four had reduced 
working hours and four worked part-time). 

 Gross profit or loss before tax: 
The Cecabank Group's gross profit before tax at 
2020 year-end amounted EUR 93,600 thousand 
(2020: EUR 74,394 thousand). 

 Tax on profit or loss: 
Tax on the profit for the year ended 31 December 
2021 amounted to EUR 24,542 thousand (2020: 
EUR 20,017      thousand). 

 Public subsidies received: 
The entity has not received any subsidies during 
the year 2021 and 2020. 

 In order to comply with Article 87.3 of the 
aforementioned Law, it is stated that the 
return on the Group's assets, calculated as the 
result of dividing the Group's consolidated 
profit for 2021 by the total balance sheet, was 
0.40% at 31 December 2021 (31 December 
2020: 0.38%). 



La parte de imagen con el identificador de relación rId1 no se encontró en el archivo.
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Cecabank, S.A. and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group 

Directors' Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 
Cecabank, S.A. (Cecabank) is the Parent of the Cecabank Group, the companies composing it being those 
mentioned in Note 1.1 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. It 
should be noted that Cecabank, S.A. represents 99.99% of the total of the consolidated balance sheet. 

Due to the scant relevance of the rest companies of the Group, as it is said in the preceding paragraph, the 
main aim of this directors' report is to provide information on the most significant activities carried on by 
Cecabank in 2021, to present the results obtained in comparison with the budget, and to disclose both the 
most significant matters relating to risk management and the activities that will be carried out in order to 
comply with the strategic lines of action defined for 2022. 

1. Management of COVID-19 

In 2021 it has been necessary to continue 
managing the health crisis that began in 2020. 
Prudence, business continuity and flexibility have 
been the main premises for managing the 
situation.  

The Crisis Committee has held regular meetings, 
similar to what was done throughout 2020, with 
the aim of guaranteeing the health of the 
workforce and the level and quality of service to 
our customers at all times. The meetings have 
been structured with a focus on the following 
aspects: 

 Monitoring of the national and international 
context, both in terms of the epidemiological 
evolution of the pandemic and the measures 
adopted by the different authorities. 

 Review of weekly public epidemiological KPIs. 

 Monitoring of the evolution of Cecabank's own 
panel, in which external and internal 
indicators of the crisis are assessed, to 
determine the level of alert and the decisions 
to be made. 

 Periodic review of operational and business 
performance, including monitoring of the 
evolution of strategic projects and results. 

 Decision making on actions to be carried out 
related to crisis management. 

 Permanent monitoring of the health situation 
of employees and their families. 

The year has been characterized above all by the 
management of different levels of de-escalation, 
as vaccination progressed and in line with the 
context: 

 During the first half of the year, the blended 
learning model was implemented through 
"bubble groups", dividing the workforce into 2 
groups that attended the Entity's facilities in 
person on non-coinciding dates. This model 
avoids possible contagion between groups and 
facilitates the continuity of all processes in the 
event of internal contagion. 

 The second half of the year has been 
characterized by the deployment of the global 
de-escalation plan, in which bubble groups 
have been eliminated and the face-to-face 
work model has been implemented for the 
entire workforce, except for people with a 
higher level of vulnerability. To carry out the 
global de-escalation, prevention measures 
have been reinforced, highlighting: 
maintenance of social distancing, use of 
masks, reinforcement of cleaning and 
ventilation, carrying out periodic tests and 
continuous communication with the 
workforce. 

 The year ended with close monitoring and the 
taking of additional measures due to the 
appearance of the Omicron variant, which led 
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to reinforcing the basic measures of distancing 
and the use of a mask.  

One of the keys to managing the crisis has been 
continuous and fluid communication with the 
staff. From the beginning of the crisis, a 
comprehensive communication strategy was 
deployed, flexible enough to be able to adapt at 

all times to the needs of the evolution of the crisis 
and with different types of communication.  

The measures adopted were recognized by the 
Madrid Guarantee Foundation for the 
commitment shown in the fight against covid-19 
in September 2020. This recognition has been 
maintained and renewed throughout 2021. 

2. Strategic Plan 2017-2020/21 and development of 
the business 2021 

Cecabank has successfully completed the 
Strategic Plan approved in December 2016. 
Initially, the Plan covered until 2020, although, 
taking into account the economic context and the 
environment of uncertainty in the financial sector 
in the first months of 2020, the Board of 
Administration approved the extension of the Plan 
until 2021. 

Despite the instability in some areas of the 
environment, the strategy defined at the end of 
2016 remains fully valid. The defined strategy is 
based on 3 essential pillars:  

1) strengthening of recurring income;  

2) increase in the customer base;  

3) consolidate its national leadership in the 
Securities Services market. 

Thus, the objectives defined in the Plan 2017-
2020/21were as follows: 

 Gross margin of EUR 270 million. 

 Efficiency; calculated as ordinary 
administrative expenses and amortization of 
tangible assets over gross margin, between 
40% and 45%. 

 Profitability; measured as net profit on 
tangible equity, between 9% and 11%. 

 Solvency; valued based on CET1 between 20% 
and 25%. 

In 2021, the development of this strategy was 
completed, and the goals set five years ago were 
achieved and even exceeded. In detail: 

 The gross margin exceeds 300 million euros, 
largely supported by the development of the 
Securities Services business, since Cecabank 
has become a reference partner in the 
market, consolidating its leadership. The 
good behavior of the financial margin and the 
completion of strategic projects developed 
throughout the Plan have also contributed. 

 The efficiency ratio stands at 41.2%, within 
the 40%-45% range, both due to the favorable 
evolution of the margin and the efforts made 
to contain costs. 

 Profitability stands at 10.1%, in the middle of 
the range of 9%-11%, as a result of the level 
of results achieved, the outstanding growth 
of the business and the constant 
reinforcement of equity. 

 Solvency exceeds the maximum established 
threshold of 25% based on a high level of 
computable own funds with respect to assets 
that are characterized by their moderate risk 
profile. 

 
The business model included in the Strategic Plan 
2017-2020/21 is structured into 3 large lines of 
business, for which specific strategies have been 
developed: 

1. Securities Services, focused on maintaining 
the leadership of the depository business 
through acquisition opportunities that arise 
in the domestic market, expanding the 
validity of existing contracts and 
supplementing the services offered within 
the Securities Services value chain and 
promoting the entry into other markets. 
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2. Treasury, focused on seeking profitability 
despite the difficult economic context, by 
offering new services and maintaining the 
leadership held in the Notes business in Spain. 

3. Banking services, providing the market with 
multiple solutions in a mature business that 
is conditioned by new players and regulatory 
changes, with the objective of attaining and 
increasing the degree of customer loyalty, 
generating economies of scale and 
establishing collaborate of models in order to 
obtain new business. 

Furthermore, the Strategic Plan presents 
different components for each of the core 
businesses: 

 Services that form part of the main stage in 
each of the 3 main lines of business, the 
objective of which is to maintain and 
consolidate traditional businesses. 

 Incremental initiatives: In 2016 nine 
initiatives in total were identified to grow 
the businesses. Over recent years these 
initiatives have been developed in a 
heterogeneous manner, and some of them 
have redirected their initial strategy to adapt 
to changes in the market and in customer 
interests.  In addition, new initiatives have 
been created in response to changing market 
needs and new business opportunities. During 
these five years, initiatives have been 
incorporated into the central scenario 
services, others have become new services, 
and some will continue to be developed in 
the new 2022-24 Strategic Plan. 

 Initiatives aimed at the cultural 
transformation of the Entity, such as the 
adaptation of spaces, talent management, 
agile methodologies or the digital workplace. 

 Disruptive levers: In this section the Strategic 
Plan calls for the continuous analysis of 
potential corporate opportunities that could 
substantially change the size of the Entity. 

In overall terms, we note that in 2021 the 
following development took place with respect to 
each of the components of the Strategic Plan: 

 Main Stage:  The year was characterized by 
a gradual recovery in the levels of activity 
and an economic recovery in households and 
companies, leading to an increase in savings 
and investment. In this context, one of the 
main investment vehicles has been mutual 

funds, which have recorded exceptional 
growth in assets during the year, supported 
by net subscriptions and portfolio 
revaluation, which has generated higher 
profits from the Securities Services line. In 
addition, the increase in the activity has 
benefited other services rendered, such as all 
those linked to the payments area, while the 
Treasury line has successfully taken 
advantage of the fluctuations experienced by 
the financial markets. All this has allowed us 
to end the year with a gross margin above the 
forecasts of the Strategic Plan. 

 The development of incremental initiatives 
has been uneven. Nearly all of them have 
been completed, either as part of existing 
services or as new services, except for three 
(Custody of Crypto assets; Securities 
Lending; and Strategic Agreements in Means 
of Payment), which will continue to be 
developed in the new 2022-24 Strategic Plan. 

 Regarding the Transformation Initiatives, 
over the last five years we have worked 
intensively on the digital transformation 
plans, with significant progress in their 
implementation and maturity. In the last two 
years, the progress made during the first 
years of the Plan in terms of digitalization 
and transformation has been fundamental in 
order to manage the covid-19 crisis without 
impact at the operational level. In this sense, 
the extension of a culture centered on 
customer vision, together with measures 
such as teleworking, team virtualization, the 
implementation of agile methodologies, the 
use of collaborative tools and the 
transformation of the spaces that accompany 
these new ways of working, have been crucial 
in transforming Cecabank into an increasingly 
agile and flexible entity, capable of adapting 
to any context quickly without impacting the 
level and quality of the service provided to 
our customers. 

 With regard to the Disruptive Levers, a total 
of 44 potential corporate operations 
distributed throughout all of Cecabank's 
business areas have been analyzed over the 
course of the Strategic Plan. This component 
of the Plan will continue its course in the new 
Strategic Plan 2022-24, with the same 
operation. 

The following is a summary of the evolution of the 
three lines of business over the course of the 
Strategic Plan, with the services and initiatives 
that they encompass: 
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2.1. Securities Services 
The Securities Services business consists of 2 large 
lines of services (Depository and Securities) and 3 
incremental initiatives. 

This business has focused on consolidating the 
depository, custody and settlement service, 
consolidating Cecabank's leadership, 
accompanying our main customers on the path of 
growth in the field of collective investment. In 
addition, during 2021, a significant number of 
integration processes have been successfully 
undertaken in both the depositary and 
institutional custody areas.  Processes that have 
reached entities across the entire spectrum of 
activity, including non-financial group 
management companies, fintech’s, securities 
firms, and insurance companies, covering and 
diversifying the bank's client base and type of 
clients, and demonstrating the excellent 
reception in the industry of Cecabank's value 
proposition in this area. The performance in 
Securities Services has been very positive, with 
the following milestones standing out: 

 Signing of the strategic agreement to 
integrate Bankia's depository business, which 
will enable the transfer of more than EUR 
30,000 million of assets in mutual funds, 
SICAVs and pension funds by 2021. 

 Integration of VidaCaixa's own custody 
portfolio and assets related to the unit-linked 
business. 

 Integration of the depository business of 
Bankoa (Abanca Group).  

 Integration of the depository business of 
Novo Banco (Abanca Group).  

 Integration of the pension fund depositary 
business of Fineco (Kutxabank Group). 

 The performance of our client managers has 
outperformed the rest of the market. The 
market leaders in subscriptions are entities 
deposited with Cecabank. 

 Signing of the agreement to integrate Dunas 
Capital's depository business. 

At the end of the year, we had EUR 213,000 
million in assets under custody and EUR 300,000 
million in balances under custody, up 118% and 
146%, respectively, compared to the levels at the 
beginning of the Strategic Plan. Thanks to this 
growth, the results obtained have made it 
possible to meet the ambitious target set for 
2021. 

With regard to the incremental Securities Services 
business initiatives included in the Strategic Plan, 
in addition to the aforementioned incorporation 
of clients, the catalogue of services provided was 
expanded with the incorporation of new services 
for voting at meetings, contingency for custody, 
tax accreditations and the launch of the Global 
Securities Solution for domestic equities. All of 
them have been incorporated into the central 
scenario, except for Digital Asset Custody, whose 
development will be undertaken in the new 2022-
24 Plan. 

2.2. Treasury 
The main stage consists of 3 services (financial 
activity, execution of variable income and Notes) 
each with incremental initiatives. 

Financial activity has been affected by the 
evolution of rates and the low volatility of the 
markets, in the first years of the Plan, which has 
penalized the financial margin. To the extent that 
the markets have been recovering in terms of 
volatility and after having implemented a 
portfolio rotation strategy, together with the 
increase in the volume intermediated with 
clients, it has been possible to reduce the 

negative differential with respect to the 
objectives set in the gross margin. 

The activity as market creators has been 
consolidated throughout the Strategic Plan. Each 
year it has acted as Co-lead in the different 
Treasury issues (approximately 3-5 per year). In 
2021, the Treasury has joined the Primary Dealers 
network (debt issuance - Next Generation EU). 

The banknote business has behaved contrary to 
that of the Chamber, since, although its behavior 
in the first years of the Plan was favored by the 
good evolution of tourism, it has been one of the 
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most affected businesses since the appearance of 
the pandemic and your revenue has dropped 
considerably since the second quarter of 2020.  

For its part, the Equity Execution business is a 
fully operational service that provides services to 
both external and internal clients. It enables the 
execution of managers, IFIs (International 
Financial Institutions) and corporates, among 
others, and also allows the routing of the retail 
operations of some IFIs with a guarantee of 

compliance with current regulations. Cecabank 
has positioned itself as one of the main equity 
brokers at a national level, ranking among the top 
ten in the ranking. 

The only initiative that has been put on stand-by 
is that of Securities Lending, pending final 
approval of the Ministerial Order that regulates 
this type of operation. For this reason, it has been 
decided to transfer it to the new EP 2022-2024 
pending its legislative development in the future. 

2.3. Banking services 
The Banking Services line of business includes 13 
different services, together with 5 incremental 
initiatives, in 3 distinct groupings: 

1. Payments: which includes the Payment 
Systems, Clearing and Discounting; Offshore 
Network; Payment Means; and the Foreign 
Exchange in Payment Networks, Strategic 
Payment Means Arrangements and FX Sharing 
initiatives. 

2. Digital Solutions: comprising the Treasury and 
Risk Support Platform; Data, Innovation and 
Reporting; eBanking and Digital Payments; 
Technology Services; and the Digital Services 
Extension, Digital Payments Platform and 
Blockchain initiatives. 

3. Other services: comprising the Associative 
Services and the Banking Training School. 

Banking Services revenues were in line with the 
initial forecast, despite the atypical nature of the 
year. At a more detailed level and grouped by the 
nature of the services provided, the following 
aspects are worth highlighting: 

The Payments business, the traditional 
processing and on-camera representation services 
have focused their efforts on renewing 
agreements with clients, in order to ensure the 
viability of these businesses in the medium term. 
In addition, new clients have been added, 
especially international banks, neo banks and 
corporates, together with the development of 
new services through the incremental initiatives 
(i.e. immediate payments such as ISCT or Bizum). 

The Digital Solutions business has focused, on the 
one hand, on supporting our clients in adapting to 
new regulations such as PSD2 (Payment Services 
Directive), Mifid II (Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive II) and Mifir (Markets in 
Financial Instruments Regulation), LCCI (Law 
Regulating Credit Contracts), EBA 3.0 (European 
Banking Authority) for financial institutions, 
Circular 5/2020 for payment institutions, and, on 
the other hand, on reaching collaboration 
agreements with our clients, such as with Minsait 
for outsourcing services, through which we have 
managed to increase and diversify our customer 
base. 

In parallel, the range of services has been 
expanded, for example with the web remittance 
generator, mandates and APIs (Program 
Application Interface), and in the Treasury and 
Risk Center, RRaaS (Regulatory Reporting as a 
Service) services have been expanded with 
coverage of EMIR (European Market Infrastructure 
Regulation) and MIFID II, SFTR (Securities 
Financing Transaction Regulation) compliance, 
the calculation of Capital for Market Risk (FRTB - 
Fundamental Review of the Trading Book) and 
Counterparty Risk (SA-CCR - Standardised 
Approach for Counterparty Credit Risk). 

The other services have followed an uneven 
evolution; while the activity of the Associative 
Services, linked to Cecabank's service contract in 
CECA, has continued with the development of 
regulatory cooperation projects and its role of 
representing the interests of its associates, the 
business of the Banking Training School has been 
reducing the volume of courses given, especially 
those in person, since the appearance of the 
pandemic. 
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As for the incremental initiatives, almost all of 
them have reached sufficient maturity to be 
integrated into the central scenario, except for 
the agreements with the strategic partners in 
means of payment (VISA and Diebold), which will 

continue to be developed in the new Strategic 
Plan, and the Blockchain initiative, which has 
been reoriented towards the field of digital 
assets. 

2.4. Internal transformation 
In 2018, the CKBe Smart culture transformation 
project was launched. The main objective of the 
project was the cultural transformation of the 
Entity leveraged on the extension of the use of 
agile methodologies. 

In 2021, the transformation project has achieved 
the following results since its start-up: 

1. More than 30% of the staff working under agile 
principles. 

2. Teleworking implemented and operating 
normally, as well as the digitalization of the main 
talent management processes. 

3. Expansion of the use of IT tools (both SW and 
HW) that facilitate collaboration and cooperation 
between teams. 

4. New space model implemented that promotes 
new ways of working: unassigned sites, no offices, 
different types of spaces according to their uses. 
First phase of the works completed and the rest 
of the phases in progress. 

In 2021, in parallel with the Entity's strategic 
planning process, a reflection on the 
transformation project was carried out to align it 
with the new Strategic Plan. 

At the end of 2021, the new CKBe Smart 2.0. 
project was launched, which continues to focus on 
transformation with Culture as a lever for change. 

2.5. Sustainability 
Both because of its strong banking tradition linked 
to the social dimension, and because of its 
vocation for the future, Cecabank is aware of the 
importance of carrying out its business 
considering ESG (Environmental, Social and 
Governance) factors. These considerations are 
part of the national, European and international 
economic agenda and Cecabank wishes to actively 
contribute. 

Sustainability management at Cecabank is 
structured around 4 pillars: 

I. The governance model in sustainability, 
which raises these aspects to the highest 
level of the organization, being the 
responsibility of the Board of Directors, 
which is supported in this function by the 
Audit Committee. At an operational level, 
Cecabank has a Sustainability Committee, 
which reports directly to the Management 
Committee and is in charge of defining the 
specific initiatives in this area, as well as 
monitoring them. The following are 
represented on this Committee: General 

Secretariat, Operations Area, Financial Area, 
Risks, Planning, Technological Services Area, 
Consulting, Quality and CSR, and the 
Resources Area. The Sustainability and 
Stakeholder Relations area is responsible for 
the secretary. 

II. The Sustainability Policy approved by the 
Board of Directors in 2019 and aligned with 
the Entity's values. 

III. The Sustainability Plan, which governs the 
actions to be carried out within the defined 
strategic horizon. In 2021, the Entity 
extended its 2018-2020 Sustainability Plan 
and continued to work on the defined 
sustainability axes. 

During 2021, the Entity began working on the 
definition of its new Strategic Sustainability Plan, 
which will be aligned with the 2022-2024 Strategic 
Business Plan that the Bank approved at the end 
of 2021 and which identifies sustainability as a 
growth vector. To this end, the Entity updated its 
materiality study. This study has made it possible 
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to identify and prioritize the most relevant social, 
environmental and governance aspects for its 
business and stakeholders in the current context. 
This analysis process has made it possible to 
establish the priority focuses of action in line with 

best practices, regulatory requirements and the 
main standards, sector trends, as well as 
guaranteeing the alignment of ESG aspects with 
business objectives. 

Cecabank has defined a total of 15 aspects, structured into four blocks (People, Planet, Prosperity and 
Governance), on which the Entity is currently working from a strategic perspective. 

   
 

People Planet Prosperity  Governance 

 Commitment to talent 
 People development 
 Equality, Diversity and 

Inclusion  
 Social impact 

 Climate change  
 Sustainable Business 

Development  
 Management and 

reduction of the 
Environmental 
Footprint. 

 Shareholder value and 
solvency  

 Quality and Excellence 
with the client 

 Cybersecurity and 
Information Protection 

 Digital innovation and 
development 

 Corporate governance 
 Risk Management, 

Suppliers and Custody 
 Ethics and Compliance  
 Transparency and 

communication  

 

IV. Our Alliances to achieve the objectives. 
Cecabank has built a network of alliances 
with which it seeks to contribute to the 
collective debate, participate in issues on 
the financial sustainability agenda (both 
national and international) and favor 
platforms for exchange and dialogue. The 
entity has a firm commitment to achieving 
the United Nations Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs), from which derives its 
participation in initiatives such as the Global 
Compact and is part of ESG associations such 
as Spansif or Forética. 

 
Below are some examples of activities and lines of 
sustainability carried out in 2021, we can 
highlight: 

 Customers and quality: The Entity has focused 
on three main focuses: 

• The maintenance and implementation of 
management systems for continuous 
improvement in those areas where 
certification provides a differential value. 

• Measurement and analysis of the Voice of the 
customer: To understand their needs and 
expectations, so that these are a lever for 
decision-making. 

• Improvement plans aimed at achieving the 
Entity's strategic objectives in terms of 
customer loyalty and the establishment of 
long-term relationships. 

 Issues related to talent: The people who 
provide services at Cecabank are its main 
asset. Therefore, during 2021 various 
initiatives are developed that favor: 

• Professional development through internal 
mobility and training. 

• Safety and health at work: with 0 
occupational accidents in the year. 

• Equal opportunities and non-discrimination. 
Some examples in 2021 are the adherence to 
the Diversity Charter (Fundación Diversidad) 
and the Empowering Women's Talent program 
and the mechanisms implemented, such as 
the Equality Plan. 

It should be noted that the Entity obtained 
in 2021 the EFR Certificate (Family 
Responsible Company) granted by the 
Masfamilia Foundation in terms of 
responsibility and respect for the 
reconciliation of personal, family and work 
life. 
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 Suppliers: Cecabank maintains a high level of 
commitment to its suppliers, since they are 
essential for the development of its business 
and a key link in its offer of products and 
services. In 2021, Cecabank has worked to 
incorporate sustainability aspects into its 
supplier approval process, seeking to align 
them with the Bank's sustainability values and 
policies. Additionally, the local purchase data 
stands out, which in 2021 amounted to 82.5%, 
highlighting the Entity's commitment to 
employment and Spanish society. 

 Social issues: The Entity has implemented 
specific contribution actions, which also 
promote pride of belonging in its employees. 

• 7th edition of the Program You Choose in 
which a total of 19 projects from various 
associations were presented (14 in the social 
field, 4 in the environmental field and 1 in the 
cultural field), which Cecabank supported 
with a grant of 97,000 euros. 

• Cecabank received the award for the social 
project financed with the funds of the "You 
Choose" Programme, "Employment post-
COVID: an opportunity to live" which, 
together with the Integra Foundation, has 
allowed 23 people in social exclusion, 
affected by COVID 19, to improve their 
employability through a program of personal 
strengthening and employment. 

• This year 2021, the successes in the different 
campaigns carried out between employees 
and Cecabank are noteworthy. Noteworthy is 
Operation Kilo with the Food Bank, the 
solidarity market carried out with various 
associations, aid to the Emergency 
Committee for the earthquake in Haiti, the 
blood donation campaign with the Red Cross, 
collaboration with Madre Coraje to collect 

clothing and footwear, the photographic 
exhibition held with Doctors of the World and 
the collaboration with the Sanders 
Foundation for the maintenance and 
organization of training in relation to 
financial education and digitization. 

 Environmental issues: the general reduction 
of consumption stands out, as well as the 
optimization and systematization in the 
measurement of the Carbon Footprint. In 2021, 
Cecabank took a further step in its 
commitment to the fight against Climate 
Change, offsetting its GHG emissions for 2020 
and becoming a carbon-neutral Entity. 

 Human Rights: Cecabank joined the Global 
Compact in February 2017 and in 2021 it has 
continued to work to spread its ten principles, 
based on Human Rights, labour, the 
environment and the fight against corruption. 
With respect to the 2021 financial year, the 
Entity has not identified any risks, nor has it 
received any complaints on the matter. 

 Issues relating to compliance and the fight 
against corruption and bribery: we continue 
to be certified by Aenor in the criminal risk 
organization and management system, which 
ensures continuous improvement in the 
management and performance of this aspect. 

 Tax and accounting information: Cecabank 
seeks to comply with regulations and eliminate 
any risk that could arise from compliance with 
regulations. 

For more information about Cecabank's 
management models and performance in 
terms of sustainability, see the Consolidated 
Non-Financial Information Statement, 
corresponding to the year ended December 
31, 2021. 

2.6. Strategic business objectives 
In addition, and in line with the strategic plan and 
the Entity's budgets, commercial objectives are 
defined every year to promote and intensify the 
Entity's commercial activity in order to achieve 
the greatest possible impact on the income 
statement through diversification and greater 
customer loyalty. 

In 2021, in general terms, not only have the 
commercial objectives set been achieved, but one 
of the most relevant figures in new revenues has 
been achieved, reflecting the growth of the entity 
and the greater robustness in the revenue mix. 



 

A N N U A L  A C C O U N T S  |  C O N S O L I D A T E D  A C C O U N T S  2 0 2 1       1 3 4  

In the detail shown in the table below, all indicator results have exceeded 100% of the target. 

 

 

     

 

  

 

New turnover   New revenues   Contracted negotiations   New customers 

Objetive 
Achievement 
level 

  
Objetive 

Achievement 
level 

  
Objetive 

Achievement 
level 

  
Objetive 

Achievement 
level 

36 M€ 107%   7 M€ 178%   114 131%   41 115% 
Includes the actual impact on 
the profit and loss account of 
new contracts during the 
current year (EUR 38.2 
million). Most of this income 
is of a recurring nature and 
largely stems from transfers 
of depository business from 
various customers. 

  It includes the estimated and 
annualised billing of the new 
contracts signed in the period. 
This is the indicator that most 
exceeded the target set, 
reaching a figure of 12.6 
million euros, thanks mainly 
to the increased loyalty of our 
customers, which is also 
reflected in the successful 
negotiations. 

  This includes all new or 
successfully concluded 
negotiations or renewals for 
which the estimated income 
is above €10,000/year. The 
target for the year was 114 
negotiations and the year 
ended with a total of 149 
contracted negotiations. Of 
note was the contribution of 
some business lines in 
achieving the target (i.e. 
Securities Services, Treasury, 
Payments, Clearing and 
Discounting, Digital Payments 
and Electronic Banking). 

  This includes customers who 
have contracted a service or 
product and who have not 
contracted or been provided 
with any service from 
Cecabank in the last 3 years. 
Thanks to the intense 
commercial activity carried 
out in the pursuit of revenue 
diversification, 47 new 
customers have been 
reached. Many of these new 
customers do not, for the 
time being, have a significant 
impact on the Bank's income 
statement. 

2.7. Governance model of the Strategic Plan 
In 2021, the governance model of the Strategic 
Plan has been maintained in order to ensure that 
the objectives defined in the Plan are met. This 
governance model is made up of different levels 
of monitoring: 

 

 

Board of Directors receives a complete monitoring 
report on a quarterly basis that provides details of 

the evolution of the implementation of the 
Strategic Plan, the main stage and on strategic 
initiatives. These reports are debated by the 
Board of Directors. 

In 2021, the Board of Directors played an 
important role in decision-making on the Entity's 
strategy, as it was involved in the strategic 
reflection carried out in all areas for the 
preparation of the next Strategic Plan 2022-2024, 
which was approved on 30 November. 

For its part, the Strategy Committee met monthly 
during 2021, with a twofold objective: 

1. Review of the Strategic Plan globally through 
the approved monitoring methodology, for its 
periodic reporting to the Board of Directors. 

2. Preparation of strategic planning for 2021 
through detailed analyses of the Entity's 
various businesses of the Entity. 

3. Elaboration of the Strategic Plan 2022 -2024. 

Governance Structure 

Board of Directors 

Monitoring Committee 

Sponsors 

Strategic Coordination 

Initiatives- Services 
Working Teams 
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3.  2021 statement of profit or loss 

 

  
 Budgeted  

2021 (*) 
Deviation 

Real 2021 (*) Amount(*) % 

Financial margin (**) 76,911 62,828 14,083 22 

Fee and commission and operating income (***) 228,769 210,214 18,555 9 

Gross income 305,680 273,042 32,638 12 

Operating expenses (including provisions) (****) (212,128) (199,496) (12,632) 6 

Profit from operations 93,552 73,546 20,006 27 

Other income and expenses 48 - 48 - 

Profit before tax 93,600 73,546 20,054 27 

Income tax (24,542) (20,860) (3,682) 18 

Profit for the year 69,058 52,686 16,372 31 

(*) Amounts in Thousand euro. 
(**) Including net interest income, dividend income, gains or losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, gains 
or losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, gains or losses 
from hedge accounting, exchange differences and gains or losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. 
(***) Including fee and commission income, fee and commission expenses, other operating income and other operating expenses. 
(****) Including administrative expenses, amortisation charge, provisions or reversal of provisions, and impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Following is an analysis of the various headings 
making up the income statement: 

 Financial margin: with a more favourable 
performance compared to the budget, it 
showed a positive deviation of EUR 14.1 
million. Among the most noteworthy factors in 
achieving this margin were the good results 
obtained with active portfolio management 
mainly in the first part of the year, together 
with those generated by other operations, such 
as fx swaps or futures and options that act as 
management hedges. On the other hand, the 
Banknotes margin showed a negative deviation 
against budget, as the expected upturn in 
foreign tourism did not take place. 

 Fees and commissions and operating income: 
These were EUR 18.6 million above the 
budgeted figure. The positive deviation was 
mainly in Securities Services, due to the 
growth of the depository business and the 
favourable evolution of deposited assets, 
which was much higher than the initial 
forecast. Moreover, Treasury and other 
businesses such as Digital Payments and e-
Commerce, Payment Systems, Clearing and 
Discounting, Electronic Banking and the 
Treasury and Risk Service Centre also posted 
higher net revenues. On the other hand, other 
businesses such as the Foreign Network, Means 
of Payment and Reporting also 
underperformed. On the other hand, there was 
a larger contribution to the FUR and FGD in 

2021, which meant a deviation of EUR -2.2 
million. 

 Gross income: this reflects the total net 
income from operating activities, which 
amounted to EUR 305.7 million, 12% above the 
budget, for the reasons mentioned above. 

 Operating expenses: the items that make up 
operating expenses have had a mixed 
performance. On the one hand, personnel 
expenses have risen by 45% over budget, 22.3 
million euros, due to the allocation associated 
with the Redundancy Plan. On the other hand, 
there is a positive deviation from the budget 
for other administrative expenses of EUR 1.8 
million, due to cost savings associated with 
surveillance and fund transfers, representation 
and travel, and fixed asset entertainment.   
Depreciation was EUR 2.5 million above 
budget, due to the growth of its variable 
component linked to the depository business 
given the positive evolution of this business. 
And finally, a higher volume of provisions and 
impairment of assets was recovered compared 
to budget by 10.4 million, mainly due to the 
improvement in the surveillance portfolio, 
with recoveries also arising from country risk. 
On the provisions side, there were tax and 
operational recoveries. 

 Profit for the year: the actual net profit after 
tax was EUR 69.1 million higher than budget 
by  31%. 
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4. External credit ratings 

The ratings assigned to Cecabank by the 
international agencies Fitch Ratings, Moody's and 
Standard & Poor’s at 31 December 2021 were as 
follows: 

 Short-term Long-term 
FITCH RATINGS F-3 BBB- 

MOODY’S P-2 Baa2 

STANDARD & POOR'S A-2 BBB+ 

 
In 2021, the three rating agencies reaffirmed the 
long and short-term ratings assigned to Cecabank 
and maintained the Outlook at stable. 

Among the strengths of Cecabank taken into 
consideration by the rating agencies are the 
specialisation of Cecabank's business, which has a 
leading position in Spain in the depository 
segment, reinforced by the acquisitions and 
business expansions carried out in recent years, 
notably the acquisition of Kutxabank's depository 
in 2020 and Bankia's depository in February 2021. 
They also positively assess that the bank 
maintains a moderate risk appetite, as well as 
satisfactory capital buffers and adequate funding 
and liquidity. 

5. Risk management 

Notes 22, 23, 24, 25 and 26 to the Entity's financial statements include the information relating 
to its risk management objectives, policies and procedures, as well as its exposure by type of risk. 

6. Cecabank corporate governance during 2021 

Cecabank's corporate governance is made up of a set of rules, principles and policies that regulate the 
composition, structure and operation of the Governing Bodies (the General Shareholders' Meeting, the 
Board of Directors and its Committees), which are reviewed and /o updated periodically to adapt to 
the best national and international practices. 

 
 
On March 23, 2021, Cecabank held the Ordinary 
General Shareholders' Meeting exclusively 
telematically, that is, without the physical 
presence of its shareholders or representatives. 
However, shareholders were able to fully exercise 
all their rights to attend and participate in the 

meeting in real time. The Meeting was held for 
the purpose of approving, among others, the 
annual accounts, non-financial information 
statement, the renewal of an independent 
director, the modification of the Articles of 
Association, the modification of the Regulations 

General Shareholders' Meeting 

Board of Directors 

Audit Committee Appointments 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee Risk Committee 
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of the General Meeting, as well as the approval of 
the director remuneration policy for the years 
2022 to 2024.  

The administration, management and 
representation of Cecabank corresponds to its 
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has the 
broadest powers for the administration of the 
Entity and, except in matters reserved to the 
competence of the General Shareholders' 
Meeting, in accordance with the provisions of the 
applicable legislation and the Bylaws, it is the 
maximum decision-making body and the person 
responsible for the risks assumed by the Entity.  

In relation to the composition of the Board of 
Directors, during the 2021 financial year, two 
proprietary directors resigned, an independent 
director was renewed and a non-executive Vice 
President was appointed. As of December 31, 
2021, the Board is made up of ten members, of 
which five are proprietary directors, four 
independent directors and one executive 
director. 

The Board of Directors meets, on an ordinary 
basis, monthly in accordance with the work plan 

that is approved annually, as well as 
extraordinarily when deemed necessary. During 
this financial year, the Board of Directors held 
eleven meetings. In consideration of the evolution 
of the pandemic, seven meetings were held online 
and the remaining four were held in person. 

Among the matters dealt with by the Board of 
Directors during 2021, the review of the economic 
and financial information, the analysis of the 
regulatory environment and business aspects, as 
well as the approval of the strategic plan for the 
period 2022-2024 stand out. 

In compliance with the regulations on capital 
companies and on the organization, supervision 
and solvency of credit institutions, Cecabank has 
set up four committees (Audit Committee, 
Appointments Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and Risk Committee), made up of 
directors not executive directors and all of them 
chaired by independent directors. The 
Committees, with their powers of supervision and 
advice, assist the Board in the exercise of its 
powers. During the 2021 financial year, the 
different committees held a total of nineteen 
meetings. 

7.Significant events after the reporting period 

After 31 December 2021 and up to 17 February 2022, the date on which these consolidated financial 
statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Entity, no significant event has occurred 
that should be included in the accompanying financial statements in order to give a true and fair view of the 
net assets, financial position, results of operations, changes in equity and cash flows of Cecabank. 

8. Business objectives for 2022 

Throughout the last Strategic Plan 2017-
2020/21, very ambitious commercial 
objectives were established, aligned and 
focused on the diversification of the customer 
portfolio and with an impact on the income 
statement. The 2022 commercial objectives 
are one of the complementary tools to the new 
2022-24 Strategic Plan that help to achieve the 
objectives set, focused on consolidating our 
position in the Securities Services and 
Transformation market.  

Objectives for the financial year 2022. 
A series of premises have been used to set the 
business objectives for 2022: 

 The Negotiations contracted indicator that 
includes the new negotiations successfully 
closed, whose estimated income is above 
€25,000 per year. This indicator has been 
redefined, with an increase in the threshold 
(€10,000) to collect only the efforts in 
operations that provide the greatest impact to 
the income statement. 
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 The indicator of New clients that collects the 
clients who have contracted a service or 
product and who have not contracted or have 
not been provided with any service for 3 years; 
to align it with that of negotiations, only those 
new clients who acquire services for a turnover 
of more than €25,000 will be computed. 

The commercial activity targets set for 2022 are 
as follows: 

6,323 thousand euros of new turnover, i.e. 
potential annual turnover of new contracts. The 
target set for this indicator does not consider any 
corporate operations and is conservative 
compared to previous years, in line with the 
strategy of consolidation and transformation of 
the current business. 

10,023 thousand euros of new revenues in 
the year (actual revenues in 2022 from new 
contracts). This is the most relevant indicator 
of all as it reflects the impact of the 
commercial successes that will materialise 
during the year. 

76 Negotiations contracted > €25,000, which 
means 6 agreements/month of contracts or 
renewals on average. 

24 New customers. Despite the difficulty of 
maintaining constant growth in this indicator, 
the target set for 2022 endorses the 
commitment to diversify the clients on our 
income statement set out in the Strategic 
Plan. 

9. Treasury share transactions 

In the period from 1 January to 31 December 2021, there were no treasury shares on the Bank's balance 
sheet. 

10. Payments to suppliers 

Pursuant to Article 262 of the Consolidated Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law, note 36 to the 
Entity's financial statements includes the disclosures on the periods of payment to suppliers. 

11. Statement of Non-Financial Information 

In accordance with the provisions of Law 11/2018, 
of 28 December, amending the Commercial Code, 
the revised text of the Capital Companies Act 
approved by Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010, of 2 
July, and Law 22/2015, of 20 July, on the Auditing 
of Accounts, with regard to non-financial 
information and diversity, the Cecabank Group 
has prepared the Consolidated Statement of Non-
Financial Information for 2021, which is included 
as a separate document attached to the 
consolidated management report for 2021, in 
accordance with article 44 of the Code of 
Commerce. The individual information 

corresponding to  Cecabank, S.A. has been 
included in this separate document attached to 
the consolidated management report, which will 
be filed with the Madrid Mercantile Registry. 
Information on investment in R&D&I and disabled 
personnel is collected in this statement. 



La parte de imagen con el identificador de relación rId1 no se encontró en el archivo.
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Appendix.  

Non-Financial Information Statement pursuant to Law 
11/2018, of 28 December, in relation to non- financial 
information and diversity 

This report on the Consolidated Non-Financial 
Information Statement of Cecabank (hereinafter, 
also called "the Entity" or "the Bank"), is 
formulated and published in compliance with Law 
11/2018, of December 28, by which The Code of 
Commerce, the consolidated text of the Law on 
Capital Companies approved by Royal Legislative 
Decree 1/2010, of July 2, and Law 22/2015, of 
July 20, on Auditing of Accounts, in non-financial 
information and diversity. 

For the preparation of this Non-Financial 
Information Statement, the internationally 
recognized Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 
Sustainability Reporting Guide has been taken as 
the reference standard, following the principles 
and content defined by the most recent version of 
the guide. updated, GRI Standards. 

In this context, through the Non-Financial 
Information Statement, the Entity has the 
objective of reporting on environmental, social 
and personnel and human rights issues and those 
related to the fight against corruption and bribery 
that are relevant to the Entity in the execution of 
its own business activities. In order to determine 
these issues, Cecabank has worked during the year 
on a materiality study that can be found in section 
01F of this Non-Financial Information Statement. 

Likewise, and in accordance with the provisions of 
Law 11/2018 of December 28, it is reported that 
this Non-Financial Information Statement is part 
of the Consolidated Management Report of the 
Cecabank Group, presented in a separate 
document. 

In response to these material aspects, the main 
lines of extra-financial performance related to 
environmental, social, personnel and human 
rights issues, and those related to the fight 
against corruption and bribery are described. 
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01. About Cecabank 

COVID-19 
Since the start of the pandemic, Cecabank has 
shown great concern for guaranteeing the safety 
and health of its employees and their families 
and, at the same time, maintaining the high 
quality of customer service. Proof of this was 
that, from the start of the pandemic, the Entity 
launched the Continuity and Contingency Plan for 
COVID-19. 

Cecabank has continued to work in 2021 on health 
protection measures through protocols in three 
areas: Protection measures (cleaning, hygiene, 
clinical tests, etc.), guidelines regarding the use 
of common areas, travel, use of meeting rooms 
meeting, among others and facilitators that 
guarantee the necessary technical means to 
maintain protection in any action that is carried 
out, At the beginning of 2021, the Entity was 
recognized by the Community of Madrid with the 

"Madrid Guarantee" distinctive for the measures 
adopted and the solidarity activity around the 
prevention and minimization of the impact of 
COVID-19, In this way, Cecabank's compliance 
with the regulations related to the prevention of 
the virus and those extraordinary adopted to offer 
its employees and customers the best experience 
and the best services. 

In line with its commitment to society and Public 
Administrations, Cecabank joined the CEOE 
Foundation's Sumamos Salud+Economía Plan in 
February 2021, in order to support the 
Administration in mitigating the adverse effects 
caused by the virus , Adherence to the Sumamos 
Plan incorporates new preventive measures, 
among which the performance of periodic 
diagnostic tests for employees who come to the 
office, key to curbing its spread, stands out. 

01A. Our business model 
Cecabank is a Spanish wholesale bank that offers 
innovative financial solutions and accompanies its 
clients in their projects to achieve their business 
goals. 

Cecabank has its headquarters in Madrid and is 
present in the main European cities. The Entity 
has an operational branch in Lisbon and a 
representative office in London and Frankfurt, 
thus covering the markets of the United Kingdom, 
Portugal, Germany, France, Benelux and 
Switzerland. 

As of December 31, the Entity grouped its 
products and services into three business lines: 
Securities Services, Treasury and Banking Services 
-dividing it into Digital Solutions and Payments: 

1. Securities Services, securities depository and 
custody service, as well as value-added 
services in the securities and foreign 
exchange post-trading chain. This line of 
business is focused on maintaining leadership 
in the depository business, complementing 
the Securities Services value chain service 

offering and boosting penetration in other 
markets. 

2. Treasury management, focusing on 
increasing the returns, completing the 
offering with new services and maintaining 
its leadership in the banknote business in 
Spain. 

3. Banking services, providing the market with 
multiple solutions in a mature business that 
is conditioned by new players and regulatory 
changes, with the objective of attaining and 
increasing the degree of customer loyalty, 
generating economies of scale and 
establishing collaborate of models in order to 
obtain new business. These banking services 
can be divided into the following: 

a. Payments: includes the Payment Systems, 
Clearing and Discounting; Foreign 
Network; Payment Methods, Digital 
Payments and e-commerce services and 
the Payment Network Foreign Exchange, 
Strategic Payment Arrangements and FX 
Sharing initiatives.  
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b. Digital Solutions: Comprising the services 
of the Treasury and Risk Services Centre, 
Electronic Banking; Reporting; 
Technology Services; Service Management 
and Technology Projects; and the Digital 
Services Enhancement and Blockchain 
initiatives.  

Cecabank also provides the necessary associative 
services for the proper functioning of the CECA 
banking association, focused on the 
dissemination, defense and representation of the 
interests of its member entities. 

For further information about the services that 
Cecabank offers, click on the link on the 
corporate website1.  

During the 2021 financial year, the Entity has 
worked on the preparation of the 2022-2024 
Strategic Business Plan, which is committed to 
transformation to consolidate growth. This new 
Strategic Plan, approved by the Board of Directors 
in the last quarter of the year, regroups its main 
businesses into three lines, Securities Services, 
Payments and Treasury, and identifies 
Sustainability as a growth vector. In this way, 
Cecabank has set as a strategic objective the 
fulfillment of the expectations of the interest 
groups in the three basic pillars of sustainability 
(Environmental, Social and Governance). 

01B. Mission, Vision y Values 

   

Mission  

Support financial entities and 
other corporations from the 
experience of a Spanish wholesale 
bank with international 
projection.. 

Vision 

 Cecabank aspires to 
consolidate its leadership 
position as a custodian bank 
and provide specialized 
solutions for all types of 
financial entities and national 
and international 
corporations. 

 Accompany your clients, 
building lasting relationships, 
so that each decision is the 
result of mutual trust. 

Values 

Specialization, Solvency, 
Commitment and Sustainability 

 

 
  

 
1 https://www.Cecabank.es/sobre-nosotros/ 
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01C. Good Corporate Governance  
Cecabank's corporate governance is made up of a set of rules, principles and policies that regulate the 
composition, structure and operation of the Governing Bodies (the General Shareholders' Meeting, the Board 
of Directors and its Committees), which are reviewed and /o updated periodically to adapt to national and 
international best practices. 

 

 

Cecabank's General Shareholders' Meeting is the 
highest body for the representation and 
participation of shareholders in Cecabank. 
Cecabank's shareholder portfolio is made up of the 
following entities: 

   

Entity 
Number of 

shares 
% 

shareholding 

CECA 100.000.000 89,08 % 

CaixaBank, S.A. 5.907.921 5,26 % 

Kutxabank, S.A. 1.352.325 1,20 % 

Unicaja Banco, S.A. 2.188.398 1,95 % 

Ibercaja Banco, S.A. 765.561 0,68 % 

Abanca Corporación Bancaria, 
S.A. 712.677 0,63 % 

Banco Bilbao Vizcaya 
Argentaria, S.A. 644.683 0,57 % 

Banco Sabadell, S.A. 574.171 0,51 % 

C.A. y M.P. Ontinyent 57.920 0,05 % 

Caixa D’Estalvis de Pollença 52.884 0,05 % 

The administration, management and 
representation of Cecabank corresponds to its 
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has the 
broadest powers for the administration of the 
Entity and, except in matters reserved to the 
competence of the General Shareholders' 
Meeting, in accordance with the provisions of the 
applicable legislation and the Bylaws, it is the 
maximum decision-making body and the person 
responsible for the risks assumed by the Entity. 

The current composition of the Entity's Board of 
Directors is detailed in the “corporate 
information” space on Cecabank's website. As of 
December 31, 2021, the Board of Directors is 
made up of ten members, of which five are 
proprietary directors, four independent directors 
and one executive director. 

  

General Shareholders' Meeting 

Board of Directors 

Audit Committee Appointments 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee Risk Committee 

Managing Director 

Steering committee 
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Board composition 

 
In addition, in compliance with the regulations on 
capital companies and on the organization, 
supervision and solvency of credit institutions, 
Cecabank has set up four committees, with their 
supervisory and advisory powers, which assist the 
Board in the exercise of its powers. These 
Committees are the Audit Committee, the 
Appointments Committee, the Remuneration 
Committee and the Risk Committee. All of them 
are made up of non-executive directors and the 
presidency is held by independent directors. 

In accordance with the provisions of their 
respective regulations, the committees carry out, 
among others, the following functions: 

 Audit Committee: Supervises and assesses the 
effectiveness of the Entity's internal control, 
internal audit, and risk management systems, 
as well as supervises the process of preparing 
and presenting the mandatory financial 
information and presenting recommendations 
or proposals to the governing body, aimed at 
safeguarding its integrity. 

 Risk Committee: Advises the Board on setting 
and monitoring the Entity's risk tolerance 
levels and evaluates the application of this 
strategy by Senior Management and its results, 
as well as knowing and periodically analyzing 
the situation of solvency, liquidity and, in 
general, of the Entity's risks. 

 Remuneration Committee: Advises the Board 
in relation to the Entity's remuneration policies 
(remuneration policies for Directors, as well as 
for senior managers), and their alignment with 
the maintenance of risk tolerance levels.  

 Appointments Committee: Advises the Board 
regarding candidates for vacant positions on 
the Board of Directors, as well as assesses the 
balance of knowledge, capacity, diversity and 
experience of the Board and compliance with 
the suitability requirements of its members. 

Full details on the composition, functions and 
operation of the General Meeting, the Board of 
Directors and the specialised Committees can be 
found in both the Articles of Association and their 
operating regulations, which are available in the 
"corporate information" section of Cecabank’s 
corporate website2.  

In addition, Cecabank has a Management 
Committee which is responsible for deciding on 
matters submitted directly to it by the Board of 
Directors, or those matters submitted by the 
General Manager prior to their approval by the 
Board of Directors, as well as approving the rules 
of conduct and internal regulations of the entity 
which are not the responsibility of the Board of 
Directors. This Committee, made up of the 
entity's senior management, is chaired by the 
General Manager, with the Secretary General of 
the Board of Directors acting as Secretary of the 
Committee. However, its meetings may be 
attended, with the right to speak but not to vote, 
by other employees of the entity who are required 
by the Chairman of the Committee. 

01D. Risk Management 
Cecabank's Board of Directors is ultimately 
responsible for the risks that the Entity assumes 
in the performance of its activities. Thus, it is this 
body that determines the general policies 
regarding risk assumption. Likewise, this body is 
the promoter of the corporate risk culture aimed 

 
2 https://www.Cecabank.es/sobre-nosotros/ 

at ensuring efficient internal control systems and 
rigorous and complete risk management and 
measurement processes.  

The risk management philosophy is based on 
rigorous criteria of prudence, in a manner 

4

5

1

Indpendent adviser Proprietary Directors Exxecutive adviser

https://www.cecabank.es/sobre-nosotros/
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consistent with the commercial strategy and aims 
to ensure efficient use of the capital assigned to 
the business units. The results of applying this 
philosophy translate into a conservative risk 
profile. where high levels of solvency and a 
comfortable liquidity situation stand out. 

The information on the Bank's risk policy is 
expanded in: the Organizational Structure and 
Governance Practices report, the Entity's 
Consolidated Management Report, the 
Information of Prudential Relevance (IRP) report 
and the General Control Framework, available on 
the corporate website3. 

The entity has a risk management and control 
model based on three lines of defense and has 
established processes for the identification, 
prevention, mitigation and control of financial 
and non-financial risks that are material to the 
entity.  

Cecabank's wholesale approach focuses on serving 
professional customers with a high degree of 
sophistication in their activity, with long-lasting 
relationships of mutual trust. In this framework, 
the management and control of non-financial risks 
are fundamental aspects. 

Management and control of non-
financial risks 

The participation of Senior Management in risk 
processes is articulated through a structure of 
Committees appointed by the Board of Directors. 
Specifically, the Compliance and Operational Risk 
Committee is the body of the entity through which 
this is structured. participation in the 

management, monitoring and control of non-
financial risks and in the development and 
implementation of risk policies that ensure the 
maintenance of the approved risk profile. For the 
development of its functions, it has support units 
for different committees, among which is the 
Committee for the Prevention of Money 
Laundering and Financing of Terrorism or the Tax 
Committee. 

For its part, there is a Corporate Conduct 
Committee whose function is to ensure the proper 
functioning of the communication channel 
established in matters related to the Code of 
Corporate Conduct. This committee, which 
reports at least annually to the Audit Committee, 
informs to the Compliance and Operational Risk 
Committee, when from the analysis and resolution 
of the complaints it is determined that there has 
been an event of loss of operational risk, as well 
as the operation of the complaints channel from 
the point of view of criminal risk, its state of 
processing and the final result of the actions 
carried out. 

The entity incorporates within the risks identified 
in its Risk Tolerance Framework the risks related 
to sustainability, thus committing itself to the 
achievement of objectives linked to responsible 
and sustainable management and ethical and 
transparent behavior, against gender inequalities. 
and in favor of reconciling work and family life. 

These sustainability objectives are incorporated 
as part of the credit risk admission analysis of 
customers and counterparties and of the supplier 
analysis process, validating that they share 
Cecabank's ethical, social and environmental 
values. 

 
  

 
3 https://www.Cecabank.es/sobre-nosotros/ 

https://www.cecabank.es/sobre-nosotros/
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The entity has established different mechanisms for the control and management of non-financial risks. In 
this way, the following stand out: 

Non-financial risks Main control and management mechanisms 

 

Social and  
governance risk 

 Cecabank has a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy that it develops through its 
own Sustainability Plan and compliance with which is reported through the 
Sustainability Committee. 

 The entity promotes ethical and transparent behavior and seeks equal 
opportunities between men and women. To this end, it has an Equality and 
Diversity Policy whose objective is to promote the presence of the 
underrepresented sex in decision-making positions or functions, improving the 
possibilities for women to access positions of responsibility, reducing inequalities 
and reconciling family and work life. 

 Internal and external reporting procedure. In this sense, Cecabank prepared in 
2021 the Control Framework for the State of Non-Financial Information so that 
the information flows in a more agile and structured manner, developing and 
leaving evidence of the internal control mechanisms that ensure the reliability 
and consistency of the information. In this Framework, the Entity established 
three levels of control in the contents of the Non-Financial Information: the 
Sustainability department, responsible for preparing the Report, a secondary 
control carried out by the Transversal Risks and Coordination Unit, integrated 
within the area of Risks and Compliance and a tertiary control carried out by 
Internal Audit. 

 

Risk related to compliance 
and prevention of 
corruption and bribery 

 The entity has implemented and maintains a Criminal Risk Organization and 
Management System, which has specific internal regulations, made up of a 
Criminal Compliance Policy, a Backbone System Document and a Roles and 
Responsibilities Document. Said System was certified by AENOR in 2018 in 
accordance with the UNE 19601 standard for criminal compliance, having renewed 
said certification in December 2021 until 2024. 

 Among others, all social initiatives carried out by the entity, which entail a 
disbursement of funds, are subject to the necessary control mechanisms in order 
to ensure compliance with internal and external procedures and regulations in 
the operational field, safeguarding of assets and accounting financial information. 

 

Reputational Risk   

 Aspects related to sustainability form part of the areas of risk identified by the 
Entity within the reputational risk analysis of clients. 

The entity incorporates the analysis of public information on potential Cecabank 
customers, such as the existence of a Sustainability Plan, its organizational 
structure in this field or the offer of responsible products and services. 

 

Environmental Risk 

 In 2021, Cecabank continued to work on analyzing how climate change and the 
transition to a low-emissions economy can generate risks that need to be 
managed, not only as a new type of risk but also as a manifestation of the risk 
categories already existing, seeking its integration within the risk management 
carried out from the different risk units of the Entity.  

To this end, it continues to develop a roadmap for the definition and 
management of environmental risks, following the expectations of the Bank of 
Spain. 
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01E. Our commitment to sustainability 
Both because of its strong banking tradition linked to the social dimension, and because of its vocation for 
the future, Cecabank is aware of the importance of carrying out its business considering ESG (Environmental, 
Social and Governance) factors. These considerations are part of the national, European and international 
economic agenda and Cecabank wishes to actively contribute.  

The Entity's Sustainability is structured around 4 pillars:  

    

01 
The governance model in 
sustainability, which 
raises these aspects to 
the highest level of the 
organization. 

02 
The Sustainability 
Policy, aligned with the 
Entity's values. 

03 
The Sustainability Plan, 
which governs the 
actions to be carried out 
within the defined 
strategic horizon. 

04 
Our Alliances to achieve 
the objectives 

Sustainability Governance 

To carry out these objectives, the Entity has an 
organizational structure that facilitates the 
development of the defined lines of action. 
Following the best practices in the matter, 
Sustainability is at the highest level of the 
organization, being the responsibility of the Board 
of Directors, which delegates this function to the 
Audit Committee.  

At an operational level, Cecabank has a 
Sustainability Committee, which reports directly 

to the Management Committee and is in charge of 
defining the specific initiatives in this area, as 
well as monitoring them. All areas of the Entity 
are represented on this Committee and the 
Department of Sustainability and Stakeholder 
Relations is responsible for its secretariat. The 
Committee meets periodically and during 2021 it 
met twice, in the first and second semesters of 
the year.  

Areas represented in the Sustainability Committee: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

General 
Secretary 

Operations 
area 

Financial  
area 

Risk and 
Compliance 

Planning 

Human 
Resources 

Consulting, 
quality and 
CSR 

Technological 
services area 

Areas 
represented  

in the 
Sustainability 
Committee: 
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Sustainability Policy 

In 2019, the Entity's Board of Directors approved its Sustainability Policy, the objective of which is to identify 
the areas of action that contribute to creating lasting relationships with our stakeholders, so that value 
creation can be maximized. In terms of sustainability, the Entity's objectives are:  

 

Sustainability Plan 

In 2021, the Entity extended its 2018-2020 Sustainability Plan, until the new Strategic Plan is drawn up. The 
lines of action for the 2021 financial year were structured around the three areas of sustainability: 

   

Social Environmental Government 

 You Choose Project  

 Social action campaigns, 
donations and aid. 

 Integration of climate risks in 
the management of Cecabank. 

 Environmental management 
system 

 Environmental footprint 
management, including 
calculation, reduction and 
compensation.   

 Improvements in the Non-
Financial Reporting 
framework.  

 Materiality Study 

 Work session with Forética 

 

 

In 2021, Cecabank has begun work on defining its 
new Sustainability Plan, which will be aligned with 
the 2022-2024 Strategic Business Plan that the 
Entity approved at the end of 2021.  

To this end, the Entity worked on updating its 
materiality study. This study has made it possible 
to identify and prioritize the most relevant social, 
environmental and governance aspects for its 

1 2 3 4 5 

Strengthen Cecabank's 
Strategic Plan. 
Sustainability is one of the 
values of the Entity's 
Strategic Plan, as well as 
one of its growth vectors, 
seeking to promote the 
transformation of the 
financial sector towards 
an ESG model. 

Be on the same level as 
the best business 
practices, going beyond 
mere compliance with the 
law and voluntarily 
submitting to higher 
demands. 

Promote lasting and 
trusting relationships with 
all stakeholders, 
cementing this 
relationship in the 
creation of shared value. 

Align business and 
business management with 
the responsible practices 
of our partners and 
customers. 

Detect and take 
advantage of the 
opportunities that arise 
from a more holistic and 
long-term vision of the 
b  
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business and stakeholders in the current context. 
This analysis process has made it possible to 
establish the priority focuses of action in line with 
best practices, regulatory requirements and 
standards, sector trends, as well as ensuring the 
alignment of ESG aspects with business 
objectives. 

As a result of this process, 15 relevant topics have 
been obtained, structured in four blocks (People, 
Planet, Prosperity and Governance), on which the 
entity is currently working from a strategic 
perspective. Throughout 2022, Cecabank will 
prepare its new Sustainability Plan, linked to the 
Strategic Plan, with specific actions in these 
matters. 

Our alliances and commitments 
The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development of the United Nations sets the objectives for 2030 and 
proposes solutions to priority global problems, establishing as a framework for action 17 Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDG) and 169 specific goals. 

Cecabank is firmly committed to achieving the SDGs. The materiality analysis carried out in the year has 
allowed the Entity to review its alignment with these objectives. Cecabank maintains a strong commitment 
to objectives 8 and 9 to promote inclusive and sustainable economic growth, betting on decent work and 
innovation. Additionally, SDGs 4, 5, 7, 10, 13 and 16 stand out. 

 

In response to SDG 17, Cecabank has built a network of alliances in which it contributes to achieving its 
sustainability goals. With these alliances, Cecabank seeks to contribute to the collective debate, participate 
in issues on the financial sustainability agenda (both national and international) and promote platforms for 
exchange and dialogue. 

In 2021 the Entity has been part of the following initiatives: 

 

  

Global Compact (through the 
Spanish Global Compact Network): 
In 2021, in addition to the 
commitment to the Global Compact 
and its 10 principles, work has 
continued to disseminate the 17 
United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals, as well as as 
pursuing a grand global pact to end 
the pandemic and foster a 
sustainable economic recovery. 

Spainsif: This is a non-profit 
organization that promotes Socially 
Responsible Investment (SRI), 
promoting corporate responsibility, 
the integration of environmental, 
social and good corporate 
governance criteria through dialogue 
between different groups. 

Forética: Association of companies 
and professionals of corporate social 
responsibility and sustainability that 
operates in Spain and Latin America, 
whose mission is to promote the 
integration of social, environmental 
and good governance aspects in the 
strategy and management of 
companies and organizations. 

 

  



 

A N N U A L  A C C O U N T S  |  C O N S O L I D A T E D  A C C O U N T S  2 0 2 1       1 5 0  

In addition, the Entity has committed itself to 
various initiatives in the matter: 

 Cecabank has joined the "Declaration of 
Business Leaders for a Renewed Global 
Cooperation" at the invitation of Sanda 
Ojiambo, who in June 2020 was appointed by 
the Secretary General of the United Nations as 
the new Executive Director of the Global 
Compact. 

 In December 2019, during the COP 25 held in 
Madrid, Cecabank joined the "Collective 
Commitment to Climate Action" promoted by 

UNEP FI, in which it undertook to reduce the 
carbon footprint in balance sheets in line with 
the Agreement on Paris. 

 In 2020, Cecabank joined the Green Recovery 
Alliance, an initiative promoted by Pascal 
Canfin, chairman of the European Parliament's 
Committee on the Environment, which pursues 
a major global pact to put an end to the 
pandemic and foster a sustainable economic 
recovery. 

 Through CECA, we support the Principles of 
Responsible Banking of the UNEP FI.  

01F. Materiality and interest groups 
In 2021, the Entity has updated its materiality study, taking into account the new socioeconomic, sectoral 
and corporate context in sustainability. 

This study has been carried out with its own methodology, in accordance with the guidelines of the GRI 
(Global Reporting Initiative) standard, as well as other best practices and recommendations on the matter. 
This work methodology has been structured into 4 processes: 

 

 

 

 

  

1 2 3 4

Review of the 
Stakeholders and the 
communication 
channels established, 
to obtain information 
about their 
expectations and 
requirements.  

Process of identifying 
relevant aspects 
through an internal and 
external analysis. 

Prioritization process of 
material aspects and 
preparation of the 
materiality matrix. 

Qualitative analysis of 
the Impacts of priority 
issues with the 
perspective of double 
materiality. 
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Review of the Stakeholders and communication channels established  

Maintaining fluid dialogue with stakeholders is a priority for Cecabank. The Entity maintains different 
channels active, in order to be able to actively communicate the aspects that may be of interest to them, 
as well as identify the requirements and expectations that these groups may have with regarding your 
activity. 

External interest groups 

     

Clients 
Questionnaires 

Periodic meetings 

Customer Service 
(CS) 

Associations 
Participation in 
sectoral 
associations, 
working groups 
and with third 
sector 
organizations 

Providers 
Suppliers portal 

Public 
administrations 
Institutional 
Communication 
Channels 

Society 
Media and Social 
Networks 

Internal interest groups 

    

Human team 

Employee surveys 

Interviews “the voice of 
the Management” 

EFR Questionnaire 

Intranet, newsletters 
and other 
communications 

Associates  
Periodic meetings 

Advisers 
Committees and 
Commissions held 

Shareholders 
Shareholder’s meeting 

Strategic business plan 

The materiality study has taken into account the priority stakeholders and the dialogue channels established 
in the process of identifying sustainability aspects. 
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Identification process of relevant aspects  

Cecabank has carried out an internal and external 
analysis process, seeking to maintain a medium-
long-term4 perspective in identifying the relevant 
aspects, trends and commitments. To this end, 
the following has been analysed: 

Internal documentation related to: 

 Cecabank's Strategy, where sustainability is 
positioned as one of the Entity's growth 
vectors. 

 The commitments assumed by the Entity in ESG 
matters with stakeholders through policies, 
codes, regulations and work procedures, as 
well as the mission, vision and values that 
define and describe Cecabank's behavior. 

 Results of communication processes with 
stakeholders: Questionnaires, interviews, 
Committees, among others. 

External documentation in relation to: 

 Demands for ESG information and 
transparency: Sustainability Standards, 
Analysts, media analysis, among others.  

 Sector trends in sustainability and best sector 
practices. 

 Regulation on sustainable finance and 
sustainability. 

After this analysis, Cecabank obtained 15 relevant 
topics, all of them aligned with sector trends and 
Cecabank's strategic objectives. 

Prioritization process of material aspects and preparation of the materiality 
matrix 

After the identification process, Cecabank prioritized the material aspects from an external perspective, 
based on the information analyzed for the stakeholders, and internal, for which different key areas in the 
field of sustainability were interviewed, as well as members of the Senior Management, The results of the 
preparation process have been collected in the materiality matrix, which prioritizes the 15 aspects on  
3 levels. 

  
 

4 Depending on the availability of information 

Level 3 Pr ior ity

Im
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Level 2 Pr ior ity

Impor tance for  business

Environmental footprint
management and
reduction

Social impact

Climate
change

Commitment
to talent

Equalit y,
diversity and
inclusion

Development
of persons

Sustainable
business
development

Transparency and
communication

Innovation and
digital development

Corporate
governance

Risk management,
providers and
custody

Ethics and
compliance

Quality and
excellence
with the client

Cybersecurity
and data
protection

Value for
shareholders
and solvency

Level 1 Pr ior ity
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The materiality matrix shows that all the material issues identified are of high importance for the Bank and 
its stakeholders, with Priority 1 issues being those related to the strategic aspects of generating value for 
customers and shareholders, positioning as trusted third party before the new regulatory and risk 
management framework, as well as the attraction and retention of diverse, specialized and committed 
talent. 

Qualitative analysis of the Impacts of priority issues with the perspective of 
double materiality 

Cecabank has taken a further step in aligning itself with the best reporting practices, analyzing the priority 
issues from a dual-impact perspective: Impact of the social and environmental setting on Cecabank "Outside-
in perspective" and Cecabank's impact on the environmental and social environment “Inside-out 
perspective”. 

Material issues 
Priority 1 

Impact of the social and environmental 
setting on Cecabank 

Cecabank's impact on the environmental 
and social environment 

Cybersecurity and 
Information 
Protection 
 

 

The protection of information and cybersecurity 
are key to ensuring business objectives and 
positioning with stakeholders, generating trust in 
regulators, investors, customers and society. 

Maintaining the high level of performance of 
Cecabank and given the rapid evolution of these 
aspects, requires permanent investment in new 
cybersecurity solutions and training for the 
specialization of the human team.  

The Entity's good performance in these aspects has 
a direct impact on stakeholders, since it allows 
Regulators, Clients, Associates, etc., to maintain 
their trust in Cecabank and protect their interests. 

For their part, employees and suppliers perceive a 
high level of demand and need for specialization. 
Impact on SDGs 8 and 9. 

Shareholder Value 
and Solvency 
 

 

Generating value and maintaining the trust of 
customers and shareholders is essential for 
Cecabank and therefore one of its strategic 
objectives is to maintain a high degree of 
solvency. 

Maintaining a good performance of this aspect has 
an impact on all the Entity's stakeholders, 
generating value and wealth and security in them. 
Impact on SDGs 8 and 11. 

Quality and 
Excellence with the 
Client 
 

 

For Cecabank, the satisfaction of its customers is a 
priority. The good performance in this aspect has 
made it possible to retain and increase the 
customer base, favoring lasting relationships and 
trust. However, maintaining the current level 
requires investment in innovation, training and 
execution of continuous improvement plans. 

Offering a service based on excellence to 
customers has a direct impact on building long-
term relationships and meeting their demands. 

In the rest of the interest groups, the impact on 
shareholders stands out, where quality and 
excellence translate into greater profitability. 

For their part, employees and suppliers perceive a 
high level of demand and need for specialization. 
Impact on SDGs 8 and 17. 

Ethics and 
Compliance 
 

 

Cecabank applies the highest standards of good 
governance, ethics, compliance and responsibility, 
both among the professionals that make up the 
Entity, and in relations with its stakeholders. This 
allows lasting relationships to be established, 
based on trust. Additionally, it minimizes risks 
reputational and criminal, which are already 
contemplated by the Entity in its risk model. 
 

Maintaining the corporate requirements in terms 
of Ethics and compliance generates relationships 
of trust with the Entity, since the stakeholders 
identify the alignment with their values and 
objectives.  

We highlight employees, who improve their feeling 
of belonging. In addition, this behavior has an 
impact on the increase in value for shareholders, 
since the probability of the occurrence of criminal 
and/or reputational risk events is reduced. 
Impact on SDGs 8, 10 and 16. 
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Material issues 
Priority 1 

Impact of the social and environmental 
setting on Cecabank 

Cecabank's impact on the environmental 
and social environment 

Risk management, 
suppliers and 
custody 
 

 

 

Proper management of these aspects allows 
maintaining a stable, recurrent structure of results 
and oriented to the preservation of value in order 
to guarantee the orderly growth of the Entity in 
the long term, as well as maintaining adequate 
capital planning and maintenance of resources. to 
meet its commitments in the short and long term, 
otherwise, the materialization of unmanaged risk 
events could lead to a reduction in performance. 

The management of this aspect has a direct 
impact on the shareholder, since proper risk 
management provides security and protection of 
their capital. 

For other interest groups such as employees or 
society, this translates into greater job stability 
and wealth generation. 
Impact on SDGs 8, 12, 16 and 17. 

Commitment to 
talent 
 

 

 

Cecabank maintains relations with its employees 
that favor integrity, respect between people, 
health and safety at work, professional 
development, equal opportunities and non-
discriminatory treatment, among others. These 
aspects and the working conditions that offered to 
the Entity's employees allow for a low turnover 
rate and, therefore, greater operational 
efficiency, reducing the costs associated with 
recruitment and training. 

 

Cecabank employees have advantageous working 
conditions in aspects such as finance, life 
insurance, health care policy, conciliation, among 
others. 

The retention of talent, in turn, ensures good 
financial results for shareholders and a higher 
level of service, as a result of high levels of 
employee satisfaction. 
Impact on SDGs 3, 5, 8 and 10. 

People 
development 
 

 

 

Cecabank includes the specialization of its 
human team as one of its corporate values. 
To this end, it carries out training plans, 
betting on participation in multidisciplinary 
projects, favoring the attraction and 
retention of clients. 

Actions in relation to this aspect have a 
direct impact on Cecabank employees, 
allowing them to grow professionally and 
providing them with the tools to achieve 
their professional goals. 
In turn, specialization favors greater 
profitability derived from better results and 
an improvement in the level of service 
perceived by customers. 
Impact on SDGs 4, 5, 8 and 10. 
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02. Our customers 

Customers are the raison d'être of Cecabank's 
business, which aspires to maintain lasting, long-
term relationships with each one of them. For this 
reason, Customer Orientation and Specialization 
form part of the Entity's corporate values. This 
implies that the Entity is in permanent contact 
with customers to detect their priorities and 
anticipate their needs, seeking to offer products 
with high added value. 

In 2021, Cecabank has provided services to more 
than 300 clients, including traditional financial 
institutions and new players, managers, insurers, 
large corporations, and public administrations, 

spreading the culture of customer orientation and 
continuous improvement throughout the 
organization. 

The company governs its business relationships 
under criteria of quality and transparency and its 
priority is to meet customer expectations, in 
order to build loyalty and attract new users. 
Customer diversification is one of the objectives 
defined in Cecabank's 2017-2020/21 Strategic 
Plan, completed this year. This challenge at 
Cecabank is addressed from different business 
areas with the aim of maximizing opportunities, 
highlighting: 

02A. Business diversification  
Cecabank's business is made up of three 
independent but complementary lines -Securities 
Services, Treasury and Banking Services5-, 
seeking to diversify income and customers. The 
Entity makes available to its clients a range of 
services with a high component of specialization 
and innovation and works continuously to identify 
new products and services that may be of interest 
to current and potential clients. 

At the end of 2021, the contribution to the gross 
margin of the Entity's 3 core business lines shows 
a diversified picture of income from services. Said 
diversification allows the Entity to be resistant to 
economic cycles and this has been demonstrated 
in the last nine years, since the Entity was 
created. 

 

 

 

 

 

Additionally, it is worth highlighting the Entity's 
progress in terms of Sustainable Finance. In this 
sense, Cecabank has operated in 2021 with 54 
references considered "green", both in 
governments and in corporate debt. 

Among them, the SPGB 1% 07/42 stands out, the 
first green bond of the Spanish Treasury, of which 

 
5 In accordance with the 2022-2024 Strategic Plan, the entity's three Core lines are 
Securities Services, Treasury and Payments. 

5,000 million euros were issued in a syndicated 
issue in September 2021 and which had a demand 
for more than 60,000 million euros.  

Also noteworthy is the EU issue within the NGEU 
program of a green bond to 2037, the first bond of 
this type from the pan-European issuer, which had 
a record demand of more than 135,000 million 

21%
Servicios bancarios

52%
Securities Services

27%
TesoreríaSecurities Services Treasury Banking Services 
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euros and for which it has just reopened in 
ordinary auction 2,500 million more. In this recent 
auction we have bought 5 million euros of this 
green bond that we have in our portfolio.  

In total, Cecabank has carried out 302 operations, 
mostly from the Spanish syndicate, for an 

aggregate global amount of 1,134.42 million 
euros. 

The position of the Credit Portfolio in ESG 
(Environmental, Social & Governance) bonds at 
the end of 2021 is eleven positions with a total 
amount of 113 million euros (88 million of private 
debt and 25 million in Regions). 

02B. Client diversification 
Cecabank provides services to financial entities, 
managers and Investment Services Companies, 
Large Corporations, Venture Capital Managers, 
Insurance Companies, Securities Companies and 
Agencies, Fintech and Public Administrations with 
a differential service offer. 

Every year, the Entity defines its commercial 
objectives, integrating them in the Strategic Plan 
and monitoring them by senior management. 
Within these objectives, the number of new 
customers stands out, for which the Entity carries 
out monthly monitoring. This monitoring is carried 

out by the Strategic Coordination team, who is in 
turn responsible for transferring its evolution to 
the Commercial Committee, the Management 
Committee and the Board of Directors. 

A new customer is understood to be one who has 
not had any relationship with Cecabank in the last 
three years. The acquisition of new clients in the 
2017-2021 period has been very significant, 
reaching 221 new clients and has made it possible 
to counteract the departure of clients, especially 
motivated by changes in the sector. Below is the 
breakdown by year: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

221
clientes nuevos
en el período
2017-2021

39

34

50

51

47

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

new clients in 
the period 2017-
2021 
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02C. Segment diversification 
Cecabank's customer portfolio differentiates 4 large sectors of activity, on which the distribution of 
customers and opportunities is monitored. 

    

Associates Banks Investment 
managers Rest 

Entities associated with 
CECA. 

Both national and 
international. 

Insurance companies 
and investment services 
companies (ESIs) 

 

Including the public 
sector, corporates, 
fintechs and technology 
companies, among 
others 

 

In order to establish long-lasting relationships 
with its customers, Cecabank focuses on 
establishing long-term agreements, both in the 
field of depository, with agreements that cover 
different periods, and in Banking Services in 
means of payment contracts, support platforms 
for treasury and risks, technological outsourcing 
and electronic banking. 

The Entity has continued to work in 2021 on three 
main work focuses: 

 Quality Management Systems: Maintenance 
and implementation of management systems 
for continuous improvement in those areas 
where certification provides a differential 
value. 

 Measurement and Analysis of the Voice of 
the Customer: To understand their needs and 
expectations, so that these are taken into 
account when making decisions. 

 Improvement Plans: aimed at achieving the 
Entity's strategic objectives in terms of 

customer loyalty and the establishment of 
long-term relationships: 

a. Improving the quality of our processes. 

b. Improve customer experience. 

As a result of the advances in these areas of work, 
the following improvements have been made: 

 During 2021, the certification of the Financial 
Reporting Services-Pyramid and that of the 
Banking Training School have been renewed 
and the rest of the certifications of the 
Securities and Depository Services and 
Collections and Payments have been 
maintained, all of them under the criteria of 
the ISO 9001:2015 standard. 

 During the year, Cecabank has renewed the 
certification of the Information Security 
Management System according to the UNE-
ISO/IEC 27001:2014 STANDARD for SEPA debit 
and transfer services. This certification is valid 
until 2024 and guarantees the continuous 
improvement of the Entity in terms of 
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assurance, confidentiality and integrity of data 
and information, as well as the systems that 
process it. 

 In the four areas certified according to the ISO 
9001:2015 standard, continuous improvement 
and the development of the principles of the 
standard have been deepened beyond 
compliance with the requirements of the 
standard itself, as well as the simplification of 
flows of work and the adoption of agile 
methodologies. 

 Support has been given and the certification of 
other certified management systems has been 
renewed for all Cecabank until 2024.  

a. Penal Compliance Management System 
certified in accordance with the standard 
UNE 19601:2017. 

b. Energy Management System certified 
according to ISO 50001:2018. 

 The management of the three identifications 
(Identification of Compliance Measures, 
Identification of Extraordinary Measures and 
Identification of Solidarity Action) of "Madrid 
Guarantee" for Cecabank has been coordinated 
for the measures adopted, the extraordinary 

commitment shown and the solidarity activity 
carried out in the prevention and minimization 
of the risks caused by COVID-19. 

 The measurement of Cecabank's greenhouse 
gas (GHG) footprint has been systematized and 
optimized, with the corresponding 
measurement for 2020 verified by AENOR in 
accordance with the ISO 14064-1:2012 
standard. 

 Support has been given to Talent Management 
to obtain the EFR certification for a Family-
Responsible Company. 

 The evaluation process of the quality of service 
provided by suppliers is managed in an 
integrated manner with the corporate 
approval and evaluation processes. 

 The development and implementation of the 
customer experience measurement model has 
been deepened, seeking to delve into the 
customer corridor defined and validated with 
our customers in order to achieve perfectly 
adequate improvement plans for each Service. 

The information obtained has been used as a tool 
for improving the different businesses through 
specific actions and the detection of needs. 

The satisfaction index, the recommendation index and the willingness to continue trusting Cecabank for 
new solutions are shown below: 

 

In addition, Cecabank has a Customer Service 
system in accordance with Order ECO/734/2004 
of 11 March 2004 on Customer Service 
Departments or Services and the Customer 
Ombudsman for financial institutions. During the 
year 2021, only 1 claim was received, which was 
not admitted for processing because it was not 
within its competence. In 2020, 2 claims were 
received, of which none were admitted for 
processing. 

It should be noted that Cecabank voluntarily 
assumes the highest demand standards and all the 
recommendations in terms of technological risk 
assessment (ICT) proposed by the EBA, including 
in its scope the risks of security, cybersecurity, 
change, integrity, continuity and outsourcing, all 
of them included in the risk management policy. 
Likewise, the services offered by Cecabank are 
largely based on high and sophisticated 
technological support that guarantees data 
privacy and business continuity. 

Overall satisfaction 
(Average 0-10) 

NPS 
(% Prescribers/detractors) 

Probability of continuing to hire 
(% of customers scoring 8 to 10) 
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03. Management of people 

03A. Our employees 

One of the lines of action defined in the Cecabank 
Sustainability Plan is responsible and sustainable 
management of talent. The different policies 
related to the management of professionals 
establish the principles of equality, integration 
and non-discrimination in the workplace. 

At the end of the 2021 financial year, Cecabank 
had 458 employees in Spain and 3 in the foreign 
branch network (1 employee in Frankfurt, 1 
employee in London, and 1 employee in Lisbon).6 

Cecabank's 470 employees in Spain are distributed as follows: 

 

 

Distribution by age and level 

 

 
 
 
  

 
6 In the report of the other indicators of the Non-Financial Information Statement 
related to the section "Our employees", the data related to the employees of the 
offices located outside of Spain, which represent only 0.6% of the total, have been 

excluded. of Cecabank employees. Likewise, the 2 Trionis employees are not 
included. 



 

A N N U A L  A C C O U N T S  |  C O N S O L I D A T E D  A C C O U N T S  2 0 2 1       1 6 0  

Professional levels Female Male Total 
GROUP 1 - LEVEL I 3 5 8 

GROUP 1 - NIVEL II 2 3 5 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL III 12 17 29 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL IV 12 30 42 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL V 30 31 61 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL VI 46 52 98 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL VII 41 28 69 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL VIII 51 25 76 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL IX 15 10 25 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL X 7 7 14 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL XI 4 3 7 

GROUP 1 - LEVEL XII 10 10 20 

GROUP 2 - LEVEL I - 1 1 

GROUP 2 - LEVEL II - 2 2 

GROUP 2 - LEVEL IV - 1 1 

Total  233 225 458 

 
 
All Cecabank employees have an indefinite 
contract and 98.7% work full time7. 

During 2021, there have been 46 casualties, of 
which 2 were dismissals. The 2 dismissals are 

broken down into a man and a woman, one from 
group IV and the other from VIII, both with an age 
range of 30 to 50 years. During 2021, there have 
been 33 new employee registrations, thirteen 
women and twenty men. 

 
 

 
7 The Director is linked to the Entity by a commercial contract not subject to labor 
legislation. 

Gender 

ERE Voluntary 
termination 

Dismissal Terminations Voluntary 
leave 

ERE Voluntary 
termination 

Dismissal Terminations Voluntary 
leave 

Age range 
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Additions 

Group and level < 30 30 - 50 Total 

Group 1 – Level.I - 1 1 

Group 1 – Level.IV - 1 1 

Group 1 – Level.VI - 1 1 

Group 1 – Level.VII - 2 2 

Group 1 – Level.VIII - 3 3 

Group 1 – Level.X 1 3 4 

Group 1 – Level.XI 3 - 3 

Group 1 – Level.XII 13 4 17 

Group 2 – Level.IV 1 - 1 

Total  18 15 33 

The Entity launched the CRECE+ Plan in 2021, 
continuing with the Human Resources 
Transformation Plan within the 2017-2020 
Strategic Plan, where different lines are 
integrated with the aim of advancing in the 
different phases of the Human Resources 
management cycle, favoring the professional 
growth and development of its employees, giving 
them the opportunity to discover new ways of 
working, acquire knowledge in different areas and 
enhance their internal employability. 

The incorporation of new talent, with 33 
incorporations, has been one of the objectives of 
the year, managing to capture and integrate new 
versatile and digital profiles, with skills and 
competencies that guarantee: excellence, 
innovation, commitment and enthusiasm. 

During 2021 there have been 17 internal movements in the Entity: 

Internal movements 
 

 

03B. Equality 
Cecabank has a Plan for Equality between women 
and men and reconciliation of family and work 
life. In the years following 2017, the date of its 
modification, detailed studies have been carried 
out on equality (salary gap, update of the 
situation diagnosis and conciliation measures) and 
work has been done on training actions on 
diversity for the entire workforce.  

The Equality Plan regulates the functions of the 
Equality Commission, establishes positive action 
measures and collects the improvements that 
have been agreed between the labor 
representation of the workers and the Entity. 

On the other hand, Cecabank has a Protocol for 
actions in the event of complaints of workplace 

harassment, sexual harassment and harassment 
based on sex at Cecabank. It is a labor agreement 
signed with the entire labor representation of the 
workforce and regulates, for the first time, 
workplace harassment. 

The main objectives of the Equality Plan are the 
effective application of the principle of equality 
between women and men, promoting the 
presence of the underrepresented sex in decision-
making positions or functions, improving the 
possibilities of access for women to places of 
responsibility, the reduction of inequalities and 
the reconciliation of family, personal and work 
life. In addition, it guarantees training plans that 
equally facilitate the development of skills and 
competencies without distinction of gender. 
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Cecabank also has the following agreements in 
this area: 

 Labor agreement on teleworking and the 
right to digital disconnection. 

 Hourly flexibility agreement 

 Inclusive language practical guide 

 Guide to measures, aid and benefits. 

Within the action plan to obtain recognition in this 
area, work has been done to obtain the EFR 
Certificate (Family-Responsible Company) 
granted by the Fundación Másfamilia, obtaining 
the concession in 2021. 

Cecabank has also adhered to the Diversity 
Charter (Fundación Diversidad) and the 
Empowering Women's Talent programme. 

The Entity, due to the enrichment in its selection 
processes, has people with different abilities both 
in its staff and in the selection of ETTs. Currently, 
there are three people with different abilities 
providing services through the ETT and two people 
who have joined the staff. In 2020, Cecabank had 
1 woman on its staff and 5 people to temporarily 
provide services to these ETTs. 

In addition, Cecabank collaborates with entities 
that promote the inclusion of people with 
different abilities in the work environment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

03C. Training 
Training at Cecabank is aimed at promoting 
specialization and the development of new 
professional skills. We are promoting the 
transformation of the Bank through new work 
methodologies and the acquisition of digital skills. 

In line with our philosophy of continuous 
improvement, the training is reviewed and 
adapted annually to respond to the needs of the 
people who work at Cecabank, so that they are 
prepared to optimize the service to our customers 
and adapt to the demands of a changing market. 

The Annual Development and Training Plan 
integrates different areas of knowledge, which 
cover multiple areas such as regulations and 
standards, finance, IT, digital skills, management, 
health and well-being. 

During the 2021 financial year, we have continued 
with a training and development plan adapted to 

the teleworking context, with a greater weight of 
teletraining actions and webinars through Teams, 
compared to face-to-face courses, which were 
resumed in September under the relevant security 
measures. Security.  

For the second consecutive year, we have chosen 
to prioritize the emotional health of workers, 
using custom-made content. We have also focused 
on managers, providing them with training actions 
aimed at managing uncertainty and leading teams 
that work remotely, as well as skills for know how 
to give feedback appropriately. 

At a technical level, we have worked on new 
programming languages and specialized training 
in our own subjects for the area of Risk and 
Compliance, Operational Services and Legal 
Advice.  

Total number of employees at 
Cecabank Spain 

Percentage of women at 
Cecabank Spain 
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Additionally, Cecabank has an onboarding 
program to welcome new hires. This program 
incorporates a series of mandatory and voluntary 
online training on aspects such as the Code of 
Conduct, Cybersecurity, Occupational Risk 
Prevention, Energy Efficiency, Equality of Gender 
and Diversity, among others, and a face-to-face 
session. In the latter, the program includes a 
team-building activity to work on aspects of 
collaboration, uncertainty management and high-
performance teams. 

Another novelty has been the adhesion to the 
Empowering Women's Talent program, whose 
main objective is to make the entire organization 
aware of the richness of having diverse staff, as 
well as promoting the emergence of female talent 
to positions of responsibility.  

In addition, we have promoted in-company 
specialization programs by increasing the content 

offer, demonstrating that this approach means 
greater adaptation to our needs, a reduction in 
training hours and an increase in budget 
efficiency, without reducing the quality of the 
programs or the level of student satisfaction. 

Throughout this process, we have relied on our 
Learning Cloud platform, which is integrated with 
the training website, where all the training 
activities carried out by the people who work at 
Cecabank are recorded. It also includes all this 
activity in its curriculum and allows those 
responsible to view the courses requested by their 
teams and the state in which they are.  

In this sense, we have increased the offer of the 
training catalog in the areas of skills, digital 
competencies and health and well-being, through 
micro-learning content that makes students more 
efficient and reduces the workload of hours. 

Below are the hours of training by professional category according to the agreement, which have meant a 
total of 19,509 hours in 2021: 

Hours of training by levels 

 
Level Level Level Level Level Level Level Level Level Level Level Level Level  

I II III IV V VI VII VIII IX X XI XII XIII 

Group 1 364 177 1,546 2,326 2,901 4,468 2,765 2,901 1120  387 231 272 - 

roup 2 17 34 - - - - - - - - - - - 

 
Indicator Description Indicator Units 2020 2021 

% of higher and intermediate university graduates  
(Higher Engineers, Graduates or Diplomas) Percentage (%) 77% 77% 

Employee training hours Cecabank Spain Hours per employee 348 42 

Investment in training for employees in Spain Euros per employee 916 € 923 € 

 
 
  

 
8 Recalculated in 2021 according to adjustments in the data extraction and calculation methodology.   
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In total, we have increased the number of hours 
of training given during 2021 by 23% compared to 
the previous year. 

In 2021 we have resumed collaboration with 
university centers and business schools for their 
students to carry out internships at our Entity, 
formalizing 7 end-of-degree scholarships. In 

addition, we launched “the Nido Program” 
initiative with an excellent reception from 
institutions and students. A total of 9 people have 
joined the internship program, who will spend 9 
months getting to know the Entity's operations 
and participating in its daily activities, all as part 
of Cecabank's commitment to promoting 
employment and renewing internal talent. 

03D. Remuneration 
Cecabank has a General Remuneration Policy that 
establishes, among other aspects, the general 
principles of the remuneration system, as well as 
its essential characteristics, the specific 
requirements of each group and the governance 
model. 

For the calculation of the average remuneration 
of the members of the workforce, 93.89% of the 
Cecabank workforce in Spain has been taken into 
account, based on data at the end of the 2021 
financial year, excluding members of Senior 
Management, whose data is broken down below, 
as well as the 20 people assigned to the Treasury 
and Equity Sales Divisions of the Financial Area. 

Said persons have a specific variable 
remuneration system that could reach 200% of 

 
9 There are 4 employees of professional group 2 (miscellaneous trades) who have been equated to levels X and XII based on their remuneration. 

their fixed remuneration and that, in accordance 
with prudential regulations on remuneration, is 
subject to deferral, payment in non-pecuniary 
instruments, as well as malus clauses. and “claw 
back”, if certain assumptions occur in accordance 
with the provisions of Cecabank's General 
Remuneration Policy. 

Below is the average remuneration* by sex, age 
and level of professional category according to 
the agreement9:  

 

Global Training Assessment 2021 NPS of Training 2021 
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Average 
remuneration by 
professional category 

2020 2021 

Level II 144.062 € 153.693 € 

Level III 132.169 € 129.624 € 

Level IV 88.680 € 92.102 € 

Level V 75.820 € 76.761 € 

Level VI 63.354 € 66.803 € 

Level VII 57.150 € 58.824 € 

Level VIII 48.405 € 52.312 € 

Level IX 48.099 € 49.563 € 

Level X 40.657 € 43.150 € 

Level XI 33.667 € 36.249 € 

Level XII 24.972 € 29.244 € 

 
The remuneration by age groups presents the 

 
10 The comparison with the previous year is not included, since in the year ending 
in 2020 there was only one woman. 

following detail: 
 

Average remuneration 
by age 2020 2021 

<30 29.037 € 30.740 € 

30-50 65.681 € 66.345 € 
>50 68.655 € 74.563 € 

 
Based on these same data, Cecabank has 
proceeded to calculate the wage gap, taking into 
account the average remuneration by gender. 
Taking this variable into account, the wage gap 
would be 14.34% 
 
Average remuneration  2020 2021 
Male € 73,621 € 72,767 

Female € 59,915 € 62,333 

Total Average € 66,592 € 67,307 

Wage gap 18.62% 14.34% 

 

At year-end there are 10 directors at Cecabank, 
of which 7 are men and 3 women. The directors 
of Cecabank only receive, for their role as 
directors, income from the Entity for attendance 
fees both to the Board of Directors and to the 
Committees. The individual amount of the per 
diem is the same for all the directors, so the total 
amounts received by each director depend 
exclusively on the number of sessions of the 
governing bodies that they have attended. 

In the 2021 financial year, the average amount 
received by each director was 31,921 euros for 
men and 57,242 euros for women. In the 2020 
financial year, the average amount received by 
each director was 33,621 euros for men and 
53,793 euros for women. 

With regard to Senior Management, Cecabank has 
8 directors, of which 5 are men and 3 are women, 
with the incorporation of 2 women during 2021. 
The average remuneration amounted to 170.53 
thousand euros in the case for women and 175.68 
thousand euros for men, excluding the Corporate 
Finance Department from the calculation given 
the special nature of its variable remuneration 
system and a manager linked to the entity by a 
commercial contract not subject to labor 
legislation.10 

The representation of women in Senior 
Management will tend to evolve upwards in order 
to achieve a balanced presence of men and 
women, taking into account the vacancies that 
occur in it and in the different Board Committees. 

Average remuneration  
by gender 

Wage gap 
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03E. Employee benefits 
Cecabank offers social benefits for its employees, 
thereby seeking to motivate, retain and retain its 
workers. 

The main social benefits that Cecabank offers its 
employees are the following:  

 Preferential financial conditions 

 Pension plan for all staff members 

 Group life insurance 

 Health care policy for staff members 

 Grants for nursery and for the training of sons 
and daughters of the staff. 

 Aid for the training of the worker himself 

 Christmas gift for the sons and daughters of the 
staff. 

The investment for each worker in terms of social 
benefits made by the Entity in 2021 amounts to a 
total of 1,706.80 Euros.11 

Additionally, since 2018 Cecabank has had a 
flexible compensation plan for its staff members 
that allows them to contract products and 
services with preferential conditions and in some 
cases with tax benefits, when the tax regulations 
so contemplate. 

Currently, the products that are part of the 
Ckb.Flex flexible remuneration plan are the 
following: 

 Nursery check. 

 Training check. 

 Transport card. 

 Food card. 

Medical insurance for spouses, partners and 
children of the employed person 

The implementation of Ckb.Flex has been firmly 
consolidated in the workforce in such a way that 
56% have at least one product contracted through 
the flexible remuneration system, with the total 
number of products contracted at the end of the 
2021 financial year being 714 contracts. 

The most demanded products are the following: 

 Medical insurance for family members of 
employees: contracted by 53% of the members 
of the workforce. 

 Transport card: contracted by 28% of the 
workforce. 

As a consequence of the progressive return to 
normality in the activity in the provision of 
services in person at the Entity's facilities, there 
has been a notable increase in contracts for 
products associated with transport, as well as 
consumption in premises of restoration. 

Likewise, among the Entity's staff, the possibility 
of applying this system to the financing of training 
actions is becoming more widely known. 

03F. Reconciliation 
Within the Human Resources Plan linked to the 
2017-2021 Strategic Plan, the Bank has promoted 
the implementation of a system of flexible hours 
and teleworking. 

Both aspects have been agreed upon with the 
labor representation of Cecabank through the 
signing of two labor agreements with the legal 
representation of the workers (RLT) present in the 
Entity. 

Until the end of October 2021, teleworking has 
been predominant in the provision of services as a 
result of the impact of COVID-19 under the "Care 
for me" plan promoted by the national 

 
11 This amount is significantly lower than in previous years, to the extent that all 
the contributions to the Pension Plan have been financed by surpluses from the 
pension plan itself and have not entailed a personnel expense. 

government, in accordance with the provisions of 
the sectoral collective agreement, Cecabank has 
made the necessary material available to the 
members of its workforce, as well as an economic 
allocation for the provision of services in the 
teleworking modality. 

At the end of 2021, the Entity signed a new 
teleworking agreement with the entire labor 
representation, which is already adapted to all 
the requirements of the Remote Work Act and 
which Cecabank will apply regardless of whether 
the teleworking modality whether or not it 
exceeds 30% of the working day. 
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Likewise, the possibility has been considered for 
pregnant women to be able to telework during the 
entire gestation period. 

Said agreement also develops the right to digital 
disconnection that was regulated for the first time 
by a collective agreement of the Savings Banks 
and Financial Entities for the period 2019-2023 
and which entered into force on December 3, 
2020. 

Cecabank's work organization is based on the 
collective agreement of the Savings Banks and 
Financial Entities, improving conditions by 
contract and applying compensatory measures to 
employees with special hours through more 
vacations and higher remuneration, 100% of 
employees Entity employees are covered by 
agreement. 

It is noteworthy that the sectoral collective 
agreement includes new measures to promote 

aspects of reconciling work and personal life, 
having agreed on the following measures: 

 Possibility of applying the reduction in working 
hours only to effective work afternoons in the 
unified schedule in the case of care or legal 
guardianship of minors under 1212 years of age 
or a person with a disability who does not 
perform a paid activity for the general 
schedule13.  

 Enjoy 15 days of breastfeeding to accumulate 
after maternity leave. 

 Creation of a paid leave of up to 3 months in 
the case of cases of gender-based violence that 
involve a change of address. 

 Calculation of all permits (with the exception 
of the marriage permit) on working days. 

Regarding parental leave, the employees who have enjoyed these leaves are the following: 

 

 
Additionally, Cecabank has the Cultural 
Association of Employees of Cecabank or 
"Company Group". This Association aims to 
develop and organize all kinds of activities aimed 
at promoting leisure and education in the free 
time of associates and their families. through the 
development of cultural, sports, children's and 
family and tourist activities.  

It is intended that through all the activities 
promoted by the Association, bonds of friendship 
and companionship are established between all 
the associated people, positively foster 
interpersonal relationships among all members, as 
well as help improve and reconcile work and 
family life. 

03G. Prevention of occupational hazards 
In accordance with the applicable legislation, the 
responsibility for the implementation, application 
and integration of the Occupational Risk 
Prevention System corresponds to the Entity's 
Management. At Cecabank, the organization of 
the necessary resources for the development of 
preventive activities has been designed in 
accordance with the External Prevention Service 

 
12 Improved by Cecabank up to 14 years. 

modality, which covers the preventive specialties 
of: Industrial Hygiene and Ergonomics and Applied 
Psychosociology, Occupational Medicine and 
Safety at work. 

Cecabank has a Prevention Plan that establishes a 
set of rules and procedures through which the 
management and integration mechanisms for 

13 Extended in Cecabank for the unified hours established in the Labor Agreement 
on working hours and schedules of August 6, 2021. 
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occupational risk prevention are developed, 
including the different preventive actions, such as 
the Policy , objectives and goals, organizational 
structure of occupational risk prevention, 
responsibilities and functions within the 
organization and monitoring and control at the 
integration level. 

As for the operating procedures included in the 
Prevention Plan, there are contracting 
procedures, material and human resources, 
contracts and subcontractors, information and 
training procedures, consultation and 
participation of workers, action in case of 
emergency, etc. 

Cecabank, SA has contracted the specialty of 
Occupational Medicine with the External 
Prevention Service of QUIRON PREVENCIÓN, SLU, 
whose activities are the surveillance of the health 
of workers in relation to the risks derived from 
work, analyses, medical examinations and 
epidemiological studies of the results of health 
examinations in order to investigate and analyze 
the possible relationships between exposure to 
occupational risks and damage to health. 

Additionally, the Entity has a doctor, external 
staff subcontracted by the External Prevention 
Service, located in the work center, where he 
performs healthcare medicine tasks.  

Occupational accidents and occupational diseases 
of workers are covered by the Mutual for 
occupational accidents and occupational diseases 
MC Mutual. 

Cecabank, within the framework of the 2017-2021 
Strategic Plan, drew up the Ckbe-Well Plan, which 
includes a series of actions to promote healthy 
behaviors and habits that seek to improve the 
well-being of our employees. Since its inception, 
a Physiotherapy service has been promoted to 
improve health through the prevention and 
treatment of occupational injuries, a nutrition 
and dietary service for employees, Back School 
courses, training in healthy eating, etc. have been 
carried out. 

On the other hand, Cecabank is responsible for 
the training and information of its workers, 

through its Training department, conducting 
courses on occupational risks and preventive 
measures for all employees, data visualization 
screens, as well as training for the intervention in 
action measures against fires and first aid. 

During 2021, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, some 
of the scheduled face-to-face activities have been 
affected since the Entity has chosen and 
promoted, to a large extent, teleworking in order 
to safeguard the health of its employees’ staff.  

In relation to the Ckbe-Well Program, in 2021 
face-to-face activities were interrupted, although 
online activities such as back school courses, 
training related to occupational risk prevention, 
as well as seminars focused on emotional well-
being have been maintained.  

With regard to the medical examinations planned 
for 2021, they have been carried out normally as 
of April 2021, and a normal development of this 
activity is expected during the year 2022. 

During this year, a series of specific action 
procedures against COVID-19 have been followed 
in our buildings, related to protection measures 
(use of PPE, masks, protective screens, etc.), 
distancing measures, access control to buildings, 
among others, which have been published on the 
intranet within the reach of all employees. 

The company's Prevention Service, together with 
the Medical Service and the Personnel 
Department, has carried out exhaustive 
monitoring of all cases of COVID in the company, 
putting into practice all the recommendations of 
the health authorities.  

Cecabank, as a company that advocates health 
and safety, has agreed with a clinic to carry out a 
serology test on all workers who come to work in 
person after the mass teleworking situation during 
the pandemic. Specific screening campaigns have 
also been carried out with antigen tests for return 
after vacation periods or the creation of bubble 
groups of stable work shifts. 

In 2021, 100% of the employees were represented 
on the Health and Safety Committee, a joint body, 
which meets quarterly and is governed by the 
single Health and Safety Committee Regulations. 
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As in the previous year, in 2021 there have been 
no professional illnesses in the workforce. In 2021 
there have been no occupational accidents, 
excluding cases of COVID-19 that were legally 
considered as such. In 2020, two accidents were 
recorded, both without sick leave (one man and 
one woman). 

As a result of these policies, we can highlight that 
the loyalty of the workforce has been achieved as 
a means of retaining value and knowledge.  

Regarding social dialogue, the Entity has a Works 
Committee with 17 members in which 4 union 
sections are represented, which meet bimonthly; 
a Commission for Equality and Prevention of 
Sexual Harassment and a Control Commission for 
the Employee Pension Plan.  

On the other hand, all the labor agreements 
signed with the labor representation have their 
own monitoring committee to ensure compliance 
with them. 

04. Our suppliers 

Cecabank maintains a high level of commitment 
to its suppliers, since they are essential for the 
development of its business and a key link in its 
offer of products and services. As stated in the 
corporate code of conduct, the Entity seeks to 
establish commercial relations fair and stable, 
based on responsibility, transparency and 
communication. 

These commitments materialize and are managed 
through corporate policies and procedures. It is 
worth noting the rule for "Contracting services 
with suppliers", which establishes the steps to 
follow to guarantee concurrence in each 
procurement process and the adequate evaluation 
of the same and the "Policy for outsourcing and 
contracting services and functions" (whose last 
update was approved by the Board of Directors on 
October 20, 2020), which establishes the 
principles, rules and procedures that must be 
complied with in the different phases of the 
process of contracting any service to a supplier. 

Cecabank has implemented a process for the 
approval of outsourced service providers, which is 
gradually being extended to the entire supply 
chain and is currently mandatory for all 
outsourced services and contracts of a relevant 
amount. This process is intended to assess 
production capacity, technical and financial 
aspects of the supplier, as well as its alignment 
with the ethical values and sustainability policies 
of Cecabank. In this way, the evaluation of 
aspects of Corporate Responsibility is 
incorporated, such as adherence to international 
standards on Human Rights, protection of the 
environment and proper working conditions. 

The optimization of the integral management of 
the Entity's suppliers has been deepened by 
reducing the risk of the supply chain and 
monitoring the continuity of the services 
provided, strategic advice to the business 
departments in their outsourcing, the 
improvement of the operational agility of 
purchases, the implementation of reports and   
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analysis tools for monitoring approvals and has 
contributed to centralized negotiation with the 
main suppliers in collaboration with the 
organizational units contracting outsourced 
services. 

Additionally, Cecabank has the "Chain of Custody 
Monitoring Policy", which establishes mandatory 
procedures for selecting third-party custodians to 
safeguard customer assets and minimize the risks 
associated with misuse or loss. , the Entity has a 
due diligence procedure for the permanent 
supervision of the third party to which the custody 
functions are delegated.  

Aspects related to suppliers are supervised at the 
highest level in the Entity. The Non-Financial Risks 
and Compliance Division has the function of 
periodically informing the Compliance and 
Operational Risk Committee and the Audit 
Commission of the results of supplier monitoring. 
Additionally, the Cecabank Management 
Committee, supervises the approved outsourcing, 
as well as the possible incidents identified.  

On the other hand, Cecabank maintains its 
commitment to employment through the 
contracting of local suppliers. In this sense, in 
2021, local suppliers represented 82.5% of the 
total with 477 Spanish suppliers and 101 non-
resident suppliers. 
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05. Social Matters 
Cecabank develops its social commitment by 
carrying out initiatives in accordance with 
corporate characteristics and objectives. The 
Entity and its staff are aware of social problems 
and specifically those that affect the most 
disadvantaged groups. The Entity implements 
specific contribution actions, which also promote 
pride of belonging among the people of the Entity. 

Every year, Cecabank launches the “You Choose” 
program, in which the Entity's staff present 
various projects in the social, environmental or 
cultural field and Cecabank undertakes to finance 
those that are selected after an internal voting 
process: 

In 2021, the 7th edition of the program was 
carried out, in which a total of 19 projects from 
various associations were presented (14 in the 
social field, 4 in the environmental field and 1 in 
the cultural field), which Cecabank supported 
with an aid of 97,000 euros.  

In this edition, participation reached 77.2%, which 
demonstrates for yet another year not only 
Cecabank's commitment to its Social Action Plan, 
integrated into the Entity's Sustainability Policy, 
but also that of all its employees with the 
promotion of the welfare of society and its impact 
on the community.  

The finalist projects of the "You Choose" program are shown below: 

Category Beneficiary association Amount 
Social ALEPH-TEA  15,000,00 €  

Social Fundación Madre de la Esperanza  13,000,00 €  

Social Asociación Española contra el Cáncer (AECC)  10,000,00 €  

Social APROMAR  7,500,00 €  

Social ACTAYS   7,500,00 €  

Social Fundación el Arca de Madrid  7,500,00 €  

Environment GREFA  7,500,00 €  

Environment Fundación CBD-HÁBITAT  5,000,00 €  

Social Fundación SENARA  5,000,00 €  

Social Kyrios  5,000,00 €  

Social COMUNIDAD DEL CORDERO  5,000,00 €  

Environment Asociación Peluditos Urbanos  3,000,00 €  

Social ADISLI  3,000,00 €  

Social Fundación Esperanza y Alegría  3,000,00 €  

Total help  97,000,00 € 

 

In 2021, Cecabank received the award for the 
social project, "Employment post COVID: an 
opportunity to live" which, together with the 
Integra Foundation, has allowed 23 people in 
social exclusion, affected by COVID 19, to improve 
their employability through a program of personal 
and employment strengthening, Of the people 
who have participated, 45% have joined the labor 
market at the end of the project, The project, 

financed with funds from the Tu Elect Program, 
has been carried out in Madrid, Barcelona and 
Valencia, The initiative was aimed at groups 
whose situation of exclusion was aggravated by 
the pandemic: women victims of gender-based 
violence, homeless people, former drug addicts, 
former inmates, prostituted or trafficked women, 
young people at risk, among others. 
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Additionally, we highlight the following initiatives carried out in 2021:  

 

Humanitarian emergencies 
Cecabank has had a collaboration agreement with the Spanish Emergency Committee 
since 2018. This Committee is currently made up of 5 NGOs (Action Against Hunger, 
Intermón Oxfam, Doctors of the World, Plan International and World Vision). 

The main action regarding humanitarian emergencies this year has been the 
Humanitarian Emergency Campaign for the earthquake in Haiti when on August 14 a 
magnitude 7.2 earthquake shook the poorest nation in the Western Hemisphere, causing 
the death of more than 2,100 people and more than 10,000 injured: Cecabank joined 
this initiative of the Emergency Committee to attend to the needs of those affected by 
the earthquake, contributing 4,385 euros in a special campaign among employees, which 
adds up to the same amount that Cecabank matches with the total amount of aid 
amounted to €8,770. 

 

Charity market 
The Solidarity Market is an event long awaited and loved by the Cecabank staff, inviting 
some well-known associations and foundations from previous years and that this year 
have not been able to present themselves to the "You Choose" Program, as on other 
occasions the different associations and foundations were able to sell their own products 
and preparations with which they partially cover their activity. Among the associations 
invited this year we highlight the Bobath Foundation, the Brizal Association and Menudos 
Corazones. 

Both the Solidarity Market and the blood donation campaign were held at the Cecabank 
Solidarity Day, taking advantage of the awards ceremony of the “You Choose” Program. 

 

Photography exhibition with Doctors of the World 

There has been a photographic exhibition at the Cecabank facilities of the 24th Luis 
Valtueña International Photography Prize. This is an initiative promoted by Doctors of 
the World and whose contest is organized with the intention of highlighting human values 
and denouncing all kinds of violations to the rights of people, while recognizing and 
valuing photojournalism of the highest quality, In the exhibition, the loneliness and the 
structural problem of nursing homes in Spain, Venezuelan migration, the police abuse in 
peaceful demonstrations in Chile and terrorism and gender violence in Nigeria. 

 Blood Donation Campaign with the Red 
Cross 

On the day of the Solidarity Day, a blood donation 
campaign was carried out among the employees 
with the result, according to the Madrid Health 
transfusion center and the Red Cross, 69 lives were 
saved. 
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Operation Kilo for the Food Bank 

Cecabank, together with the Food Bank of Madrid, has promoted several "Operation Kilo" 
campaigns in 2021: emergency campaign for companies in the first half of the year and 
the Christmas campaign where Cecabank employees were able to make your purchase 
more supportive, favoring the most needy families in the Community (homeless people, 
elderly people, children, unemployed, among others), This year a total of 7,321 euros 
has been raised from employees, This amount has been dubbed by Cecabank, which has 
involved the donation of a total of 14,642 euros, representing 13,311 kg of food. 

  Collaboration with Banco de Alimentos de Madrid 

since its inception, Cecabank has maintained a strong commitment to Banco de 
Alimentos, collaborating with this organization by sponsoring Calle Cecabank at its 
Colegio San Fernando headquarters and Avenida Cecabank at its logistics center, given 
the relationship and the history of collaboration between both entities since 2020, 
Cecabank Street was replaced by Cecabank Avenue and the Avenue was converted into 
Cecabank Square with the consequent pride and satisfaction for Cecabank, In 2021 the 
Entity has continued collaborating in this regard , increasing the game up to €14,000, 

 

Mother Courage Clothes and Shoes Container 

Since 2019, the Entity has made a container available to employees for donating clothes 
and shoes. In 2021, more than 243 kg have been counted. This association is in charge of 
giving a second life to the products, through donations to communities, sale in solidarity 
markets, or their delivery to external companies, generating funds for social, educational 
and cooperation associations. 

 

Computer rooms sponsored by Cecabank 

The Entity is committed to financial education, digitization and social action, Since 2019 
it has collaborated with the Sanders Foundation and the Community of Madrid in the 
construction of computer rooms for this purpose, In 2021 Cecabank has contributed with 
the donation of 3,000 euros for the maintenance and organization of training, aimed at 
the most disadvantaged groups in these classrooms. 

 The first computer room in the Royal Oratory of Caballero de Gracia aimed at 
groups of elderly people, immigrants and the unemployed. 

 The second computer room in the Bobath Foundation school, aimed at people 
with cerebral palsy in varying degrees, both children and adults. 

 The donation of computer equipment is pending for several associations that will 
be finalized in the first quarter of 2022. 

 
Finally, it should be noted that no relevant risks have been detected in social issues. 
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06. Environmental issues 
Cecabank is committed to the responsible and 
sustainable management of material resources, 
promoting efficiency in consumption and impacts 
on the social and environmental surroundings, 
both in its activity and in its sphere of influence. 

Given Cecabank's activity, the impact on 
environmental aspects is limited compared to 
other sectors. Aspects such as pollution, noise, 
biodiversity, light pollution or food waste are not 
considered applicable. 

Cecabank operates under the precautionary 
principle and its Sustainability Plan considers 
environmental aspects as an axis of action. In this 
way, the Entity manages, in a responsible and 
sustainable manner and through specific 
initiatives, the material resources and 
consumption that derive from its activity. 

Already in 2018, Cecabank has implemented an 
Energy Management System in accordance with 
the UNE/ISO 50001:2011 standard, obtaining the 
AENOR certification (GE-2011/0038) dated 
12/14/2018, for its corporate buildings of C/ 
Alcalá, 27 and C/ Caballero de Gracia, 28-30 
where it carries out its activity. In 2020, the 
adaptation to the UNE/ISO 50001:2018 standard 
was carried out and in December 2021, the 
company obtained the renewal of the AENOR 
certification (GE-2011/0038) until 2024. 

Within this system, important activities have been 
carried out in the Entity, such as: 
 Adaptation of the Bank's Energy Policy to the 

UNE/ISO 50001:2018 Standard. 

 Raising awareness among the entire workforce 
through the Good Practices guide for the use 
of Energy. 

 Training course for the entire workforce on 
Energy Efficiency in relation to Cecabank 
buildings 

 

. 
 Creation in the Employee Portal of the Energy 

Efficiency Portal where best practices, energy 
performance and certificates are displayed., 

 

 
 

 Extension of the Installation of Consumption 
Analyzers to increase the number of Indicators 
in the Energy Management System for 
significant uses (hereinafter SdGE). 

 Implementation of a SMARKIA computer tool 
for consumption monitoring and 
documentation of the entire SdGE. 

 Optimization of the control and management 
system of the facilities. 

Objectives have also been defined for the period 
2022 and 2023. 

 
 Self-consumption of electricity from 

renewable sources through the 
implementation of photovoltaic solar panels. 

 1% reduction in electric air conditioning 
consumption in Alcalá. 

 Reduction of 10% in the consumption of CPDs 
(Data Processing Centers) and UPS 
(Uninterrupted Power Service) in Caballero de 
Gracia. 

 

 

The changes in the main environmental indicators are as follows: 
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Building consumption Year 
Alcalá,27 & C. Gracia, 28-30 Measurement unit 2018 2019 2020 2021 
Energy (electricity)14 GJ 8,095 7,378 5,981 6,204 

Energy (natural gas) 15 GJ 2,164 1,191 982 968 

Paper (Ecological- Ecolabel) Kg 27,310 23,900 9,600 6,000 

Water M3 3,766 3,994 2,062 2,132 

Carbon footprint. TonCO2 3,043 260,65 57,59* 55,8116 

 

As a sign of its commitment to reducing emissions, 
Cecabank purchases all its electricity with a 
Certificate of Origin (renewable), both for data 
processing centers and for corporate buildings, 
which represents a significant reduction in carbon 
emissions.  

During the first half of 2022, the Entity works to 
carry out a detailed calculation of its Scope 1, 2 
and 3 emissions, verifying with Aenor, its GHG 
Emissions Report according to the reference 
standard ISO 14064 -1:2019, additionally in 2021 , 
Cecabank took a further step in its commitment 
to the fight against climate change by offsetting 
its GHG emissions for 2020 and becoming a carbon 
neutral Entity. For 2021 emissions, the Entity will 
carry out the same verification and compensation 
process.  

The amounts earmarked for offsetting emissions 
were earmarked for a repopulation project in 
Spain, specifically in the municipality of San 
Martín del Pimpollar in the province of Ávila, with 
which the Entity also reinforced its commitment 
to SDGs 13 and 15. 

The Entity's efforts to improve its performance in 
environmental matters have materialized in an 
annual reduction in consumption, both energy and 
water or paper. The reduction in Gas and Water 
compared to the reference year 2019 can also be 
seen. In year 2020, water consumption is higher 
due to the progressive de-escalation of the 
Entity's employees. 

Regarding paper consumption, Cecabank has 
continued to make organizational efforts to 
reduce and rationalize the use of printing 
equipment, which has resulted in significant 
savings in printing toner and in the number of 
DinA4 packages consumed.  

On the other hand, the Entity also tries to reduce 
the environmental impact through waste 
collection processes, differentiating between 
paper and cardboard, glass and hazardous waste, 
among others, which are collected by authorized 
external parties and taken to specialized plants. 
In 2021 Cecabank shows a progressive decrease in 
the waste generated in its facilities. 

Waste generated (tons) 
 2019 2020 2021 

Paper and paperboard 43,75  8,94 9,41 

Mixture 17,82 8,52 9,88 

Batteries 0,15 0,11 0,00 

Wood 0 0 5,04 

Dangerous residues 1,01 3,01 1,84 

Total 62,73 20,54 26,17 

 

 
14 The source for the conversion of energy consumption from indirect emissions as a result of the entity's electricity consumption is "Emission Factors - Ministry for Ecological 
Transition" https://www.miteco.gob.es/es/change-climatico/ topics/mitigation-policies-and-measures/factoresemision_tcm30-479095.pdf 
 
15 The source for the conversion of energy consumption of direct emissions from the entity's natural gas consumption is "Emission Factors - Ministry for Ecological Transition" 
https://www.miteco.gob.es/es/change-climatico /topics/mitigation-policies-and-measures/factoresemision_tcm30-479095.pdf 
 
16 In the estimation of the calculation of the footprint for the year 2021, no leaks of SF6 or HFCs have been identified and, therefore, no associated emissions have been consolidated. 
Emissions associated with the use of generator sets are excluded from the calculation of the year, since their contribution to the Entity's Carbon Footprint is less than the materiality 
set (5%). 

https://www.miteco.gob.es/es/change-climatico%20/topics/mitigation-policies-and-measures/factoresemision_tcm30-479095.pdf
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07. Human rights matters 
Cecabank is firmly committed to operating 
responsibly, complying with applicable legal 
regulations and respecting and supporting Human 
Rights. Given the nature of its activity and its 
presence in Spain and Europe, the Entity has not 
identified relevant risks in these matters. The 
compliance, risk and internal audit functions 
guarantee that Cecabank complies with 
applicable laws. 

Cecabank joined the Global Compact in February 
2017 and in 2021 it has continued working to 
spread its ten principles, based on human rights, 
labour, the environment and the fight against 

corruption.In 2020, the Entity adhered to the 
"Declaration of business leaders for renewed 
international cooperation" promoted by the 
Global Compact, which aims to unite companies 
in favor of international cooperation (based on 
Human Rights) and Sustainable development. 

This year 2021, a training pill was sent to all 
employees on the 10 Principles of the Global 
Compact and the Sustainable Development Goals, 
bringing Sustainability closer to the entire 
company. Additionally, Cecabank has supported 
various campaigns on Human Rights in Social 
Networks. 

Human rights 
Principle  
Businesses must support and respect the 
protection of internationally recognized 
fundamental human rights within their sphere 
of influence 

The Code of Corporate Conduct ensures compliance with and defense of Human Rights and makes the 
Corporate Conduct Channel available to employees to report any type of violation thereof. As in 2020, in 
2021 there have been no received complaints about Human Rights or any other type. 
The Risk and Compliance and Internal Audit areas ensure strict compliance with the applicable 
regulations, the Criminal Compliance Policy and the reputational reports made to the stakeholders also 
ensure compliance with the law, due diligence and non-infringement of human rights. 
For more information see Section 07, Anti-Corruption and Bribery Issues. 

Principle  
Companies must ensure that their companies 
are not complicit in the violation of Human 
Rights 

Labor Standards   

Principle  
Companies must support freedom of 
association and the effective recognition of 
the right to collective bargaining 

The people who provide services at Cecabank are its main asset. For this reason, various policies and 
initiatives are developed that favor physical integrity and respect among people, health and safety at 
work, professional development, equal opportunities, non-discriminatory treatment, among others. 
Cecabank's work organization is based on the collective agreement of the Savings Banks and Financial 
Entities, improving conditions by contract and applying compensatory measures to employees with 
special conditions. 
Cecabank has the EFR Certificate (Family Responsible Company) granted by the Másfamilia Foundation, 
obtaining the concession in 2021. 
Cecabank has a Plan for Equality between women and men and reconciliation of work and family life. It 
also includes a Protocol of actions in the event of complaints of workplace harassment, sexual harassment 
and harassment based on sex in Cecabank. 
For more information see Section 03, People Management. 

Principle  
Businesses should support the elimination of 
all forms of forced and coerced labor 

Principle  
Companies should support the eradication of 
child labor 
Principle  
Companies must support the abolition of 
discriminatory practices in employment and 
occupation 

Environment 

Principle  
Companies must maintain a preventive 
approach that favors the environment 

Cecabank promotes the responsible and sustainable management of material resources and efficiency. 
The Entity has implemented an Energy Management System according to the ISO 50001 standard, ensuring 
continuous improvement in energy management, through the installation of technologies to reduce 
consumption and renewable energy. 
 
The Entity has progressively reduced its carbon emissions and offset its 2020 Carbon Footprint in 2021, 
becoming Carbon Neutral.  
For more information see Section 06, Environmental Issues. 

Principle  
Companies should encourage initiatives that 
promote greater environmental responsibility 

Principle  
Companies must favor the development and 
diffusion of environmentally friendly 
technologies 

Anti-corruption   

Principle  
Businesses must work against corruption in all 
its forms, including extortion and bribery. 

In addition to the Code of Conduct that incorporates aspects related to the prevention of corruption 
and bribery, Cecabank is certified by AENOR in 2021 in accordance with the UNE 19601 Standard on 
Criminal Compliance. Additionally, the company has Prevention and Money Laundering procedures.  
For more information see Section 07, Matters related to the fight against corruption and bribery. 
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08. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery information 

The Entity has a Code of Corporate Conduct that 
formalizes the commitment of all professionals to 
the highest standards of integrity and professional 
ethics in order to prevent, among others, criminal 
risk. The values and standards contained therein 
are mandatory and globally applicable to all 
members of the Board of Directors, all employees 
and other affiliated entities of its consolidated 
group, either directly or through its suppliers, and 
must permeate relationships with interest groups.  

This code incorporates, among other aspects, 
guidelines for conduct on aspects related to 
corruption, prevention and money laundering and 
financing of terrorism, Confidential information, 
free competition, conflicts of interest, among 
others.  

In relation to this Code, Cecabank has a Corporate 
Conduct Channel through which all persons 
subject to it can file complaints of possible 
breaches, as well as make the pertinent queries 
derived from its interpretation. The treatment of 
complaints is confidential. 

Additionally, Cecabank has other instruments that 
promote exemplary conduct as an Entity: 

 Criminal risk organization and management 
system. The system has been certified again 
by AENOR in 2021 in accordance with the UNE 
19601 Standard on Criminal Compliance. 

 Backbone document of the criminal risk 
organization and management system. 

 Procedures for the prevention of money 
laundering and financing of terrorism and 
control structure. 

 Internal rules of conduct in the field of the 
securities market. 

 Policies for the provision of investment 
services or MiFID policies. These policies are 
grouped into three blocks: relating to 
transparency and reporting (Transparency 
Policy and Governance Framework of the 
TR), relating to structural market issues 
(Record-keeping Policy, Product Governance 
and Algorithmic Trading Policy) and investor 
protection (best execution policy, asset 
safeguard and incentive policy). The main 

objective of these policies is the proper 
compliance, by the Bank, with the rules of 
conduct and organizational requirements 
linked to the provision of investment 
services. 

Cecabank annually reviews its Criminal Compliance 
system, establishing actions to ensure continuous 
improvement of the System. 

Indicator 
description 

Indicator units 2020 2021 

Actions 
(corrective, 
improvements, 
preventive) in 
progress arising 
from the 
Compliance system 

Number of shares 15 5 

Internal Audit 
recommendations 
regarding the 
system 

Number of 
recommendations - 2 

Cecabank has a Manual for the prevention of money 
laundering and financing of terrorism that seeks to 
ensure that the Entity and its employees prevent 
illicitly obtained funds from accessing the financial 
system through Cecabank. The Entity's computer 
systems allow the analysis of its own and 
intermediary operations, in order to detect possible 
operations related to these aspects. For these 
purposes, checks are carried out against lists of 
financial sanctions, and there are specific scenarios 
for detecting suspicious operations. Additionally, 
there are tools and processes that allow an 
exhaustive knowledge of the client, and follow-up 
of the relationship with it. 

The organizational structure and internal control 
mechanisms are aimed at ensuring that the Bank's 
activities are efficient and effective, that the 
information is reliable, timely and complete, and 
that it complies with applicable laws. There are 
specific management and control units for the 
different risks with comprehensive and uniform 
areas of action, with relations between the risk 
management units guided by the principles of 
coordination, cooperation and reciprocal 
information and by the existence of three levels of 
control. 

During 2021, the Entity has worked on redefining the 
indicator of operations evaluated for risks related to 
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corruption, as well as the associated controls. In this 
sense, the number of evaluations carried out was 
reduced in 2021, although the analysis focused on 
those operations with greater materiality for these 
purposes.

 

Indicator  
description 

Indicator 
units 2020 2021 

Operations assessed for risks 
related to corruption 

Number of 
transactions 11,934 5,806 

Confirmed incidents of corruption 
and actions taken Number of cases - - 

09. Tax and accounting information 

Cecabank's fiscal policy seeks to comply with 
regulations and eliminate any risk that could arise 
from non-compliance with regulations. In this sense, 
the company has a Tax Committee in charge of 
analyzing and interpreting the regulations that apply 
to Cecabank's activity and the control of compliance 
with the formal obligations in the investigation, 
evaluation and monitoring of the possible risks 
related to the matter. This Committee reports in 
turn to the Audit Committee, the Management 
Committee and the Risk Committee.  

Consolidated Profit Before Tax (BAI) amounted to 
93,600 thousand euros in 2021, compared to 74,394 
thousand euros in 2020, with the following 
breakdown: 

 Thousands of euros 

 2021 2020 2019 
Spain 93.647 75.349 65.166 

Belgium (136) 23 (206) 

United Kingdom -17 (604) (1.665) 

Portugal 89 (374) (444) 

 
17 In 2021 the United Kingdom ceases to be a Branch. 

Regarding the amounts of taxes paid in 2021, they 
amount to EUR 10,466 thousand (EUR 10,247 
thousand in 2020) according to the following 
description: 

Corporation Tax 2020 Settlement- Cecabank 1,920 

Payments on account and 2021 withholdings of IS Spain- 
Cecabank (12,363) 

Belgium (Trionis) (23) 

For further information on corporate income tax, 
see note 2.12 of the Annual Accounts of Cecabank, 
S.A. and its subsidiaries which form part of the 
Cecabank Group. 

As in 2020, Cecabank has not received any public 
subsidies in the year ended 31 December 2021. 
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Appendix  

Appendix 1: Comparison of the number of employees by 
professional category in 2020 and 2021 

Number of employees by age 

<30 30-50 >50 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

20 2 291 300 147 168 

Number of employees by professional category 

 

Dismissals by sex, age and professional category 

Leave by gender 
Period Gender ERE Voluntary termination Dismissal Voluntary leave Terminations Total 

2021 
Female 16 1 1 1 1 20 

Male 19 4 1 - 2 26 

2020 
Female 1 2 1 - - 4 

Male -  3 - - 3 
 
Dismissals for sex 
Gender 2021 2020 

Female 1 1 

Male 1 3 

Total  2 4 
 
Layoffs by age group  

Age Range 2021 2020  

> 50 0 1 

30 - 50 2 3 

Total  2 4 
 
Layoffs by professional category  

Age Range 2021 2020  

IV 1 0 

V 0 1 

VI 0 2 

VIII 1 1 

Total  2 4 

  Level I Level II Level III Level IV Level V Level VI Level VII Level VIII Level IX Level X Level XI Level XII Level XIII 

 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 

Group 1                           

Male 3 5 5 3 18 17 30 30 32 31 63 52 31 28 26 25 9 10 8 7 1 3 1 10 - - 

Female - 3 3 2 9 12 17 12 26 30 56 46 44 41 54 51 16 15 7 7 4 4 4 10 - - 

Group 2                           

Male 1 1 2 2 - - - 1 - - - - - - - - - -  - - - - - - - 

Female - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
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Appendix 2: Comparison of training hours in 2020 and 2021 

 
 
 
 

  
Level I Level II Level III Level IV Level V Level VI Level VII Level VIII Level IX Level X Level XI Level XII Level XIII 

 
2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 

Group 1 106 364 403 177 941 1546 1839 2326 2329 2901 3322 4468 2754 2765 2082 2901 1436 1120 335 387 193 231 103 272 - - 

Group 2 5 17 21 34 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
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Appendix 3: Table of compliance with Law 11/2018 (28 
December) 

The following table provide details regarding which section of this Non-Financial Information Statement responds to the 
requirements of Law 11/2018 and identifies the reporting standard that has been used in this respect. 

 
 

Content of law 11/2018 nfis 
Chapter of the non-financial information statement 
presenting the information Associated gri indicator 

Business model 

Strategic lines and business model 01A. Our business model GRI 102-1 
GRI 102-2 
GRI 102-3 
GRI 102-4 
GRI 102-6 

Organisation and structure 01B. Cecabank’s Profile 

Markets in which it operates 01B. Cecabank’s Profile 

Objectives and strategies 01B. Cecabank’s Profile 
01C. Market environment and business strategy 

Main factors and trends that may affect future 
development 

01C. Market environment and business strategy 

Policies Details are provided in each of the sections in this report, 
depending on the topic. 

GRI 103 - Management approach in 
each material matter 

Main risks Details are provided in each of the sections in this report, 
depending on the topic. 

GRI 102-15 

Environmental issues 

Global 

Effects of the organization’s activities on the 
environment and health and safety, environmental 
evaluation or certification procedures; 

06. Environmental issues GRI 102-15 
GRI 102-29 
GRI 102-30 
GRI 102-31 

Precautionary principle, the amount of provisions 
and guarantees for environmental risks. 

06. Environmental issues GRI 102-11 
GRI 103-2 

Resources dedicated to preventing environmental 
risks 

06. Environmental issues GRI 102-29 

Pollution 

Measures to prevent, reduce or repair carbon 
emissions that seriously affect the environment; 
taking into account any specific atmospheric 
pollution from a business, including noise and light 
contamination. 

06. Environmental issues GRI 103-2 
GRI 301-1 
GRI 302-1 
GRI 302-4 
GRI 302-5 
GRI 305-5 

Circular economy and waste prevention and management 

Circular economy, prevention measures, recycling, 
reuse, other forms of recovery and elimination of 
waste. 

06. Environmental issues GRI 103-2 
GRI 301-1 
GRI 302-1 
GRI 306-2 

Actions to fight food waste. 06. Environmental issues Not material/GRI 103 - Food waste 

Sustainable use of resources 

Water consumption and supply in accordance with 
local limitations 

06. Environmental issues GRI 303-1 

Consumption of raw materials and the measures 
adopted to improve their efficient use 

06. Environmental issues GRI 103-2 
GRI 301-1 

Energy: Direct and indirect energy consumption, 
measures taken to improve energy efficiency and 
the use of renewable energies 

06. Environmental issues GRI 103-2 
GRI 302-1 
GRI 302-4 

Climate change 

Greenhouse gas emissions. 06. Environmental issues GRI 305-1 
GRI 305-2 

Measures taken to adapt to the consequences of 
climate change 

06. Environmental issues GRI 305-5 

Medium- and long-term voluntary targets to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and measures 
implemented to that end. 

06. Environmental issues GRI 103-2 

Protection of biodiversity 
Measures taken to preserve or restore biodiversity 06. Environmental issues Not material/GRI 103 - Biodiversity 
Impacts caused by activities or operations in 
protected areas 

06. Environmental issues 

Social and employee information 
Employment 
Total number and distribution of employees by 03A. Our employees GRI 102-8 
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Content of law 11/2018 nfis 
Chapter of the non-financial information statement 
presenting the information Associated gri indicator 

gender, age, country and professional Level. 
Total number and distribution of types of 
employment contracts 

03A. Our employees GRI 102-8 

Annual average of indefinite contracts, temporary 
contracts and part-time contracts, by gender, age 
and professional Level. 

03A. Our employees GRI 102-8 

Number of dismissals by gender, age and 
professional Level 

03A. Our employees GRI 401-1 

Average compensation and remuneration 
development broken down by gender, age and 
professional Level, or an equivalent value 

03D. Remuneration 03E. Employee benefits GRI 405-2 

Salary Gap, remuneration for identical job positions 
or average positions at the company. 

03D. Remuneration GRI 405-2 

The average compensation for directors and 
executives, including 

03D. Remuneration GRI 102-35 

variable compensation per diems, severance 
payments, payments into long-term retirement 
savings systems and any other amount broken down 
by gender 

 GRI 102-36 

Implementation of work disconnect policies 03F. Reconciliation GRI 103-2 (employment) 
Employees with disabilities 03B. Equality GRI 405-1 
Organisation of working time 
Organization of working time 03F. Reconciliation GRI 103-2 
Absenteeism in hours 03G. Prevention of Occupational Hazards GRI 403-2 
Measures intended to facilitate the reconciliation 
and encouragement of co-parenting responsibilities 

03E. Employee benefits 03F. Reconciliation GRI 103-2 
GRI 401-3 

Health and safety 
Occupational health and safety conditions 03G. Prevention of Occupational Hazards GRI 103-2 (health and safety) 
Occupational accidents (frequency and seriousness) 
disaggregated by sex. 

03G. Prevention of Occupational Hazards GRI 403-2 

Occupational illnesses (frequency and seriousness) 
disaggregated by sex. 

03G. Prevention of Occupational Hazards GRI 403-2 

Labour relations 
Organization of social dialog, including procedures 
to inform and consult employees and to negotiate 
with them 

03G. Prevention of Occupational Hazards GRI 103-2 (employee- 
employer relations) 
GRI 102-43 
GRI 403-1 

Percentage of employees covered by collective 
bargaining by country 

03G. Prevention of Occupational Hazards GRI 102-41 

Balance of collective bargaining agreements, 
particularly in the area of Occupational Health and 
Safety 

 
03G. Prevention of Occupational Hazards 

 
GRI 403-1 

Training 
Training policies implemented 03C. Training GRI 103-2 (training and education) 
Total number of training hours by professional Level 03C. Training GRI 404-1 
Universal accessibility of disabled persons 03c. Training Gri 103-2 (diversity and equal 

opportunities / non- discrimination) 
Equality 
Measures adopted to promote equal treatment and 
opportunities for men and women 

03B. Equality GRI 103-2 (Diversity and equal 
opportunities) 

Equality plans, measures adopted to promote   
employment, protocols to 
fight against sexual harassment and gender 
discrimination, the integration 

03B. Equality GRI 103-2 (Diversity and equal 
opportunities / non- discrimination) 

and universal accessibility of disabled persons   
Non-discrimination policy and any diversity 
management 

03A. Our employees 03B. Equality GRI 103-2 (Diversity and equal 
opportunities / non- discrimination) 

Human rights 
Application of due diligence procedures in human 
rights matters. 

07. Human rights matters GRI 103-2 (human rights assessment) 

Prevention of human rights violation risks and 
measures to mitigate, manage and repair any 
abuses. 

07. Human rights matters GRI 103-2 (human rights assessment) 

Reports of human rights violations 07. Human rights matters GRI 102-16 
GRI 102-17 
GRI 406-1 

Promotion and compliance with the provisions of 
the fundamental Conventions of the International 
Labour Organization related to respect for freedom 
of association and the right to collective bargaining; 
the elimination of discrimination in employment and 
occupation; the elimination of forced or compulsory 
labour; the effective abolition of child labour. 

07. Human rights matters GRI 103-2 (non- 
discrimination; freedom of 
association and collective 
bargaining; child labour; forced or 
compulsory labour and human rights) 

Corruption and bribery 
Measures adopted to prevent corruption and bribery 08. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery information GRI 103-2 (anti-corruption) 

GRI 205-1 
GRI 205-3 

Measures to fight against money laundering 08. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery information GRI 103-2 (anti-corruption) 
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Content of law 11/2018 nfis 
Chapter of the non-financial information statement 
presenting the information Associated gri indicator 

Contributions to foundations and non- profit 
organizations. 

05. Social matters GRI 103-2 (anti-corruption) 
GRI 413-1 

Company 
The company’s commitment to sustainable development 
Impact of the organization’s activities on 
employment and local development, local 
populations and territories 

05. Social matters GRI 413-1 

Relationships and types of dialog with members of 
local communities 

05. Social matters GRI 102-43 
GRI 413-1 

Association or sponsorship actions 05. Social matters GRI 102-13 
Subcontracting and suppliers 
The inclusion in the purchasing policy of social, 
gender equality and environmental issues 

04. Our suppliers GRI 103-3 (supplier environmental 
and social assessment) 

Consideration of social and environmental 
responsibility in relationships with suppliers and 
subcontractors 

04. Our suppliers GRI 102-9 

Supervision and audit systems and their results 04. Our suppliers GRI 308-1 
GRI 414-2 

Consumers 
Measures for consumer health and safety 02. Our customers GRI 103-2 (customer health and 

safety) 
Claims systems, complaints received and their 
resolution 

02. Our customers GRI 103-2 (customer health and 
safety) 

Tax information 
Profit/loss by country 09. Tax and accounting information 103.- Financial performance 

GRI 201-1 
Corporate income tax paid 09. Tax and accounting information GRI 201-1 
Official subsidies received 09. Tax and accounting information GRI 201-4 



La parte de imagen con el identificador de relación rId1 no se encontró en el archivo.
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Authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 1 /10 - Mr. Azuaga 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

Mr. Manuel Azuaga Moreno 

Non-executive chairman 
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Authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 2 /10 – Sr. Méndez 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

D. José María Méndez Alvarez-Cedrón 

Board Member - CEO 
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Authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 3 /10 - Sr. Pano 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

D. Javier Pano Riera 

Board Member 
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Authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 4 /10 – Sr. Sarro 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

Dª. María del Mar Sarro 

Álvarez Board Member 
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Authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 5 /10 - Sr. García 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

D. Francisco Javier García Lurueña 

Board Member 
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Authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 6 /10 - Sra. Salaverría 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

Dª. Julia Salaverría Monfort 

Board Member 
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Authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 7 /10 - Sr. Botas 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

D. Francisco Botas Ratera 

Board Member 
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Authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 8 /10 - Sra. Motellón 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

Dª. Carmen Motellón Garcia 

Board Member 
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Authorisation for issue of consolidated the financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 9 /10 - Sr. Iglesias 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

D. Víctor Manuel Iglesias Ruiz 

Board Member 
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Authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial 
statements and directors' report 

Certificate* to attest that the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A., at the meeting held on 17 February 
2022, authorised for issue the consolidated Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Cecabank, S.A. 
and subsidiaries composing the Cecabank Group for 2021, which documents were transcribed, including this 
certificate, on the obverse of 210 sheets of officially stamped paper, signed below by all the members of 
the Board of Directors of Cecabank, S.A. 
 
* This Diligence consists of 10 correlative pages, each signed by a Director. Diligence 10 /10 - Sr. Carbó 
 
 

Madrid, 17 February 2022 

D. Santiago Carbó Valverde 

Board Member 
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